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CAUTIONARY NOTE CONCERNING FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the "safe harbor" provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. All statements, other than statements of historical fact included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q including, without limitation, statements in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” regarding the Company’s financial position, business strategy and the plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. Words such as “expect,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “seek” and variations and similar words and expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements relate to future events or future performance, but reflect management’s current beliefs, based on information currently available, and involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expected and projected.

A number of factors could cause actual events, performance or results to differ materially from the events, performance and results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause such differences include, but are not limited to, the impact of inflation on our business, the impact of COVID-19 on our business, the impact of stimulus or other government programs, whether we will be successful in obtaining declaratory relief against the Commissioner of the Department of Financial Protection and Innovation for the State of California, whether we will be subject to the Fair Access to Credit Act, a/k/a AB 539, whether our bank partners will continue to lend in California, whether our financing sources will continue to finance the purchase of participation rights in loans originated by our bank partners in California, the risk that the business combination disrupts current plans and operations, the ability to recognize the anticipated benefits of the business combination, which may be affected by, among other things, competition, our ability to grow and manage growth profitably and retain our key employees, risks related to new products, concentration risk, costs related to the business combination, changes in applicable laws or regulations, the possibility that we may be adversely affected by other economic, business, and/or competitive factors, risks related to management transitions, and other risks contained in the section captioned “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on March 11, 2022. Except as expressly required by applicable securities law, the Company disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1.     FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries    
Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share data)














September 30,

December 31,

2022

2021
Assets



Cash(1)
$
14,011 


$
25,064 

Restricted cash(1)
36,458

37,298
Total cash and restricted cash
50,469

62,362
Finance receivables at fair value(1)
458,065

383,890
Finance receivables at amortized cost, net of allowance for credit losses of $1,232 and $803 as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively, and unearned income of $81 and $286 as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively(1)
3,858

4,220
Debt issuance costs, net(1)
2,331

1,525
Property, equipment and software, net
14,735

14,643
Operating lease right of use asset
14,409

—
Deferred tax asset
24,118

25,593
Other assets(1)
11,985

9,873
Total assets
$
579,970 


$
502,106 

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity



Liabilities:



Accounts payable(1)
$
6,680 


$
6,100 

Accrued expenses(1)
20,162

29,595
Operating lease liability
16,930

—
Notes payable
2,508

—
Secured borrowing payable(1)
1,758

22,443
Senior debt, net(1)
338,369

251,578
Warrant liabilities
4,216

11,240
Tax receivable agreement liability
23,897

23,272
Total liabilities
414,520

344,228
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)



Stockholders' equity:



Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value (1,000,000 shares authorized with no shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021)
—

—
Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value (379,000,000 shares authorized with 14,945,336 shares issued and 14,241,422 shares outstanding as of September 30, 2022 and 13,631,484 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021)
1

1
Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value (6,000,000 shares authorized with no shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021)
—

—
Class V voting stock, $0.0001 par value (115,000,000 shares authorized with 95,159,100 and 96,338,474 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively)
10

10
Additional paid-in capital
65,886

61,672
Accumulated deficit
(66,681)

(70,723)
Treasury stock at cost, 703,914 shares as of September 30, 2022
(2,460)

—
Total OppFi Inc.'s stockholders' deficit
(3,244)

(9,040)
Noncontrolling interest
168,694

166,918
Total stockholders' equity
165,450

157,878
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity
$
579,970 


$
502,106 





(1) Includes amounts in consolidated variable interest entities ("VIEs") presented separately in the table below.






Continued on next page



4

Table of Contents
OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries    
Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited) - Continued
(in thousands)
















The following table summarizes the consolidated assets and liabilities of VIEs, which are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The assets below may only be used to settle obligations of VIEs and are in excess of those obligations.





September 30,

December 31,

2022

2021
Assets of consolidated VIEs, included in total assets above



Cash
$
84 


$
46 

Restricted cash
27,616 


25,780 

Total cash and restricted cash
27,700 


25,826 

Finance receivables at fair value
443,296 


379,512 


Debt issuance costs, net
2,331 


1,525 

Other assets
60 


34 

Total assets
$
473,387 


$
406,897 

Liabilities of consolidated VIEs, included in total liabilities above



Accounts payable
$
47 


$
25 

Accrued expenses
2,912 


2,008 

Secured borrowing payable
1,758 


22,443 

Senior debt, net
289,464 


203,000 

Total liabilities
$
294,181 


$
227,476 





See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)


























Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2022

2021

2022

2021
Revenue:







Interest and loan related income
$
123,605 


$
91,448 


$
331,814 


$
253,581 

Other income
639 


529 


1,015 


1,029 


124,244 


91,977 


332,829 


254,610 

Change in fair value of finance receivables
(70,601)


(18,940)


(162,280)


(52,635)

Provision for credit losses on finance receivables
(1,017)


(143)


(2,043)


(181)

Net revenue
52,626 


72,894 


168,506 


201,794 

Expenses:







Salaries and employee benefits
14,600 


17,326 


46,747 


46,292 

Direct marketing costs
12,861 


15,580 


45,828 


34,502 

Interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs
9,095 


6,414 


24,421 


17,270 

Interest expense - related party
— 


— 


— 


137 

Depreciation and amortization
3,452 


2,712 


10,056 


7,289 

Technology costs
3,301 


2,696 


9,723 


7,265 

Professional fees
3,443 


9,511 


8,957 


15,391 

Payment processing fees
2,772 


2,001 


7,738 


5,313 

Occupancy
1,091 


1,006 


3,231 


2,765 

Management fees - related party
— 


— 


— 


350 

General, administrative and other
2,980 


4,136 


8,533 


11,337 

Total expenses
53,595 


61,382 


165,234 


147,911 

(Loss) income from operations
(969)


11,512 


3,272 


53,883 

Other income:







Gain on forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program loan
— 


6,444 


— 


6,444 

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities
1,323 


13,139 


7,024 


13,139 

Income before income taxes
354 


31,095 


10,296 


73,466 

Provision for income taxes
1,015 


703 


1,757 


703 

Net (loss) income
(661)


30,392 


8,539 


72,763 

Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest
(90)


16,267 


4,576 


58,638 

Net (loss) income attributable to OppFi Inc.
$
(571)


$
14,125 


$
3,963 


$
14,125 









(Loss) earnings per share attributable to OppFi Inc.:







(Loss) earnings per common share:







Basic
$
(0.04)


$
1.06 


$
0.29 


$
1.08 

Diluted
$
(0.04)


$
0.29 


$
0.09 


$
0.29 

Weighted average common shares outstanding:







Basic
13,972,971 


13,363,996

13,694,733 


13,107,874
Diluted
13,972,971 


84,464,783

84,277,277 


84,464,783








See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity / Members’ Equity (Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share data)
















































Total

Preferred Units
Class A Common Stock
Class V Voting Stock
Additional Paid-
Accumulated
Treasury
Noncontrolling
Stockholders' Equity /

Units
Amount
Shares
Amount
Shares
Amount
in Capital
(Deficit) Earnings
Stock
Interest
Members' Equity
Balance, June 30, 2022
—
$
— 

13,632,260 

$
1 

95,729,696
$
10 

$
64,330 

$
(66,164)

$
(2,153)

$
169,474 

$
165,498 


Exchange of Class V shares
— 

— 

570,596 

— 

(570,596)

— 

484 

54 

— 

(538)

— 

Vesting of restricted stock units
—
— 

82,201 

— 

—
— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan
—
— 

44,627 

— 

—
— 

125 

— 

— 

— 

125 

Stock-based compensation
—
— 

— 

— 

—
— 

762 

— 

— 

— 

762 


Purchase of treasury stock
— 

— 

(88,262)

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

(307)

— 

(307)

Member distributions
—
— 

— 

— 

—
— 

— 

— 

— 

(152)

(152)

Tax receivable agreement
— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

185 

— 

— 

— 

185 

Net loss
—
— 

— 

— 

—
— 

— 

(571)

— 

(90)

(661)

Balance, September 30, 2022
—
$
— 

14,241,422 

$
1 

95,159,100
$
10 

$
65,886 

$
(66,681)

$
(2,460)

$
168,694 

$
165,450 













Balance, June 30, 2021
41,102,500
$
6,660 

—
$
— 

—
$
— 

$
581 

$
170,098 

$
— 

$
— 

$
177,339 

Net income before transaction
—
— 

—
— 

—
— 

— 

2,599 

— 

— 

2,599 

Member contribution
—
200 

—
— 

—
— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

200 

Member distributions
—
— 

—
— 

—
— 

— 

(16,213)

— 

(767)

(16,980)

Warrant units exercised
486,852
—
—
—
—
—
5,517
—
—
—
5,517
Reverse capitalization
(41,589,352)
(6,860)
12,977,690
1
96,987,093
10
52,219
(252,791)
—
148,693
(58,728)
Unit conversion
—
—
486,852
—
(486,852)
—
—
—
—
—
—
Stock based compensation
—
—
—
—
—
—
673
—
—
—
673
Net income after transaction
—
— 

—
— 

—
— 

— 

14,125 

— 

13,668 

27,793 

Balance, September 30, 2021
—
$
— 

13,464,542
$
1 

96,500,241
$
10 

$
58,990 

$
(82,182)

$
— 

$
161,594 

$
138,413 













Balance, December 31, 2021
—
$
— 

13,631,484 

$
1 

96,338,474
$
10 

$
61,672 

$
(70,723)

$
— 

$
166,918 

$
157,878 

Exchange of Class V shares
— 

— 

1,179,374 

— 

(1,179,374)

— 

1,406 

79 

— 

(1,485)

— 


Vesting of restricted stock units
—
— 

89,851 

— 

—
— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan
—
— 

44,627 

— 

—
— 

125 

— 

— 

— 

125 

Stock-based compensation
—
— 

— 

— 

—
— 

2,391 

— 

— 

— 

2,391 

Purchase of treasury stock
— 

— 

(703,914)

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

(2,460)

— 

(2,460)

Member distributions
—
— 

— 

— 

—
— 

— 

— 

— 

(1,315)

(1,315)

Tax receivable agreement
— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

— 

292 

— 

— 

— 

292 

Net income
—
— 

— 

— 

—
— 

— 

3,963 

— 

4,576 

8,539 

Balance, September 30, 2022
—
$
— 

14,241,422 

$
1 

95,159,100
$
10 

$
65,886 

$
(66,681)

$
(2,460)

$
168,694 

$
165,450 













Balance, December 31, 2020
41,102,500
$
6,660 

—
$
— 

—
$
— 

$
352 

$
92,320 

$
— 

$
— 

$
99,332 

Effects of adopting fair value option
—
— 

—
— 

—
— 

— 

69,435 

— 

— 

69,435 

Net income before transaction
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
44,970
—
—
44,970
Profit interest compensation
—
— 

—
— 

—
— 

229 

— 

— 

— 

229 

Member contribution
—
200
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
200
Member distributions
—
— 

—
— 

—
— 

— 

(50,241)

— 

(767)

(51,008)

Warrant units exercised
486,852
—
—
—
—
—
5,517
—
—
—
5,517
Reverse recapitalization
(41,589,352)
(6,860)
12,977,690
1
96,987,093
10
52,219
(252,791)
—
(149,693)
(58,728)
Unit conversion
—
—
486,852
—
(486,852)
—
—
—
—
—
—
Stock based compensation
—
—
—
—
—
—
673
—
—
—
673
Net income after transaction
—
— 

—
— 

—
— 

— 

14,125 

— 

13,668 

27,793 

Balance, September 30, 2021
—
$
— 

13,464,542
$
1 

96,500,241
$
10 

$
58,990 

$
(82,182)

$
— 

$
161,594 

$
138,413 













See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
(in thousands)














Nine Months Ended September 30,

2022

2021
Cash flows from operating activities:



Net income
$
8,539 


$
72,763 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:



Change in fair value of finance receivables
162,280 


52,635 

Provision for credit losses on finance receivables
2,043 


181 


Depreciation and amortization
10,056 


7,289 

Debt issuance cost amortization
1,626 


1,735 

Profit interest and stock-based compensation expense
2,391 


1,172 

Amortization of operating lease, net
8 


— 

Loss on disposition of equipment
2 


5 

Deferred income taxes
1,475 


445 

Change in tax receivable agreement liability
625 


7 

Change in fair value of warrant units
— 


4,208 

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities
(7,024)


(13,139)

Gain on forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program loan
— 


(6,444)

Changes in assets and liabilities:




Accrued interest and fees receivable
(4,637)


(1,346)

Other assets
1,131 


(4,230)

Accounts payable
580 


954 

Accrued expenses
(6,832)


3,855 

Net cash provided by operating activities
172,263 


120,090 





Cash flows from investing activities:



Finance receivables originated and acquired
(556,441)


(402,835)

Finance receivables repayments and recoveries
323,146 


303,419 


Purchases of equipment and capitalized technology
(10,150)


(10,563)

Net cash used in investing activities
(243,445)


(109,979)





Cash flows from financing activities:



Member distributions
(1,315)


(51,008)

Member contributions
— 


200 

Payments to Opportunity Financial, LLC unit holders
— 


(91,646)

Cash received in reverse capitalization
— 


91,857 

Payment of capitalized transaction costs
— 


(21,591)

Net (payments) advances of secured borrowing payable
(20,685)


3,767 

Net advances of senior debt
86,464 


75,443 

Payment of note payable
(735)


— 

Payment of subordinated debt - related party
— 


(4,000)


Payment for debt issuance costs
(2,105)


(1,988)

Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan
125 


— 

Repurchases of common stock
(2,460)


— 

Net cash provided by financing activities
59,289 


1,034 





Net (decrease) increase in cash and restricted cash
(11,893)


11,145 





Cash and restricted cash



Beginning
62,362 


45,657 

Ending
$
50,469 


$
56,802 





Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:



Interest paid on borrowed funds
$
22,296 


$
16,046 

Income taxes paid
$
337 


$
— 





Continued on next page
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OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) - Continued
(in thousands)









Nine Months Ended September 30,

2022

2021
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:



Non-cash change from adopting the fair value option on finance receivables
$
— 


$
69,435 

Increase in additional paid-in capital as a result of tax receivable agreement
$
292 


$
— 

Operating lease right of use asset recognized from adoption of ASU 2016-02
$
15,459 


$
— 

Operating lease liability recognized from adoption of ASU 2016-02
$
17,972 


$
— 





Non-cash investing and financing activities:



Prepaid insurance financed with promissory notes
$
3,243 


$
— 

Warrant liabilities recognized in the reverse recapitalization
$
— 


$
37,645 

Additional paid-in capital recognized in the reverse capitalization
$
— 


$
78,468 

Conversion of warrant unit liability to additional paid-in capital
$
— 


$
5,517 

Forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program loan
$
— 


$
6,444 





See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1. Organization and Nature of Operations

OppFi Inc. (“OppFi”), formerly FG New America Acquisition Corp. (“FGNA”), collectively with its consolidated subsidiaries (“Company”), is a leading mission-driven financial technology platform that powers banks to offer accessible lending products to everyday consumers through its proprietary technology and artificial intelligence and a top-rated experience. OppFi’s platform facilitates credit access products primarily through its installment loan product, OppLoans. OppFi’s credit access products also include its payroll deduction secured installment loan product, SalaryTap, and credit card product, OppFi Card.

On July 20, 2021 (“Closing Date”), the Company completed a business combination pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement (“Business Combination Agreement”), dated as of February 9, 2021, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC (“OppFi-LLC”), a Delaware limited liability company, OppFi Shares, LLC (“OFS”), a Delaware limited liability company, and Todd Schwartz (“Members’ Representative”), in his capacity as the representative of the members of OppFi-LLC (“Members”) immediately prior to the closing (“Closing”). The transactions contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement are referred to herein as the “Business Combination.” At the Closing, FGNA changed its name to “OppFi Inc.” OppFi’s Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Class A Common Stock”) and redeemable warrants exercisable for Class A Common Stock (“Public Warrants”) are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbols “OPFI” and “OPFI WS,” respectively.

Following the Closing, the Company is organized in an “Up-C” structure in which substantially all of the assets and the business of the Company are held by OppFi-LLC and its subsidiaries, and OppFi’s only direct assets consist of Class A common units of OppFi-LLC (“OppFi Units”). As of September 30, 2022, OppFi owned approximately 13.0% of the OppFi Units and controls OppFi-LLC as the sole manager of OppFi-LLC in accordance with the terms of the Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of OppFi-LLC (“OppFi A&R LLCA”). All remaining OppFi Units (“Retained OppFi Units”) are beneficially owned by the Members. OFS holds a controlling voting interest in OppFi through its ownership of shares of Class V common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of OppFi (“Class V Voting Stock”) in an amount equal to the number of Retained OppFi Units and therefore has the ability to control OppFi-LLC.


Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of presentation and consolidation: The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for interim reporting. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in the financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been omitted if they substantially duplicate the disclosures contained in the Company’s annual audited consolidated financial statements pursuant to such rules and regulations.

These unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021 included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K ("Annual Report"), as amended, for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on March 11, 2022. In the opinion of the Company’s management, these unaudited consolidated financial statements include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of the results and financial position for the periods presented. The results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that may be expected for the full year ending December 31, 2022.

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of OppFi and OppFi-LLC with its wholly-owned subsidiaries and variable interest entities (“VIEs”) in which the Company is the primary beneficiary. The Company is considered to be the primary beneficiary of a VIE when it has both (i) the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance, and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses or receive benefits of a VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

On April 15, 2022, OppFi-LLC entered into agreements with Midtown Madison Management LLC, an unrelated third party, and Gray Rock SPV LLC, an entity formed by third-party investors for the purpose of purchasing participation interests in receivables from Gray Rock Finance LLC. Under the terms of the agreements, OppFi-LLC serves as the servicer of these financial assets. As the servicer, OppFi-LLC is subject to various financial covenants, such as minimum tangible net worth, liquidity and debt-to-equity ratio. OppFi-LLC also entered into a total return swap transaction with Midtown Madison Management LLC, providing credit protection related to a reference pool of consumer receivables financed by Midtown Madison Management LLC. While Gray Rock SPV LLC is not owned by OppFi-LLC, Gray Rock SPV LLC was determined to be a VIE and OppFi-LLC is considered the primary beneficiary based on its power to direct activities through its role as a servicer and its obligations to absorb losses and right to receive benefits.

Segments: Segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which discrete financial information is available and evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker ("CODM") in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing
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performance. OppFi’s Chief Executive Officer is considered to be the CODM. The CODM reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. The Company’s operations constitute a single reportable segment.

Use of estimates: The preparation of the unaudited consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions, including those impacted by COVID-19, that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the unaudited consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

The judgements, assumptions, and estimates used by management are based on historical experience, management’s experience and qualitative factors. The areas subject to significant estimation techniques are the determination of fair value of installment finance receivables and warrants, the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses on finance receivables, operating lease right of use asset, operating lease liability, valuation allowance of deferred tax assets, stock-based compensation expense and income tax provision. For the aforementioned estimates, it is reasonably possible the recorded amounts or related disclosures could significantly change in the near future as new information is available.

Accounting Policies: There have been no changes to the Company's significant accounting policies from those described in Part II, Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data in the Annual Report, except for the new accounting pronouncement subsequently adopted as noted below and the accounting for earnings per share as noted below and in Note 17.

Reclassifications: Certain reclassification of prior period amounts have been made to conform to the current period presentations. These reclassifications had no effect on the reported results of operations.

Participation rights purchase obligations: OppFi-LLC has entered into bank partnership arrangements with certain banks insured by the FDIC. As part of these bank partnership arrangements, the banks have the ability to retain a percentage of the finance receivables they have originated, and OppFi-LLC’s participation rights are reduced by the percentage of the finance receivables retained by the banks. For the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, finance receivables originated through the bank partnership arrangements totaled 94% and 88%, respectively. As of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the unpaid principal balance of finance receivables outstanding for purchase was $9.7 million and $9.5 million, respectively.

Troubled debt restructurings: As the terms of the receivables are typically not renegotiated and settlement offers are not typically made until after a receivable stops accruing interest income (up to 60 days delinquent), the only receivables considered to be impaired, or troubled debt restructurings, are: 1) those receivables where a settlement offer is made after receivables cease accruing interest, which may result in a modification of contractual terms, 2) the Company has received notification that a borrower is working with a third party to settle debt on his/her behalf and 3) customers who have entered into the Company’s short-term or long-term hardship programs. As of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, management determined the balance of troubled debt restructuring receivables to be immaterial to the consolidated financial statements as a whole. As such, substantially all disclosures relating to impaired finance receivables, and troubled debt restructuring, have been omitted from these consolidated financial statements.

Capitalized technology: The Company capitalized software costs associated with application development totaling $3.1 million and $3.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $9.9 million and $9.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Amortization expense, which is included in depreciation and amortization on the consolidated statements of operations, totaled $3.3 million and $2.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $9.4 million and $6.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Treasury stock: The Company accounts for treasury stock under the cost method and includes treasury stock as a component of stockholders’ equity on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company accounts for the reissuance of treasury stock on the first-in, first out (“FIFO”) method.

Earnout Units: In connection with the Closing, 25,500,000 Retained OppFi Units (“Earnout Units”) held by the Members, and an equal number of shares of Class V Voting Stock distributed to OFS in connection with the Business Combination, are subject to certain restrictions and potential forfeiture pending the achievement (if any) of certain earnout targets pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement. But for restrictions related to a lock-up (transfer restrictions) and forfeiture (earnout criteria), as such restrictions are more specifically set forth in the Investor Rights Agreement entered into at the Closing, by and among the Company, certain founder holders of FGNA, the Members, the Members’ Representative and certain other parties thereto and/or the OppFi A&R LLCA, as applicable, the Earnout Units have all other economic and voting rights of the other units of OppFi-LLC. With respect to transfers, the Earnout Units are subject to a lock-up until the later of the end of the lock-up period applicable to other OppFi Units or until such Earnout Units are earned in accordance with the Business Combination Agreement. With respect to distributions (other than tax distributions, which in respect of such Earnout Units are treated the same as any other OppFi Unit in accordance with the OppFi A&R LLCA) in relation to the Earnout Units,
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such distributions (other than tax distributions) are held back until the Earnout Units are earned. If an Earnout Unit is not earned, and therefore forfeited, related distributions are distributed to the other holders of units at such time. Earnout Units are earned as follows:

1) if, on or any time prior to the third (3rd) anniversary of the Closing Date, the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) equals or exceeds twelve dollars ($12.00) per share for twenty (20) trading days of any thirty (30) consecutive trading day period following the Closing, thirty three and one third percent (33.3%) of each of the earnout voting shares and the Earnout Units shall be earned and no longer subject to each such event;

2) if, on or any time prior to the third (3rd) year anniversary of the Closing Date, the VWAP equals or exceeds thirteen dollars ($13.00) per share for twenty (20) trading days of any thirty (30) consecutive trading day period following the Closing, thirty three and one third percent (33.3%) of each of the earnout voting shares and the Earnout Units shall be earned and no longer subject to each such event;

3) if, on or any time prior to the third (3rd) anniversary of the Closing Date, the VWAP equals or exceeds fourteen dollars ($14.00) per share for twenty (20) trading days of any thirty (30) consecutive trading day period following the Closing, thirty three and one third percent (33.3%) of each of the earnout voting shares and the Earnout Units shall be earned and no longer subject to each such event; and

4) if a definitive agreement with respect to a change of control as defined in the Business Combination Agreement (“Change of Control”) is entered into on or prior to the third (3rd) anniversary of the Closing Date, then, effective as of immediately prior to closing of such Change of Control, (A) thirty three and one third percent (33.3%) of each of the earnout voting shares and the Earnout Units shall be earned and no longer subject to each such event if the price per share payable to the holders of Class A common stock in connection with such Change of Control is equal to or exceeds twelve dollars ($12.00), (B) an additional thirty three and one third percent (33.3%) of each of the earnout voting shares and the Earnout Units shall be earned and no longer subject to each such event if the price per share payable to the holders of Class A common stock in connection with such Change of Control is equal to or exceeds thirteen dollars ($13.00), and (C) an additional thirty three and one third percent (33.3%) of each of the earnout voting shares and the Earnout Units shall be earned and no longer subject to each such event if the price per share payable to the holders of Class A common stock in connection with such Change of Control is equal to or exceeds fourteen dollars ($14.00).

Earnout Units are classified as equity transactions at initial issuance and at settlement when earned. Until the shares are issued and earned, the Earnout Units are not included in shares outstanding. The Earnout Units are not considered stock-based compensation.

Earnings per share: Basic earnings per share available to common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to OppFi by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share available to common stockholders is computed using the more dilutive of a) the treasury stock method, which gives effect to potentially dilutive common stock equivalents of OppFi outstanding during the period, or b) the if-converted method, which gives effect to both the potentially dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding during the period as well as an assumed full exchange of Units of OppFi-LLC into Class A common shares of OppFi as of the beginning of the period. The if-converted method would also give effect to conversion of the Earnout Units in periods they would be deemed to vest. For the if-converted method, earnings is also adjusted to reflect all income of OppFi-LLC inuring to the benefit of OppFi and taxed accordingly. In periods in which the Company reports a net loss available attributable to OppFi, diluted earnings per share available to common stockholders would be the same as basic earnings per share available to common stockholders, since dilutive common shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti-dilutive.

Noncontrolling interests: Noncontrolling interests are held by the Members, who retained 87.0% and 87.6% of the economic ownership percentage of OppFi-LLC as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. In accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 810, Consolidation, the Company classifies the noncontrolling interests as a component of stockholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheets. Additionally, the Company has presented the net income attributable to OppFi and the noncontrolling ownership interests separately in the consolidated statements of operations.

Emerging growth company: The Company is an emerging growth company as defined under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (“Jobs Act”). The Company is permitted to delay the adoption of new or revised accounting pronouncements applicable to public companies until such pronouncements apply to private companies. This may make comparison of the Company’s financial statements with another public company which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.
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Accounting pronouncements issued and adopted: In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) and issued certain transitional guidance and subsequent amendments between January 2018 and February 2020 (collectively, “Topic 842”). Under Topic 842, lessees are required to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets for all leases with terms longer than twelve months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the consolidated statements of operations. Per ASU No. 2020-05, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) and Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates for Certain Entities, issued June 2020, Topic 842, as amended, is effective for private companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. As permitted for emerging growth companies, the Company adopted Topic 842 under the private company transition guidance, which was effective for the Company beginning on January 1, 2022. The Company utilized the effective date method, whereby the Company will continue to present prior period financial statements and disclosures under ASC 840. In addition, the Company has elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance which, among other things, permits companies to not reassess prior conclusions on lease identification, lease classification, and initial direct costs. The Company also elected the practical expedient which permits the Company to combine lease and non-lease components and to exclude short-term leases, defined as having an initial term of twelve months or less, from the consolidated balance sheets. The adoption of Topic 842, as amended, resulted in the Company recording a right-of-use asset and lease liability related to the Company’s operating lease of its corporate headquarters totaling approximately $15.5 million and $18.0 million, respectively, on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of January 1, 2022. A decrease to deferred rent totaling approximately $2.5 million, which was previously included in accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheet, was reclassified as an offset to the right-of-use asset upon adoption of Topic 842. The adoption of the standard did not materially affect the Company's consolidated statements of operations or cash flows.

Accounting pronouncements issued and not yet adopted: In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting. The purpose of ASU No. 2020-04 is to provide optional guidance for a period of time related to accounting for reference rate reform on financial reporting. It is intended to reduce the potential burden of reviewing contract modifications related to discontinued rates. In January 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Scope. The purpose of ASU No. 2021-01 is to expand guidance on contract modifications and hedge accounting. The amendments and expedients in these updates are effective as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022 and may be elected by topic. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of ASU No. 2020-04 and 2021-01 on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In March 2022, the FASB issued ASU No. 2022-02, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Troubled Debt Restructurings and Vintage Disclosures. The purpose of ASU No. 2022-02 is to provide guidance on troubled debt restructuring accounting model for creditors that have adopted Topic 326. Additionally, the guidance expands on vintage disclosure requirements. The guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within the annual reporting period. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of ASU No. 2022-02 on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.


Note 3. Finance Receivables

Finance receivables at fair value: The components of installment finance receivables at fair value as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 were as follows (in thousands):














September 30, 2022

December 31, 2021
Unpaid principal balance of finance receivables - accrual
$
368,775 


$
307,059 

Unpaid principal balance of finance receivables - non-accrual
33,796 


25,185 

Unpaid principal balance of finance receivables
$
402,571 


$
332,244 





Finance receivables at fair value - accrual
$
437,573 


$
369,576 

Finance receivables at fair value - non-accrual
5,206 


3,677 

Finance receivables at fair value, excluding accrued interest and fees receivable
442,779 


373,253 

Accrued interest and fees receivable
15,286 


10,637 

Finance receivables at fair value
$
458,065 


$
383,890 





Difference between unpaid principal balance and fair value
$
40,208 


$
41,009 


The Company’s policy is to discontinue and reverse the accrual of interest income on installment finances receivables at the earlier of 60 days past due on a recency basis or 90 days past due on a contractual basis. As of September 30, 2022, the
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aggregate unpaid principal balance and fair value of installment finance receivables 90 days or more past due was $14.0 million and $2.2 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, the aggregate unpaid principal balance and fair value of installment finance receivables 90 days or more past due was $10.5 million and $1.5 million, respectively.

Changes in the fair value of installment finance receivables at fair value for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 were as follows (in thousands):


























Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2022

2021

2022

2021
Balance at the beginning of the period
$
450,703 


$
296,381 


$
383,890 


$
289,166 

Originations of principal
185,092 


155,055 


550,483 


401,373 

Repayments of principal and recoveries
(109,519)


(98,202)


(318,677)


(303,305)

Accrued interest and fees receivable
2,390 


(180)


4,649 


1,332 

Charge-offs, net (1)
(67,709)


(24,891)


(161,479)


(62,046)

Adjustment to fair value
— 


— 


— 


(1,817)

Net change in fair value (1)
(2,892)


5,951 


(801)


9,411 

Balance at the end of the period
$
458,065 


$
334,114 


$
458,065 


$
334,114 









(1) Included in "Change in fair value of finance receivables" in the consolidated statements of operations.



Finance receivables at amortized cost, net: The components of finance receivables carried at amortized cost as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 were as follows (in thousands):














September 30, 2022

December 31, 2021
Finance receivables
$
5,159 


$
5,285 

Accrued interest and fees
12 


24 

Unearned annual fee income
(81)


(286)

Allowance for credit losses
(1,232)


(803)

Finance receivables at amortized cost, net
$
3,858 


$
4,220 


Changes in the allowance for credit losses on finance receivables for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 were as follows (in thousands):


























Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2022

2021

2022

2021
Beginning balance
$
1,045 


$
11 


$
803 


$
55,031 

Effects of adopting fair value option
— 


— 


— 


(55,031)

Provisions for credit losses on finance receivables
1,017 


143 


2,043 


181 

Finance receivables charged off
(831)


(8)


(1,615)


(35)

Recoveries of charge-offs
1 


— 


1 


— 

Ending balance
$
1,232 


$
146 


$
1,232 


$
146 
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The following is an assessment of the credit quality of finance receivables at amortized cost and presents the recency and contractual delinquency of the finance receivable portfolio as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 (in thousands):






























September 30, 2022

December 31, 2021


Recency delinquency

Contractual delinquency

Recency delinquency

Contractual delinquency
Current

$
3,518 


$
3,399 


$
5,016 


$
4,993 

Delinquency








30-59 days

290 


302 


152 


171 

60-89 days

227 


285 


102 


104 

90+ days

1,124 


1,173 


15 


17 

Total delinquency

1,641 


1,760 


269 


292 

Finance receivables

$
5,159 


$
5,159 


$
5,285 


$
5,285 


In accordance with the Company’s income recognition policy, finance receivables in non-accrual status as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 were $1.4 million and $0.1 million, respectively.


Note 4. Property, Equipment and Software, Net

Property, equipment and software consisted of the following (in thousands):

















September 30, 2022

December 31, 2021
Capitalized technology

$
44,460 


$
34,586 

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

4,062 


3,792 

Leasehold improvements

979 


979 

Total property, equipment and software

49,501 


39,357 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

(34,766)


(24,714)

Property, equipment and software, net

$
14,735 


$
14,643 


Depreciation and amortization expense for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 was $3.5 million and $2.7 million, respectively, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 was $10.1 million and $7.3 million, respectively.


Note 5. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

















September 30, 2022

December 31, 2021
Accrued payroll and benefits

$
8,080 


$
11,779 

Accrual for services rendered and goods purchased

7,285 


10,631 

Deferred rent

— 


2,513 

Other

4,797 


4,672 

Total

$
20,162 


$
29,595 



Note 6. Leases

The Company leases its office facilities under a non-cancelable operating lease agreement with an unrelated party through September 2030. Operating leases are included in "Operating lease right of use asset" and "Operating lease liability" in the consolidated balance sheets.

Operating lease cost, which is included in occupancy expense in the consolidated statements of operations, totaled $1.1 million and $3.2 million, of which $0.5 million and $1.5 million was related to variable lease payments, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively. Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities totaled $0.6 million and $1.7 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively.
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Future minimum lease payments as of September 30, 2022 are as follows (in thousands):










Year

 Amount
Remainder of 2022

$
579 

2023

2,339 

2024

2,410 

2025

2,482 

2026

2,557 

2027

2,633 

Thereafter

7,650 

Total lease payments

20,650 

Less: imputed interest

(3,720)

Operating lease liability

$
16,930 


The weighted average remaining lease term and discount rate as of September 30, 2022 are as follows:










Weighted average remaining lease term (in years)

8.0
Weighted average discount rate

5 
%

Supplemental cash flow information related to the lease for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 are as follows (in thousands):














Three Months Ended
September 30, 2022

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2022
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:



Cash paid for operating leases included in operating activities
$
568 


$
1,692 


Disclosures under ASC 840, Leases

Rent expense, which is included in occupancy expense in the consolidated statements of operations, totaled $1.0 million and $2.7 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2021 were as follows (in thousands):










Year

 Amount
2022

$
2,271 

2023

2,339 

2024

2,410 

2025

2,482 

2026

2,557 

Thereafter

10,283 

Total

$
22,342 
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Note 7.    Borrowings

The following is a summary of the Company’s outstanding borrowings as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, including borrowing capacity as of September 30, 2022 (in thousands):










































Purpose

Borrower

Borrowing Capacity

September 30, 2022

December 31, 2021

Interest Rate as of September 30, 2022

Maturity Date

Secured borrowing payable

Opportunity Funding SPE II, LLC

$
1,758 


$
1,758 


$
22,443 


15.00%

—
(1)














Senior debt













Revolving line of credit

Opportunity Funding SPE III, LLC

$
175,000 


$
127,159 


$
119,000 


LIBOR plus 6.00%

January 2024

Revolving line of credit

Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC; Opportunity Funding SPE VII, LLC (Tranche A)

75,000 


37,500 


45,900 


SOFR plus 7.36%

June 2025

Revolving line of credit

Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC; Opportunity Funding SPE VII, LLC (Tranche B)

125,000 


84,750 


— 


SOFR plus 6.75%

June 2025

Revolving line of credit

Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC

— 


— 


30,600 


LIBOR plus 7.25%

April 2023

Revolving line of credit

Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC; SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC

45,000 


— 


7,500 


SOFR plus 0.11% plus 3.85%

February 2024

Revolving line of credit

Gray Rock SPV LLC

75,000 


40,055 


— 


SOFR plus 7.25%

April 2025

Total revolving lines of credit



495,000 


289,464 


203,000 




















Term loan, net

OppFi-LLC

50,000 


48,905 


48,578 


LIBOR plus 10.00%

March 2025

Total senior debt



$
545,000 


$
338,369 


$
251,578 




















Financed insurance premium

OppFi-LLC

$
84 


$
84 


$
— 


4.59%

December 2022

Financed insurance premium

OppFi-LLC

2,424 


2,424 


— 


7.07%

July 2023

Notes payable



$
2,508 


$
2,508 


$
— 




















(1)

Maturity date extended indefinitely until borrowing capacity is depleted




Secured borrowing payable: As of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, $165.0 million and $148.9 million, respectively, of finance receivables have been purchased with an active secured borrowing balance of $1.8 million and $22.4 million, respectively.

Interest expense related to secured borrowings was $0.1 million and $0.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $1.3 million and $2.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Additionally, the Company has capitalized $0.2 million in debt issuance costs related to secured borrowings. There were no amortized debt issuance costs related to secured borrowings for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022. Amortized debt issuance costs related to secured borrowings were $4 thousand and $29 thousand, respectively, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021. As of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, there were no unamortized debt issuance costs related to secured borrowings.

Senior debt:

Corporate credit agreement

On March 23, 2021, the borrowings under this revolving credit agreement were paid in full. Subsequent to repayment, OppFi-LLC terminated the revolving credit agreement. Interest expense related to the revolving credit agreement totaled $35 thousand for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. Additionally, the Company has capitalized $0.3 million in debt issuance costs
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in connection with this facility. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, amortized debt issuance costs were $21 thousand.

Revolving line of credit - Opportunity Funding SPE III, LLC

Interest expense related to this facility was $2.8 million and $1.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $8.0 million and $5.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Additionally, the Company has capitalized $2.1 million in debt issuance costs in connection with this facility. Amortized debt issuance costs associated with this facility were $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $0.5 million and $0.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. As of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the remaining balance of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the facility was $0.2 million and $0.8 million, respectively.

Revolving line of credit - Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC and Opportunity Funding SPE VII, LLC

On June 14, 2022, this revolving credit agreement was amended to, among other things, increase the size of the facility from $75 million to $200 million and extend the revolving period for an additional three years to June 14, 2025. Under the amendment, this revolving credit agreement was bifurcated into two tranches: Tranche A, in amount of $75 million, and Tranche B, in an amount of $125 million. The amendment also replaced the use of Adjusted LIBOR Rate with Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) as the benchmark interest rate for Tranche B.

Interest expense related to this facility was $2.9 million and $1.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $5.5 million and $2.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Additionally, the Company has capitalized $1.5 million in debt issuance costs in connection with this facility. Amortized debt issuance costs associated with this facility were $0.1 million and $0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $0.4 million and $0.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. As of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the remaining balance of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with this facility was $1.4 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

Revolving line of credit - Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC

On June 22, 2022, the borrowings under this revolving line of credit agreement were paid in full. Subsequent to repayment, OppFi-LLC terminated the revolving credit agreement.

Interest expense related to this facility was $0.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021. Interest expense related to this facility were $1.6 million and $1.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Additionally, the Company has capitalized $0.9 million in debt issuance costs in connection with this facility. Amortized debt issuance costs associated with this facility were $0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021. Amortized debt issuance costs associated with this facility were $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. As of September 30, 2022, there was no unamortized debt issuance costs associated with this facility. As of December 31, 2021, the remaining balance of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with this facility was $0.1 million.

Revolving line of credit - Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC and SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC

On March 31, 2022, this revolving credit agreement was amended to bear interest in accordance with the SOFR at a per annum rate equal to the applicable SOFR rate plus a credit spread adjustment of 0.11% plus 3.85%.

Interest expense related to this facility was $0.1 million and $0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $0.3 million and $0.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Additionally, the Company has capitalized $1.1 million in debt issuance costs in connection with this facility. Amortized debt issuance costs associated with this facility were $0.1 million and $0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $0.2 million and $0.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. As of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the remaining balance of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with this facility was $0.3 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

Revolving line of credit - Gray Rock SPV LLC

On April 15, 2022, Gray Rock SPV LLC entered into a revolving line of credit agreement that provides maximum borrowings of $75 million. Interest is payable monthly. Borrowings are secured by the assets of Gray Rock SPV LLC. The revolving line of credit agreement contains a financial covenant restricting dividend payments.
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For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, interest expense related to this facility totaled $1.0 million and $1.5 million, respectively. Additionally, the Company has capitalized $0.5 million in debt issuance costs in connection with this facility. Amortized debt issuance costs associated with this facility were $0.1 million and $0.1 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively. As of September 30, 2022, the remaining balance of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with this facility was $0.4 million.

Term loan, net

As of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the outstanding balance of $50.0 million was net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $1.1 million and $1.4 million, respectively.

Interest expense related to this facility was $1.6 million and $1.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $4.6 million and $3.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Additionally, the Company has capitalized $2.3 million in debt issuance costs in connection with this facility. Amortized debt issuance costs associated with this facility were $0.2 million and $0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $0.4 million and $0.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

As of September 30, 2022, required payments for the term loan for each of the next five years are as follows (in thousands):










Year

Amount
Remainder of 2022

$
— 

2023

— 

2024

— 

2025

50,000 

2026

— 

Total

$
50,000 


Notes payable: In March 2022, OppFi entered into a financing agreement for the financing of insurance premiums totaling $0.3 million payable in ten monthly installments of $28 thousand through December 23, 2022. Interest expense related to this note payable was $2 thousand and $4 thousand for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively.

In August 2022, OppFi entered into a financing agreement for the financing of insurance premiums totaling $2.9 million payable in eleven monthly installments of $0.3 million through July 15, 2023. Interest expense related to this note payable was $13 thousand for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022.

Subordinated debt - related party: On March 30, 2021, the borrowings under this unsecured line of credit agreement were paid in full. Interest expense related to this related party transaction was $0.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021.


Note 8. Warrant Liabilities

As of September 30, 2022, there were 11,887,500 Public Warrants and 3,451,937 Private Placement Warrants outstanding. As of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company recorded warrant liabilities of $4.2 million and $11.2 million, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets. The change in fair value of the Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants was $0.9 million and $0.4 million, respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and was $5.2 million and $1.8 million, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The change in fair value of the Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants was $9.0 million and $4.1 million, respectively, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021.


Note 9. Stockholders’ Equity

Share repurchase: On January 6, 2022, OppFi announced that its Board of Directors (“Board”) had authorized a program to repurchase (“Repurchase Program”) up to $20.0 million in the aggregate of shares of Class A Common Stock. Repurchases under the Repurchase Program may be made from time to time, on the open market, in privately negotiated transactions, or by other methods, at the discretion of the management of the Company and in accordance with the limitations set forth in Rule 10b-18 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and other applicable legal requirements. The timing and amount of the repurchases will depend on market conditions and other requirements. The Repurchase Program does not obligate the Company to repurchase any dollar amount or number of shares and the Repurchase Program may be extended,
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modified, suspended, or discontinued at any time. For each share of Class A Common Stock that the Company repurchases under the Repurchase Program, OppFi-LLC will redeem one Class A common unit of OppFi-LLC held by OppFi, decreasing the percentage ownership of OppFi-LLC by OppFi and relatively increasing the ownership by the Members. The Repurchase Program will expire in December 2023.

During the three months ended September 30, 2022, OppFi repurchased 88,262 shares of Class A Common Stock, which were held as treasury stock as of September 30, 2022, at an average purchase price of $3.46 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $0.3 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, OppFi repurchased 703,914 shares of Class A Common Stock, which were held as treasury stock as of September 30, 2022, at an average purchase price of $3.47 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $2.4 million. As of September 30, 2022, $17.6 million of the repurchase authorization under the Repurchase Program remained available.


Note 10.    Stock-Based Compensation

On July 20, 2021, OppFi established the OppFi Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (“Plan”), which provides for the grant of awards in the form of options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance units, cash-based awards, and other stock-based awards to employees, non-employee directors, officers, and consultants. As of September 30, 2022, the maximum aggregate number of shares of Class A Common Stock that may be issued under the Plan (including from outstanding awards) was 11,772,630 shares. As of September 30, 2022, OppFi had only granted awards in the form of options, restricted stock units, and performance stock units.

Stock options:

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 is as follows:

















Number of Common Stock Options
Weighted Average Exercise Price
Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life (Years)
Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Outstanding as of December 31, 2021
3,375,000
$
15.23 

—
$
— 

   Granted
553,794
3.94 

—
— 

   Exercised
—
— 

—
— 

   Forfeited
(1,949,822)
14.29 

—
— 

Outstanding as of September 30, 2022
1,978,972
$
12.99 

8.8
$
— 

Exercisable as of September 30, 2022
1,075,000
$
15.23 

8.8
$
— 


For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, the Company recognized negative stock-based compensation expense of $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively, due to forfeitures. As of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company had unrecognized stock-based compensation related to unvested stock options of $1.9 million and $6.1 million, respectively, that is expected to be recognized over an estimated weighted average period of approximately 3.0 years and 3.5 years, respectively. The weighted average grant date fair value of stock options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 was $1.96.

The fair value of each option grant during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the following assumptions:













Volatility
60.00 
%
-
65.00 
%
Risk-free rate
1.71%
-
3.02%
Expected term (years)


6.1 years
Dividend yield


0.00 
%
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Restricted stock units:

A summary of the Company’s restricted stock unit (“RSU”) activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 is as follows:















Shares
Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value
Unvested - beginning of period

1,818,530
$
7.58 

Granted

1,913,043
3.40 

Vested

(410,962)
6.83 

Forfeited

(1,197,275)
5.24 

Unvested - end of period

2,123,336
$
4.55 


For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, the Company recognized stock-based compensation of $0.3 million and $1.4 million related to RSUs, respectively. As of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, total unrecognized compensation expense related to RSUs was $9.0 million and $12.2 million, respectively, which will be recognized over a weighted average vesting period of approximately 3.3 years and 3.6 years, respectively.

Performance stock units:

A summary of the Company’s performance stock unit (“PSU”) activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 is as follows:















Shares
Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value
Unvested - beginning of period

78,907
$
7.69 

Granted

425,264
3.81 

Vested

—
— 

Forfeited

(55,451)
7.69 

Unvested - end of period

448,720
$
4.01 


For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, the Company recognized stock-based compensation of $0.3 million and $0.4 million related to PSUs, respectively. As of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, total unrecognized compensation expense related to PSUs was $1.4 million and $0.5 million, respectively, which will be recognized over a weighted average vesting period of approximately 3.6 years and 3.8 years, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan: On July 20, 2021, the Company established the OppFi Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). The ESPP permits eligible employees to contribute up to 10% of their compensation, not to exceed the IRS allowable limit, to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock during six month offerings. Eligible employees will purchase the shares at a price per share equal to the lesser of 85% of the fair market value of the Class A Common Stock on the first trading day of the offering period or the last trading day of the offering period. The offering periods begin each January 1 and July 1, with the initial offering period beginning on January 1, 2022. As of September 30, 2022, the maximum aggregate number of shares of Class A Common Stock that may be issued under the ESPP was 1,200,000 and consists of authorized but unissued or reacquired shares of Class A Common Stock. The maximum aggregate number of shares of Class A Common Stock that may be issued under the ESPP shall be cumulatively increased on each January 1, through and including January 1, 2030, by a number of shares equal to the smallest of (a) one percent of the number of shares of Class A Common Stock issued and outstanding on the immediately preceding December 31, (b) 2,400,000 shares, or (c) an amount determined by the Board. As of September 30, 2022, there were 44,627 shares of Class A Common Stock purchased under the ESPP. As of December 31, 2021, no shares of Class A Common Stock had been purchased under the ESPP.

ESPP employee payroll contributions accrued as of September 30, 2022 were $0.1 million and are included within accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheets. Payroll contributions accrued as of September 30, 2022 will be used to purchase shares at the end of the ESPP offering period ending on December 31, 2022. Payroll contributions ultimately used to purchase
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shares are reclassified to stockholders’ equity on the purchase date. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, the Company recognized ESPP compensation expense of $30 thousand and $63 thousand, respectively.

Profit unit interests: Prior to the Business Combination, OppFi-LLC issued profit unit interests, which were recapitalized as OppFi Units in connection with the adoption by the Members in accordance with the terms of the OppFi A&R LLCA immediately prior to the Closing.

Total profit interest compensation expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 was $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

The compensation expense accounted for all vested units based on the following assumptions:










Expected term

3 years
Volatility

68.0 
%
Discount for lack of marketability

45.0 
%
Risk free rate

0.2 
%

A summary of the Company’s profit unit interests activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 is as follows:
















Avg Fair Value


Units
at Grant Date
Outstanding at December 31, 2020

12,202,135
$
0.08 

Granted

—
— 

Forfeited

(54,800)
0.08 

Outstanding at March 31, 2021

12,147,335
0.08 

Granted

—
— 

Forfeited

—
— 

Outstanding at June 30, 2021

12,147,335
0.08 

Granted

—
— 

Forfeited

(536,278)
0.10 

Exchange in reverse recapitalization

(11,611,057)
0.08 

Outstanding at September 30, 2021

—
$
— 


A summary of the Company’s non-vested units activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 is as follows:
















Avg Fair Value


Units
at Grant Date
Non-vested units at December 31, 2020

4,738,333
$
0.12 

Granted

—
— 

Vested

(325,835)
0.15 

Forfeited

(54,800)
0.08 

Non-vested units at March 31, 2021

4,357,698
0.12 

Granted

—
— 

Vested

(2,522,476)
0.07 

Forfeited

—
— 

Non-vested units at June 30, 2021

1,835,222
0.20 

Granted

—
— 

Vested

(84,990)
0.20 

Forfeited

(536,278)
0.10 

Exchange in reverse recapitalization

(1,213,954)
0.22 

Non-vested units at September 30, 2021

—
$
— 
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Subsequent to the Business Combination, there was no unrecognized compensation expense related to profit unit interests.


Note 11. Income Taxes

For the three months ended September 30, 2022, OppFi recorded an income tax expense of $1.0 million and reported consolidated income before income taxes of $0.4 million, resulting in a 286% effective income tax rate. For the nine months ended September 30, 2022, OppFi recorded an income tax expense of $1.8 million and reported consolidated income before income taxes of $10.3 million, resulting in a 17.1% effective income tax rate. As OppFi-LLC was classified as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, OppFi-LLC did not record a federal income tax expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021. Because no income tax was recorded prior to the Closing Date, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, OppFi recorded an income tax expense of $0.7 million and reported consolidated income before taxes of $31.1 million and $73.5 million, resulting in an effective tax rate of 2.3% and 1.0%, respectively.

OppFi’s effective income tax rates for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and for the pro forma 2021 differ from the federal statutory income tax rate of 21% primarily due to the noncontrolling interest in the Up-C partnership structure, nondeductible expenses, state income taxes, and discrete tax items. For the three months ended September 30, 2022, Gray Rock SPV LLC’s income was included in the noncontrolling interest adjustment, because its activity was included in income before income taxes, but excluded from taxation at the Company as Gray Rock SPV LLC is not owned by the Company or OppFi-LLC. For the nine months ended September 30, 2022, there were two discrete items recorded, which consist of a $0.5 million adjustment related to a prior period stock compensation during the three months ended March 31, 2022 and a $0.1 million adjustment related to the vesting of RSUs and the calculated tax shortfall during the three months ended September 30, 2022. For the nine months ended September 30, 2022, the impact of these two discrete items increased the effective tax rate by 5.8%. Excluding the aforementioned discrete items, the effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 would have been 11.3%.

OppFi is subject to a 21% federal income tax rate on its activities and its distributive share of income from OppFi-LLC, as well as various state and local income taxes. As of September 30, 2022, OppFi owned 13.0% of the outstanding units of OppFi-LLC and considers appropriate tax accounting only on this portion of OppFi-LLC’s activity. The Company does not have an ownership interest in Gray Rock SPV LLC; as such, there is no tax accounting with regards to this VIE. Additionally, OppFi’s income tax rate varies from the 21% statutory federal income tax rate primarily due to a permanent difference related to the adjustment of the warrant liabilities recorded by OppFi. This fair value adjustment of the warrant liabilities represents a large portion of OppFi’s pre-tax book income or loss and is a permanent difference between GAAP and taxable income, which impacts OppFi’s effective income tax rate.

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was enacted on March 27, 2020 in the United States to provide emergency assistance to individuals and businesses affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, the impact of the CARES Act was immaterial to the Company’s tax provision. However, under the CARES Act, the Company is deferring the employer portion of payroll tax payments through December 31, 2022.

There were no unrecognized tax benefits as of September 30, 2022 or December 31, 2021, and there were also no amounts accrued for the payment of interest and penalties as of September 30, 2022 or December 31, 2021. The Company is currently not aware of any issues under review that could result in significant payments, accruals or material deviations from its position. The Company is subject to income tax examinations by major taxing authorities since inception.


Note 12. Interest Expense and Amortized Debt Issuance Costs

The following table summarizes interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):


























Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2022

2021

2022

2021
Interest expense
$
8,513 


$
5,842 


$
22,795 


$
15,535 

Amortized debt issuance costs
582 


572 


1,626 


1,735 

Interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs
$
9,095 


$
6,414 


$
24,421 


$
17,270 


Note 13. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value on a nonrecurring basis: The Company has no assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis; that is, the instruments are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances.
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Fair value measurement on a recurring basis: The Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 are as follows (in thousands):






























Carrying Value

Fair Value Measurements


September 30, 2022

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3
Financial assets:








Finance receivables at fair value, excluding accrued interest and fees receivable (1)

$
442,779 


$
— 


$
— 


$
442,779 










Financial liabilities:








Warrant liability - Public Warrants (2)

2,853 


2,853 


— 


— 

Warrant liability - Private Placement Warrants (3)

1,363 


— 


— 


1,363 












Carrying Value

Fair Value Measurements


December 31, 2021

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3
Financial assets:








Finance receivables at fair value, excluding accrued interest and fees receivable (1)

$
373,253 


$
— 


$
— 


$
373,253 










Financial liabilities:








Warrant liability - Public Warrants (2)

8,083 


8,083 


— 


— 

Warrant liability - Private Placement Warrants (3)

3,157 


— 


— 


3,157 










During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, there were no transfers of assets or liabilities in or out of Level 3 fair value measurements.




























(1) The Company primarily estimates the fair value of its installment finance receivables portfolio using discounted cash flow models that have been internally developed. The models use inputs that are unobservable but reflect the Company’s best estimates of the assumptions a market participant would use to calculate fair value.

The following table presents quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used for the Company’s installment finance receivables fair value measurements as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021:


















September 30, 2022

December 31, 2021
Interest rate on finance receivables

150.80 
%

147.60 
%
Discount rate

25.90 
%

21.80 
%
Servicing cost*

5.00 
%

5.00 
%
Remaining life

0.59 years

0.62 years
Default rate*

19.57 
%

17.70 
%
Accrued interest*

3.80 
%

3.20 
%
Prepayment rate*

21.20 
%

21.00 
%





*Stated as a percentage of finance receivables


(2) The fair value measurement for the Public Warrants is categorized as Level 1 due to the use of an observable market quote in an active market under the ticker OPFI WS.
(3) The fair value of the Private Placement Warrants is measured using a Monte Carlo simulation; accordingly, the fair value measurement for the Private Placement Warrants is categorized as Level 3.




























The following table presents the significant assumptions used in the simulation at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Closing Date:











September 30, 2022

December 31, 2021
Input

$11.50 Exercise
Price Warrants

$15 Exercise
Price Warrants

$11.50 Exercise
Price Warrants

$15 Exercise
Price Warrants
Risk-free interest rate

2.98 
%

2.98 
%

1.19 
%

1.50 
%
Expected term (years)

5.0

10.0

4.6

9.6
Expected volatility

60.60 
%

60.60 
%

48.40 
%

48.40 
%
Exercise price

$
11.50 


$
15.00 


$
11.50 


$
15.00 

Fair value of warrants

$
0.26 


$
0.77 


$
0.74 


$
1.40 
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The following table presents the changes in the fair value of the warrant liability - Private Placement Warrants (in thousands):









$11.50 Exercise
Price Warrants

$15 Exercise
Price Warrants

Total
Fair value as of December 31, 2021

$
1,879 


$
1,278 


$
3,157 

Change in fair value

(356)


(146)


(502)

Fair value as of March 31, 2022

1,523 


1,132 


2,655 

Change in fair value

(609)


(311)


(920)

Fair value as of June 30, 2022

914 


821 


1,735 

Change in fair value

(254)


(118)


(372)

Fair value as of September 30, 2022

$
660 


$
703 


$
1,363 


Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value: The following table presents the carrying value and estimated fair values of financial assets and liabilities disclosed but not carried at fair value and the level within the fair value hierarchy as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 (in thousands):






























Carrying Value

Fair Value Measurements


September 30, 2022

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3
Assets:








Cash

$
14,011 


$
14,011 


$
— 


$
— 

Restricted cash

36,458 


36,458 


— 


— 

Accrued interest and fees receivable

15,286 


15,286 


— 


— 

Finance receivables at amortized cost, net

3,858 


— 


— 


3,858 










Liabilities:








Secured borrowing payable

1,758 


— 


— 


1,758 

Senior debt, net

338,369 


— 


— 


338,369 
































Carrying Value

Fair Value Measurements


December 31, 2021

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3
Assets:








Cash

$
25,064 


$
25,064 


$
— 


$
— 

Restricted cash

37,298 


37,298 


— 


— 

Accrued interest and fees receivable

10,637 


10,637 


— 


— 

Finance receivables at amortized cost, net

4,220 


— 


— 


4,220 










Liabilities:








Secured borrowing payable

22,443 


— 


— 


22,443 

Senior debt, net

251,578 


— 


— 


251,578 



Note 14. Commitments, Contingencies and Related Party Transactions

Legal contingencies: Due to the nature of its business activities, the Company is subject to extensive regulations and legal actions and is currently involved in certain legal proceedings, including class action allegations, and regulatory matters, which arise in the normal course of business. In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the Company establishes an accrued liability for legal proceedings and regulatory matters when those matters present loss contingencies which are both probable and reasonably estimable.

The Company has received inquiries from certain agencies and states on its lending compliance, the validity of the bank partnership model, and its ability to facilitate the servicing of bank originated loans. Management is confident that its lending practices and the bank partnership structure, in addition to the Company’s technologies, services, and overall relationship with its bank partners, complies with state and federal laws. However, the inquiries are still in process and the outcome is unknown at this time.
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The Company is vigorously defending all legal proceedings and regulatory matters. Except as described below, management does not believe that the resolution of any currently pending legal proceedings and regulatory matters will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

On November 18, 2021, the Company entered into a Consent Judgement and Order (“Settlement”) with the Attorney General of the District of Columbia (“District”) to resolve all matters in a dispute related to the action previously filed against the Company by the District (“Action”). The Company denies the allegations in the Action and denies that it has violated any law or engaged in any deceptive or unfair practices. The Action was resolved to avoid the expense of protracted litigation. As part of the Settlement, the Company agreed to, among other things, refrain from certain business activities in the District of Columbia, pay $0.3 million to the District of Columbia and provide refunds totaling $1.5 million to certain District of Columbia consumers. As of December 31, 2021, unpaid refunds due to certain District of Columbia consumers totaled $1.5 million, which is included in accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheet as of such date. During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, the Company distributed refunds totaling $1.5 million to the District of Columbia consumers and there were no unpaid refunds due as of September 30, 2022.

On March 7, 2022, the Company filed a complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief (“Complaint”) against the Commissioner (in her official capacity) of the Department of Financial Protection and Innovation of the State of California (“Defendant”) in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles, Central Division (“Court”). The Complaint seeks a declaration that the interest rate caps set forth in the California Financing Law, as amended by the Fair Access to Credit Act, a/k/a AB 539 (“CFL”), do not apply to loans that are originated by the Company’s federally-insured state-chartered bank partners and serviced through the Company’s technology and service platform pursuant to a contractual arrangement with each such bank (“Program”). The Complaint further seeks injunctive relief against the Defendant, preventing the Defendant from enforcing interest rate caps under the CFL against the Company based on activities related to the Program. On April 8, 2022, the Defendant filed a cross-complaint against the Company attempting to enforce the CFL against the Company and, among other things, void loans that are originated by the Company’s federally-insured state-chartered bank partners through the Program in California and seek financial penalties against the Company. On May 10, 2022, the Company filed a Demurrer to the cross-complaint of the Defendant. On July 7, 2022, the Defendant filed its opposition to the Company’s Demurrer to the cross-complaint of the Defendant. On September 30, 2022, the Court overruled the Company’s Demurrer to the Defendant’s cross-complaint. The Company intends to continue to aggressively prosecute the claims set forth in the Complaint and vigorously defend itself and its position as the matter proceeds through the court process. The Company believes that the Defendant’s position is without merit as explained in the Company’s initial Complaint.

Related party transactions: OppFi-LLC previously had an unsecured line of credit agreement with Schwartz Capital Group (“SCG”) with a maximum available amount of $4.0 million, which was paid in full on March 30, 2021. Interest expense related to this related party transaction was $0.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021.

In August 2020, OppFi-LLC entered into a Management Fee Agreement (“Management Fee Agreement”) with SCG. Pursuant to the terms of the Management Fee Agreement, SCG provided board and advisory services. Effective upon the Closing, OppFi-LLC terminated the Management Fee Agreement. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, management fees under the Management Fee Agreement totaled $0.4 million.

Severance agreements: The Company entered into Severance Agreements and General Releases (“Severance Agreements”) with the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer and other key employees. In connection with these Severance Agreements, the Company agreed to, among other things, pay certain severance benefits for one year. Severance expense, which is included in salaries and employee benefits in the consolidated statements of operations, totaled negative $6 thousand due to a true-up adjustment and $0.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $2.0 million and $0.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.


Note 15.    Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentration of credit risk consist primarily of finance receivables. As of September 30, 2022, consumers living primarily in Texas and Florida made up approximately 14% and 14%, respectively, of the gross amount of the Company’s portfolio of finance receivables. As of September 30, 2022, there were no other states that made up more than 10% or more of the gross amount of the Company’s portfolio of finance receivables. As of December 31, 2021, consumers living primarily in Florida, Texas and California made up approximately 14%, 14% and 11%, respectively, of the gross amount of the Company’s portfolio of finance receivables. Furthermore, such consumers’ ability to honor their installment contracts may be affected by economic conditions in these areas. The Company is also exposed to a concentration of credit risk inherent in providing alternate financing programs to borrowers who cannot obtain traditional bank financing.
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Note 16. Retirement Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) retirement plan (“401(k) Plan”) for its employees. Full time employees (except certain non-resident aliens) who are age 21 and older are eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan. The 401(k) Plan participants may elect to contribute a portion of their eligible compensation to the 401(k) Plan. The Company has elected a matching contribution up to 4% on eligible employee compensation. The Company’s contribution, which is included in salaries and employee benefits in the consolidated statements of operations, totaled $0.4 million and $0.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $1.2 million and $1.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.


Note 17.    (Loss) Earnings Per Share

Prior to the reverse recapitalization in connection with the Closing (“Reverse Recapitalization”), all net income was attributable to the noncontrolling interest. For the periods prior to July 20, 2021, earnings per share was not calculated because net income prior to the Business Combination was attributable entirely to OppFi-LLC.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands, except share and per share data):


























Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2022

2021

2022

2021
Numerator:







Net (loss) income attributable to OppFi Inc.
$
(571)


$
14,125 


$
3,963 


$
14,125 

   Net (loss) income available to Class A common stockholders - Basic
(571)


14,125 


3,963 


14,125 

Dilutive effect of warrants on net income to Class A common stockholders
— 


— 


— 


— 

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest
— 


13,668 


4,576 


13,668 

Income tax provision
— 


(3,308)


(1,105)


(3,308)

   Net (loss) income available to Class A common stockholders - Diluted
$
(571)


$
24,485 


$
7,434 


$
24,485 

Denominator:







Weighted average Class A common stock outstanding - Basic
13,972,971

13,363,996

13,694,733

13,107,874
Effect of dilutive securities:







   Stock options
—

—

—

—
   Restricted stock units
—

—

123,722

—
   Performance stock units
—

—

11,986

—
   Warrants
—

—

—

—
   Employee stock purchase plan
—

—

—

—
   Units, excluding Earnout Units
—

71,100,787

70,446,836

71,356,909
      Dilutive potential common shares
—

71,100,787

70,582,544

71,356,909
Weighted average units outstanding - diluted
13,972,971

84,464,783

84,277,277

84,464,783
(Loss) earnings per share:







Basic
$
(0.04)


$
1.06 


$
0.29 


$
1.08 

Diluted
$
(0.04)


$
0.29 


$
0.09 


$
0.29 
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The following table presents securities that have been excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share as
their effect would have been anti-dilutive for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021:


























Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2022

2021

2022

2021
Public Warrants
11,887,500 


11,887,500 


11,887,500 


11,887,500 

Private Unit Warrants
231,250 


231,250 


231,250 


231,250 

$11.50 Exercise Price Warrants
2,248,750 


2,248,750 


2,248,750 


2,248,750 

$15 Exercise Price Warrants
912,500 


912,500 


912,500 


912,500 

Underwriter Warrants
59,437 


59,437 


59,437 


59,437 

Stock Options
1,978,972 


5,600,000 


2,178,347 


5,600,000 

Restricted stock units
2,545,635 


— 


1,718,129 


— 

Performance stock units
448,720 


— 


217,730 


— 

Noncontrolling interest - Earnout Units
25,500,000 


25,500,000 


25,500,000 


25,500,000 

Noncontrolling interest - OppFi Units
69,659,100 


— 


— 


— 

Potential common stock
115,471,864 


46,439,437 


44,953,643 


46,439,437 


Prior Period Financial Statement Revision: The Company has identified adjustments required to correct its previous calculations of diluted earnings per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021. The Company determined that it misapplied the guidance prescribed by FASB ASC 260-10-55-20(b). The misapplication resulted in an overstatement of $0.77 in diluted earnings per share and $0.79 in diluted earnings per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively.

As a result, the Company assessed the materiality of the revision related to the calculation of diluted earnings per share to prior periods’ financial statements in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 99, Materiality (“SAB 99”), and SAB No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements (“SAB 108”), codified in FASB ASC 250, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections. The Company determined that the impact of the diluted earnings per share errors was not material to the previously issued annual and interim unaudited consolidated financial statements using the guidance of SAB 99 and 108. Accordingly, the revisions to diluted earnings per share have been reflected in the prior comparative amounts presented in the September 30, 2022 interim financial statements. The revisions had no impact on the Company’s net income or stockholders' equity.


Note 18.    Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated the impact of events that have occurred through the date these financial statements were issued and identified the following event that required disclosure.

Leases: On October 10, 2022, the Company entered into a sublease of approximately 10,481 square feet of its office space in Chicago, Illinois. The sublease will expire on August 31, 2025, the date on which the underlying lease agreement will terminate. The Company will receive approximately $0.9 million of base rent payments over the sublease term.
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ITEM 2.    MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should review the sections titled “Cautionary Note Concerning Factors That May Affect Future Results” and “Risk Factors” of this Form 10-Q and our most recently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of forward-looking statements and important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

OVERVIEW

OppFi Inc. (“we”, “our”, or the “Company”) is a leading mission-driven financial technology platform that powers banks to offer accessible financial products to everyday consumers through our proprietary technology and artificial intelligence (“AI”) and a top-rated customer experience. Our primary mission is to facilitate financial inclusion and credit access to the 60 million everyday consumers who lack access to mainstream credit and help them build financial health. Consumers on our platform benefit from higher approval rates and a highly automated, transparent, efficient, and fully digital experience. Our bank partners benefit from our turn-key, outsourced marketing, data science, and proprietary technology to digitally acquire, underwrite and service everyday consumers and increase automation throughout the lending process.

We principally service consumers on our financial platform through OppLoans, which is our bank sponsored installment loan product that is a fully amortizing, simple interest small dollar loan with an average loan size of approximately $1,500 and a term of 11 months. Our SalaryTap and OppFi Card products do not currently represent a significant amount of our business.

COVID-19 Pandemic

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization designated the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) as a global pandemic. Recently, consumer activity has begun to recover and government mandates to restrict daily activities have been lifted, but the long-term effects of the COVID-19 pandemic globally and in the United States remain unknown. Worker shortages, supply chain issues, inflationary pressures, vaccine and testing requirements, the emergence of new variants, and the reinstatement of restrictions and health and safety related measures in response to the emergence of new variants, such as the Delta and Omicron variants, contributed to the volatility of ongoing recovery. There can be no assurance that economic recovery will continue or that consumer behavior will return to pre-pandemic levels. For further discussion please reference the ‘Risk Factors’ section in Part 1, Item 1A, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.

RECENT REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS

California AB 539
On March 7, 2022, the Company filed a complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief (“Complaint”) against the Commissioner (in her official capacity) of the Department of Financial Protection and Innovation of the State of California (“Defendant”) in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles, Central Division. The Complaint seeks a declaration that the interest rate caps set forth in the California Financing Law, as amended by the Fair Access to Credit Act, a/k/a AB 539 (“CFL”), do not apply to loans that are originated by the Company’s federally-insured state-chartered bank partners and serviced through the Company’s technology and service platform pursuant to a contractual arrangement with each such bank (“Program”). The Complaint further seeks injunctive relief against the Defendant, preventing the Defendant from enforcing interest rate caps under the CFL against the Company based on activities related to the Program. On April 8, 2022, the Defendant filed a cross-complaint against the Company attempting to enforce the CFL against the Company and, among other things, void loans that are originated by the Company’s federally-insured state-chartered bank partners through the Program in California and seek financial penalties against the Company. On May 10, 2022, the Company filed a Demurrer to the cross-complaint of the Defendant. On July 7, 2022, the Defendant filed its opposition to the Company’s Demurrer to the cross-complaint of the Defendant. On September 30, 2022, the Court overruled the Company’s Demurrer to the Defendant’s cross-complaint. The Company intends to continue to aggressively prosecute the claims set forth in the Complaint and vigorously defend itself and its position as the matter proceeds through the court process. The Company believes that the Defendant’s position is without merit as explained in the Company’s initial Complaint.


HIGHLIGHTS
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Our financial results as of and for the three months ended September 30, 2022 are summarized below:
•Basic and diluted loss per share (“EPS”) of $(0.04) and $(0.04), respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2022;
•Adjusted EPS(1) of $0.01 for the three months ended September 30, 2022;
•Net originations increased 11% to $182.7 million from $164.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively;
•Ending receivables increased 39% to $407.7 million from $293.3 million as of September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively;
•Total revenue increased 35% to $124.2 million from $92.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively;
•Net loss of $(0.7) million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 decreased by 102.2% when compared to net income of $30.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021; and
•Adjusted net income(1) decreased 96% to $0.8 million from $17.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

(1) Adjusted EPS and Adjusted Net Income are non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) financial measures. For information regarding our uses and definitions of these measures and for reconciliations to the most directly comparable United States GAAP measures, see“Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.
KEY PERFORMANCE METRICS

We regularly review the following key metrics to evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify trends affecting our business, formulate financial projections and make strategic decisions, which may also be useful to an investor. The following tables and related discussion set forth key financial and operating metrics for the Company’s operations as of and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021.

All key performance metrics include the three products on the OppFi platform and are not shown separately as contributions from SalaryTap and OppFi Card were de minimis.

Total Net Originations

We measure originations to assess the growth trajectory and overall size of our loan portfolio. There is a direct correlation between origination growth and revenue growth. We include both bank partner originations as well as those originated by us directly. Loans are considered to be originated when the contract is signed by the prospective borrower. The vast majority of our originations ultimately disburse to a borrower, but disbursement timing lags that of originations. Originations may be useful to an investor because they help understand the growth trajectory of our revenues.

The following tables present total net originations (defined as gross originations net of transferred balance on refinanced loans), percentage of net originations by bank partners, and percentage of net originations by new loans for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):




































Three Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Total net originations

$
182,724 


$
164,547 


$
18,177 


11.0 
%
Percentage of net originations by bank partners

94.2 
%

93.4 
%

N/A

0.9 
%
Percentage of net originations by new loans

50.1 
%

51.4 
%

N/A

(2.5)
%
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Nine Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Total net originations

$
571,681

$
408,394

$
163,287 


40.0 
%
Percentage of net originations by bank partners

94.6 
%

89.0 
%

N/A

6.3 
%
Percentage of net originations by new loans

53.2 
%

43.6 
%

N/A

22.0 
%

Net originations increased to $182.7 million and $571.7 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, from $164.5 million and $408.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021. The 11.0% and 40.0% increases were driven by increased demand resulting in higher application volume and an increase in funded rate (defined as funded loans over qualified applications). We saw a decline in net originations from the three months ended June 30, 2022 due to tightening of credit.

Our origination mix continues to shift towards a servicing / facilitation model for bank partners from a direct origination model. Total net originations by our bank partners increased to 94.2% and 94.6% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, from 93.4% and 89.0% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021.

Total net originations of new loans as percentage of total loans decreased to 50.1% and increased to 53.2% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 from 51.4% and 43.6% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021. The decrease is a result of a pullback on marketing spend and lower qualified rate (defined as qualified applications over total applications) to ensure that new loans originated are of a higher credit quality than previous periods.

Ending Receivables

Ending receivables are defined as the unpaid principal balances of on-balance sheet loans at the end of the reporting period. The following table presents ending receivables as of September 30, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):






























September 30,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Ending receivables

$
407,730 


$
293,279 


$
114,451 


39.0 
%

Ending receivables increased to $407.7 million as of September 30, 2022 from $293.3 million as of September 30, 2021. The 39.0% increase was primarily driven by growth in originations.

Average Yield

Average yield represents annualized interest income from the period as a percent of average receivables. Receivables are defined as unpaid principal balances of on-balance sheet loans. The following tables present average yield for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021:




























Three Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

%
Average yield

119.4 
%

131.3 
%

(9.1)
%




























Nine Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

%
Average yield

119.0 
%

129.0 
%

(7.8)
%

Average yield decreased to 119.4% and 119.0% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, from 131.3% and 129.0% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. The 9.1% and 7.8% decreases were driven by an increase in delinquent loans in the portfolio that were not accruing interest and an increase in enrollment in our hardship and assistance programs, which provide payment relief due to natural disasters, loss of income, increase in expenses, or other unpredictable events such as COVID-19.
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Net Charge-Offs as a Percentage of Average Receivables

Net charge-offs as a percentage of average receivables represents annualized total charge-offs from the period less recoveries as a percent of average receivables. Receivables are defined as unpaid principal of on-balance sheet loans. Our charge-off policy is based on a review of delinquent finance receivables on a loan by loan basis. Finance receivables are charged off at the earlier of the time when accounts reach 90 days past due on a recency basis, when we receive notification of a customer bankruptcy, or when finance receivables are otherwise deemed uncollectible.

The following tables present net charge-offs as a percentage of average receivables annualized for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021:




























Three Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

%
Net charge-offs as % of average receivables

66.4 
%

35.8 
%

85.5 
%




























Nine Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

%
Net charge-offs as % of average receivables

58.3 
%

31.4 
%

85.7 
%

Net charge-offs as a percentage of average receivables increased to 66.4% and 58.3% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, from 35.8% and 31.4% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. The elevated net charge-offs for both three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 are a result of the cumulative effects of inflation and the runoff of lower quality loans originated prior to credit tightening earlier this year. Additionally, credit adjustments have decelerated origination growth and therefore impacted the denominator of the net charge-off rate.

Marketing Cost per Funded Loan

Marketing cost per funded loan represents marketing cost per funded loan for new and refinance loans. This metric is the amount of direct marketing costs incurred during a period divided by the number of loans originated during that same period.
The following tables present marketing cost per funded loan for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021:


































Three Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Marketing cost per funded loan

$
66 


$
89 


$
(23)


(25.8)
%


































Nine Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Marketing cost per funded loan

$
75 


$
74 


$
1 


1.4 
%

Our marketing cost per funded loan decreased to $66 and increased to $75 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, from $89 and $74 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021. The 25.8% decrease for the three months ended September 30, 2022 was driven by the lower mix of new versus refinanced loans year over year as stated in the ‘Total Net Originations’ metric above in addition to a lower marketing cost per new funded loan.

Marketing Cost per New Funded Loan

Marketing cost per new funded loan represents the amount of direct marketing costs incurred during a period divided by the number of new loans originated during that same period. The following tables present marketing cost per new funded loan for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021:
32

Table of Contents



































Three Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Marketing cost per new funded loan

$
188 


$
255 


$
(67)


(26.3)
%


































Nine Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Marketing cost per new funded loan

$
205 


$
254 


$
(49)


(19.3)
%

Our marketing cost per new funded loan decreased to $188 and $205 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, from $255 and $254 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. The 26.3% and 19.3% decreases for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 were driven by growth in low cost marketing channels such as email, referrals, and search engine optimization, improved efficiency in direct mail marketing spend, and shifting volume within our partner channel to lower cost partners.

Auto-Approval Rate

Auto-approval rate is calculated by taking the number of approved loans that are not decisioned by a loan advocate or underwriter (auto-approval) divided by the total number of loans approved. The following table presents auto approval rate for the months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021:
























September 30,

Change


2022

2021

%
Auto-approval rate

69.2 
%

58.1 
%

19.1 
%

Auto-approval rate increased by 19.1% for the month ended September 30, 2022 to 69.2%, from 58.1% for the month ended September 30, 2021, driven by the continued application of algorithmic automation projects that streamline frictional steps of the origination process.

Sales and Servicing Cost per Loan

Sales and servicing cost per loan is calculated by taking the total sales and servicing costs, which include customer center salaries, underwriting and reporting costs, and payment processing fees, divided by the average amount of outstanding loans during that period. The following tables present sales and servicing cost per loan for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021:


































Three Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Sales and servicing cost per loan

$
128 


$
164 


$
(36)


(22.0)
%


































Nine Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Sales and servicing cost per loan

$
141 


$
162 


$
(21)


(13.0)
%

Our sales and servicing cost per loan decreased by $36 and $21 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, due to increased efficiency in our customer center allowing us to service a higher volume of loans with lower proportional headcount.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Comparison of the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

The following table presents our consolidated results of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands, except number of shares and per share data).




























(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Three Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Interest and loan related income

$
123,605 


$
91,448 


$
32,157 


35.2 
%
Other income

639 


529 


110 


20.8 
%
     Total revenue

124,244 


91,977 


32,267 


35.1 
%
Provision for credit losses on finance receivables

(1,017)


(143)


(874)


611.2 
%
Change in fair value of finance receivables

(70,601)


(18,940)


(51,661)


272.8 
%
     Net revenue

52,626 


72,894 


(20,268)


(27.8)
%
Expenses:








Sales and marketing

11,674 


15,633 


(3,959)


(25.3)
%
Customer operations

10,591 


10,550 


41 


0.4 
%
Technology, products, and analytics

8,325 


7,329 


996 


13.6 
%
General, administrative, and other

13,909 


21,456 


(7,547)


(35.2)
%
     Total expenses before interest expense

44,499 


54,968 


(10,469)


(19.0)
%
Interest expense

9,096 


6,414 


2,682 


41.8 
%
     Total expenses

53,595 


61,382 


(7,787)


(12.7)
%
     (Loss) income from operations

(969)


11,512 


(12,481)


(108.4)
%
Gain on forgiveness of PPP loan

— 


6,444 


(6,444)


— 
%
Change in fair value of warrant liability

1,323 


13,139 


(11,816)


(89.9)
%
    Income before income taxes

354 


31,095 


(30,741)


(98.9)
%
Provision for income taxes

1,015 


703 


312 


44.4 
%
     Net (loss) income

(661)


30,392 


(31,053)


(102.2)
%
Less: net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest

(90)


16,267 


(16,357)


(100.6)
%
     Net (loss) income attributable to OppFi Inc.

$
(571)


$
14,125 


$
(14,696)


(104.0)
%









(Loss) earnings per share attributable to OppFi Inc.:







(Loss) earnings per common share:








   Basic

$
(0.04)


$
1.06 





   Diluted

$
(0.04)


$
0.29 





Weighted average common shares outstanding:








   Basic

13,972,971

13,363,996




   Diluted

13,972,971

84,464,783





Total Revenue

Total revenue consists mainly of revenue earned from interest on receivables from outstanding loans based only on the interest method. We also earn revenue from referral fees related primarily to our turn-up program, which represented less than 0.2 % of total revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2022.

Total revenue increased by $32.3 million, or 35.1%, to $124.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 from $92.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021. The increase was due to higher receivables balances throughout the quarter, which was driven by both higher beginning balances and origination growth.

Change in Fair Value and Total Provision
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Commencing on January 1, 2021, we elected the fair value option on the OppLoans installment product. To derive the fair value, we generally utilize discounted cash flow analyses that factor in estimated losses and prepayments over the estimated duration of the underlying assets. Loss and prepayment assumptions are determined using historical loss data and include appropriate consideration of recent trends and anticipated future performance. Future cash flows are discounted using a rate of return that we believe a market participant would require based on the risk characteristics of the loans. We did not elect the fair value option on our SalaryTap and OppFi Card finance receivables as these products launched in November 2020 and August 2021, respectively, and inputs for fair value are not yet determined. Accordingly, the related finance receivables are carried at amortized cost, net of allowance for credit losses.

Change in fair value consists of gross charge-offs incurred in the period on the OppLoans installment product, net of recoveries, plus the change in the fair value on the installment loans portfolio. Change in fair value totaled $70.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022, which was comprised of $67.7 million of net charge-offs and a fair market value adjustment of $2.9 million, up from $18.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021, which was comprised of $24.9 million of net charge-offs and a fair market value adjustment of $(6.0) million. The fair value adjustment for the three months ended September 30, 2022 had a negative impact due to a decrease in the fair value mark, partially offset by an increase in receivables in the period.

For the three months ended September 30, 2022, total provision consists of gross charge-offs incurred in the period, net of recoveries, plus the change in the allowance for credit losses for our SalaryTap and OppFi Card products. Total provision increased for the three months ended September 30, 2022 due to the increase in gross charge-offs on the SalaryTap and OppFi card products from their launch in 2021.

Net Revenue

Net revenue is equal to total revenue less the change in fair value and total provision costs. Total net revenue decreased by $20.3 million, or 27.8%, to $52.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 from $72.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021. This decrease was due to the rise in gross charge-offs, which offset higher total revenues.

Expenses

Expenses includes costs related to salaries and employee benefits, interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs, sales and marketing, customer operations, technology, products, and analytics, and other general and administrative expenses.

Expenses decreased by $7.8 million, or 12.7%, to $53.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022, from $61.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021. A large portion of the decrease was driven by lower direct marketing spend due to a lower marketing cost per new funded loan. Additionally, professional fees for three months ended September 30, 2021 were elevated as we were incurring expenses associated with becoming a public company. The decrease was partially offset by further investment in technology infrastructure, higher insurance costs associated with being a public company and increased interest expense as a result of increased debt draws to support higher receivables balances. Expenses as a percent of revenue decreased year over year from 66.7% to 43.1% for the three months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2021.

(Loss) Income from Operations

(Loss) income from operations is the difference between net revenue and expenses. Total (loss) income from operations decreased by $12.5 million, or 108.4%, to $(1.0) million for the three months ended September 30, 2022, from $11.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021.

Gain on Forgiveness of PPP Loan

Gain on forgiveness of PPP Loan for the three months ended September 30, 2021 included the gain from an unsecured loan of $6.4 million in connection with the U.S. Small Business Administration's (“SBA”) Paycheck Protection Program (the “PPP Loan”).

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability
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Change in fair value of warrant liability for the three months ended September 30, 2022 included the change in fair value of the warrant liability in the amount of $1.3 million. This warrant liability arose with respect to warrants issued in connection with the initial public offering of FGNA and is subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date.

Income Before Income Taxes

Income before income taxes is the sum of income from operations, the gain on forgiveness of PPP Loan and the change in fair value of warrant liability. Income before income taxes decreased by $30.7 million, or 98.9%, to $0.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022, from $31.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021.

Income Taxes

OppFi Inc. recorded a provision for income taxes of $1.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and $0.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021.

Net (Loss) Income

Net (loss) income decreased by $31.1 million, or 102.2%, to $(0.7) million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 from $30.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021.

Net (Loss) Income Attributable to OppFi Inc.

Net (loss) income attributable to OppFi Inc. was $(0.6) million for the three months ended September 30, 2022. Net (loss) income attributable to OppFi Inc. represents the (loss) income solely attributable to stockholders of OppFi Inc. for the three months ended September 30, 2022. As a result of the Company’s Up-C structure, the underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. are generally expense items related to OppFi Inc.’s status as a public company and the income or expense for the change in fair value of warrant liabilities related to the Company’s warrants, as well as the Company’s approximate percentage interest in the non-controlling interest. The underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. for the three months ended September 30, 2022 are gain on change in fair value of warrant liabilities of approximately $1.3 million, partially offset by tax expense of approximately $1.4 million, payroll and stock compensation expense of approximately $0.2 million, general and administrative expense of approximately $0.2 million and board fees of approximately $0.1 million, for total (loss) attributable to OppFi Inc. of approximately $(0.5) million. The (loss) also includes OppFi Inc.’s percentage interest in the income attributable to non-controlling interest of approximately $(0.1) million, for net (loss) attributable to OppFi Inc. of approximately $(0.6) million.

The underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. for the three months ended September 30, 2021 are gain on change in fair value of warrant liabilities of approximately $13.1 million, partially offset by tax expense of approximately $0.7 million, general and administrative expense of approximately $0.1 million and board fees of approximately $0.1 million, for total income attributable to OppFi Inc. of approximately $12.2 million. The income also includes OppFi Inc.’s percentage interest in the income attributable to non-controlling interest of approximately $1.9 million, for net income attributable to OppFi Inc. of approximately $14.1 million.
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Comparison of the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

The following table presents our consolidated results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands, except number of shares and per share data).




























(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Nine Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Interest and loan related income

$
331,814 


$
253,581 


$
78,233 


30.9 
%
Other income

1,015 


1,029 


(14)


(1.4)
%
     Total revenue

332,829 


254,610 


78,219 


30.7 
%
Provision for credit losses on finance receivables

(2,043)


(181)


(1,862)


1028.7 
%
Change in fair value of finance receivables

(162,280)


(52,635)


(109,645)


208.3 
%
     Net revenue

168,506 


201,794 


(33,288)


(16.5)
%
Expenses:








Sales and marketing

43,067 


35,114 


7,953 


22.6 
%
Customer operations

31,933 


30,036 


1,897 


6.3 
%
Technology, products, and analytics

24,848 


19,669 


5,179 


26.3 
%
General, administrative, and other

40,965 


45,686 


(4,721)


(10.3)
%
     Total expenses before interest expense

140,813 


130,505 


10,308 


7.9 
%
Interest expense

24,421 


17,406 


7,015 


40.3 
%
     Total expenses

165,234 


147,911 


17,323 


11.7 
%
     Income from operations

3,272 


53,883 


(50,611)


(93.9)
%
Gain on forgiveness of PPP loan

— 


6,444 


(6,444)


— 
%
Change in fair value of warrant liability

7,024 


13,139 


(6,115)


(46.5)
%
     Income before income taxes

10,296 


73,466 


(63,170)


(86.0)
%
Provision for income taxes

1,757 


703 


1,054 


149.9 
%
     Net income

8,539 


72,763 


(64,224)


(88.3)
%
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest

4,576 


58,638 


(54,062)


(92.2)
%
     Net income attributable to OppFi Inc.

$
3,963 


$
14,125 


$
(10,162)


(71.9)
%









Earnings per share attributable to OppFi Inc.:








Earnings per common share:








Basic

$
0.29 


$
1.08 





Diluted

$
0.09 


$
0.29 





Weighted average common shares outstanding:








Basic

13,694,733

13,107,874




Diluted

84,277,277

84,464,783





Total Revenue

Total revenue consists mainly of revenue earned from interest on receivables from outstanding loans based only on the interest method. We also earn revenue from referral fees related primarily to our turn-up program, which represented less than 0.2 % of total revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2022.

Total revenue increased by $78.2 million, or 30.7%, to $332.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 from $254.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. The increase was due to higher receivables balances throughout the period, which was driven by both higher beginning balances and origination growth.

Change in Fair Value and Total Provision
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Commencing on January 1, 2021, we elected the fair value option on the OppLoans installment product. To derive the fair value, we utilize a discounted cash flow analyses that factors in estimated losses and prepayments over the estimated duration of the underlying assets. Loss and prepayment assumptions are determined using historical loss data and include appropriate consideration of recent trends and anticipated future performance. Future cash flows are discounted using a rate of return that we believe a market participant would require based on the risk characteristics of the loans. We did not elect the fair value option on our SalaryTap and OppFi Card finance receivables as these products launched in November 2020 and August 2021, respectively, and inputs for fair value are not yet determined. Accordingly, the related finance receivables are carried at amortized cost, net of allowance for credit losses.

Change in fair value consists of gross charge-offs incurred in the period on the OppLoans installment product, net of recoveries, plus the change in the fair value on the installment loans portfolio. Change in fair value totaled $162.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, which was comprised of $161.5 million of net charge-offs and a fair market value adjustment of $0.8 million, up from $52.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, which was comprised of $62.1 million of net charge-offs and a fair market value adjustment of $(9.4) million. The fair value adjustment for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 had a negative impact due to a decrease in the fair value mark, partially offset by the increase in receivables in the period.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2022, total provision consists of gross charge-offs incurred in the period, net of recoveries, plus the change in the allowance for credit losses for our SalaryTap and OppFi Card products. Total provision increased for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 due to the increase in gross charge-offs on the SalaryTap and OppFi card products from their launch in 2021.

Net Revenue

Net revenue is equal to total revenue less the change in fair value and less total provision costs. Total net revenue decreased by $33.3 million, or 16.5%, to $168.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 from $201.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. This decrease was due to the rise in gross charge-offs, which offset higher total revenues.

Expenses

Expenses includes costs related to salaries and employee benefits, interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs, sales and marketing, customer operations, technology, products, and analytics, and other general and administrative expenses.

Expenses increased by $17.3 million, or 11.7%, to $165.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, from $147.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. A large portion of the increase was related to higher direct marketing costs to drive higher new originations throughout the first half of the year, an increase in professional fees related to tax and legal guidance, further investment in technology infrastructure, higher insurance costs associated with being a public company and increased interest expense as a result of increased debt draws to support higher receivables balances. Due to headcount reductions and vendor savings implemented in the first half of 2022, expenses as a percent of revenue decreased year over year from 58% to 50% for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2021.

Income from Operations

Income from operations is the difference between net revenue and expenses. Total income from operations decreased by $50.6 million, or 93.9%, to $3.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, from $53.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021.

Gain on Forgiveness of PPP Loan

Gain on forgiveness of PPP Loan for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 included the $6.4 million gain from the PPP Loan.

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability

Change in fair value of warrant liability for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 included the change in fair value of the warrant liability in the amount of $7.0 million. This warrant liability arose with respect to warrants issued in connection with the initial public offering of FGNA and is subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date.
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Income Before Income Taxes

Income before income taxes is the sum of income from operations, the gain on forgiveness of PPP Loan and the change in fair value of warrant liability. Income before income taxes decreased by $63.2 million, or 86.0%, to $10.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, from $73.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021.

Income Taxes

OppFi Inc. recorded a provision for income taxes of $1.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and $0.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. As noted above, OppFi-LLC is treated as a partnership and is not subject to income taxes. Prior to the consummation of the Business Combination on July 20, 2021, there were no taxes attributable to OppFi Inc. as OppFi-LLC was the only reportable entity.

Net Income

Net income decreased by $64.2 million, or 88.3%, to $8.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 from $72.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021.

Net Income Attributable to OppFi Inc.

Net income attributable to OppFi Inc. was $4.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. Net income attributable to OppFi Inc. represents the income solely attributable to stockholders of OppFi Inc. for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. As a result of the Company’s Up-C structure, the underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. are generally expense items related to OppFi Inc.’s status as a public company and the income or expense for the change in fair value of warrant liabilities related to the Company’s warrants, as well as the Company’s approximate percentage interest in the non-controlling interest. The underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 are gain on change in fair value of warrant liabilities of approximately $7.0 million, partially offset by tax expense of approximately $2.3 million, payroll and stock compensation expense of approximately $0.6 million, general and administrative expense of approximately $0.5 million and board fees of approximately $0.3 million, for total income attributable to OppFi Inc. of approximately $3.3 million. The income also includes OppFi Inc.’s percentage interest in the income attributable to non-controlling interest of approximately $0.6 million, for net income attributable to OppFi Inc. of approximately $4.0 million.

The underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 are gain on change in fair value of warrant liabilities of approximately $13.1 million, partially offset by tax expense of approximately $0.7 million, general and administrative expense of approximately $0.1 million and board fees of approximately $0.1 million, for total income attributable to OppFi Inc. of approximately $12.2 million. The income also includes OppFi Inc.’s percentage interest in the income attributable to non-controlling interest of approximately $1.9 million, for net income attributable to OppFi Inc. of approximately $14.1 million.


CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

Comparison of the periods ended September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021

The following table presents our condensed balance sheet as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 (in thousands):

39

Table of Contents






























September 30, 2022

December 31, 2021

Change






$

%
Assets








Cash and restricted cash

$
50,469 


$
62,362 


$
(11,893)


(19.1)
%
Finance receivables at fair value

458,065 


383,890 


74,175 


19.3 

Finance receivables at amortized cost, net

3,858 


4,220 


(362)


(8.6)

Other assets

67,578 


51,634 


15,944 


30.9 

Total assets

$
579,970 


$
502,106 


$
77,864 


15.5 
%
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity








Current liabilities

$
67,668 


$
58,967 


$
8,701 


14.8 
%
Total debt

342,636 


274,021 


68,615 


25.0 

Warrant liabilities

4,216 


11,240 


(7,024)


(62.5)

Total liabilities

414,520 


344,228 


70,292 


20.4 

Total stockholders’ equity

165,450 


157,878 


7,572 


4.8 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

$
579,970 


$
502,106 


$
77,864 


15.5 
%

Total cash and restricted cash decreased by $11.9 million as of September 30, 2022 compared to December 31, 2021, driven by an increase in originated loans relative to the timing of received payments. Finance receivables as of September 30, 2022 increased compared to December 31, 2021 due to high demand and record origination volume for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. Other assets as of September 30, 2022 increased by $15.9 million compared to December 31, 2021, driven by the addition of an operating lease right of use asset of $14.4 million related to the Company’s headquarters due to the adoption of a new accounting standard and an increase in tax receivable of $1.2 million.

Current liabilities increased by $8.7 million driven by the addition of an operating lease liability of $16.9 million and an increase in accounts payable of $0.6 million. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of accrued expenses by $9.4 million as of September 30, 2022. Total debt increased by $68.6 million driven by an increase in utilization of revolving lines of credit of $86.8 million, which was offset by lower secured borrowing payables by $20.7 million. Total equity increased by $7.6 million, driven by net income and stock-based compensation, partially offset by treasury stock as a result of the Repurchase Program.


NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Comparison of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

We believe that the provision of non-GAAP financial measures in this report, including Adjusted EPS, Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted Net Income can provide useful measures for period-to-period comparisons of our business and useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating results. However, non-GAAP financial measures are not calculated in accordance with GAAP measures, should not be considered an alternative to any measure of financial performance calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, and may not be comparable to the non-GAAP financial measures of other companies.

Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted Net Income is a non-GAAP measure defined as our GAAP net income adjusted to eliminate the effect of certain items as shown below, including debt issuance cost amortization and other addbacks and one-time expenses, as well as adjusting taxes for comparison purposes. We believe that Adjusted Net Income is an important measure because it allows management, investors, and our board of directors to evaluate and compare our operating results from period-to-period by making the adjustments described below.

Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure defined as our Adjusted Net Income adjusted for the items as shown below including taxes, depreciation and amortization and interest expense. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is an important measure
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because it allows management, investors, and our board of directors to evaluate and compare our operating results from period-to-period by making the adjustments described below. In addition, it provides a useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of our business, as it removes the effect of taxes, certain non-cash items, variable charges, and timing differences.

Adjusted EBITDA excludes certain expenses that are required in accordance with GAAP because they are non-recurring items (such as transaction-related costs with respect to our business combination), non-cash expenditures (such as, in the case of depreciation and amortization, changes in the fair value of warrant liabilities and expenses related to stock compensation), or are not related to our underlying business performance (such as interest expense). We believe these adjustments provide investors with a comparative view of expenses that the Company expects to incur on an ongoing basis.
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Three Months Ended September 30,

Variance
(in thousands, except share and per share data) Unaudited

2022

2021

%
Net (loss) income

$
(661)


$
30,392 


(102.2)
%
Provision for income taxes

1,015 


703 


44.4 
%
Debt issuance cost amortization

582 


572 


1.7 
%
Other addbacks and one-time expenses, net(a)

76 


(8,825)


(100.9)
%
Adjusted EBT1

1,012 


22,842 


(95.6)
%
Less: pro forma taxes(b)

(244)


(5,480)


(95.5)
%
Adjusted net income1

768 


17,362 


(95.6)
%
Pro forma taxes(b)

244 


5,480 


(95.5)
%
Depreciation and amortization

3,452 


2,712 


27.3 
%
Interest expense

8,513 


5,841 


45.7 
%
Business (non-income) taxes

238 


383 


(37.9)
%
Adjusted EBITDA1

$
13,215 


$
31,778 


(58.4)
%







Adjusted EPS1:

$
0.01 


$
0.21 



Weighted average diluted shares outstanding

84,080,808

84,464,783



(a) For the three months ended September 30, 2022, other addbacks and one-time expenses of $0.1 million included a $(1.3) million addback due to the change in fair value of the warrant liabilities, a $(0.1) million recruiting related addback, a $0.8 million expense related to severance and retention bonuses, and $0.8 million in expenses related to stock compensation. For the three months ended September 30, 2021, other addbacks and one-time expenses of $(8.8) million included a $(13.1) million addback due to the change in fair value of the warrant liabilities, a $(6.4) million addback due to the gain on forgiveness of the PPP Loan, $6.6 million in public company readiness costs prior to the Business Combination, $1.0 million in accounting and legal costs related to the Business Combination, a $0.9 million expense related to warrant valuation, a $0.2 million expense related to severance, a $0.1 million expense related to board fees, a $1.0 million recruiting and salary expense, and a $0.9 million expense related to stock compensation.
(b) Assumes a tax rate of 23.99% for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and a 24.14% tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2022, reflecting the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21% and a blended statutory rate for state income taxes.
























Nine Months Ended September 30,

Variance
(in thousands, except share and per share data) Unaudited

2022

2021

%
Net income

$
8,539 


$
72,763 


(88.3)
%
Provision for income taxes

1,757 


703 


149.9 
%
Debt issuance cost amortization

1,626 


1,735 


(6.3)
%
Other addbacks and one-time expenses, net(a)

(1,656)


(2,923)


(43.3)
%
Adjusted EBT1

10,266 


72,278 


(85.8)
%
Less: pro forma taxes(b)

(2,473)


(17,839)


(86.1)
%
Adjusted net income1

7,793 


54,439 


(85.7)
%
Pro forma taxes(b)

2,473 


17,839 


(86.1)
%
Depreciation and amortization

10,056 


7,289 


38.0 
%
Interest expense

22,795 


15,671 


45.5 
%
Business (non-income) taxes

826 


1,175 


(29.7)
%
Adjusted EBITDA1

$
43,943 


$
96,413 


(54.4)
%







Adjusted EPS1:

$
0.09 


$
0.64 



Weighted average diluted shares outstanding

84,277,277

84,464,783



(a) For the nine months ended September 30, 2022, other addbacks and one-time expenses of $(1.7) million included a $(7.0) million addback due to the change in fair value of the warrant liabilities, $2.9 million in expenses related to severance and retention bonuses, $2.4 million in expenses related to stock compensation, and $0.1 million in one-time legal expenses. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, other addbacks and one-time expenses of $(2.9) million included a $(13.1) million addback due to the change in fair value of the warrant liabilities, a $(6.4) million addback due to the gain on forgiveness of the PPP Loan, $6.6 million in public company readiness costs prior to the Business Combination, $2.6 million in expenses related to one-time legal, accounting, and other costs related to the Business Combination, $4.2 million in expenses related to warrant valuation, $0.6 million in expenses related to severance, $0.4 million in management and board fees, a $1.0 million recruiting and salary expense, and a $1.2 million expense related to stock compensation.
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(b) Assumes a tax rate of 24.68% for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and a 24.09% tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, reflecting the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21% and a blended statutory rate for state income taxes.



Adjusted Earnings Per Share

Adjusted EPS is defined as adjusted net income divided by weighted average diluted shares outstanding, which represent shares of both classes of common stock outstanding, excluding 25,500,000 shares related to earnout obligations and including the impact of restricted stock units and performance stock units. We believe that presenting Adjusted EPS is useful to investors and others because, due to the Company’s Up-C structure, Basic EPS calculated on a GAAP basis excludes a large percentage of the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock, which are Class V voting stock, while Diluted EPS calculated on a GAAP basis includes the Class V voting stock. Shares of the Company’s Class V voting stock may be exchanged, together with units of the Company’s subsidiary OppFi-LLC, into shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. We believe that presenting Adjusted EPS is useful to investors and others because it presents the Company’s Adjusted Net Income on a per share basis based on the shares of the Company’s common stock that would be issued but for, and can be issued as a result of, the Company’s Up-C structure, excluding the forfeitable earnout shares from the Company’s Business Combination. The earnout shares issued in the Business Combination are excluded from the calculation of Adjusted EPS because such earnout shares are subject to potential forfeiture pending the achievement (if any) of certain earnout targets pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination, and we believe that, until such shares are forfeited or no longer subject to forfeiture, it is useful to investors and others to provide per share earnings information based only on those shares that are not subject to forfeiture.














Three Months Ended September 30,
(unaudited)
2022

2021
Weighted average Class A common stock outstanding
13,972,971

13,363,996
Weighted average Class V voting stock outstanding
95,397,996

96,600,787
Elimination of earnouts at period end
(25,500,000)

(25,500,000)
Dilutive impact of restricted stock units
192,127

—
Dilutive impact of performance stock units
17,714

—
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding
84,080,808

84,464,783














Three Months Ended September 30,
(unaudited)
2022

2021
Adjusted net income (in thousands)1
$
768 


$
17,362 

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding
84,080,808 


84,464,783 

Adjusted EPS:1
$
0.01 


$
0.21 















Nine Months Ended September 30,
(unaudited)
2022

2021
Weighted average Class A common stock outstanding
13,694,733

13,107,874
Weighted average Class V voting stock outstanding
95,946,836

96,856,909
Elimination of earnouts at period end
(25,500,000)

(25,500,000)
Dilutive impact of restricted stock units
123,722

—
Dilutive impact of performance stock units
11,986

—
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding
84,277,277

84,464,783














Nine Months Ended September 30,
(unaudited)
2022

2021
Adjusted net income (in thousands)1
$
7,793 


$
54,439 

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding
84,277,277

84,464,783
Adjusted EPS:1
$
0.09 


$
0.64 
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(1) Non-GAAP Financial Measures: Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBT, Adjusted EPS and Adjusted EBITDA are financial measures that have not been prepared in accordance with GAAP. See the “Note Regarding Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for a detailed description and reconciliation of such Non-GAAP financial measures to their most directly comparable GAAP financial measures.


LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

To date, the funds received from operating income and our ability to obtain lending commitments have provided the liquidity necessary for us to fund our operations.

Maturities of our financing facilities are staggered over three years to help minimize refinance risk.

The following table presents our unrestricted cash and undrawn debt as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 (in thousands):


















September 30, 2022

December 31, 2021
Unrestricted cash

$
14,011 


$
25,064 

Undrawn debt

$
168,036 


$
158,100 


As of September 30, 2022, we had $14.0 million in unrestricted cash, a decrease of $11.1 million from December 31, 2021. As of September 30, 2022, we had an additional $168.0 million of unused debt capacity under our financing facilities for future availability, representing a 33 % overall undrawn capacity, an increase from $158.1 million as of December 31, 2021. The increase in undrawn debt was due to an amendment to one of our revolving lines of credit, which increased the size of the facility from $75 million to $200 million. Including total financing commitments of $507.5 million, and cash on the balance sheet of $50.5 million, we had approximately $558.0 million in funding capacity as of September 30, 2022.

We believe that our unrestricted cash, undrawn debt and funds from operating income will be sufficient to meet our liquidity needs for at least the next 12 months from the date of this Quarterly Report. Our future capital requirements will depend on multiple factors, including our revenue growth, aggregate receivables balance, interest expense, working capital requirements, cash provided by and used in operating, investing and financing activities and capital expenditures.

To the extent our unrestricted cash balances, funds from operating income and funds from undrawn debt are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity needs in the future, we may need to raise additional capital through equity or debt financing and may not be able to do so on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when needed, our results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely impacted.



CASH FLOWS

The following table presents cash provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):




























(In thousands, except % change)

Nine Months Ended September 30,

Change


2022

2021

$

%
Net cash provided by operating activities

$
172,263 


$
120,090 


$
52,173 


43.4 
 %
Net cash used in investing activities

(243,445)


(109,979)


(133,466)


(121.4)
 
Net cash provided by financing activities

59,289 


1,034 


58,255 


(5633.9)
 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and restricted cash

$
(11,893)


$
11,145 


$
(23,037)


(206.7)
  %
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Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $172.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. This was an increase of $52.2 million when compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $120.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. Cash provided by operating activities increased due to additional interest and loan related income generated from higher receivables balances compared to the prior year.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $243.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. This was an increase of $133.5 million when compared to net cash used in investing activities of $110.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, due to higher finance receivables originated and acquired, partially offset by higher finance receivables repaid and recovered.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $59.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. This was an increase of $58.3 million when compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $1.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, primarily due to an increase in net advances in senior debt and a decrease in member distributions and payment of capitalized transaction costs related to the Business Combination, partially offset by an increase in net payments of secured borrowing payable.
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FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS1

Our corporate credit facilities consist of term loans and revolving loan facilities that we have drawn on to finance our operations and for other corporate purposes. These borrowings are generally secured by all the assets of OppFi-LLC that have not otherwise been sold or pledged to secure our structured finance facilities, such as assets belonging to certain of the special purpose entity subsidiaries of OppFi-LLC (“SPEs”). In addition, we, through our SPEs, have entered into warehouse credit facilities to partially finance the origination of loans by us on our platform or the purchase of participation rights in loans originated by our bank partners through our platform, which credit facilities are secured by the loans or participation rights. The following is a summary of OppFi’s outstanding borrowings as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, including borrowing capacity as of September 30, 2022 (in thousands):















































Borrowing

September 30,

December 31,

Interest Rate as of

Maturity

Purpose

Borrower(s)

Capacity

2022

2021

September 30, 2022

Date

Secured borrowing payable

Opportunity Funding SPE II, LLC

$
1,758 


$
1,758 


$
22,443 


15.00%

—
(2)
Senior debt













Revolving line of credit

Opportunity Funding SPE III, LLC

$
175,000 


$
127,159 


$
119,000 


LIBOR plus 6.00%

January 2024

Revolving line of credit

Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC; Opportunity Funding SPE VII, LLC (Tranche A)

75,000 


37,500 


45,900 


SOFR plus 7.36%

June 2025

Revolving line of credit

Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC; Opportunity Funding SPE VII, LLC (Tranche B)

125,000 


84,750 


— 


SOFR plus 6.75%

June 2025

Revolving line of credit

Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC

— 


— 


30,600 


LIBOR plus 7.25%

April 2023

Revolving line of credit

Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC; SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC

45,000 


— 


7,500

SOFR plus 0.11% plus 3.85%

February 2024

Revolving line of credit

Gray Rock SPV, LLC

75,000 


40,055 


— 


SOFR plus 7.25%

April 2025

Total revolving lines of credit



495,000 


289,464 


203,000 






Term loan, net

OppFi-LLC

50,000 


48,905 


48,578 


LIBOR plus 10.00%

March 2025

Total senior debt



$
545,000 


$
338,369 


$
251,578 




















Financed insurance premium

OppFi-LLC

$
84 


$
84 


$
— 


4.59 
%

December 2022

Financed insurance premium

OppFi-LLC

2,424 


2,424 


— 


7.07 
%

July 2023

Note payable



$
2,508 


$
2,508 


$
— 







(1) For a detailed discussion on financing arrangements refer to Part I, Note 7 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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(2) Maturity date extended indefinitely until borrowing capacity is depleted.

LIBOR Transition

In July 2017, the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, announced its intention to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. On December 31, 2021, the ICE Benchmark Administration, the administrator of LIBOR, announced plans to cease publication for all USD LIBOR tenors (except the one- and two-week tenors, which ceased on December 31, 2021) on June 30, 2023. The Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York have identified the SOFR as its preferred alternative to LIBOR in derivatives and other financial contracts. Each of our credit facilities provides for the replacement of LIBOR as discussed above in “Financing Arrangements.” We do not expect the replacement of LIBOR to have any effect on our liquidity or the financial terms of our credit facilities
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

There have been no material changes to the information on critical accounting estimates in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.


ITEM 3.     QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

As a “smaller reporting company,” as defined by Item 10 of Regulation S-K, the Company is not required to provide the information required by this item.

ITEM 4.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of September 30, 2022 (“Evaluation Date”). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective and provide reasonable assurance (i) to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms; and (ii) to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended September 30, 2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION


ITEM 1.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
See “Legal contingencies” of Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.


ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS
There have been no material changes from the Risk Factors previously disclosed in Part 1, Item 1A, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.


ITEM 2.     UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
On January 6, 2022, OppFi announced that its Board of Directors (“Board”) had authorized a program to repurchase (“Repurchase Program”) up to $20.0 million in the aggregate of shares of its Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Class A Common Stock”). Repurchases under the Repurchase Program may be made from time to time, on the open market, in privately negotiated transactions, or by other methods, at the discretion of the management of the Company and in accordance with the limitations set forth in Rule 10b-18 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and other applicable legal requirements. The timing and amount of the repurchases will depend on market conditions and other requirements. The Repurchase Program does not obligate OppFi to repurchase any dollar amount or number of shares and the Repurchase Program may be extended, modified, suspended, or discontinued at any time. For each share of Class A Common Stock that OppFi repurchases under the Repurchase Program, OppFi-LLC will redeem one Class A common unit of OppFi-LLC held by OppFi, decreasing the percentage ownership of OppFi-LLC by OppFi and relatively increasing the ownership by the Members. The Repurchase Program will expire in December 2023. During the three months ended September 30, 2022, OppFi repurchased 88,262 shares of its Class A Common Stock.



























Period

Total Number of Shares Repurchased

Average Price Paid per Share

Total Number of Shares Purchased as part of the Repurchase Program

Approximate Dollar Value of Shares that May Yet Be Purchased Under the Repurchase Program
July 1 - July 31, 2022

88,262 


$
3.46 


88,262 


$
17,550,000 

August 1 - August 31, 2022

— 


— 


— 


17,550,000 

September 1 - September 30, 2022

— 


— 


— 


17,550,000 

Total

88,262 


$
3.46 


88,262 


$
17,550,000 



ITEM 3.     DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES 
None.

ITEM 4.    MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.


ITEM 5.     OTHER INFORMATION 
On November 7, 2022, Mr. Jared Kaplan notified the Company of his decision to resign as a member of the board of directors of the Company, effective on such date. Mr. Kaplan’s resignation is not because of any disagreement between the Company and Mr. Kaplan, known to an executive officer of the Company, on any matter relating to the Company’s operations, policies, or practices.
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ITEM 6.    EXHIBITS













Exhibit Number

Description





10.1*†

Amendment No. 6 to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated August 15, 2022, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE III, LLC, OppWin, LLC, OppFi Management Holdings, LLC, Opportunity Financial Card Company, LLC, the Lenders party thereto, and Ares Agent Services, L.P.





10.2*†+

Amendment No. 8 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated September 1, 2022, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC, OppWin, LLC, SalaryTap, LLC, SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC, the other parties thereto and BMO Harris Bank N.A.






31.1*

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002




31.2*

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002




32.1**

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002




32.2**

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002





101.INS*

Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document





101.SCH*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document





101.CAL*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document





101.DEF*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document





101.LAB*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document





101.PRE*

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document





104*

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

___________________________
† Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Regulation S-K Item (601)(b)(10).
+ Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(a)(5). The Registrant agrees to furnish a copy of all omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request.
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.










Date: November 9, 2022
OppFi Inc.




By:
/s/ Pamela D. Johnson


Pamela D. Johnson


Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

Execution Version


[***] CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN EXCLUDED
PURSUANT TO REGULATION S-K, ITEM 601(B)(10). SUCH EXCLUDED
INFORMATION IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND IS THE TYPE THAT THE
REGISTRANT TREATS AS PRIVATE OR CONFIDENTIAL.

AMENDMENT NO. 6 TO AMENDED AND RESTATED REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT
THIS AMENDMENT NO. 6 TO AMENDED AND RESTATED REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT (this "Amendment"), dated as of August 15, 2022 (the "Effective Date"), to that certain Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2020 (as amended, restated supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the date hereof, the "Existing Credit Agreement" and, as amended by this Amendment, the "Amended Credit Agreement"), among Opportunity Funding SPE III, LLC (the "Borrower"), Opportunity Financial, LLC (the "Company"), as originator (in such capacity, the "Originator"), as servicer (in such capacity, the "Servicer"), as a Guarantor (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) and as a Seller (as defined the Amended Credit Agreement), OppWin, LLC ("OppWin"), as a Seller and as a Guarantor, OppFi Management Holdings, LLC ("OppFi Management"), as a Guarantor, Opportunity Financial Card Company ("OppFi Card"), as a Guarantor, Ares Agent Services, L.P., as Administrative Agent (in such capacity, the "Administrative Agent") and as Collateral Agent (in such capacity, the "Collateral Agent" and together with the Administrative Agent, the "Agents"), and the Lenders parties thereto from time to time (the "Lenders" and each, individually, a "Lender").
PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS
WHEREAS, the Credit Parties, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders entered into the Existing Credit Agreement whereby the Lenders agreed to extend a revolving credit facility (the "Facility") to the Borrower and the Borrower agreed to secure its Obligations under the Existing Credit Agreement by granting to the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a first priority Lien on all of its assets;
WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend the Existing Credit Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth herein.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
AGREEMENT
1.Definitions. Capitalized terms that are used in this Amendment (including the recitals hereto, which are herein incorporated) but are not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement, unless otherwise stated.
2.Amendments to Credit Agreement. Effective as of the date of this Amendment, the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
US_153999651v8


(a)Section 1.1 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by inserting the following definitions in the appropriate alphabetical order:
"Adjusted Advance Rate" means, with respect to any date of determination, the Weighted Average Maximum Advance Rate in effect with respect to such date, minus (i) with respect to any date of determination occurring during the period from, and including, the August 2022 Settlement Date to, but excluding, the September 2022 Settlement Date, 2.50%, (ii) with respect to any date of determination occurring during the period from, and including, the September 2022 Settlement Date to, but excluding, the October 2022 Settlement Date, 5.00%, (iii) with respect to any date of determination occurring during the period from, and including, the October 2022 Settlement Date to, but excluding, the November 2022 Settlement Date, 7.50% and (iv) with respect to any date of determination occurring on or after the November 2022 Settlement Date, 10.00%.
"Effective Advance Rate" means the rate, expressed as a percentage, equal to a fraction, the numerator of which is the aggregate principal amount of all Loans outstanding, and the denominator of which is the sum of Net Eligible Receivables Balance.
"Monthly Amortization Amount" means, with respect to any Settlement Date occurring during the Revolving Commitment Period, until such time as the Effective Advance Rate equals the Targeted Advance Rate, all remaining amounts after application of funds on deposit in the Collection Account pursuant to Section 2.10(a)(i) through (iv).
"Targeted Advance Rate" means, with respect to any Settlement Date, the Weighted Average Maximum Advance Rate in effect with respect to such Settlement Date, minus (i) with respect to the Collection Period relating to the Settlement Date occurring in August 2022, 2.50%, (ii) with respect to the Collection Period relating to the Settlement Date occurring in September 2022, 5.00%, (iii) with respect to the Collection Period relating to the Settlement Date occurring in October 2022, 7.50% and (iv) with respect to the Collection Period related to each of the Settlement Dates occurring in and after November 2022, 10.00%.
(b)Section 1.1 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the definition of "Facility Availability" in its entirety and replacing it with the following:
"Facility Availability" means, with respect to any date of determination during the Revolving Commitment Period,
2
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(i) all Collections on deposit in the Disbursement Account, minus (ii) for any date of determination, the product of (x) 1.10 and (y) the total amount of funds projected to be distributed pursuant to Section 2.10(a)(i) through (v) on the immediately succeeding Settlement Date, in each case as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.
(c)Section 1.1 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the definition of "Maximum Advance Amount" in its entirety and replacing it with the following:
"Maximum Advance Amount" means, as of any date of determination, an amount equal to the Adjusted Advance Rate, multiplied by the Net Eligible Receivables Balance of all Eligible Receivables as of such date.
(d)Section 1.1 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the definition of "Regulatory Trigger Event" in its entirety and replacing it with the following:
"Regulatory Trigger Event" means (a) the commencement by any Governmental Authority of any formal inquiry or investigation (which for the avoidance of doubt excludes any routine inquiry or investigation), legal action or proceeding, against any Credit Party, any third party then engaged by the Servicer as a sub-servicer, the applicable Bank Partner Originator or the Originator, challenging such Person's authority to originate, hold, own, service, pledge or enforce any Receivable with respect to the residents of any jurisdiction, or otherwise alleging any noncompliance by any Credit Party, any third party then engaged by the Servicer as a sub-servicer, the applicable Bank Partner Originator or the Originator with such jurisdiction's applicable laws related to originating, holding, pledging, servicing or enforcing such Receivable or otherwise related to such Receivable, which inquiry, investigation, legal action or proceeding (i) is not released or terminated in a manner acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion within [***] of the earlier of any Credit Party's knowledge or receipt of written notice thereof and (ii) could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion or (b) the issuance or entering of any stay, order, judgment, cease and desist order, injunction, temporary restraining order, or other judicial or non-judicial sanction, order or ruling against any Credit Party, any third party then engaged by the Servicer as a sub-servicer, the applicable Bank Partner Originator or the Originator related in any way to the originating, holding, pledging, servicing or enforcing of any Receivable or rendering the Purchase Agreement or a Bank Partner Sale
3
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Agreement unenforceable in such jurisdiction, the effect of which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion; provided, that, in each case, upon the favorable resolution of such inquiry, investigation, action or proceeding (whether by judgment, withdrawal of such action or proceeding or settlement of such action or proceeding), as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion and confirmed by written notice from the Administrative Agent, such Regulatory Trigger Event for such jurisdiction shall cease to exist immediately upon such determination by the Administrative Agent. It is understood and agreed that the jurisdiction of a Regulatory Trigger Event is the entire United States if the applicable Governmental Authority is a federal authority.
(e)Section 2.10(a)(v) of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by renumbering such clause as clause "(vi)" and by striking the word "Fifth" and replacing it with the word "Sixth";
(f)Section 2.10(a)(vi) of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by renumbering such clause as clause "(vii)" and by striking the word "Sixth" and replacing it with the word "Seventh";
(g)Section 2.10(a)(vii) of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by renumbering such clause as clause "(viii)" and by striking the word "Seventh" and replacing it with the word "Eighth";
(h)Section 2.10(a) of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by inserting the following as new clause (v):
(v) Fifth, to, or at the direction of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders, the Monthly Amortization Amount;
3.Limitation of Amendments.
(i)The amendments set forth in Article 2, above, are effective for the purposes set forth herein and shall be limited precisely as written. This Amendment does not, and shall not be construed to, constitute a waiver of any past, present or future violation of the Amended Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents or any other related document, and shall not, directly or indirectly in any way whatsoever either: (i) impair, prejudice or otherwise adversely affect any Agent’s or any Lender’s right at any time to exercise any right, privilege or remedy in connection with the Amended Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document (all of which rights are hereby expressly reserved by the Agents and Lenders), (ii) except as specifically set forth herein, amend or alter any provision of the Existing Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document, (iii) constitute any course of dealing or other basis for altering any obligation of Borrower or any of its Affiliates or any right, privilege or remedy of any Agent or any Lender under the Existing Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document or (iv) constitute any consent (deemed or express) by any Agent or any Lender to any prior, existing or future violations of the Amended Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document. There
4
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are no oral agreements among the parties hereto, and no prior or future discussions or representations regarding the subject matter hereof shall constitute a waiver of any past, present or future violation of the Amended Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document.
(j)This Amendment shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Amended Credit Agreement and all terms, conditions, representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement and each other Credit Document are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect, except that on and after the date hereof all references in the other Credit Documents to the "Credit Agreement," "thereto," "thereof," "thereunder" or words of like import referring to the Existing Credit Agreement shall mean and refer to the Amended Credit Agreement.
4.Representations and Warranties; Ratification of Assignments.
(k)Each Credit Party affirms that the execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment and the performance by it of the Amended Credit Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary action, and it has all requisite power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Amendment and to perform the Amended Credit Agreement.
(l)Each Credit Party represents and warrants that this Amendment and the Amended Credit Agreement constitute its legally valid and binding obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with the respective terms hereof and thereof, except as enforcement may be limited by equitable principles (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in equity or at law) or by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or similar laws relating to or limiting creditors’ rights generally.
(m)Each Credit Party (with respect to itself) represents and warrants that the representations and warranties contained in Article 4 of the Existing Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects after giving effect to this Amendment on and as of the date hereof as though made on and as of the date hereof (except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date), and no Default or Event of Default exists (after giving effect to this Amendment) or would result from this Amendment becoming effective in accordance with its terms.
5.Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of this Amendment. The effectiveness of this Amendment is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent, unless specifically waived in writing by the Administrative Agent:
(n)The Administrative Agent shall have received this Amendment duly executed by the Credit Parties.
(o)After giving effect to the terms of this Amendment, (i) the representations and warranties contained herein and in the Amended Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects (except for such representations and warranties already qualified by materiality which shall be true and correct in all respects) on and as of the Effective Date (except to the extent they expressly relate to an earlier time); and (ii) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.
(p)Borrower shall have paid to the Agents and the Lenders, as applicable, all outstanding Permitted Expenses.
5
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6.Ratifications.
(q)The terms and provisions set forth in this Amendment shall modify and supersede all inconsistent terms and provisions set forth in the Existing Credit Agreement and the Credit Documents and, except as expressly modified and superseded by this Amendment, the terms and provisions of the Existing Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents are ratified and confirmed as of the Effective Date and shall continue in full force and effect. The Borrower hereby agrees that all Liens and security interests securing payment of the Obligations under the Credit Documents are hereby collectively renewed, ratified and brought forward as security for the payment and performance of the Obligations. The Credit Parties, the Agents and the Lenders agree that the Amended Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents, as amended hereby, shall continue to be legal, valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership, moratorium or other similar laws relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally, and by general equity principles (regardless of whether such enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).
7.Amendment as a Credit Document. Each Credit Party acknowledges and agrees that this Amendment constitutes a "Credit Document." Accordingly, it shall be an Event of Default under the Existing Credit Agreement if any representation or warranty made by a Credit Party under or in connection with this Amendment shall have been false in any material respect when made and which shall not have been remedied or waived within fifteen (15) Business Days after the earlier of (i) an Authorized Officer of such Credit Party becoming aware of such falsity, or (ii) receipt by such Credit Party of written notice from the Administrative Agent or any Lender of such falsity.
8.Expenses of Agents and Lenders. Each Credit Party agrees to pay, jointly and severally, promptly after demand, all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Agents and the Lenders in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution and delivery of this Amendment in accordance with Section 9.2 of the Amended Credit Agreement.
9.Severability. Any provision of this Amendment held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.
10.Successors and Assigns. This Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Agents, the Lenders, the Credit Parties, and their respective successors and permitted assigns, except that the Credit Parties may not assign or transfer any of its respective rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.
11.Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment by telecopy or other electronic means shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment.
12.No Waiver. Other than as specifically set forth in Article 2, nothing contained in this Amendment shall be construed as an amendment or waiver by the Agents or the Lenders of any covenant or provision of the Existing Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents, this
6
US_153999651v8


Amendment, or of any other contract or instrument among the Credit Parties, the Lenders and the Agents, and the failure of the Lenders and the Agents at any time or times hereafter to require strict performance by the Credit Parties of any provision thereof shall not waive, affect or diminish any right of the Agents to thereafter demand strict compliance therewith. The Agents and Lenders hereby reserve all rights granted to each of them under the Existing Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents, this Amendment and any other contract or instrument among the Credit Parties and any one or more of the Agents and the Lenders.
13.Release. Each Credit Party hereby voluntarily and knowingly releases and forever discharges each Agent and each Lender and their respective agents, directors, officers, partners, employees, successors and assigns, of and from all possible claims, demands, actions, causes of action, damages, costs, expenses, and liabilities whatsoever, fixed, contingent or conditional, at law or in equity, in each case of which it has knowledge as of the date hereof, arising in any way in connection with this Amendment or the Credit Documents, or any transactions or acts in connection herewith or therewith, originating in whole or in part on or before the Effective Date of this Amendment, which each Credit Party now or hereafter may have against any such Person, irrespective of whether any such claims, demands, actions, causes of action, damages, costs, expenses or liabilities are based upon contract, tort, violation of law or otherwise.
14.Headings. Article and Section headings used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this Amendment and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Amendment.
15.Applicable Law. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES (OTHER THAN SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).
16.Final Agreement. THE AMENDED CREDIT AGREEMENT CONSTITUTES THE ENTIRE CONTRACT BETWEEN AND AMONG THE PARTIES RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER THEREOF AND SUPERSEDES ANY AND ALL PREVIOUS AGREEMENTS AND UNDERSTANDINGS, ORAL OR WRITTEN, RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER THEREOF.
17.Time. Time is of the essence of this Amendment.
7
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    IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed this Amendment as of the date first above-written.








OPPORTUNITY FUNDING SPE III, LLC,
as Borrower
By:_/s/ Vasili Gerogiannis_______________________
Name: Vasili Gerogiannis
Title: Chief Capital Officer


OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC,
in its individual capacity, as Originator, Servicer, a Seller and a Guarantor



By:_/s/ Vasili Gerogiannis_______________________
Name: Vasili Gerogiannis
Title: Chief Capital Officer

OPPWIN, LLC,
as a Seller and a Guarantor


By:_/s/ Vasili Gerogiannis_______________________
Name: Vasili Gerogiannis
Title: Chief Capital Officer


OPPFI MANAGEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC,
as a Guarantor


By:_/s/ Vasili Gerogiannis_______________________
Name: Vasili Gerogiannis
Title: Chief Capital Officer




OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL CARD COMPANY, LLC
as a Guarantor


By:_/s/ Vasili Gerogiannis_______________________
Name: Vasili Gerogiannis
Title: Chief Capital Officer
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ARES AGENT SERVICES, L.P.,
    By: Ares Agent Services GP LLC,
    its general partner, as Administrative Agent and     Collateral Agent


By: /s/ Jeffrey Kramer_________________________
Name: Jeffrey Kramer
Title: Authorized Signatory



SONORAN CACTUS PRIVATE ASSET BACKED FUND, LLC,
    By: Ares Cactus Operating Manager GP, LLC,
    its Manager as a Lender


By: /s/ Jeffrey Kramer_________________________
Name: Jeffrey Kramer
Title: Authorized Signatory



GLENLAKE LOAN FUND, LLC,
    By: Ares Management LLC, its Investment     Manager as a Lender


By: /s/ Jeffrey Kramer_________________________
Name: Jeffrey Kramer
Title: Authorized Signatory



DEARBORN PARK ASSET-BACKED FUND LLC
    By: Ares Management LLC,
    its Manager



By: /s/ Jeffrey Kramer_________________________
Name: Jeffrey Kramer
Title: Authorized Signatory



ARES MULTI-CREDIT FUND LLC
    By: Ares Management LLC, its Manager


By: /s/ Jeffrey Kramer_________________________
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Name: Jeffrey Kramer
Title: Authorized Signatory



ARES ICOF III FUND (DELAWARE), LP
    By: Ares ICOF III Management LP,
    its Investment Manager as a Lender


By: /s/ Jeffrey Kramer_________________________
Name: Jeffrey Kramer
Title: Authorized Signatory



ARES ICOF III MINI MASTER FUND (CAYMAN), LP
    By: Ares ICOF III Management LP,
    its Investment Manager as a Lender


By: /s/ Jeffrey Kramer_________________________
Name: Jeffrey Kramer
Title: Authorized Signatory


















ARES CREDIT STRATEGIES INSURANCE DEDICATED FUND SERIES INTERESTS OF THE SALI MULTI-SERIES FUND, L.P.
    By: Ares Management LLC,
    its Investment Subadvisor


By: /s/ Matthew Jill___________________________
Name: Matthew Jill
Title: Authorized Signatory
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SA REAL ASSETS 20 LIMITED
    By: Ares Capital Management, LLC, its     Investment Manager


By: /s/ Matthew Jill____________________________
Name: Matthew Jill
Title: Authorized Signatory
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Exhibit 10.2

EXECUTION VERSION
[***] CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN EXCLUDED
PURSUANT TO REGULATION S-K, ITEM 601(B)(10). SUCH EXCLUDED
INFORMATION IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND IS THE TYPE THAT THE
REGISTRANT TREATS AS PRIVATE OR CONFIDENTIAL.

AMENDMENT NO. 8 TO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT
THIS AMENDMENT NO. 8 TO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”), dated as of September 1, 2022 and effective as of the Eighth Amendment Effective Date, is entered into among the Credit Parties, the Guarantors, the Agents and the Lenders party hereto, to amend that certain Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2019 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the date hereof, the “Existing Credit Agreement” and, as further amended by this Amendment, the “Amended Credit Agreement”), among Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC (“OF IV Borrower”) and SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC (“STF Borrower”), as Borrowers, Opportunity Financial, LLC (the “Company”), as originator (in such capacity, the “Originator”), as servicer (in such capacity, the “Servicer”), as a Seller (in such capacity, a “Seller”) and as a guarantor (in such capacity, a “Guarantor”), OppWin, LLC (“OppWin”), as a Seller (in such capacity, a “Seller”) and as a guarantor (in such capacity, a “Guarantor”), OppWin SalaryTap, LLC (“OppWin ST”), as a Seller (in such capacity, a “Seller”) and as a guarantor (in such capacity, a “Guarantor”), SalaryTap, LLC (“SalaryTap”), as a Seller (in such capacity, a “Seller”; the Borrower, the Company, the Servicer, the Originator and each Seller, collectively, the “Credit Parties”), and as a guarantor (in such capacity, a “Guarantor”), OPPORTUNITY MANAGER, LLC, OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL CARD COMPANY, LLC, OPPWIN CARD, LLC, and OppFi Management Holding, LLC, each as a guarantor (in such capacity, each a “Guarantor”), the other Guarantors from time to time party thereto, BMO Harris Bank N.A., as Administrative Agent (in such capacity, the “Administrative Agent”), and as Collateral Agent (in such capacity, the “Collateral Agent” and together with the Administrative Agent, the “Agents”) and the Lenders parties thereto from time to time (the “Lenders” and each, individually, a “Lender”).
PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS
WHEREAS, the Borrowers, the Servicer, the Originator, the Sellers, the Agents and the Lenders are party to the Existing Credit Agreement.
WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend the Existing Credit Agreement, on the terms and conditions set forth herein, to among other things (a) reduce the Revolving Commitments, and (b) remove the ability of STF Borrower to request Loans and other extensions of credit under the Amended Credit Agreement.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
AGREEMENT
1.    Definitions. Capitalized terms that are used in this Amendment (including the recitals hereto, which are herein incorporated) but are not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement, unless otherwise stated.
2.    Amendments to Credit Agreement. Effective as of the Eighth Amendment Effective Date and subject to satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 5 below, the Existing Credit Agreement shall be and hereby is amended to delete the struck text
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(indicated textually in the same manner as the following example: struck text) and to add the double-underlined text (indicated textually in the same manner as the following example: double-underlined text), as set forth in the pages of the Amended Credit Agreement attached as Annex I hereto, except that any Schedule or Exhibit to the Existing Credit Agreement not amended pursuant to the terms of this Amendment or otherwise included as part of said Annex I shall remain in effect without any amendment or other modification thereto.
3.    Limitation of Amendments.
(a)    The amendments set forth in Section 2, above, are effective for the purposes set forth herein and shall be limited precisely as written. This Amendment does not, and shall not be construed to, constitute a waiver of any past, present or future violation of the Credit Documents or any other related document, and shall not, directly or indirectly in any way whatsoever either: (i) impair, prejudice or otherwise adversely affect any Agent’s or any Lender’s right at any time to exercise any right, privilege or remedy in connection with the Credit Documents or any other related document (all of which rights are hereby expressly reserved by the Agents and Lenders), (ii) except as specifically set forth herein, amend or alter any provision of any Credit Document or any other related document, (iii) constitute any course of dealing or other basis for altering any obligation of Borrower or any of its Affiliates or any right, privilege or remedy of any Agent or any Lender under the any Credit Document or any other related document or (iv) constitute any consent (deemed or express) by any Agent or any Lender to any prior, existing or future violations of any Credit Document or any other related document. There are no oral agreements among the parties hereto, and no prior or future discussions or representations regarding the subject matter hereof shall constitute a waiver of any past, present or future violation of any Credit Document or any other related document.
(b)    This Amendment shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Amended Credit Agreement and all terms, conditions, representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement and each other Credit Document are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect, except that on and after the date hereof all references in the other Credit Documents to the “Credit Agreement,” “thereto,” “thereof,” “thereunder” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement shall mean and refer to the Amended Credit Agreement.
4.    Representations and Warranties.
(a)    Each Credit Party and Guarantor affirms that the execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment and the performance by it of the Amended Credit Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary action, and it has all requisite power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Amendment and to perform the Amended Credit Agreement.
(b)    Each Credit Party and Guarantor represents and warrants that this Amendment and the Amended Credit Agreement constitute its legally valid and binding obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with the respective terms hereof and thereof, except as enforcement may be limited by equitable principles (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in equity or at law) or by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or similar laws relating to or limiting creditors’ rights generally.
(c)    Each Credit Party, (other than the SalaryTap Entities), each with respect to itself, represents and warrants that the representations and warranties contained in Section 4 of the Amended Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects as of the date hereof as though made on and as of the date hereof (except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date), and no Default or Event of Default exists (after
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giving effect to this Amendment) or would result from this Amendment becoming effective in accordance with its terms.
(d)    Each Credit Party and Guarantor represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders that STF Borrower, SalaryTap, LLC, and OppWin SalaryTap, LLC (together, the “SalaryTap Entities”) have no active business operations, with total assets with a market value of not more than $1,700,000 in the aggregate. Each Credit Party hereby agrees that (i) it shall not permit the SalaryTap Entities to hereafter engage in any trade or business or have total assets with a market value in excess of $1,700,000 and (ii) notwithstanding any other term or provision of the Amended Credit Agreement, in no event shall the Credit Parties (other than the SalaryTap Entities) make any loan or advance to or investment in, or transfer any Property to, or guaranty or otherwise support any obligations for the benefit of, or otherwise enter into any transaction with any of the SalaryTap Entities, other than causing the SalaryTap Entities to be dissolved in due course under the laws of their states of organization.
(e)    The Administrative Agent hereby represents and warrants to each Credit Party that the Administrative Agent is executing this Agreement (i) at the direction of the Required Lenders in accordance with Section 9.5 of the Existing Credit Agreement and (ii) in its capacity as Administrative Agent.
5.    Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of this Amendment. The effectiveness of this Amendment is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent, unless specifically waived in writing by the Administrative Agent:
(a)    The Administrative Agent shall have received this Amendment duly executed by the Credit Parties, the Guarantors, and the Lenders.
(b)    The Administrative Agent shall have received the annual financial statements required to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.9 of the Existing Credit Agreement for the Fiscal Year ending December 31, 2021, and such financial statements shall be in form and substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.
(c)    The Administrative Agent shall have received from the Borrowers, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders in accordance with their pro rata shares of the Revolving Commitments, an amendment fee (the “Amendment Fee”) in in an amount equal to $10,000, such Amendment Fee to be fully earned on the date hereof and nonrefundable when paid.
(d)    The Borrower shall have paid to the Agents and the Lenders, as applicable, all outstanding Permitted Expenses.
(e)    Legal matters incident to the execution and delivery of this Amendment shall be satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and its counsel.
6.    Ratifications. The terms and provisions set forth in this Amendment shall modify and supersede all inconsistent terms and provisions set forth in the Credit Documents and, except as expressly modified and superseded by this Amendment, the terms and provisions of the Credit Documents are ratified and confirmed as of the Effective Date and shall continue in full force and effect. The Borrower hereby agrees that all Liens and security interests securing payment of the Obligations under the Credit Documents are hereby collectively renewed, ratified and brought forward as security for the payment and performance of the Obligations. The Credit Parties, the Guarantors, the Agents and the Lenders agree that the Credit Documents, as amended hereby, shall continue to be legal, valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency,
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reorganization, receivership, moratorium or other similar laws relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally, and by general equity principles (regardless of whether such enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law). For the avoidance of doubt, on and after the Eighth Amendment Effective Date, the SalaryTap Entities shall no longer be (i) a party to the Amended Credit Agreement and (ii) a Credit Party or Guarantor, as applicable.
7.    Reaffirmation. Each Guarantor hereby represents and warrants that its Guaranty and each other Credit Document to which such Guarantor is a party is the legal, valid and binding obligation of such Guarantor, enforceable against such Guarantor in accordance with its terms except as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or by equitable principles relating to enforceability. Each Guarantor confirms that the representations and warranties set forth in the Credit Documents made by such Guarantor are true and correct as to such Guarantor in all material respects as of the date hereof (except to the extent such representations and warranties relate to an earlier date, in which case they are true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date) and each Guarantor shall comply with each of the covenants set forth in the Credit Documents applicable to it. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Guarantor hereby agrees to perform all the obligations of a Guarantor under, and to be bound in all respects by the terms of, the Amended Credit Agreement, including without limitation Section 10 thereof, to the same extent and with the same force and effect as if such Person was an original signatory party thereto.
8.    Reference to Credit Agreement; Amendment as a Credit Document. Each of the Credit Documents, and any and all other agreements, documents or instruments now or hereafter executed and delivered pursuant to the terms hereof or pursuant to the terms of the Amended Credit Agreement, are hereby amended so that any reference in the Credit Documents to the “Credit Agreement” (or words of like import) shall mean a reference to the Amended Credit Agreement . Each Credit Party and Guarantor acknowledges and agrees that this Amendment constitutes a “Credit Document.”
9.    Expenses of Agents and Lenders. Each Credit Party agrees to pay, jointly and severally, promptly after demand, all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Agents and the Lenders in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution and delivery of this Amendment in accordance with Section 9.2 of the Amended Credit Agreement.
10.    Severability. Any provision of this Amendment held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.
11.    Successors and Assigns. This Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Agents, the Lenders, the Credit Parties, the Guarantors, and their respective successors and permitted assigns, except that the Credit Parties and the Guarantors may not assign or transfer any of its respective rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.
12.    Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment by telecopy or other electronic means shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment. This Amendment
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may be in the form of an Electronic Record and may be executed using Electronic Signatures (including, without limitation, facsimile and .pdf) and shall be considered an original, and shall have the same legal effect, validity and enforceability as a paper record. For the avoidance of doubt, the authorization under this paragraph may include, without limitation, use or acceptance by the Agents of a manually signed paper Amendment which has been converted into electronic form (such as scanned into PDF format), or an electronically signed Amendment converted into another format, for transmission, delivery and/or retention. For purposes hereof, “Electronic Record” and “Electronic Signature” shall have the meanings assigned to them, respectively, by 15 USC §7006, as it may be amended from time to time.
13.    No Waiver. Other than as specifically set forth in Section 2, nothing contained in this Amendment shall be construed as an amendment or waiver by the Agents or the Lenders of any covenant or provision of the Credit Documents, this Amendment, or of any other contract or instrument among the Credit Parties, the Guarantors, the Lenders and the Agents, and the failure of the Lenders and the Agents at any time or times hereafter to require strict performance by the Credit Parties and the Guarantors of any provision thereof shall not waive, affect or diminish any right of the Agents to thereafter demand strict compliance therewith. The Agents and Lenders hereby reserve all rights granted to each of them under the Credit Documents, this Amendment and any other contract or instrument among the Credit Parties and the Guarantors and any one or more of the Agents and the Lenders.
14.    Release. To the extent permitted by applicable law, no Credit Party and no Guarantor shall assert, and each Credit Party and each Guarantor hereby waives, any claim against the Lenders, the Agents and their respective Affiliates, directors, employees, attorneys or agents, on any theory of liability, arising out of, in connection with, as a result of, or in any way related to this Amendment and each Credit Document on or before the date of this Amendment and each of Credit Party and Guarantors hereby waives, releases and agrees not to sue upon any such claim or any such damages, whether or not accrued and whether or not known or suspected to exist in its favor.
15.    Headings. Article and Section headings used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this Amendment and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Amendment.
16.    Applicable Law. THIS AMENDMENT, AND THE RIGHTS AND DUTIES OF THE PARTIES HERETO, SHALL BE CONSTRUED AND DETERMINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES THAT WOULD REQUIRE APPLICATION OF THE LAWS OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION.
17.    Final Agreement. THE AMENDED CREDIT AGREEMENT CONSTITUTES THE ENTIRE CONTRACT BETWEEN AND AMONG THE PARTIES RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER THEREOF AND SUPERSEDES ANY AND ALL PREVIOUS AGREEMENTS AND UNDERSTANDINGS, ORAL OR WRITTEN, RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER THEREOF.
18.    Time. Time is of the essence of this Amendment.
[Page intentionally left blank; signature pages follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed this Amendment as of the date first above-written.







OPPORTUNITY FUNDING SPE IV, LLC,
as Borrower
By: /s/ Todd Schwartz___________________________
    Name: Todd Schwartz
    Title: Executive Chairman
SALARYTAP FUNDING SPE, LLC,
as Borrower
By: /s/ Todd Schwartz___________________________
    Name: Todd Schwartz
    Title: Executive Chairman
SALARYTAP, LLC,
as a Guarantor
By: /s/ Todd Schwartz___________________________
    Name: Todd Schwartz
    Title: Executive Chairman

Opportunity Financial, LLC, its individual capacity, as Originator, Servicer, a Guarantor and a Seller
OppWin, LLC, as a Guarantor and a Seller
OppWin SalaryTap, LLC, as a Guarantor and a Seller
OPPORTUNITY MANAGER, LLC, as a Guarantor
OppFi Management Holdings, LLC, as a Guarantor
OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL CARD COMPANY, LLC, as a Guarantor
OPPWIN CARD, LLC, as a Guarantor
By: /s/ Todd Schwartz___________________________
    Name: Todd Schwartz
    Title: Executive Chairman
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BMO Harris Bank N.A., as Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent, and sole Lender
By:_/s/ Robert Bomben_________________________
    Name: Robert Bomben    
    Title:    
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Revolving Credit Agreement
dated as of August 19, 2019,
among
Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC and
SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC,
as BorrowersBorrower
Opportunity Financial, LLC,
as the Originator, the Servicer and a Seller and as a Guarantor,
OppWin, LLC,
SalaryTap, LLC, and
OppWin SalaryTap, LLC,
each
 as a Guarantor and a Seller,
the other Credit Parties and Guarantors from time to time party hereto,
BMO Harris Bank N.A.,
as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent
and
the Lenders party hereto
_______________________________________

Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility

_______________________________________
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Revolving Credit Agreement
This Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2019 (as it may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified in accordance with the terms hereof, this “Agreement”), is entered into among Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“OF IV Borrower”), and SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“STF Borrower”), as Borrowers (together, the “Borrowers” and each, a “Borrower”), Opportunity Financial, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Company”), as a Guarantor, the Originator, the Servicer and as a Seller (in each case, as defined herein), OppWin, LLC, as a Guarantor and a Seller, SalaryTap, LLC, as a Guarantor and a Seller, OppWin SalaryTap, LLC, as a Guarantor and a Seller, the other Credit Parties and Guarantors from time to time party hereto, BMO Harris Bank N.A. (“BMO Harris”), as Administrative Agent (in such capacity, the “Administrative Agent”) and Collateral Agent (in such capacity, the “Collateral Agent”), and the Lenders (as defined herein) party hereto.
Witnesseth:
Whereas, the Lenders have agreed to extend a senior secured credit facility (the “Facility”) to the BorrowersBorrower, the proceeds of which will be used by the BorrowersBorrower to acquire Receivables from the Sellers and to pay fees and expenses related to the foregoing; and
Whereas, the BorrowersBorrower and the Guarantors have agreed to secure all of the Secured Obligations by granting to the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a first priority Lien on all of their assets.
Now, Therefore, in consideration of the premises and the agreements, provisions and covenants herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:
Section 1.    Definitions and Interpretation.
    Section 1.1.    Definitions. The following terms used herein, including in the preamble, recitals, exhibits and schedules hereto, shall have the following meanings:
“Additional Bank Partner Originator” means First Electronic Bank, Capital Community Bank, and any additional bank partner selected by the Company and approved by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.
“Additional Bank Partner Originator Loan Program Agreement” means an agreement, approved by the Administrative Agent, entered into after the Closing Date by the Company and/or one or more of its Affiliates and an Additional Bank Partner Originator in connection with its approval of such Additional Bank Partner Originator, and pursuant to which the Company and/or one or more of its Affiliates party thereto agrees to provide certain marketing, administration and/or loan servicing or subservicing services in connection with the Contracts originated by



such Additional Bank Partner Originator, as such agreement may be amended, restated, supplemented and/or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.
“Additional Bank Partner Originator Program Agreements” means each Additional Bank Partner Originator Loan Program Agreement and each other servicing agreement, purchase agreement or other agreement entered into by the Company or its Affiliates with such Additional Bank Partner Originator in connection with the loan program contemplated by such Additional Bank Partner Originator Loan Program Agreement.
“Adjusted EBIT (Company)” means, with reference to any period, Net Income of the Company for such period determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, plus, without duplication, all amounts deducted in arriving at such Net Income amount in respect of (a) Interest Expense for such period, (b) federal, state and local income taxes for such period, (c) one-time expenses incurred during such period (and prior to the Fifth Amendment Effective Date) in respect of the SPAC Transaction in an aggregate amount not to exceed $37,000,000, (d) ongoing charges and expenses incurred during such period in respect of SPAC Warrant Liabilities in an aggregate amount not to exceed $15,000,000 in any period of twelve consecutive months; provided that, solely for purposes of calculating Adjusted EBIT (Company) for any measurement period ending on or prior to December 31, 2021, the addback set forth in this clause (d) shall not be subject to any cap, and (e) equity compensation paid in Capital Stock of OppFi Inc. during such period which is a non-cash expense.
“Adjusted EBITDA (Company)” means, with reference to any period, Net Income of the Company for such period determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, plus, without duplication, all amounts deducted in arriving at such Net Income amount in respect of (a) Interest Expense for such period, (b) federal, state and local income taxes for such period, (c) depreciation of fixed assets and amortization of intangible assets for such period, (d) one-time expenses incurred during such period (and prior to the Fifth Amendment Effective Date) in respect of the SPAC Transaction in an aggregate amount not to exceed $37,000,000, (e) ongoing charges and expenses incurred during such period in respect of SPAC Warrant Liabilities in an aggregate amount not to exceed $15,000,000 in any period of twelve consecutive months; provided that, solely for purposes of calculating Adjusted EBITDA (Company) for any measurement period ending on or prior to December 31, 2021, the addback set forth in this clause (e) shall not be subject to any cap, plus (f) equity compensation paid in Capital Stock of OppFi Inc. during such period which is a non-cash expense.
“Adjusted Tangible Net Worth (Borrower)” means, with respect to any Borrower, at any time the same is to be determined, an amount equal to the difference between (a) total assets of such Borrower, plus any reduction in total assets of such Borrower for any allowance for loan losses, less the sum (without duplication) of (i) intangible assets, (ii) receivables (whether an account receivable, loan receivable, note receivable or otherwise) from shareholders, members, officers and Affiliates, and (iii) receivables that are 91 or more days past due and not charged off, in each case for such Borrower minus (b) total liabilities of such Borrower, exclusive of liabilities of such Borrower owing to the Company, in each case determined in accordance with GAAP.
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“Adjusted Tangible Net Worth (Company)” means, at any time the same is to be determined, an amount equal to the sum of: (a) total members equity of the Company less the sum (without duplication) of (i) capitalized transaction expenses, (ii) prepaid expenses and prepaid cloud server based expenses included as part of other current assets, (iii) receivables (whether an account receivable, loan receivable, note receivable or otherwise) from shareholders, members, officers and Affiliates, and (iv) any goodwill and other intangible assets not included in (a)(i), (a)(ii), and (a)(iii) above, plus (b) the principal amount of, and any accrued noncurrent pay interest on, Qualifying Subordinated Debt, in each case, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.
“Adjusted Term SOFR” mean the per annum rate equal to the sum of (i) Term SOFR plus (ii) 0.11%.
“Administrative Agent” as defined in the preamble hereto.
“Administrative Agent Fee” is defined in the Fee Letter.
“Administrative Questionnaire” means an Administrative Questionnaire in a form supplied by the Administrative Agent.
“Advance Rate” means the Advance Rate (OF IV Borrower) or the Advance Rate (STF Borrower), as the context may require.
“Advance Rate (OF IV Borrower)” means, commencing with, as of the SixthEighth Amendment Effective Date, 75% and thereafter the Advance Rate (OF IV Borrower) shall be adjusted based on the most recent Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (OF IV Borrower) in accordance with the following schedule:






Loan Receivable Quality Ratio 
(OF IV Borrower)
Advance Rate
(OF IV Borrower)
Less than 13.25%
75%
Equal to or greater than 13.25%, but less than 14.25%
74%
Equal to or greater than 14.25%, but less than 15.25%
73%
Equal to or greater than 15.25%, but less than 16.25%
70%
Equal to or greater than 16.25%
68%
-3-


The Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (OF IV Borrower) shall be computed monthly by OF IVthe Borrower (subject to the review and approval of the Administrative Agent) and be included in the Monthly Servicing Report, at which time any adjustment to the Advance Rate (OF IV Borrower) based on such computation shall become effective and thereafter remain in effect until delivery of the next Monthly Servicing Report. If the Credit Parties fail to deliver the Compliance Certificate or provide the Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (OF IV Borrower) computation as so required, the Advance Rate (OF IV Borrower) shall be deemed to be equal to 68% until such Monthly Servicing Report and Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (OF IV Borrower) computation are delivered.
“Advance Rate (STF Borrower)” means, commencing with the Sixth Amendment Effective Date through and including the Advance Rate Adjustment Date (STF Borrower), 82% and thereafter the Advance Rate (STF Borrower) shall be adjusted based on the most recent Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (STF Borrower) in accordance with the following schedule:







Loan Receivable Quality Ratio
(STF Borrower)
Advance Rate
(STF Borrower)
Less than 11.25%
82%
Equal to or greater than 11.25%, but less than 12.25%
81%
Equal to or greater than 12.25%, but less than 13.25%
80%
Equal to or greater than 13.25%, but less than 14.25%
79%
Equal to or greater than 14.25%
78%
The Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (STF Borrower) shall be computed monthly by STF Borrower (subject to the review and approval of the Administrative Agent) and be included in the Monthly Servicing Report, at which time any adjustment to the Advance Rate (STF Borrower) based on such computation shall become effective and thereafter remain in effect until delivery of the next Monthly Servicing Report. If the Credit Parties fail to deliver the Compliance Certificate or provide the Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (STF Borrower) computation as so required, the Advance Rate (STF Borrower) shall be deemed to be equal to 78% until such Monthly Servicing Report and Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (STF Borrower) computation are delivered.
“Advance Rate Adjustment Date (STF Borrower)” means the earliest to occur of (i) September 30, 2022, (ii) the date on which the Borrowing Base (STF Borrower) reaches and is
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sustained (as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion) at $15,000,000 or higher, and (iii) the date on which the Administrative Agent determines in its sole discretion that the Eligible Receivables of STF Borrower are not satisfactorily performing.
“Adverse Proceeding” means, with respect to any Person, any action, suit, proceeding (whether administrative, judicial or otherwise), governmental investigation or arbitration (whether or not purportedly on behalf of such Person) at law or in equity, or before or by any Governmental Authority, domestic or foreign, whether pending or, to the knowledge of such Person, threatened (in writing) against or affecting such Person or its properties.
“Affiliate” means, as applied to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling (including any member of senior management of such Person), controlled by, or under common control with, that Person. For the purposes of this definition, “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the terms “controlling,” “controlled by” and “under common control with”), as applied to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power (a) to vote 20% or more of the Securities having ordinary voting power for the election of directors of such Person or (b) to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of that Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or other beneficial interests or by contract or otherwise.
“Age” means, for any Receivable, a fraction rounded down to the largest integer that does not exceed the fraction, (x) the numerator of which is the number of days elapsed from the Receivable’s Origination Date until the date of determination computed on the basis of a 360-day year; and (y) the denominator of which is 30.
“Agent” means each of the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent.
“Aggregate Borrowing Base” means, as of any date of determination, the sum of (i) the Borrowing Base (OF IV Borrower) then in effect and (ii) the Borrowing Base (STF Borrower) then in effect.
“Agreement” as defined in the preamble hereto.
“Amortization Period” means the period beginning on the Scheduled Termination Date and ending on the Final Maturity Date; provided that if on the Scheduled Termination Date the Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger has occurred and is continuing or any other Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, there shall be no Amortization Period. In the event there is no Amortization Period, the Final Maturity Date shall automatically without further action or notice be the Scheduled Termination Date.
“Anti-Corruption Laws” means all laws, rules, and regulations of any jurisdiction applicable to any Borrower, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from time to time concerning or relating to bribery or corruption.
“Applicable Margin” means, as of any date of determination, (a) to the extent Excess Availability as of the date of the most recently delivered Borrowing Base CertificatesCertificate
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is less than or equal to 10% of the Revolving Commitments as then in effect, 3.85% and (b) to the extent Excess Availability as of the date of the most recently delivered Borrowing Base CertificatesCertificate is greater to 10% of the Revolving Commitments as then in effect, 3.70%.
“Approved Bank Partner Originator State” means, (i) [***] (ii) such other states that the Borrowers requestBorrower requests, in writing, to add and which are approved in writing by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion; provided, however, that in no event will a state in which a Bank Partner Originator Regulatory Trigger Event or a Regulatory Trigger Event is continuing be an "Approved Bank Partner Originator State".
“Approved Fund” means any Person (other than a natural person) that is engaged in making, purchasing, holding or investing in bank loans and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its business and that is administered, advised or managed by (a) any Lender, (b) an Affiliate of any Lender, or (c) an entity or Affiliate of an entity that administers, advises or manages a Lender.
“Approved State” means, [***] and such other states that the Borrowers requestBorrower requests, in writing, to add and which are approved in writing by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion; provided, however, that in no event will a state in which a Regulatory Trigger Event is continuing be an “Approved State”.
“APR” of a Receivable means the annualized rate of the monthly finance charges stated in the Contract (calculated in accordance with TILA and after giving effect to any Origination Fees).
“Assignment” as defined in the applicable Purchase Agreement or the applicable Bank Partner Sale Agreement, as applicable.
“Assignment Agreement” means an Assignment and Assumption Agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit D, with such amendments or modifications as may be approved by the Administrative Agent.
“Atalaya Subordinated Loan Agreement” means that certain Senior Secured Multi-Draw Term Loan Agreement dated as of November 9, 2018, as amended, modified, supplemented or restated from time to time on or prior to the Fourth Amendment Effective Date, including pursuant to that certain Omnibus Amendment to Loan Agreement and Other Basic Documents dated as of the Fourth Amendment Effective Date, among the Company, Midtown Madison Management LLC as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto, as the same may be further amended, modified, supplemented or restated from time to time in accordance with the Atalaya Subordination and Intercreditor Agreement, or as the same may be refinanced or replaced pursuant to a Permitted Refinancing.
“Atalaya Subordination and Intercreditor Agreement” means that certain Subordination and Intercreditor Agreement dated on or about the Fourth Amendment Effective Date, among Midtown Madison Management LLC, as “Subordinated Creditor Representative” thereunder, BMO Harris, as “Senior Creditor Representative” thereunder, and the Company, as the same
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may be amended, modified, supplemented or restated from time to time in accordance with its terms, as the same may be amended or replaced in connection with a Permitted Refinancing of the Atalaya Subordinated Loan Agreement.
“Authorized Officer” means, as applied to any Person, any individual holding the position of chairman of the board (if an officer), chief executive officer, president or one of its vice presidents (or the equivalent thereof), and such Person’s chief financial officer or treasurer.
“Availability Reinstatement Date” means the effective date of the Availability Reinstatement Date Amendment (which date shall be after the Eighth Amendment Effective Date).
“Availability Reinstatement Date Amendment” means the amendment to this Agreement, entered into by the Administrative Agent, the Required Lenders (or the Administrative Agent acting at the direction of the Required Lenders) and the applicable Credit Parties, reflecting that the financial covenants, covenant levels and other financial performance criteria set forth in this Agreement have been restructured in a manner acceptable to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders in their sole discretion; provided that, the Administrative Agent, the Required Lenders and the applicable Credit Parties, shall not enter into such amendment unless the following requirements have been satisfied:
(a)no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;
(b)the SalaryTap Entities have been dissolved and reasonably satisfactory evidence thereof has been delivered to the Administrative Agent.
“Available Tenor” means, as of any date of determination and with respect to the then-current Benchmark, as applicable, (x) if such Benchmark is a term rate, any tenor for such Benchmark (or component thereof) that is or may be used for determining the length of an interest period pursuant to this Agreement or (y) otherwise, any payment period for interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark (or component thereof) that is or may be used for determining any frequency of making payments of interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark, in each case, as of such date and not including, for the avoidance of doubt, any tenor for such Benchmark that is then-removed from the definition of “Interest Accrual Period” pursuant to Section 2.12(d).
“Backup Servicer” means Vervent, Inc. (f/k/a First Associates Loan Servicing, LLC), or any independent third party selected by the Company and approved by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion, to perform monitoring functions with respect to the Receivables and to assume the role of successor Servicer upon removal or resignation of the Servicer, in each case, as set forth in the Backup Servicing Agreement.
“Backup Servicing Agreement” means that certain Backup Servicing Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2019, among the Backup Servicer, the Servicer, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, and OF IV the Borrower (which STF Borrower joinded pursuant to the Joinder to Backup Servicing Agreement dated as of the Sixth Amendment Effective Date), as it may be
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amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.
“Backup Servicing Fees” as defined in the Backup Servicing Agreement.
“Bail-In Action” means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable EEA Resolution Authority in respect of any liability of an EEA Financial Institution.
“Bail-In Legislation” means, with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article 55 of Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union, the implementing law for such EEA Member Country from time to time which is described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule.
“Bank Partner Originated Receivable” means each Receivable originated pursuant to the relevant Bank Partner Program Agreements (including, without limitation, each FinWise Receivable originated pursuant to the FinWise Program Agreements).
“Bank Partner Originator” means each of the FinWise Originator and any Additional Bank Partner Originator.
“Bank Partner Originator Regulatory Trigger Event” means, for any jurisdiction, the commencement by a Governmental Authority, against any financial institution (including any Bank Partner Originator), any Credit Party or any other company similar to a financial institution or the Originator, of a proceeding alleging in substance that the law of the borrower’s state governs applicable licensing requirements or interest rate limitations with respect to loans made by a federally insured financial institution to borrowers in such jurisdiction, which, in each case, the Administrative Agent determines, in its sole discretion, could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Bank Partner Originated Receivables if determined adversely; provided, that, in each case, upon the favorable resolution of such proceeding (whether by judgment, withdrawal of such proceeding or settlement of such proceeding), as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion and confirmed by written notice from the Administrative Agent, such Bank Partner Originator Regulatory Trigger Event for such jurisdiction shall cease to exist immediately upon such determination by the Administrative Agent. It is understood and agreed that the jurisdiction of a Bank Partner Originator Regulatory Trigger Event is the entire United States if the applicable Governmental Authority is a federal authority.
“Bank Partner Program Agreements” means the FinWise Program Agreements and any Additional Bank Partner Originator Program Agreements, as amended from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof and hereof.
“Bank Partner Retained Percentage” means, with respect to a consumer loan originated by a Bank Partner Originator, a portion of the economic interest in the obligations of the related Obligor to make payments thereunder that such Bank Partner Originator retains, if any, pursuant to the applicable Bank Partner Program Agreement, and which retained portion is stated as a
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percentage of the entire consumer loan and which shall not exceed 10% without the approval of the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion.
“Bank Partner Sale Agreement” means, collectively, the OppWin Sale Agreement, the OppWin ST Sale Agreement and any similar agreement entered into by a Bank Partner Subsidiary, as seller, and athe Borrower, as purchaser, in connection with an Additional Bank Partner Originator Loan Program Agreement.
“Bank Partner Subsidiary” means OppWin, OppWin ST and any other Subsidiary of the Company that is party to a Bank Partner Sale Agreement.
“Bank Products” means (a) each and any of the following bank products and services provided to any Borrower or any Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries by any Lender or any of its Affiliates: depository, cash management, and treasury management services (including, without limitation, controlled disbursement, automated clearinghouse transactions, return items, overdrafts and interstate depository network services) and (b) any and all letters of credit issued by the Administrative Agent or any of its Affiliates in favor of any Borrower or any Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries.
“Bank Product Obligations” means any and all obligations of any Borrower or any Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries, whether now existing or hereafter arising, absolute or contingent and howsoever and whensoever created, arising, evidenced or acquired (including all renewals, extensions and modifications thereof and substitutions therefor) in connection with Bank Products.
“Bankruptcy Code” means Title 11 of the United States Code entitled “Bankruptcy,” as now and hereafter in effect, or any successor statute.
“Base Rate” means, for any day, the rate per annum equal to the greatest of: (a) the rate of interest announced or otherwise established by the Administrative Agent from time to time as its prime commercial rate as in effect on such day, with any change in the Base Rate resulting from a change in said prime commercial rate to be effective as of the date of the relevant change in said prime commercial rate (it being acknowledged and agreed that such rate may not be the Administrative Agent’s best or lowest rate), (b) the sum of (i) the Federal Funds Rate for such day, plus (ii) 1/2 of 1%, and (c) the sum of (i) Adjusted Term SOFR in effect on such day plus (ii) 1.00%. Any change in the Base Rate due to a change in the prime rate, the quoted federal funds rates or Term SOFR, as applicable, shall be effective from and including the effective date of the change in such rate (for the avoidance of doubt, changes in Base Rate due to a change in Term SOFR shall be effective as of the next Interest Accrual Period). If the Base Rate is being used as an alternative rate of interest pursuant to the terms hereof, then the Base Rate shall be the greater of clauses (a) and (b) above and shall be determined without reference to clause (c) above; provided that if Base Rate as determined above shall ever be less than the Floor, then Base Rate shall be deemed to be the Floor.
“Benchmark” means, initially, the Term SOFR Reference Rate; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred with respect to the Term SOFR Reference Rate or the
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then-current Benchmark, then “Benchmark” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior benchmark rate pursuant to Section 2.12.
“Benchmark Replacement” means, either of the following to the extent selected by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion,
    (a)    Daily Simple SOFR; or
    (b)    the sum of: (i) the alternate benchmark rate that has been selected by the Administrative Agent and the BorrowersBorrower giving due consideration to (A) any selection or recommendation of a replacement benchmark rate or the mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (B) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a benchmark rate as a replacement to the then-current Benchmark for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities and (ii) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.
If the Benchmark Replacement as determined pursuant to clause (a) or (b) above would be less than the Floor, the Benchmark Replacement will be deemed to be the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.
“Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” means, with respect to any replacement of the then-current Benchmark with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement, the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Administrative Agent and the BorrowersBorrower giving due consideration to (a) any selection or recommendation of a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement by the Relevant Governmental Body or (b) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities.
“Benchmark Replacement Date” means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark:
    (a)    in the case of clause (a) or (b) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event”, the later of (i) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (ii) the date on which the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or
    (b)    in the case of clause (c) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event”, the first date on which such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) has been determined and announced by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) or the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark
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(or such component thereof) to be no longer representative or not to comply with the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) Principles for Financial Benchmarks; provided, that such non-representativeness or non-compliance will be determined by reference to the most recent statement or publication referenced in such clause (c) and even if any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) continues to be provided on such date.
For the avoidance of doubt, the “Benchmark Replacement Date” will be deemed to have occurred in the case of clause (a) or (b) with respect to any Benchmark upon the occurrence of the applicable event or events set forth therein with respect to all then-current Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).
“Benchmark Transition Event” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark:
    (a)    a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof);
    (b)    a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof), the Federal Reserve Board, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), which states that the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or
    (c)    a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) or the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) announcing that all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) are no longer, or as of a specified future date will no longer be, representative or do not, or as a specified future date will not, comply with the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) Principles for Financial Benchmarks.
For the avoidance of doubt, a “Benchmark Transition Event” will be deemed to have occurred with respect to any Benchmark if a public statement or publication of information set forth above has occurred with respect to each then-current Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).
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“Benchmark Unavailability Period” means the period (if any) (a) beginning at the time that a Benchmark Replacement Date has occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 2.12 and (b) ending at the time that a Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 2.12.
“Beneficial Ownership Certification” means a certification regarding beneficial ownership as required by the Beneficial Ownership Regulation.
“Beneficial Ownership Regulation” means 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.
“Borrower” and “Borrowers” areis defined in the preamble hereto.
“Borrowing Base” means the Borrowing Base (OF IV Borrower) or the Borrowing Base (STF Borrower), as the context may require.
“Borrowing Base (OF IV Borrower)” means, as of any date of determination, an amount equal to (a) the Advance Rate (OF IV Borrower) as then in effect multiplied by the Net Eligible Receivables Balance of the Eligible Receivables (OF IV Borrower), plus (b) all available funds then on deposit in OF IV Borrower’sthe Collection Account and Disbursement Account, so long as the Collateral Agent has a valid, perfected first priority Lien on each such account, minus (c) the sum of (i) the aggregate amount of Bank Partner Retained Percentages of Collections that have not be remitted to the Bank Partner Originators as of the date of determination and (ii) Reserves then in effect as of such date of determination.
“Borrowing Base (STF Borrower)” means, as of any date of determination, an amount equal to (a) the Advance Rate (STF Borrower) as then in effect multiplied by the Net Eligible Receivables Balance of the Eligible Receivables (STF Borrower), plus (b) all available funds then on deposit in STF Borrowers’ Collection Account andthe Disbursement Account, so long as the Collateral Agent has a valid, perfected first priority Lien on each such account, minus (c) the sum of (i) the aggregate amount of Bank Partner Retained Percentages of Collections that have not be remitted to the Bank Partner Originators as of the date of determination and (ii) Reserves then in effect as of such date of determination.
“Borrowing Base Action” means any of the following actions: (i) the borrowing of a Revolving Loan pursuant to Section 2.1(a)(i), and (ii) the application of funds in athe Disbursement Account toward the purchase of Eligible Receivables pursuant to Section 2.10(c).
“Borrowing Base Certificate” means a certificate, substantially in the form of Exhibit C-1 or C-2, as applicable, executed by an Authorized Officer of the applicable Borrower and delivered to the Administrative Agent, which sets forth the calculation of the appliable Borrowing Base, including a calculation of each component thereof.
“Borrowing Base Deficiency” means, as of any date of determination, any of all of the following, as the context may require: (a) the amount by which the aggregate principal amount of
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all Loans outstanding exceeds the Aggregate Borrowing Base, (b) the amount by which the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Loans issued in favor of OF IV Borrower exceeds the Borrowing Base (OF IV Borrower) and (c) the amount by which the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Loans issued in favor of STF Borrower exceeds the Borrowing Base (STF Borrower).
“Business Combination Agreement” means that certain Business Combination Agreement, dated as of February 9, 2021, by and among FG New America Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation, the Company, OppFi Shares, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and Todd Schwartz, as the Members’ Representative, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time so long as, without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, such amendment, restatement, supplement or modification is not materially adverse to the interests of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders or their interest in the Collateral.
“Business Day” means any day excluding Saturday, Sunday and any day which is a legal holiday under the laws of the State of Illinois or is a day on which banking institutions located in any such state are authorized or required by law or other governmental action to close.
“Capital Lease” means, as applied to any Person, any lease of any property (whether real, personal or mixed) by that Person (a) as lessee that, in conformity with GAAP, is or should be accounted for as a capital lease on the balance sheet of that Person or (b) as lessee which is a transaction of a type commonly known as a “synthetic lease” (i.e., a transaction that is treated as an operating lease for accounting purposes but with respect to which payments of rent are intended to be treated as payments of principal and interest on a loan for U.S. federal income tax purposes).
“Capital Stock” means any and all shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated) of capital stock of a corporation, any and all equivalent ownership interests in a Person (other than a corporation), including, without limitation, partnership interests and membership interests, and any and all warrants, rights or options to purchase or other arrangements or rights to acquire any of the foregoing.
“Cash” means money, currency or a credit balance in any demand or deposit account.
“Cash Collections” means all cash collections received by the Company and its Subsidiaries from any Person in respect of any finance receivables, including all principal, interest, fees and cash payoffs payable to the Company and its Subsidiaries under or in connection with any finance receivables.
“Cash Equivalents” means, as at any date of determination, (a) marketable securities (i) issued or directly and unconditionally guaranteed as to interest and principal by the United States of America, or (ii) issued by any agency of the United States of America the obligations of which are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States, in each case maturing within one (1) year after such date, (b) marketable direct obligations issued by any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision of any such state or any public instrumentality thereof, in
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each case maturing within one (1) year after such date and having, at the time of the acquisition thereof, a rating of at least A-1 from S&P or at least P-1 from Moody’s, (c) commercial paper maturing no more than one (1) year from the date of creation thereof and having, at the time of the acquisition thereof, a rating of at least A-1 from S&P or at least P-1 from Moody’s, (d) certificates of deposit or bankers’ acceptances maturing within one (1) year after such date and issued or accepted by a Lender or by any commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof or the District of Columbia that (i) is at least “adequately capitalized” (as defined in the regulations of its primary Federal banking regulator), and (ii) has Tier 1 capital (as defined in such regulations) of not less than $100,000,000; and (e) shares of any money market mutual fund that (i) has substantially all of its assets invested continuously in the types of investments referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above, (ii) has net assets of not less than $500,000,000, and (iii) has the highest rating obtainable from either S&P or Moody’s.
“Cash Management System” as defined in Section 5.7(a)(iii).
“CFPB” means the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, and its successors and assigns.
“Change Date” shall mean the first Business Day of each calendar month.
“Change of Control” means, at any time, any of the following: (a) with respect to any Borrower, the Company and the other Guarantors, taken collectively, shall cease to beneficially own and control 100% on a fully diluted basis of the economic and voting interest in the Capital Stock of such Borrower and (b) with respect to the Company, any person or group (within the meaning of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission thereunder as in effect on the date hereof) (in each case, other than any of the current members or any Affiliate thereof) acting in concert shall have acquired “beneficial ownership,” directly or indirectly, of, or shall have acquired by contract or otherwise, or shall have entered into a contract or arrangement that, upon consummation, will result in its or their acquisition of, or control over, the membership interests of the Company representing 50% or more of the combined voting power of all membership interests of the Company (and, provided the SPAC Transaction is consummated, such 50% or more threshold shall be computed after giving effect to the SPAC Transaction).
“Charge-Off Date” means the date on which the Servicer determines that a Receivable is a Charged-Off Receivable.
“Charged-Off Receivable” means, with respect to any date of determination, a Receivable with respect to which the earlier of any of the following shall have occurred (without duplication): (a) a Scheduled Receivable Payment under such Receivable is [***] or more Days Past Due, (b) the Servicer has otherwise determined, in accordance with the Servicing Policy, that the related Receivable is uncollectible or should be charged-off, (c) the related Obligor is deceased, (d) Net Liquidation Proceeds have been received that, in the Servicer’s good faith judgment, constitute the final amounts recoverable in respect of such Receivable, (e) the Servicer, the Originator or the applicable Bank Partner Subsidiary has determined that the
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Obligor has committed fraud in connection with the related Contract, or (f) the related Obligor is subject to a proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code or other applicable Debtor Relief Laws.
[***]
[***]
[***]
“Closing Date” means August 19, 2019.
“Closing Date Certificate” means a Closing Date Certificate of an Authorized Officer of each Credit Party substantially in the form of Exhibit E.
“Closing Date Material Adverse Change” means a material adverse change in (a) the business operations, assets, financial condition or liabilities of any Credit Party since December 31, 2018 (or, to the extent any Credit Party joined this Agreement after such date, the date of such Credit Party’s joinder to this Agreement), (b) the ability of any Credit Party to fully and timely perform its material obligations under any of the Credit Documents to which it is a party or of the applicable Bank Partner Originator or the Company to fully and timely perform its material obligations under the Bank Partner Program Agreements relating to Receivables owned by any Borrower or any Company Receivables proposed to be sold to any Borrower, or (c) the legality, validity, binding effect, or enforceability against any Credit Party of any of the Credit Documents to which it is a party or against the applicable Bank Partner Originator or the Company of the applicable Bank Partner Program Agreements, which material adverse change could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the Receivables owned by any Borrower or any Company Receivables proposed to be sold to any Borrower.
“Collateral” means, collectively, all of the personal property in which Liens are purported to be granted pursuant to the Collateral Documents as security for the Secured Obligations; provided, however, that any Receivable of any Borrower that is repurchased in accordance with and pursuant to the terms and conditions of Section 2.8 shall no longer constitute Collateral pledged by any Borrower from and after the date of such repurchase; provided further that such Receivable shall, if repurchased by a Guarantor, constitute collateral pledged by such Guarantor under the relevant Guarantor Security Agreement.
“Collateral Agent” as defined in the preamble hereto.
“Collateral Documents” means the Security AgreementsAgreement, the Guaranties, the Guarantor Security AgreementsAgreement, the Collection Account Control Agreement(s), Disbursement Account Control Agreement(s) and all other instruments, documents and agreements delivered by any Credit Party pursuant to this Agreement or any of the other Credit Documents in order to grant to the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a Lien on any personal property of such Credit Party as security for the Obligations.
-15-


“Collection Account” means (a) with respect to OF IV Borrower, “Collection Account” as defined in the Security Agreement (OF IV Borrower) and (b) with respect to STF Borrower, “Collection Account” as defined in the Security Agreement (STF Borrower).
“Collection Account Bank” means (a) with respect to OF IV Borrower, “Collection Account Bank” as defined in the Security Agreement (OF IV Borrower) and (b) with respect to STF Borrower, “Collection Account Bank” as defined in the Security Agreement (STF Borrower).
“Collection Account Bank Fee” means, collectively, the fees due and owing to athe Collection Account Bank pursuant to the terms of the applicable Collection Account Control Agreement.
“Collection Account Control Agreement” means (a) with respect to OF IV Borrower, “Collection Account Control Agreement” as defined in the Security Agreement (OF IV Borrower) and (b) with respect to STF Borrower, “Collection Account Control Agreement” as defined in the Security Agreement (STF Borrower).
“Collection Period” means, (a) with respect to the initial Settlement Date, the period beginning on the Closing Date and ending on the last day of calendar month after the month in which the Closing Date occurs, and (b) with respect to any other Settlement Date, the immediately preceding calendar month.
“Collections” means all Cash collections on the Receivables, including, without limitation, all Scheduled Receivable Payments, all non-scheduled payments, all prepayments, all late fees, all NSF fees, all other fees, Net Insurance Proceeds, all Net Liquidation Proceeds, investment earnings, residual proceeds, payments received under any personal guaranty with respect to a Receivable, any amounts deposited by the Company into the Collection Account or the Disbursement Account in accordance with Section 2.17, and all other payments received with respect to the Receivables, but excluding (x) sales and property tax payments and (y) with respect to the Bank Partner Originated Receivables, all payments retained by, or received by any Borrower and payable to, the Bank Partner Originators in respect of the Bank Partner Retained Percentages.
“Commitment Availability” means the Commitment Availability (OF IV Borrower) or the Commitment Availability (STF Borrower), as the context may require.
“Commitment Availability (OF IV Borrower)” means, (a) during the Suspension Period, $0 and (b) commencing with the Sixth Amendment EffectiveAvailability Reinstatement Date and at all times thereafter (unless otherwise modified in accordance with the terms of this Agreement), as of any date of determination during the Revolving Commitment Period, the least of (i) $7,500,000, (ii) an amount equal to the Borrowing Base (OF IV Borrower) minus the aggregate principal balance of all Loans outstanding in favor of OF IF Borrower and (iii) the Undrawn Amount.
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“Commitment Availability (STF Borrower)” means, as of any date of determination during the Revolving Commitment Period, the lesser of (i) an amount equal to the Borrowing Base (STF Borrower) minus the aggregate principal balance of all Loans outstanding in favor of STF Borrower and (ii) the Undrawn Amount.
“Company” as defined in the preamble hereto.
“Company Receivables” means all unsecured consumer installment loan or line of credit receivables originated by the Originator or its Affiliates, or, with respect to a Bank Partner Originated Receivable, originated by the applicable Bank Partner Originator and sold by such Bank Partner Originator to the applicable Bank Partner Subsidiary, from time to time, including the Receivables.
“Compliance Certificate” means a certificate, substantially in the form of Exhibit C-2, executed by an Authorized Officer of each Borrower and the Company and delivered to the Administrative Agent, which sets forth, among other things, calculations of the financial performance covenants set forth in Section 5.11.
“Confidential Information” as defined in Section 9.22.
“Conforming Changes” means with respect to either the use of administration of Term SOFR or the use, administration, adoption or implementation of any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of “Base Rate,” the definition of “Business Day,” the definition of “Interest Accrual Period,” the definition of “U.S. Government Securities Business Day”, the timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, the timing of borrowing requests or prepayment, conversion or continuation notices, the applicability and length of lookback periods, the applicability of breakage provisions, and other technical, administrative or operational matters) that the Administrative Agent decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of any such rate or to permit the use and administration thereof by the Administrative Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Administrative Agent decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Administrative Agent determines that no market practice for the administration of any such rate exists, in such other manner of administration as the Administrative Agent decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents).
“Consolidated Net Income” means, for any period, an amount equal to (a) the net income (or loss) of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis for such period taken as a single accounting period determined in conformity with GAAP, minus (b) any net extraordinary, nonrecurring or unusual gains, and plus (c) any net extraordinary, nonrecurring or unusual losses.
“Contract” means the loan agreement (including any modifications thereto), the ACH agreement and credit agreement relating to an unsecured consumer installment loan or line of credit to an Obligor (whether constituting an instrument, payment intangible or otherwise), in each case, in a form approved by the Administrative Agent.
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“Contractual Obligation” means, as applied to any Person, any provision of any Security issued by that Person or of any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, contract, undertaking, agreement or other instrument to which that Person is a party or by which it or any of its properties is bound or to which it or any of its properties is subject.
“Control” means, the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or other beneficial interests or by contract or otherwise.
“Credit Date” means the date of a Credit Extension, which shall be a Business Day.
“Credit Document” means any of (a) this Agreement, the Notes, if any, the Collateral Documents, the Guaranties, the Fee Letter, the Atalaya Subordination and Intercreditor Agreement and the Related Agreements and (b) all other documents, instruments or agreements executed and delivered by any Credit Party for the benefit of any Agent or any Lender in connection therewith.
“Credit Extension” means the making of a Loan.
“Credit Party” means, each of the BorrowersBorrower, the Company, the Servicer, the Originator and each Seller.
“Credit Policies” means the credit policies and practices, credit models and underwriting guidelines (including, without limitation, the Originator's methodology with respect to assigning Opportunity Financial Scores, maximum allowable payment-to-income ratios, minimum allowable [***] or minimum allowable [***], minimum allowable [***], minimum allowable [***], renewal policies and procedures and exception policies) (i) of the Originator in effect as of the date hereof and attached hereto as Appendix E-I (with respect to Company Receivables originated by the Company or its Affiliates), (ii) in effect as of the date hereof and attached hereto as Appendix E-II (with respect to Company Receivables originated by the FinWise Originator) and (iii) as approved in writing by the Administrative Agent (with respect to Company Receivables originated by any Additional Bank Partner Originator), in each case, as such guidelines may be amended from time to time in accordance herewith.
“Daily Simple SOFR” means, for any day, SOFR, with the conventions for this rate (which will include a lookback) being established by the Administrative Agent in accordance with the conventions for this rate selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for determining “Daily Simple SOFR” for syndicated business loans; provided, that if the Administrative Agent decides that any such convention is not administratively feasible for the Administrative Agent, then the Administrative Agent may establish another convention in its reasonable discretion.
“Days Past Due” means, as of any date of determination and with respect to any Receivable that is not marked as current in the Loan Database (provided, that at any time the Loan Database is not updated within one (1) Business Day, this definition of Days Past Due shall
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be with respect to any Receivable), the number of calendar days elapsed since the due date of the earliest Scheduled Receivables Payment that has not been received from the related Obligor.
“Debtor Relief Laws” means the Bankruptcy Code, and all other applicable liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization, suspension of payments, readjustment of debt, marshalling of assets, assignment for the benefit of creditors or similar debtor relief laws of the United States, any state or any foreign country from time to time in effect, affecting the rights of creditors generally or the rights of creditors of banks.
“Default” means a condition or event that, after notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute an Event of Default.
“Default Funding Rate” as defined in Section 2.5.
“Defaulting Lender” means, subject to Section 2.19(b), any Lender that (a) has failed to (i) fund all or any portion of its Loans within two (2) Business Days of the date such Loans were required to be funded hereunder unless such Lender notifies the Administrative Agent and the BorrowersBorrower in writing that such failure is the result of such Lender’s determination that one or more conditions precedent to funding (each of which conditions precedent, together with any applicable default, shall be specifically identified in such writing) has not been satisfied, or (ii) pay to the Administrative Agent or any other Lender any other amount required to be paid by it hereunder within two (2) Business Days of the date when due, (b) has notified the BorrowersBorrower or the Administrative Agent in writing that it does not intend to comply with its funding obligations hereunder, or has made a public statement to that effect (unless such writing or public statement relates to such Lender’s obligation to fund a Loan hereunder and states that such position is based on such Lender’s determination that a condition precedent to funding (which condition precedent, together with any applicable default, shall be specifically identified in such writing or public statement) cannot be satisfied), (c) has failed, within three (3) Business Days after written request by the Administrative Agent or the BorrowersBorrower, to confirm in writing to the Administrative Agent and the BorrowersBorrower that it will comply with its prospective funding obligations hereunder (provided that such Lender shall cease to be a Defaulting Lender pursuant to this clause (c) upon receipt of such written confirmation by the Administrative Agent and the BorrowersBorrower), or (d) has, or has a direct or indirect parent company that has, at any time after the Closing Date (i) become the subject of a proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law, (ii) had appointed for it a receiver, custodian, conservator, trustee, administrator, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person charged with reorganization or liquidation of its business or assets, including the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other state or federal regulatory authority acting in such a capacity or (iii) become the subject of a Bail-in Action; provided that a Lender shall not be a Defaulting Lender solely by virtue of the ownership or acquisition of any equity interest in that Lender or any direct or indirect parent company thereof by a Governmental Authority so long as such ownership interest does not result in or provide such Lender with immunity from the jurisdiction of courts within the United States or from the enforcement of judgments or writs of attachment on its assets or permit such Lender (or such Governmental Authority) to reject, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any contracts or agreements made with such Lender. Any determination by the Administrative Agent that a
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Lender is a Defaulting Lender under clauses (a) through (d) above shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error, and such Lender shall be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender (subject to Section 2.19(b)) upon delivery of written notice of such determination to the BorrowersBorrower and each Lender.
“Delinquent Receivable” means, with respect to any date of determination, a Receivable with respect to which the related Obligor is more than [***] Days Past Due with respect to more than [***]% of a Scheduled Receivable Payment and which is not a Charged-Off Receivable.
“Depository Institution” means, collectively, any “depository institution” or any “subsidiary” of a depository institution, as such terms are defined in the Federal Deposit Insurance Act of 1950, as amended to the date hereof and from time to time hereafter, and any successor statute.
“Designated Disbursement Account” is defined in Section 2.1(b)(iii).
“Designated Jurisdiction” means, at any time, any country, region or territory which is itself the subject or target of any Sanctions.
“Disbursement Account” means (a) with respect to OF IV Borrower, “Disbursement Account” as defined in the Security Agreement (OF IV Borrower) and (b) with respect to STF Borrower, “Disbursement Account” as defined in the Security Agreement (STF Borrower).
“Disbursement Account Bank” means (a) with respect to OF IV Borrower, “Disbursement Account Bank” as defined in the Security Agreement (OF IV Borrower) and (b) with respect to STF Borrower, “Disbursement Account Bank” as defined in the Security Agreement (STF Borrower).
“Disbursement Account Bank Fee” means, collectively, the fees due and owing to a Disbursement Account Bank pursuant to the terms of the applicable Disbursement Account Control Agreement.
“Disbursement Account Control Agreement” means (a) with respect to OF IV Borrower, “Disbursement Account Control Agreement” as defined in the Security Agreement (OF IV Borrower) and (b) with respect to STF Borrower, “Disbursement Account Control Agreement” as defined in the Security Agreement (STF Borrower).
“Dollars” and the sign “$” mean the lawful money of the United States of America.
“Early Termination Fee” is defined in the Fee Letter.
“EEA Financial Institution” means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA Member Country which is subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution Authority, (b) any entity established in an EEA Member Country which is a parent of an institution described in clause (a) of this definition, or (c) any financial institution established
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in an EEA Member Country which is a subsidiary of an institution described in clauses (a) or (b) of this definition and is subject to consolidated supervision with its parent.
“EEA Member Country” means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein, and Norway.
“EEA Resolution Authority” means any public administrative authority or any person entrusted with public administrative authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee) having responsibility for the resolution of any EEA Financial Institution.
“Eighth Amendment” means that certain Amendment No. 8 to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of September 1, 2022 and effective as of the Eighth Amendment Effective Date, by and among the Credit Parties, the Lenders party thereto and the Administrative Agent.
“Eighth Amendment Effective Date” means June 30, 2022.
“Eligibility Criteria” means the Eligibility Criteria (OF IV Borrower) or the Eligibility Criteria (STF Borrower), as the context may require.
“Eligibility Criteria (OF IV Borrower)” means the criteria set forth on Appendix C-1.
“Eligibility Criteria (STF Borrower)” means the criteria set forth on Appendix C-2.
“Eligible Obligor” means, with respect to any Receivable, an Obligor that (a) is not subject to a proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code or other applicable Debtor Relief Laws, (b) has a valid social security number and holds a valid driver’s license or other acceptable form of identification issued by a state or federal government, (c) is not an employee, officer, director or holder of any Capital Stock in, or affiliated with any employee, officer, director or holder of any Capital Stock of, any Credit Party, any Seller, any Bank Partner Originator or any of their respective Affiliates, (d) is domiciled in the United States (as evidenced by proof of residency), (e) is a natural person, (f) is not deceased and (g) has not committed fraud in connection with any Contract.
“Eligible Receivable” means (a) with respect to OF IV Borrower, a Receivable with respect to which the Eligibility Criteria (OF IV Borrower) are satisfied as of the applicable date of determination, and (b) with respect to STFof the Borrower, a Receivable with respect to which the Eligibility Criteria (STF Borrower) are satisfied as of the applicable date of determination.
“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, and any successor thereto.
“ERISA Affiliate” shall mean, when used with respect to any Person, any trade or business, whether or not incorporated, that together with such Person, would be deemed to be a single employer within the meaning of Section 4001(b) of ERISA or Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code.
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“ERISA Event” means (i) a “reportable event” within the meaning of Section 4043 of ERISA and the regulations issued thereunder with respect to any Plan (excluding those for which the provision of thirty (30) day notice to the PBGC has been waived by regulation); (ii) the failure to meet the minimum funding standard of Section 412 of the Code with respect to any Plan (whether or not waived in accordance with Section 412(c) of the code) or the failure to make by its due date a required installment under Section 430(j) of the Code with respect to any Plan or the failure to make any required contribution to a Multiemployer Plan; (iii) the provision by the administrator of any Plan pursuant to Section 4041(a)(2) of ERISA of a notice of intent to terminate such plan in a distress termination described in Section 4041(c) of ERISA; (iv) the withdrawal by any Credit Party or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates from any Plan with two or more contributing sponsors or the termination of any such Plan resulting in liability to any Credit Party or any of their respective Affiliates pursuant to Section 4063 or 4064 of ERISA; (v) the institution by the PBGC of proceedings to terminate any Plan or the occurrence of any event or condition which might constitute grounds under ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any Plan; (vi) the imposition of liability on any Credit Party or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates pursuant to Section 4062(e) or 4069 of ERISA or by reason of the application of Section 4212(c) of ERISA; (vii) the withdrawal of any Credit Party or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates in a complete or partial withdrawal (within the meaning of 4203 or 4205 of ERISA) from any Multiemployer Plan if there is any potential liability therefor, or the receipt by any Credit Party or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates of notice from any Multiemployer Plan that it is in insolvency pursuant to Section 4241 or 4245 of ERISA, or that it intends to terminate or has terminated under Section 4041A or 4042 of ERISA; (viii) the occurrence of an act or omission which could give rise to the imposition on any Credit Party or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates, with respect to any Plan, of fines, penalties, taxes or related charges under Chapter 43 of the Code or under Section 409, 502(c), (i) or (i) or Section 4071 of ERISA in respect of any Plan; (ix) the assertion of a material claim (other than routine claims for benefits) against any Plan of any of any Credit Party or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates; (x) receipt form the Internal Revenue Service of notice of the failure of any Plan to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code, or the failure of any trust forming part of any Plan to qualify for exemption from taxation under Section 501(a) of the Code; or (xi) the imposition of a Lien pursuant to Section 430(k) of the Code or pursuant to Section 303(k) of ERISA with respect to any Plan.
“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the Loan Market Association (or any successor Person), as in effect from time to time.
“Eurodollar Reserve Percentage” means the maximum reserve percentage, expressed as a decimal, at which reserves (including, without limitation, any emergency, marginal, special, and supplemental reserves) are imposed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor) on “eurocurrency liabilities”, as defined in such Board’s Regulation D (or any successor thereto), subject to any amendments of such reserve requirement by such Board or its successor, taking into account any transitional adjustments thereto. For purposes of this definition, the relevant Loans shall be deemed to be “eurocurrency liabilities” as defined in Regulation D without benefit or credit for any prorations, exemptions or offsets under Regulation
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D. The Eurodollar Reserve Percentage shall be adjusted automatically on and as of the effective date of any change in any such reserve percentage.
“Event of Default” means any of the conditions or events set forth in Section 7.1.
“Excess Availability” means, as of any time the same is to be determined, the amount (if any) by which (a) the lesser of the Aggregate Borrowing Base as then determined and computed or the Revolving Commitments as then in effect exceeds (b) the aggregate principal amount of Loans then outstanding.
“Excess Concentration Amounts” means (a) with respect to OF IV Borrower, each of the amounts set forth on Appendix D-1; and (b) with respect to STF Borrower, each of the amounts set forth on Appendix D-2.
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended to the date hereof and from time to time hereafter, and any successor statute.
“Excluded Subsidiary” means any Financing Subsidiary, other than the BorrowersBorrower.
“Excluded Taxes” means, with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of any Credit Party under any Credit Document, any of the following Taxes: (a) Taxes imposed on or measured by any Recipient’s net income (or franchise taxes imposed in lieu of net income taxes) or branch profit taxes, in each case, (A) by the jurisdiction under which such Recipient is organized or conducts business, or (B) that are Other Connection Taxes, (b) any withholding tax that is imposed on amounts payable to a Recipient at the time such Recipient becomes a party to this Agreement or designates a new lending office or branch without the written consent of the BorrowersBorrower, (c) Taxes imposed on amounts payable under this Agreement that are attributable to a Recipient‘s failure to comply with Section 2.14(e), and (d) Taxes imposed pursuant to FATCA.
“Facility” as defined in the recitals hereto.
“Facility Availability” means, with respect to any date of determination during the Revolving Commitment Period, (i) all Collections representing available funds on deposit in the applicable Disbursement Account(s), minus (ii) the sum of (A) for any date of determination occurring on or after the first day of any calendar month and prior to the Settlement Date occurring in such calendar month, the total amount of funds to be distributed pursuant to Section 2.10(a)(i), (ii) and (iii) on the immediately succeeding Settlement Date and (B) for any date of determination, the product of (x) 1.05 and (y) the total amount of funds projected to be distributed pursuant to Section 2.10(a)(i), (ii) and (iii) on the Settlement Date occurring during the immediately succeeding calendar month, in each case as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.
“Fair Valuation” means, in respect of any Person, the value of the consolidated assets of such Person on the basis of the amount which may be realized by a willing seller within a
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reasonable time through collection or sale of such assets at market value on a going concern basis to an interested buyer who is willing to purchase under ordinary selling conditions in an arm’s-length transaction.
“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Internal Revenue Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), and any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof, any applicable agreement entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code, any applicable intergovernmental agreement with respect thereto and any law or regulation enacted or promulgated pursuant to such intergovernmental agreement.
“Federal Funds Effective Rate” means for any day, the rate per annum (expressed, as a decimal, rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next higher 1/100 of 1%) equal to the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers on such day, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the next succeeding Business Day; provided, (a) if such day is not a Business Day, the Federal Funds Effective Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions on the next preceding Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Business Day, and (b) if no such rate is so published on such next succeeding Business Day, the Federal Funds Effective Rate for such day shall be the average rate charged to BMO Harris on such day on such transactions similar in size and tenor of the Loans as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.
“Fee Letter” means the amended and restated letter agreement, dated as of Sixth Amendment Effective Date among the Administrative Agent, the BorrowersBorrower and the Company, as it may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.
“Fifth Amendment” means that certain Amendment No. 5 to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of August 6, 2021, by and among the Credit Parties, the Lenders party thereto and the Administrative Agent.
“Fifth Amendment Effective Date” has the meaning assigned thereto in the Fifth Amendment.
“Final Maturity Date” means the earlier to occur of (a) the date that is six (6) months after the Scheduled Termination Date; (b) if the Availability Reinstatement Date has not occurred on or prior to January 31, 2023, February 15, 2023; and (bc) the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default and the declaration of all outstanding Obligations to be due and payable pursuant to Section 7.1; provided, however, that in the event there is no Amortization Period, the Final Maturity Date shall automatically without further action or notice be the Scheduled Termination Date.
“Financing Subsidiary” means any bankruptcy remote or other special purpose entity that is a direct or indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company formed for the purpose of, and engaging in no material business other than in connection with, the purchase and financing
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of Receivables. The parties hereto acknowledge that as of the SixthEighth Amendment Effective Date, the Company’s Financing Subsidiaries consist of: (i) Opportunity Funding SPE II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, (ii) Opportunity Funding SPE III, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, (iii) the BorrowersBorrower, (iv) Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, (v) Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and (vi) Opportunity Funding SPE VII, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
“FinWise Loan” means each “Loan” as defined in the FinWise Loan Program Agreement related to a Receivable, payable subject to a contract and promissory note substantially in the form of Appendix F, or in such other form approved by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion.
“FinWise Loan Program Agreement” means the Loan Program Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2017, by and between the FinWise Originator and the Company, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
“FinWise Originator” means FinWise Bank, a Utah state-chartered bank, as seller under the FinWise Sale Agreement, its successors and, subject to the consent of the Administrative Agent, its assigns.
“FinWise Program Agreements” means each of the FinWise Loan Program Agreement, the FinWise Sale Agreement and the FinWise Servicing Agreement.
“FinWise Receivable” means a Receivable originated pursuant to the FinWise Program Agreements.
“FinWise Sale Agreement” means the Loan Receivables Sale Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2017, by and between the FinWise Originator, as seller, the Company, as service agent, and OppWin, as purchaser, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
“FinWise Servicing Agreement” means the Loan Servicing Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2017, among the FinWise Originator, as owner and as servicer, the Company, as subservicer and OppWin, as receivables purchaser, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
“Fiscal Quarter” means, with respect to a particular Fiscal Year, each fiscal quarter corresponding to such Fiscal Year.
“Fiscal Year” means for any Credit Party, any consecutive twelve-month period commencing on the date following the last day of the previous fiscal year and ending on December 31.
-25-


“Floor” means the rate per annum of interest equal to 0.40%, minus any credit spread adjustment then in effect; provided that in no event shall the Floor be less than 0.00%.
“Foreign Plan” means any “employee benefit plan” as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA that is (a) neither subject to ERISA nor a governmental plan within the meaning of Section 3(32) of ERISA and (b) mandated by a government other than the United States or a state within the United States or an instrumentality thereof.
“Fourth Amendment Effective Date” means March 23, 2021.
“Fourth Amendment Effective Date Refinancing” means the repayment of all of the Indebtedness owing to TCS Global Holdings LP, with the proceeds of the loan under the Atalaya Subordinated Loan Agreement on or about the date that is not more than fifteen (15) days following the Fourth Amendment Effective Date.
“FRB” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States.
“Funding Notice” means a notice substantially in the form of Exhibit A.
“Funds Release Request” means a notice substantially in the form of Exhibit G.
“GAAP” means, subject to the limitations on the application thereof set forth in Section 1.2, United States generally accepted accounting principles in effect as of the date of determination thereof.
“Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, municipal, national or other government, governmental department, commission, board, bureau, court, agency or instrumentality or political subdivision thereof or any entity or officer exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to any government or any court, in each case whether associated with a state of the United States, the United States, or a foreign entity or government, and which has jurisdiction over the applicable Credit Party.
“Guaranties” means (a) that certain guaranty provided for in Section 10 hereof, and (b) any other guaranty agreement executed and delivered in order to guarantee the Secured Obligations or any party thereof in form and substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent, in each case as it may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.
“Guarantors” means (a) the Company, SalaryTap, OppWin, OppWin ST, OPPORTUNITY MANAGER, LLC, OppFi Management Holdings, LLC, OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL CARD COMPANY, LLC and OPPWIN CARD, LLC, each in its capacity as a guarantor under the Guaranty, and (b) each other Person that is joined as a Guarantor under a Guaranty from time to time.
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“Guarantor Security Agreements” means (a) the Security Agreement, dated as of the Fourth Amendment Effective Date, among the Company, the other Guarantors party thereto and the Collateral Agent on behalf of the Secured Parties, and (b) each other Security Agreement entered into from time to time between a Guarantor and the Collateral Agent on behalf of the Secured Parties, in each case as it may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.
“Highest Lawful Rate” means the maximum lawful interest rate, if any, that at any time or from time to time may be contracted for, charged, or received under the laws applicable to any Lender which are presently in effect or, to the extent allowed by law, under such applicable laws which may hereafter be in effect and which allow a higher maximum nonusurious interest rate than applicable laws now allow.
“Indebtedness” as applied to any Person, means, without duplication, (a) all indebtedness for borrowed money, (b) that portion of obligations with respect to Capital Leases that is properly classified as a liability on a balance sheet in conformity with GAAP, (c) notes payable and drafts accepted representing extensions of credit whether or not representing obligations for borrowed money, (d) any obligation owed for all or any part of the deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding any such obligations incurred under ERISA), which purchase price is (i) due more than six (6) months from the date of incurrence of the obligation in respect thereof or (ii) evidenced by a note or similar written instrument, (e) all indebtedness secured by any Lien on any property or asset owned or held by that Person regardless of whether the indebtedness secured thereby shall have been assumed by that Person or is nonrecourse to the credit of that Person, (f) the face amount of any letter of credit issued for the account of that Person or as to which that Person is otherwise liable for reimbursement of drawings, (g) the direct or indirect guaranty, endorsement (otherwise than for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business), co-making, discounting with recourse or sale with recourse by such Person of the obligation of another, (h) any obligation of such Person the primary purpose or intent of which is to provide assurance to an obligee that the obligation of the obligor thereof will be paid or discharged, or any agreement relating thereto will be complied with, or the holders thereof will be protected (in whole or in part) against loss in respect thereof, (i) any liability of such Person for an obligation of another through any agreement (contingent or otherwise) (A) to purchase, repurchase or otherwise acquire such obligation or any security therefor, or to provide funds for the payment or discharge of such obligation (whether in the form of loans, advances, stock purchases, capital contributions or otherwise) or (B) to maintain the solvency or any balance sheet item, level of income or financial condition of another if, in the case of any agreement described under subclauses (A) or (B) of this clause (i), the primary purpose or intent thereof is as described in clause (h) above, and (j) all obligations of such Person in respect of any exchange traded or over the counter derivative transaction, whether entered into for hedging or speculative purposes.
“Indemnified Liabilities” means, collectively, any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, claims, costs, expenses and disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever (including the reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket fees and disbursements of counsel for Indemnitees in connection with any investigative, administrative or judicial proceeding commenced by any Person, whether or not any such Indemnitee shall be designated as a party or
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potential party thereto, and any reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket fees or expenses incurred by Indemnitees in enforcing the indemnification provisions of Section 9.3), whether direct, indirect or consequential and whether based on any federal, state or foreign laws, statutes, rules or regulations (including securities and commercial laws, statutes, rules or regulations, on common law or equitable cause or on contract or otherwise) incurred by, or asserted against any such Indemnitee, in any manner relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the other Credit Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (including each Lender’s agreement to make Credit Extensions or the use or intended use of the proceeds thereof, or any enforcement of any of the Credit Documents (including any sale of, collection from, or other realization upon any of the Collateral or the enforcement of any Guaranties)). For the avoidance of doubt, Indemnified Liabilities shall not include Excluded Taxes.
“Indemnified Taxes” means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of any Credit Party under any Credit Document, and (b) to the extent not otherwise described in (a), Other Taxes.
“Indemnitee” as defined in Section 9.3(a).
“Indemnitee Agent Party” as defined in Section 8.9.
“Indemnitor” as defined in Section 9.3(c).
“Independent Accountants” means (a) RSM McGladrey, Inc. or (b) such other nationally recognized firm of independent certified public accountants acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion.
“Independent Director” means an employee of Citadel SPV Services (USA) LLC, or another natural person meeting the qualifications set forth in Section 6.13 and otherwise acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.
“Interest Accrual Period” shall mean (i) the period from the Seventh Amendment Effective Date until (but not including) the first Change Date thereafter, and (ii) each period thereafter from (and including) each Change Date until (but not including) the next Change Date; except that the Interest Accrual Period, if any, that would otherwise commence before and end after the Maturity Date shall end on the Maturity Date.
“Interest Coverage Ratio” means, at any time the same is to be determined, the ratio of (a) Adjusted EBIT (Company) for the six month period then ended to (b) Interest Expense paid or required to be paid in cash for the same six month period (including interest due during such period that is deferred to a later date, but not including any payment-in-kind interest that is capitalized to principal during such period), in each case for the Company on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.
“Interest Expense” means, with reference to any period, the sum of all interest charges (including imputed interest charges with respect to Capitalized Lease Obligations and all
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amortization of debt discount and expense) of the Company and its Subsidiaries for such period determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.
“Interest Rate” means, with respect to any Loan, the Adjusted Term SOFR as from time to time in effect plus the Applicable Margin, subject to Section 2.12.
“Internal Revenue Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any successor statute.
“Investment” as applied to any Person, means (a) any direct or indirect purchase or other acquisition by such Person of, or of a beneficial interest in, any of the Securities of any other Person, (b) any direct or indirect redemption, retirement, purchase or other acquisition for value, from any Person, of any Capital Stock of such Person, and (c) any direct or indirect loan, advance or capital contributions by such Person to any other Person, including all indebtedness and accounts receivable from that other Person that are not current assets or did not arise from sales to that other Person in the ordinary course of business. The amount of any Investment shall be the original cost of such Investment plus the cost of all additions thereto, without any adjustments for increases or decreases in value, or write-ups, write-downs or write-offs with respect to such Investment.
“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service, or any successor agency.
“Key Employee” means each of [***], such other Persons identified in any side letter entered into between the Administrative Agent and the Company, and any replacement(s) approved by the Administrative Agent acting in a commercially reasonable manner.
“Legal Requirement” means any treaty, convention, statute, law, common law, rule, regulation, ordinance, license, permit, governmental approval, injunction, judgment, order, consent decree or other requirement of any Governmental Authority, whether federal, state, or local.
“Lender” means each financial institution listed on the signature pages hereto as a Lender and any other Person that becomes a “Lender” party hereto pursuant to an Assignment Agreement.
“Lender Affiliate” means, as applied to any Lender or Agent, any Person directly or indirectly controlling (including any member of senior management of such Person), controlled by, or under common control with, such Lender or Agent. For the purposes of this definition, “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the terms “controlling,” “controlled by” and “under common control with”), as applied to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power (a) to vote 20% or more of the Securities having ordinary voting power for the election of directors of such Person or (b) to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of that Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise.
“Lender Report” as defined in the Backup Servicing Agreement.
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“Lien” means (a) any lien, mortgage, pledge, assignment, security interest, charge or encumbrance of any kind (including any agreement to give any of the foregoing, any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, and any lease in the nature thereof) and any option, trust or other preferential arrangement having the practical effect of any of the foregoing, and (b) in the case of Securities, any purchase option, call or similar right of a third party with respect to such Securities.
“Line of Credit Receivable” means each Receivable arising from a line of credit extended to an Obligor.
“Liquidity” means, at any time the same is to be determined, the sum of (a) unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of the Guarantors then on deposit in one or more deposit accounts which are subject to a “control agreement” in favor of the Collateral Agent plus (b) an amount equal to 90.0% of the unencumbered receivables consisting of unsecured consumer installment loans and lines of credit owned by the Guarantors at such time (other than Liens in favor of the Collateral Agent and Midtown Madison Management LLC, as administrative agent for the holders of the Qualifying Subordinated Debt issued under the Atalaya Subordinated Loan Agreement).
“Loan” means each revolving loan made to athe Borrower pursuant to Section 2.1(a).
“Loan Database” means the databases, platforms and systems (including, without limitation, Infinity) maintained by the Servicer with respect to the Company Receivables, which provides, on a loan-by-loan basis, up-to-date information regarding all activities with respect to the Company Receivables, including but not limited to originations, payments, charge-offs and recoveries.
“Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (OF IV Borrower)” means, as of the end of each calendar month, the sum of the following (expressed as a percentage): (a) the average of (i) Receivables of OF IVthe Borrower more than thirty (30) Days Past Due as of the last day for each of the last three (3) calendar months (specifically excluding Charged-Off Receivables), divided by (ii) total Receivables of OF IVthe Borrower (specifically excluding Charged-Off Receivables) as of the last day for each of the last three (3) calendar months, rounded to the nearest 1/100th of a percent, plus (b) the average of (i) Receivables of OF IVthe Borrower for which there was a payment default during the first full calendar month since origination for each of the last three (3) calendar months, divided by (ii) total Receivables of OF IV Borrower (specifically excluding Charged-Off Receivables) as of the last day for each of the last three (3) calendar months, rounded to the nearest 1/100th of a percent.
“Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (STF Borrower)” means, as of the end of each calendar month, the sum of the following (expressed as a percentage): (a) the average of (i) Receivables of STF Borrower more than two (2) payments delinquent since the due date of the earliest Scheduled Receivables Payment that has not been received from the related Obligor, as of the last day for each of the last three (3) calendar months (specifically excluding Charged-Off Receivables), divided by (ii) total Receivables of STFthe Borrower (specifically excluding Charged-Off Receivables) as of the last day for each of the last three (3) calendar months,
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rounded to the nearest 1/100th of a percent, plus (b) the average of (i) Receivables of STF Borrower for which there was a payment default during the first full calendar month since origination for each of the last three (3) calendar months, divided by (ii) total Receivables of STF Borrower (specifically excluding Charged-Off Receivables) as of the last day for each of the last three (3) calendar months, rounded to the nearest 1/100th of a percent, plus (c) the average of (i) gross Charged-Off Receivables of STF Borrower as of the last day for each of the last last six (6) calendar months, divided by (ii) the Net Principal Loan Receivables Balance of STF Borrower as of the last day for each of the last last six (6) calendar months, rounded to the nearest 1/100th of a percent.
“Lockbox” means a segregated post office box in the name of athe Borrower maintained in accordance with the applicable Lockbox Agreement and established pursuant to Section 2.02(e) of the Servicing Agreement.
“Lockbox Agreement” means a lockbox agreement by and among the BorrowersBorrower (or the Company as its Servicer) and the Lockbox Bank, and any related deposit account control agreement among such parties and the Collateral Agent, each of which shall be in form and substance acceptable to the Collateral Agent and entered into pursuant to Section 2.02(e) of the Servicing Agreement.
“Lockbox Bank” means BMO Harris Bank N.A.
“Margin Stock” as defined in Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System as in effect from time to time.
“Material Adverse Effect” means, a material adverse effect on (a) the business, operations, assets, financial condition or liabilities of a Credit Party, (b) the ability of a Credit Party to fully and timely perform its respective obligations under the Credit Documents or the Bank Partner Program Agreements to which it is a party (including, without limitation, the Obligations of the BorrowersBorrower), (c) the ability of the applicable Bank Partner Originator to fully and timely perform its obligations under the applicable Bank Partner Program Agreements relating to Receivables owned by any Borrower, (d) the legality, validity, binding effect, or enforceability against a Credit Party of any Credit Document or any Bank Partner Program Agreement to which it is a party or against a Bank Partner Originator of the applicable Bank Partner Program Agreements which has a material adverse effect on the Receivables, (e) the rights, remedies and benefits available to, or conferred upon, any Agent, any Lender or any Secured Party under any Credit Document or (f) the enforceability or collectability (other than with respect to the creditworthiness of the related Obligor) of the Receivables.
“Material Contract” means any contract or other arrangement to which a Credit Party is a party (other than the Credit Documents) for which breach, nonperformance, cancellation or failure to renew could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
“Material Modification” means any modification of a Contract that would (1) forgive any scheduled repayment or extend the term of the Contract, (2) reduce the APR or (3) reduce the UPB of the Receivable.
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“Maximum Committed Amount” means, as of the SixthEighth Amendment Effective Date, $45,000,0007,500,000; provided, that, the “Maximum Committed Amount” may be increased as set forth in Section 2.18.
“Monthly Servicing Report” means that Monthly Servicing Report in the form attached as Exhibit B to the Servicing Agreement or otherwise in a form acceptable to the Administrative Agent.
“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investor Services, Inc., and any successor thereto.
“Multiemployer Plan” means any Plan which is a “multiemployer plan” as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA.
“Net Eligible Receivables Balance” means, as of any date of determination an amount equal to (a) the aggregate Remaining Funded Amount of the applicable Eligible Receivables, minus (b) any applicable Excess Concentration Amounts as of such date of determination.
“Net Income” means, with reference to any period for any Person, the net income (or net loss) of such Person for such period computed on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP; provided that there shall be excluded from Net Income (a) the net income (or net loss) of any Person accrued prior to the date it becomes a Subsidiary of, or has merged into or consolidated with, such Person or another Subsidiary of such Person, (b) the net income (or net loss) of any Person (other than a Subsidiary) in which such Person or any of its Subsidiaries has an equity interest, except to the extent of the amount of dividends or other distributions actually paid to such Person or any of its Subsidiaries during such period, and (c) the undistributed earnings of any Subsidiary of such Person to the extent that the declaration or payment of dividends or similar distributions by such Subsidiary is not at the time permitted by the terms of any contractual obligation (other than under any Credit Document) or requirement of law applicable to such Subsidiary.
“Net Insurance Proceeds” means an amount equal to: (a) any Cash payments or proceeds received by any Borrower, the Company or the Servicer in respect of any covered loss under any policy of insurance specified in Section 5.8, minus (b) any actual and reasonable costs incurred or to be incurred by any Borrower, the Company or the Servicer in connection with the adjustment or settlement of any claims of any Borrower, the Company or the Servicer in respect thereof.
“Net Liquidation Proceeds” means, all amounts received in connection with a Receivable after such Receivable was first identified as a Charged-Off Receivable, minus the reasonable expenses incurred by the Servicer in connection with the collection of such Receivable, including reasonable collection agency fees and the reasonable cost of legal counsel in connection with the enforcement of such Receivable; provided, however, that the “Net Liquation Proceeds” with respect to any Receivable shall not be less than zero.
“Net Principal Loan Receivables Balance” means, in respect of any Borrower as of any date of determination, the aggregate principal balance of all Eligible Receivables of such
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Borrower as of such date net of any unearned interest, unearned fees, discounts, insurance commissions, upfront fees, fair market value premiums/writeup, and other similar adjustments.
“Non-Defaulting Lender” means, at any time, each Lender that is not a Defaulting Lender at such time.
“Non-U.S. Lender” means a Lender that is not a U.S. Person.
“Note” means a promissory note substantially in the form of Exhibit B attached hereto, as the same may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.
“Obligations” means all obligations of every nature of the BorrowersBorrower and the Guarantors from time to time owed to the Agents (including former Agents) or the Lenders or any of them, under any Credit Document, whether for principal, interest (including interest, fees, costs, and charges which, but for the filing of a petition in bankruptcy with respect to anythe Borrower or any Guarantor, would have accrued on any Obligation, whether or not a claim is allowed against anythe Borrower or any Guarantor for such interest, fees, costs, or charges in the related bankruptcy proceeding), fees, expenses, indemnification or otherwise.
“Obligor” means, with respect to each Receivable, the borrower under the related unsecured consumer installment loan or any other Person who owes or may be liable for payments under such Receivable.
“OF IV Borrower” is defined in the preamble hereto.
“OFAC” means the United States Department of Treasury Office of Foreign Assets Control.
“OFAC SDN List” means the list of the Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons maintained by OFAC.
“Opportunity Financial Score” means the internal credit score assigned to an Obligor by the Originator in accordance with the Credit Policies.
“OppWin” means OppWin, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
“OppWin Sale Agreement” means the receivables purchase agreement, dated as of August 19, 2019, by and between OppWin, as seller, and OF IV Borrower, as purchaser, as may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof and with the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.
“OppWin ST” means OppWin SalaryTap, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
“OppWin ST Sale Agreement” means the receivables purchase agreement, dated as of the Sixth Amendment Effective Date, by and between OppWin ST, as seller, and STF Borrower, as
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purchaser, as may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof and with the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.
“Organizational Documents” means (a) with respect to any corporation, its certificate or articles of incorporation or organization, as amended, and its by-laws, as amended, (b) with respect to any limited partnership, its certificate of limited partnership, as amended, and its partnership agreement, as amended, (c) with respect to any general partnership, its partnership agreement, as amended, (d) with respect to any limited liability company, its certificate of formation, as amended, and its operating agreement, as amended, and (e) with respect to any statutory trust, its certificate of trust, as amended, and its trust agreement, as amended. In the event any term or condition of this Agreement or any other Credit Document requires any Organizational Document to be certified by a secretary of state or similar governmental official, the reference to any such “Organizational Document” shall only be to a document of a type customarily certified by such governmental official.
“Origination Date” means for each Receivable, the date on which funds were disbursed by or on behalf of the applicable Bank Partner Originator or the Originator, as applicable, to an Obligor.
“Origination Fee” means a prepaid finance charge that is either paid by the Obligor at the time of origination, withheld from the proceeds included in the UPB of a Receivable or paid by the Obligor over the term of the Receivable in accordance with the Contract.
“Originator” means Opportunity Financial, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, in its capacity as Originator hereunder.
“Originator Percentage” means, with respect to (a) any Bank Partner Originated Receivable, a percentage equal to one minus the Bank Partner Retained Percentage applicable to such Receivable on the date the portion of the economic interest in the obligations of the related Obligor to make payments thereunder was acquired by a Bank Partner Subsidiary pursuant to the applicable Bank Partner Program Agreements, and (b) with respect to any other Receivable, 100%.
“Other Connection Taxes” means, with respect to any Recipient, Taxes imposed as a result of a present or former connection between such Recipient and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than connections arising from such Recipient having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Credit Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Loan or Credit Document).
“Other Taxes” means all present or future stamp, court or documentary, intangible, recording, filing or similar Taxes that arise from any payment made under, from the execution delivery, performance, enforcement or registration of, from the receipt or perfection of a security interest under, or otherwise with respect to, any Credit Document, except any such Taxes that are
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Other Connection Taxes imposed with respect to an assignment (other than an assignment requested by the BorrowersBorrower in writing).
“Participant Register” as defined in Section 9.6(d).
“Patriot Act” means the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107 56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)).
“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any successor thereto.
“Performance Guaranty” means that certain performance guaranty, dated as of August 19, 2019, by the Company in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof, pursuant to which the Company has agreed to guaranty certain obligations of OppWin under the OppWin Sale Agreement, OppWin ST under the OppWin ST Sale Agreement and any other Bank Partner Subsidiary under the applicable Bank Partner Sale Agreement.
“Permitted Expenses” means the reasonable and documented costs and expenses incurred by the Agents and the Lenders (and their respective agents or professional advisors) in connection with the preparation, administration, amendment and due diligence of this Agreement and the other Credit Documents and, which costs and expenses the BorrowersBorrower shall reimburse to the Administrative Agent or shall pay or cause to be paid in accordance with the Credit Documents. “Permitted Expenses” shall include, without limitation, the expenses set forth in Sections 5.10 and 9.2 hereof.
“Permitted Full Recourse SPV Facility” means each financing facility of a Financing Subsidiary, that (a) has recourse to the Company, provided such recourse is not secured by a Lien on any assets of the Company or any other Guarantor, (b) which is provided by a bank or other financial institution, (c) at the time such financing facility for such Financing Subsidiary is established no Default or Event of Default exists or would arise after giving effect to the establishment of such facility, and (d) has an advance rate no greater than eighty-five percent (85%); provided, however, that any financing facility of a Financing Subsidiary that only has indemnity related recourse shall not qualify as a Permitted Full Recourse SPV Facility hereunder (regardless of whether such indemnity guaranty contains any full recourse triggers).
“Permitted Investments” means each of the following:
    (a)    Cash or Investments that were Cash Equivalents at the time made;
    (b)    (i) Investments in any Subsidiary that is a Guarantor and (ii) Investments in any Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor so long as no Default or Event of Default exists at the time of such Investment or would arise after giving effect thereto;
    (c)    Investments existing on the Fourth Amendment Effective Date;
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    (d)    Investments received in lieu of Cash in connection with any disposition permitted hereunder;
    (e)    Investments consisting of extensions of credit in the nature of accounts receivable or notes receivable arising from the grant of trade credit in the ordinary course of business;
    (f)    Investments consisting of Indebtedness permitted under Section 6.1; Permitted Liens; mergers, consolidations, amalgamations, liquidations, windings up, dissolutions or dispositions permitted by Section 6.4; and Affiliate transactions permitted by Section 6.7;
    (g)    Investments in the ordinary course of business consisting of endorsements for collection or deposit and customary trade arrangements with customers;
    (h)    Investments (including debt obligations and Capital Stock) received (i) in connection with the bankruptcy or reorganization of any Person, (ii) in settlement of delinquent obligations of, or other disputes with, customers, suppliers and other account debtors arising in the ordinary course of business, (iii) upon foreclosure with respect to any secured Investment or other transfer of title with respect to any secured Investment and/or (iv) as a result of the settlement, compromise, resolution of litigation, arbitration or other disputes;
    (i)    (i) guarantees of leases (other than Capital Leases) or of other obligations not constituting Indebtedness and (ii) guarantees of the lease obligations of suppliers, customers, franchisees and licensees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, in each case, in the ordinary course of business;
    (j)    Investments under any hedge agreement;
    (k)    unfunded pension fund and other employee benefit plan obligations and liabilities to the extent that they are permitted to remain unfunded under applicable law; and
    (l)    Investments in connection with intercompany Cash management arrangements and related activities in the ordinary course of business.
“Permitted Liens” means:
    (a)    Liens arising in favor of the Collateral Agent under the Collateral Documents;
    (b)    Liens imposed by law for Taxes, fees, assessments or other governmental charges payable by any Borrower, any Credit Party or any Guarantor that are not yet due or are being contested in compliance with Section 5.3;
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    (c)    Liens existing on the date hereof listed and identified on Schedule 4.12 attached hereto and made a part hereof;
    (d)    Liens securing purchase money Indebtedness or Capital Lease obligations; provided, that: (i) the Indebtedness or other obligation secured by any such Lien is permitted under Section 6.1, and (ii) any such Lien encumbers only the asset so purchased or leased and the proceeds thereof;
    (e)    Liens on the assets of any Credit Party or any Guarantor (other than equity interests in the BorrowersBorrower and other Financing Subsidiaries) securing the Indebtedness under the Atalaya Subordinated Loan Agreement, provided such Liens are at all times subject to the Atalaya Subordination and Intercreditor Agreement;
    (f)    Liens incurred in connection with the extension, renewal or refinancing of the indebtedness secured by Liens of the type described in clauses (b) through (e) above, provided, that any extension, renewal or replacement Lien shall be limited to the property encumbered by the existing Lien and the principal amount of the Indebtedness being extended, renewed or refinanced does not increase and, in the event the existing Liens are subordinated to the Liens held by the Collateral Agent, the Liens permitted under this clause (f) are subordinated to the Liens held by the Collateral Agent on terms that are not more favorable to the Person(s) providing such extension, renewal or refinancing pursuant to a written intercreditor agreement acceptable to the Collateral Agent;
    (g)    Any bankers’ Liens, rights of setoff and other similar Liens (including under Section 4-210 of the UCC) in one or more deposit accounts maintained by any Borrower or any other Credit Party or any Guarantor, in each case granted in the ordinary course of business in favor of the bank or banks with which such accounts are maintained, securing amounts owing to such bank with respect to cash management and operating account arrangements; provided that, unless such Liens are non-consensual and arise by operation of law, in no case shall any such Liens secure (either directly or indirectly) the repayment of any Indebtedness;
    (h)    One or more judgment Liens imposed on the properties of any Credit Party (other than a Borrower) or Guarantor securing judgments and other proceedings not constituting an Event of Default;
    (i)    Liens on the assets acquired by a Financing Subsidiary in connection with a transaction permitted by Section 6.14(c), and any back-up security interest granted in such assets by any Credit Party or any Guarantor in connection with the sale, transfer or assignment thereof;
    (j)    Liens of landlords and Liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics, materialmen, repairmen or other like Liens arising in the ordinary course of business and securing obligations that are not overdue more than sixty (60) days, or remain payable without penalty or that are being contested in good faith;
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    (k)    Liens incurred or deposits or pledges made in the ordinary course of business in connection with worker’s compensation, unemployment insurance and other types of social security, or to secure the performance of bids, leases, customs, tenders, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, payment and performance bonds, return-of-money bonds and other similar obligations (not incurred in connection with the borrowing of money or the obtaining of advances or credits to finance the purchase price of property);
    (l)    (i) easements, rights-of-way, restrictions, covenants, conditions and other liens incurred, licenses and sublicenses and other similar rights granted to others in the ordinary course of business and not, individually or in the aggregate, materially interfering with the ordinary conduct of the business of the applicable Person or (ii) title defects or irregularities with respect to real property which do not interfere with the ordinary conduct of business of any Credit Party or any Guarantor;
    (m)    non-exclusive license of intellectual property granted to third parties in the ordinary course of business
    (n)    Liens which are incidental to the conduct of the applicable Credit Party’s or Guarantor’s business or the ownership of its property and assets and which were not incurred in connection with the borrowing of money or the obtaining of advances or credit, and which do not in the aggregate materially impair the ordinary conduct of the business of such Credit Party or Guarantor;
    (o)    Liens securing Indebtedness incurred to the extent used to finance insurance premiums to the extent permitted under Section 6.1;
    (p)    Liens arising from UCC financing statement filings regarding operating leases and consignments;
    (q)    any interest or title of a lessor, sublessor, licensor or sublicensor under any lease or license permitted by the Credit Documents;
    (r)    Liens (including the right of set-off, revocation, refund or chargeback) in favor of a bank or other depository institution arising as a matter of law encumbering deposits and solely relating to the maintenance of any applicable bank or deposit account;
    (s)    Liens arising out of consignment, title retention, conditional sale or similar arrangements for the sale of goods entered into by any Credit Party or any Guarantor thereof in the ordinary course of business;
    (t)    Liens consisting of security deposits in connection with leases, subleases, sublicenses, use and occupancy agreements, utility services and similar transactions entered into by any Credit Party or any Guarantor in the ordinary course of business and not required as a result of any breach of any agreement or default in payment of any obligation;
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    (u)    Liens on the assets acquired by a Financing Subsidiary in connection with a securitization securing Indebtedness of such Financing Subsidiary, and any back-up security interest granted in such assets by any Credit Party or any Guarantor in connection with the sale and securitization thereof; and
    (v)    Other Liens consented to in writing by the Administrative Agent.
“Permitted Refinancing” means any modification, refinancing, refunding, renewal or extension of any Indebtedness; provided that (a) the principal amount (or accreted value, if applicable) thereof does not exceed the principal amount (or accreted value, if applicable) of the Indebtedness so modified, refinanced, refunded, renewed or extended except by an amount equal to any interest capitalized in connection with, any premium or other reasonable amount paid, and fees and expenses reasonably incurred, in connection with such modification, refinancing, refunding, renewal or extension, (b) such modification, refinancing, refunding, renewal or extension has a final maturity date equal to or later than the final maturity date of, and has a weighted average life to maturity equal to or longer than the weighted average life to maturity of, the Indebtedness being modified, refinanced, refunded, renewed or extended, (c) if the Indebtedness being modified, refinanced, refunded, renewed or extended is subordinated in right of payment to the Obligations, such modification, refinancing, refunding, renewal or extension is subordinated in right of payment to the Obligations on terms that are not more favorable to the Persons providing such Indebtedness being modified, refinanced, refunded, renewed or extended pursuant to a written subordination agreement reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent, (d) at the time thereof, no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and (e) such modification, refinancing, refunding, renewal or extension is incurred and guaranteed only by the Persons who are the obligors on the Indebtedness being modified, refinanced, refunded, renewed or extended
“Permitted Tax Distribution Amount” means, (A) as of any date of determination, distributions made by the Company to its equity holders in order to permit such equity holders to pay federal, state and local income Taxes on the Company’s taxable income due and owing for any Fiscal Year beginning with the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2019, in an amount not to exceed [***]% of the cumulative taxable income of the Company beginning with the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2019 through such date of determination; provided, that the Company has provided the Administrative Agent with a detailed calculation of its taxable income together with supporting documentation reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, and (B) distributions to the BorrowersBorrower’s owner(s) to cover the U.S. federal, state and local Tax liabilities of such owner(s) for a taxable year attributable to the activities of the BorrowersBorrower and its Subsidiaries (if any).
“Permitted Third Party Sale” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Change of Control.
“Person” means and includes natural persons, corporations, limited partnerships, general partnerships, limited liability companies, limited liability partnerships, joint stock companies, joint ventures, associations, companies, trusts, banks, trust companies, land trusts, business
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trusts, statutory trusts, series trusts, or other organizations, whether or not legal entities, and Governmental Authorities.
“Plan” shall mean an “employee benefit plan” as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA that is covered by Title IV of ERISA.
“Principal Office” means, for the Administrative Agent, 115320 South LaSalleCanal Street, 18W, Chicago, Illinois 6060360606 (or such other location in the United States of America as the Administrative Agent may from time to time designate in writing to the Borrower and the Lenders).
“Purchase Agreement (OF IV Borrower)” means that certain receivables purchase agreement dated as of August 19, 2019, between the Company, as seller, and OF IV Borrower, as purchaser, as it may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof and with the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.
“Purchase Agreement (STF Borrower)” means that certain receivables purchase agreement, dated as of the Sixth Amendment Effective Date, by and between SalaryTap, as seller, and STF Borrower, as purchaser, as may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof and with the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.
“Purchase Agreements” means, collectively, the Purchase Agreement (OF IV Borrower) and Purchase Agreement (STF Borrower).
“Qualifying Subordinated Debt” means (i) Subordinated Debt issued by the Company pursuant to the Atalaya Subordinated Loan Agreement that is at all times subject to the Atalaya Subordination and Intercreditor Agreement; and (ii) until the sooner of the Fourth Amendment Effective Date Refinancing and the date that is not more than fifteen (15) days following the Fourth Amendment Effective Date, unsecured Subordinated Debt (which shall include principal amount outstanding and any accrued noncurrent pay interest) of the Company and, in each case, has, as of any date the same is to be determined, a maturity date not less than six (6) months after, and no principal amortization occurring prior to, the Final Maturity Date.
“Receivable” means (a) with respect to a Contract originated by the Originator and subsequently sold to a Borrower pursuant to the terms of the applicable Purchase Agreement, 100% of the right to receive payments from the related Obligor under such Contract and title thereto, and (b) with respect to a Contract originated by a Bank Partner Originator, 100% of the right to receive the Originator Percentage of payments from the related Obligor under such Contract acquired by a Bank Partner Subsidiary pursuant to the applicable Bank Partner Program Agreements and, in turn, sold by such Bank Partner Subsidiary to a Borrower pursuant to the terms of the applicable Bank Partner Sale Agreement and, following such time title to the related loan is transferred in accordance with Section 5.17, title thereto.
“Receivable File” as defined in the Servicing Agreement.
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“Receivable Repurchase Event” means (a) with respect to any Receivable, the failure of such Receivable to satisfy the applicable Eligibility Criteria as of the Credit Date on which such Receivable was first reflected in a Borrowing Base Certificate, or (b) any required repurchase of a Receivable pursuant to Section 3.2 of the applicable Purchase Agreement or the relevant Bank Partner Sale Agreement, as applicable.
“Receivable Repurchase Price” means, with respect to any Receivable and any date of determination, the Remaining Funded Amount of such Receivable, plus all accrued and unpaid interest on the Remaining Funded Amount of such Receivable at the applicable APR through the date on which such Receivable is repurchased.
“Recipient” means any Agent or Lender, as applicable.
“Register” as defined in Section 9.6(c).
“Regulatory Trigger Event” means (a) the commencement by any Governmental Authority of any formal inquiry or investigation (which for the avoidance of doubt excludes any routine inquiry or investigation), legal action or proceeding, against any Credit Party, any third party then engaged by the Servicer as a sub-servicer, the applicable Bank Partner Originator or the Originator, challenging such Person's authority to originate, hold, own, service, pledge or enforce any Receivable with respect to the residents of any jurisdiction, or otherwise alleging any noncompliance by any Credit Party, any third party then engaged by the Servicer as a sub-servicer, the applicable Bank Partner Originator or the Originator with such jurisdiction's applicable laws related to originating, holding, pledging, servicing or enforcing such Receivable or otherwise related to such Receivable, which inquiry, investigation, legal action or proceeding (i) is not released or terminated in a manner acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion within [***] calendar days of the earlier of any Credit Party’s knowledge or receipt of written notice thereof and (ii) could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, or (b) the issuance or entering of any stay, order, judgment, cease and desist order, injunction, temporary restraining order, or other judicial or non-judicial sanction, order or ruling against any Credit Party, any third party then engaged by the Servicer as a sub-servicer, the applicable Bank Partner Originator or the Originator related in any way to the originating, holding, pledging, servicing or enforcing of any Receivable or rendering athe Purchase Agreement or a Bank Partner Sale Agreement unenforceable in such jurisdiction, the effect of which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion; provided, that, in each case, upon the favorable resolution of such inquiry, investigation, action or proceeding (whether by judgment, withdrawal of such action or proceeding or settlement of such action or proceeding), as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion and confirmed by written notice from the Administrative Agent, such Regulatory Trigger Event for such jurisdiction shall cease to exist immediately upon such determination by the Administrative Agent. It is understood and agreed that the jurisdiction of a Regulatory Trigger Event is the entire United States if the applicable Governmental Authority is a federal authority.
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“Related Agreements” means, collectively, the Purchase AgreementsAgreement, the Bank Partner Sale Agreement(s), the Performance Guaranty, the Servicing Agreement and the Backup Servicing Agreement.
“Related Parties” means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s Affiliates and the partners, directors, officers, employees, agents, trustees, administrators, managers, advisors and representatives of such Person and of such Person’s Affiliates.
“Release Date” as defined in Section 3.3(a).
“Remaining Funded Amount” means, with respect to any Receivable and any date of determination, an amount equal to the product of (1) (a) the original UPB of such Receivable less all Origination Fees, closing fees, and any other amounts payable by the Obligor at origination minus (b) the product of (x) all principal payments made by the Obligor in respect of such Receivable as of such date of determination, and (y) (1) minus a fraction, the numerator of which is the aggregate amount of all Origination Fees, closing fees, and any other amounts payable by the Obligor at origination and the denominator of which is the original UPB of such Receivable at the time of origination and (2) the applicable Originator Percentage.
“Reporting Date” means the 15th and last day of each calendar month. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the first Reporting Date in respect of the STF Borrower and the Borrowing Base (STF Borrower) shall be February 15, 2022.
“Required Lenders” means, as of the date of determination thereof, Lenders whose outstanding Loans and unused Revolving Commitments constitute more than 66-2/3% of the sum of the total outstanding Loans and unused Revolving Commitments of the Lenders; provided that at any time there are less than three (3) Lenders under this Agreement, “Required Lenders” means all Lenders. To the extent provided in the last paragraph of Section 9.5(a), the outstanding Loans and unused Revolving Commitments of any Defaulting Lender shall be disregarded in determining Required Lenders at any time.
“Rescindable Amount” means, with respect to any payment that Administrative Agent makes to any Lender or other Secured Party as to which Administrative Agent determines (in its sole and absolute discretion) that any of the following applies: (1) Borrowers haveBorrower has not in fact made the corresponding payment to Administrative Agent; (2) Administrative Agent has made a payment in excess of the amount(s) received by it from BorrowersBorrower either individually or in the aggregate (whether or not then owed); or (3) Administrative Agent has for any reason otherwise erroneously made such payment.
“Reserves” means reserves against anythe Borrowing Base, in such amounts and with respect to such matters that have had a material adverse effect on the business of a Borrower, the Company or the Collateral, as the Administrative Agent, acting in a commercially reasonable manner, shall view as necessary or appropriate from time to time in order to protect the interests of the Secured Parties under the Credit Documents.
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“Revolving Commitment” means the commitment of the Lenders to make or otherwise fund any Loan during the Revolving Commitment Period. The amount of each Lender’s Revolving Commitment as of the SixthEighth Amendment Effective Date is set forth on Appendix A or in the applicable Assignment Agreement, subject to any suspension, adjustment or reduction pursuant to the terms and conditions hereof.
“Revolving Commitment Period” means the period from the Closing Date to but excluding the Termination Date.
“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Rating Services, Inc., a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services, LLC business, and any successor thereto.
“SalaryTap” means SalaryTap, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
“SalaryTap Entities” means, collectively, SalaryTap, STF Borrower and OppWin ST.
“Sanctioned Person” means, at any time, (a) any Person listed in any Sanctions-related list of designated Persons maintained by OFAC (including the OFAC SDN List), the United States Department of State, the United Nations Security Council, the European Union, any European Union member state, Her Majesty’s Treasury of the United Kingdom, or any other relevant sanctions authority, (b) any Person located, organized or resident in a Designated Jurisdiction or (c) any Person owned or controlled by any such Person or Persons described in clauses (a) or (b) above.
“Sanctions” means all economic or financial sanctions, sectoral sanctions, secondary sanctions or trade embargoes imposed, administered or enforced from time to time by (a) the United States government (including those administered by OFAC or the United States Department of State) or (b) the United Nations Security Council, the European Union, any European Union member state, Her Majesty’s Treasury of the United Kingdom, or any other relevant sanctions authority with jurisdiction over any Borrower or any Guarantor or any of its respective Subsidiaries or Affiliates.
“Scheduled Receivable Payment” means, for any Collection Period and for any Receivable, the amount indicated in the Contract relating to such Receivable as required to be paid by the Obligor in such Collection Period. If after the Closing Date, the Obligor’s obligation under such Receivable with respect to a Collection Period has been modified so as to differ from the amount specified in such Receivable as a result of (a) the order of a court in a proceeding relating to Debtor Relief Laws as to which the Obligor is a debtor, (b) the application of the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, or (c) modifications or extensions of the Receivable permitted by the Credit Documents, the Scheduled Receivable Payment with respect to such Collection Period shall refer to the Obligor’s payment obligation with respect to such Collection Period as so modified and such modification shall be reflected in the Loan Database pursuant to the terms of the Servicing Agreement.
“Scheduled Termination Date” means August 19, 2023.
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“Secured Obligations” means the Obligations and Bank Product Obligations, in each case whether now existing or hereafter arising, due or to become due, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, and howsoever evidenced, held or acquired (including interest, fees, costs, and charges which, but for the filing of a petition in bankruptcy with respect to any Borrower or any Guarantor, would have accrued on any Obligation, whether or not a claim is allowed against any Borrower or any Guarantor for such interest, fees, costs, or charges in the related bankruptcy proceeding).
“Secured Party” and “Secured Parties” shall have the same meaning herein as assigned thereto in the Security AgreementsAgreement.
“Securities” means any stock, shares, partnership interests, limited liability company interests, voting trust certificates, certificates of interest or participation in any profit-sharing agreement or arrangement, options, warrants, bonds, debentures, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness, secured or unsecured, convertible, subordinated or otherwise, or in general any instruments commonly known as “securities” or any certificates of interest, shares or participations in temporary or interim certificates for the purchase or acquisition of, or any right to subscribe to, purchase or acquire, any of the foregoing.
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended to the date hereof and from time to time hereafter, and any successor statute.
“Security Agreement” means the Security Agreement (OF IV Borrower) or the Security Agreement (STF Borrower), as the context may require; and “Security Agreements” means such agreements collectively.
“Security Agreement (OF IV Borrower)” means the Security Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2019, between OF IV Borrower and the Collateral Agent on behalf of the Secured Parties, as it may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.
“Security Agreement (STF Borrower)” means the Security Agreement, dated as of the Sixth Amendment Effective Date, between STF Borrower and the Collateral Agent on behalf of the Secured Parties, as it may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.
“Seller” means each of (a) the Company, in its capacity as seller under the Purchase Agreement (OP IV Borrower), (b) SalaryTap, in its capacity as seller under the Purchase Agreement (STF Borrower) and (cb) each Bank Partner Subsidiary, in its capacity as seller under the applicable Bank Partner Sale Agreement, as applicable.
“Servicer” means Opportunity Financial, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, in its capacity as Servicer hereunder.
“Servicer Default” as defined in the Servicing Agreement.
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“Servicing Agreement” means the Servicing Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2019, among the BorrowersBorrower, the Servicer, the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent, as it may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.
“Servicing Fee” as defined in the Servicing Agreement.
“Servicing Policy” as defined in the Servicing Agreement.
“Settlement Date” means (a) the fifteenth (15th) calendar day following the end of each calendar month, or if such day is not a Business Day, the immediately following Business Day, beginning in the month of September, 2019, and (b) the Final Maturity Date.
“Similar Laws” as defined in Section 4.25.
“Sixth Amendment” means that certain Amendment No. 6 to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of Sixth Amendment Effective Date, by and among the Credit Parties, the Lenders party thereto and the Administrative Agent.
“Sixth Amendment Closing Certificate” means a Sixth Amendment Closing Certificate of an Authorized Officer of each Credit Party substantially in the form of Exhibit J.
“Sixth Amendment Effective Date” has the meaning assigned thereto in the Sixth Amendment.
“SOFR” means a rate equal to the secured overnight financing rate as administered by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York) or a successor administrator of the secured overnight financing rate).
“SOFR Loan” means a Loan bearing interest based on Term SOFR, other than pursuant to clause (c) of the definition of “Base Rate.”
“Solvency Certificate” means a Solvency Certificate of an Authorized Officer of each Credit Party substantially in the form of Exhibit F.
“Solvent” means, with respect to any Person, that as of the date of determination, both (a)(i) the sum of such Person’s debt (including contingent liabilities) does not exceed the assets of such entity, at Fair Valuation, (ii) such Person’s capital is not unreasonably small in relation to its business, and (iii) such Person has not incurred and does not intend to incur, or believe (nor should it reasonably believe) that it will incur, debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as they become due (whether at maturity or otherwise), and (b) such Person is “solvent” within the meaning given that term and similar terms under applicable laws relating to fraudulent transfers and conveyances. For purposes of this definition, the amount of any contingent liability at any time shall be computed as the amount that, in light of all of the facts and circumstances existing at such time, represents the amount that can reasonably be expected to become an actual or
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matured liability (irrespective of whether such contingent liabilities meet the criteria for accrual under Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 5).
“SPAC Transaction” means the acquisition of the Company by FG New America Acquisition Corp. as contemplated by and in connection with the Business Combination Agreement.
“SPAC Warrant Liabilities” means any and all liabilities in respect of warrants issued by FG New America Acquisition Corp. prior to the closing of the SPAC Transaction.
“Specified Legal/Regulatory Change” means a legal or regulatory change, the effect of which is to materially and adversely impair the ability of any Credit Party or any Bank Partner Originator to originate, own, hold, pledge, service, collect or enforce the Receivables or similar receivables.
“Standard Securitization Undertakings” means, collectively, (a) customary arms-length servicing obligations (together with any related performance guarantees), (b) obligations (together with any related performance guarantees) to refund the purchase price, repurchase receivables, or grant purchase price credits for the breach of representations or warranties (unrelated to the collectability of the assets sold or the creditworthiness of the associated account debtors), and (c) representations, warranties, covenants, pledges and indemnities (together with any related performance guarantees) of a type that are reasonably customary in a receivable securitization transaction or are consented to in writing by the Administrative Agent. For the avoidance of doubt, the granting and perfection of liens in any applicable servicing account and servicing agreement in connection with a financing facility of a Financing Subsidiary shall constitute a Standard Securitization Undertaking.
“STF Borrower” is defined in the preamble heretomeans SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
“Subordinated Debt” means Indebtedness which is subordinated in right of payment to the prior payment of the Secured Obligations pursuant to subordination provisions approved in writing by the Administrative Agent and is otherwise pursuant to documentation that is, which is in an amount that is, and which contains interest rates, payment terms, maturities, amortization schedules, covenants, defaults, remedies and other material terms that are in form and substance, in each case satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.
“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, association, joint venture or other business entity of which more than 50% of the total voting power of shares of stock or other ownership interests entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of the Person or Persons (whether directors, managers, trustees or other Persons performing similar functions) having the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof; provided, in determining the percentage of ownership interests
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of any Person controlled by another Person, no ownership interest in the nature of a “qualifying share” of the former Person shall be deemed to be outstanding.
“Substitute Eligible Receivable” as defined in the applicable Purchase Agreement or the relevant Bank Partner Sale Agreement, as applicable.
“Successor Servicer” means the Backup Servicer or any other successor to the Servicer appointed pursuant to a Successor Servicing Agreement.
“Successor Servicing Agreement” means any successor servicing agreement entered into by the BorrowersBorrower, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Successor Servicer named therein, in form and substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent.
“Suspension Period” means the period commencing with the Eighth Amendment Effective Date and ending on the Availability Reinstatement Date.
“Taxes” means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings (including backup withholding), assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.
“Termination Date” means the earlier to occur of (a) the Scheduled Termination Date, (b) the occurrence of a Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger, and (c) the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default and the declaration of all outstanding Obligations to be due and payable pursuant to Section 7.1.
“Term SOFR” means, as of any day of determination, the Term SOFR Reference Rate for a one-month period on the day (such day, the “Term SOFR Determination Day”) that is two (2) U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to such day of determination, in each case as such rate is published by the Term SOFR Administrator; provided, however, that if as of 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on any Term SOFR Determination Day the Term SOFR Reference Rate for a one-month period has not been published by the Term SOFR Administrator and a Benchmark Replacement Date with respect to the Term SOFR Reference Rate has not occurred, then Term SOFR will be the Term SOFR Reference Rate for such tenor as published by the Term SOFR Administrator on the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which such Term SOFR Reference Rate for such tenor was published by the Term SOFR Administrator so long as such first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day is not more than three (3) U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to such Term SOFR Determination Day; provided, if Term SOFR determined as provided above shall ever be less than the Floor, then Term SOFR shall be deemed to be the Floor.
“Term SOFR Administrator” means CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited (CBA) (or a successor administrator of the Term SOFR Reference Rate selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion).
“Term SOFR Reference Rate” means the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR.
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“Third Amendment” means that certain Amendment No. 3 to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of May 5, 2020, by and among the Credit Parties, the Lenders party thereto and the Administrative Agent.
“Third Amendment Effective Date” means the date upon which the Third Amendment becomes effective pursuant to its terms.
“Third Party Sale” as defined in the definition of Change of Control.
“Tier 1 Collateral Performance Trigger” means:
(a)    with respect to OF IV Borrower, the Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (OF IV Borrower) is equal to or greater than 14.25% as of the last day of any calendar month, but the Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger has not occurred; and
(b)    with respect to STF Borrower, the Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (STF Borrower) is equal to or greater than 12.25% as of the last day of any calendar month, but the Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger has not occurred.
“Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger” means:
    (a)    with respect to OF IV Borrower, the Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (OF IV Borrower) is equal to or greater than 16.25% as of the last day of any calendar month; and
    (b)    with respect to STF Borrower, the Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (STF Borrower) is equal to or greater than 14.25% as of the last day of any calendar month.
“TILA” means the federal Truth in Lending Act.
“Total Adjusted Debt (Company)” means, at any time the same is to be determined, (a) total liabilities of the Company, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, minus (b) the principal amount of, and any accrued noncurrent pay interest on, Qualifying Subordinated Debt, in each case, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, minus (c) the aggregate amount of the SBA PPP Loan then outstanding, minus (d) the aggregate amount of SPAC Warrant Liabilities then outstanding, minus (e) the aggregate amount of lease liabilities then outstanding, minus (f) the aggregate tax receivable agreement balance then outstanding.
“UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code (or any similar or equivalent legislation) as in effect in any applicable jurisdiction.
“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement excluding the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.
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“Undrawn Amount” means, on any date of determination during the Revolving Commitment Period, the difference between the Maximum Committed Amount and the outstanding principal amount of the Loans as of such date of determination.
“Unused Line of Credit Fee” is defined in the Fee Letter.
“UPB” means, with respect to any Receivable, the unpaid principal balance of such Receivable owed by the related Obligor (inclusive of the Bank Partner Retained Percentage with respect to such Receivable).
“U.S. Person” means any Person that is a “United States Person” as defined in section 7701(a)(30) of the Internal Revenue Code.
“U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate” as defined in Section 2.14(e).
“Verified Documents” as defined in the Backup Servicing Agreement.
“Verified Receivables Report” as defined in the Backup Servicing Agreement.
“Write-Down and Conversion Powers” means, with respect to any EEA Resolution Authority, the write-down and conversion powers of such EEA Resolution Authority from time to time under the Bail-In Legislation for the applicable EEA Member Country, which write-down and conversion powers are described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule.
    Section 1.2.    Accounting Terms. All accounting terms not specifically or completely defined herein shall be construed in conformity with, and all financial data (including financial ratios and other financial calculations) required to be submitted pursuant to this Agreement shall be prepared in conformity with, GAAP applied on a consistent basis, as in effect from time to time, applied in a manner consistent with that used in preparing the Company’s audited financial statements, except as otherwise specifically prescribed herein. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein or in the definition of “Capital Leases,” in the event of an accounting change requiring all leases to be capitalized, only those leases (assuming for purposes hereof that such leases were in existence on the date hereof) that would constitute capital leases in conformity with GAAP on the date hereof shall be considered capital leases, and all calculations and deliverables under this Agreement or any other Credit Document shall be made or delivered, as applicable, in accordance therewith.
    Section 1.3.    Interpretation, etc. Any of the terms defined herein may, unless the context otherwise requires, be used in the singular or the plural, depending on the reference. References herein to any Section, Appendix, Schedule or Exhibit shall be to a Section, an Appendix, a Schedule or an Exhibit, as the case may be, hereof unless otherwise specifically provided. The use herein of the word “include” or “including,” when following any general statement, term or matter, shall not be construed to limit such statement, term or matter to the specific items or matters set forth immediately following such word or to similar items or matters, whether or not limiting language (such as “without limitation” or “but not limited to” or words of similar import) is used with reference thereto, but rather shall be deemed to refer to all other items or
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matters that fall within the broadest possible scope of such general statement, term or matter. The words “hereof,” “herein,” “hereunder” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. Unless the context requires otherwise or otherwise specified in any applicable Credit Document, (a) reference to any Person includes that Person’s successors and assignees, (b) any definition of or reference to any Credit Document, agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such amendments, supplements, or modifications set forth herein or therein), and (c) any reference to any law or regulation herein shall refer to such law or regulation as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time. All references to time of day herein are references to Chicago, Illinois, time unless otherwise specifically provided.
    Section 1.4.    Interest Rates. The Administrative Agent does not warrant or accept responsibility for, and shall not have any liability with respect to (a) the continuation of, administration of, submission of, calculation of or any other matter related to the Benchmark, any component definition thereof or rates referred to in the definition thereof, or any alternative, successor or replacement rate thereto (including any Benchmark Replacement), including whether the composition or characteristics of any such alternative, successor or replacement rate (including any Benchmark Replacement) will be similar to, or produce the same value or economic equivalence of, or have the same volume or liquidity as, the Benchmark or any other Benchmark prior to its discontinuance or unavailability, or (b) the effect, implementation or composition of any Conforming Changes. The Administrative Agent and its affiliates or other related entities may engage in transactions that affect the calculation of the Benchmark, any alternative, successor or replacement rate (including any Benchmark Replacement) and/or any relevant adjustments thereto, in each case, in a manner adverse to the BorrowersBorrower. The Administrative Agent may select information sources or services in its reasonable discretion to ascertain the Benchmark or any other Benchmark, in each case pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no liability to the BorrowersBorrower, any Lender or any other person or entity for damages of any kind, including direct or indirect, special, punitive, incidental or consequential damages, costs, losses or expenses (whether in tort, contract or otherwise and whether at law or in equity), for any error or calculation of any such rate (or component thereof) provided by any such information source or service.
Section 2.    Loans
    Section 2.1.    Loans.
    (a)    Revolving Loans. (i) During the Revolving Commitment Period, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, each Lender agrees from time to time to make loans to the BorrowersBorrower (each a “Loan” and collectively, the “Loans”) in an aggregate amount up to but not exceeding its Revolving Commitment.
    (ii)    During the Revolving Commitment Period, the remaining Revolving Commitment of the Lenders hereunder on any date shall be equal to (x) to the extent a Loan is requested by
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OF IV Borrower, the Commitment Availability (OF IV Borrower) and (y) to the extent a Loan is requested by STF Borrower, the Commitment Availability (STF Borrower).
    (iii)    The Revolving Commitment shall expire on the Termination Date and no new Loans shall be funded after such date.
    (iv)    Subject to Section 2.1(b) and satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 3.2, amounts borrowed pursuant to this Section 2.1(a) may be repaid and re-borrowed during the Revolving Commitment Period.
    (b)    Borrowing Mechanics for Loans. (i) Loans made on any Credit Date shall be in a minimum amount of $100,000.
    (ii)    Whenever a Borrower desires that the Lenders make Loans to such Borrower, such Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent a fully executed Funding Notice together with the applicable Borrowing Base Certificate no later than 11:00 a.m. (Chicago, Illinois time) on the proposed Credit Date. Each such Funding Notice shall be delivered reflecting sufficient Commitment Availability for the requested Loans.
    (iii)    The Lenders shall, upon satisfaction of the conditions precedent specified herein, make the amount of the Loans requested available to the applicable Borrower not later than 4:00 p.m. (Chicago, Illinois time) on the proposed Credit Date by wire transfer of same day funds in Dollars, to such account as may be designated in writing to the Administrative Agent by the applicable Borrower (herein, the “Designated Disbursement Account”).
    (iv)    Unless otherwise permitted by the Administrative Agent in its sole and absolute discretion, (x) no more than three (3) Loans shall be made per calendar week and (y) in no event will the BorrowersBorrower engage in Borrowing Base Actions on more than three (3) Business Days per calendar week.
    (v)    Notwithstanding the Lenders’ Revolving Commitments as of the Eighth Amendment Effective Date, the Borrower agrees it shall not request any Loans during the Suspension Period.
    Section 2.2.    Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the Loans shall be applied by the applicable Borrower to finance the acquisition of Receivables from the applicable Seller pursuant to the applicable Purchase Agreement or the relevant Bank Partner Sale Agreement, as applicable, and to pay reasonable ongoing transaction expenses of such Borrower, as approved by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion. No portion of the proceeds of any Credit Extension shall be used in any manner that causes such Credit Extension or the application of such proceeds to violate Regulation T or Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, Regulation B, Regulation X or Regulation Z of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau or any other regulation thereof or to violate the Exchange Act. No Borrower will request any Loan, and no Borrower shall use, and shall ensure that its Affiliates and its (or their) respective directors, officers, employees and agents shall not use, the proceeds of any Loan, directly or indirectly, (i) in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay, or
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authorization of the payment or giving of money, or anything else of value, to any Person in violation of any Anti-Corruption Laws, (ii) to fund, finance or facilitate any activities, business or transaction of or with any Sanctioned Person or in any Designated Jurisdiction, or (iii) in any other manner that would result in the violation of any Sanctions applicable to any party hereto.
    Section 2.3.    Evidence of Indebtedness.(a) Each Lender shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice an account or accounts evidencing the indebtedness of the BorrowersBorrower to such Lender resulting from each Loan made by such Lender from time to time, including the amounts of principal and interest payable and paid to such Lender from time to time hereunder.
    (b)    The Administrative Agent shall also maintain accounts in which it will record (i) the amount of each Loan made hereunder, (ii) the amount of any principal or interest due and payable or to become due and payable from the BorrowersBorrower to each Lender hereunder and (iii) the amount of any sum received by the Administrative Agent hereunder from the BorrowersBorrower and each Lender’s share thereof.
    (c)    The entries in the accounts maintained pursuant to subsections (a) and (b) above shall be prima facie evidence of the existence and amounts of the Obligations therein recorded; provided, however, that the failure of the Administrative Agent or any Lender to maintain such accounts or any error therein shall not in any manner affect the obligation of the BorrowersBorrower to repay the Obligations in accordance with their terms.
    (d)    Any Lender may request that its Loans be evidenced by a Note. In such event, the BorrowersBorrower shall prepare, execute and deliver to such Lender a Note payable to such Lender or its registered assigns in the amount of such Lender’s Revolving Commitment. Thereafter, the Loans evidenced by such Note or Notes and interest thereon shall at all times (including after any assignment pursuant to Section 9.6) be represented by one or more Notes payable to the order of the payee named therein or any assignee pursuant to Section 9.6, except to the extent that any such Lender or assignee subsequently returns any such Note for cancellation and requests that such Loans once again be evidenced as described in subsections (a) and (b) above.
    Section 2.4.    Interest on Loans. (a) Except as otherwise set forth herein, each Loan shall bear interest on the unpaid principal amount thereof from the date made through repayment (whether by acceleration or otherwise) at the Adjusted Term SOFR plus the Applicable Margin. In connection with the use or administration of Term SOFR, the Administrative Agent will have the right to make Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, any amendments implementing such Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document. The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the BorrowersBorrower and the Lenders of the effectiveness of any Conforming Changes in connection with the use or administration of Term SOFR.
    (b)    Interest payable pursuant to Section 2.4(a) shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year, in each case for the actual number of days elapsed in the period during which it accrues. In computing interest on any Loan, the related Credit Date applicable to such Loan
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shall be included, and the date of payment of such Loan shall be excluded; provided, that if a Loan is repaid on the same day on which it is made, one (1) day’s interest shall be paid on that Loan.
    (c)    Except as otherwise set forth herein, interest on each Loan shall be payable in arrears on (i) each Settlement Date, (ii) with respect to any prepayment, in whole or in part, of such Loan, the date of such prepayment in an amount equal to the interest accrued and unpaid on the amount so prepaid to the date of prepayment, and (iii) at maturity.
    Section 2.5.    Default Interest. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the principal amount of all Loans outstanding and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, any interest payments on the Loans or any fees or other amounts owed hereunder, shall thereafter bear interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code or other applicable Debtor Relief Laws) payable in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.10 at a rate that is 2.0% per annum in excess of the Interest Rate (the “Default Funding Rate”) otherwise payable hereunder with respect to the Loans until no Event of Default is then continuing. Payment or acceptance of the increased rates of interest provided for in this Section 2.5 is not a permitted alternative to timely payment and shall not constitute a waiver of any Event of Default or otherwise prejudice or limit any rights or remedies of the Administrative Agent or the Lenders.
    Section 2.6.    Commitment Terminations. The BorrowersBorrower shall have the right at any time and from time to time, upon five (5) Business Days’ prior written notice to the Administrative Agent (or such shorter period of time agreed to by the Administrative Agent), to terminate the Revolving Commitments without premium or penalty and in whole or in part, any partial termination to be (i) in an amount not less than $5,000,0001,000,000, and (ii) allocated ratably among the Lenders in proportion to their respective pro rata shares of the Revolving Commitments, provided that (a) the Revolving Commitments may not be reduced below $12,500,0005,000,000 unless terminated in whole and (b) the Revolving Commitments may not be reduced to an amount less than the sum of the aggregate principal amount of Loans then outstanding. Any termination of the Revolving Commitments in whole pursuant to this Section shall be accompanied by the Early Termination Fee (if any) then due. The Administrative Agent shall give prompt notice to each Lender of any such termination of the Revolving Commitments.
    Section 2.7.    Voluntary Prepayments. The BorrowersBorrower may prepay the Loans in whole or in part upon prior written notice delivered by the BorrowersBorrower to the Administrative Agent no later than 2:00 p.m. (Chicago, Illinois time) on the date of prepayment (or, in any case, such shorter period of time then agreed to by the Administrative Agent), such prepayment to be made by the payment of the principal amount to be prepaid and, if required by the Administrative Agent, accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for prepayment.
    Section 2.8.    Receivable Repurchase Events. (a) Upon the occurrence of a Receivable Repurchase Event following the Termination Date, with respect to any Receivable, the applicable Seller shall (x) repurchase each affected Receivable pursuant to the terms of the applicable Purchase Agreement or the relevant Bank Partner Sale Agreement, as applicable, at a price equal to the Receivable Repurchase Price and (y) deposit the Receivable Repurchase Price
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for each affected Receivable directly into the applicable Collection Account upon repurchase thereof. All amounts deposited into athe Collection Account pursuant to this Section 2.8(a) shall be applied as Collections on the related Settlement Date pursuant to Section 2.10.
    (b)    Upon the occurrence of a Receivable Repurchase Event during the Revolving Commitment Period, the applicable Seller shall substitute each affected Receivable with a Substitute Eligible Receivable pursuant to the terms of the applicable Purchase Agreement or the relevant Bank Partner Sale Agreement, as applicable. In the event the applicable Seller is unable to originate (or, in the case of a Bank Partner Subsidiary, acquire pursuant to the applicable Bank Partner Program Agreements) sufficient Receivables to effect such substitution of affected Receivables, such Seller may, with the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent (x) repurchase each affected Receivable pursuant to the terms of the applicable Purchase Agreement or the relevant Bank Partner Sale Agreement, as applicable, at a price equal to the Receivable Repurchase Price and (y) deposit the Receivable Repurchase Price for each affected Receivable directly into the applicable Collection Account to be applied as Collections on the related Settlement Date pursuant to Section 2.10 or released to the applicable Borrower pursuant to Section 5.13 in order to purchase Eligible Receivables at a later date.
    (c)    In connection with a Receivables Repurchase Event arising under or in connection with a Bank Partner Sale Agreement, in the event that the applicable Bank Partner Subsidiary is unable, or otherwise fails, to repurchase or substitute a Substitute Eligible Receivable for an affected Receivable as required pursuant to clauses (a) or (b) above, the Company shall repurchase, or substitute a Substitute Eligible Receivable for, such affected Receivable in accordance with the terms of the Performance Guaranty.
    Section 2.9.    Controlled Accounts. (a) On or prior to the SixthEighth Amendment Effective Date, each Borrower shall causehas caused to be established and maintained, a deposit account at the applicable Collection Account Bank, in the name of such Borrower, designated as the Collection Account for such Borrower, as to which the Collateral Agent has control for the benefit of the Secured Parties within the meaning of Section 9-104(a)(2) of the UCC pursuant to the applicable Collection Account Control Agreement. EachThe Collection Account Control Agreement shall provide that all available funds on deposit in the applicable Collection Account will be remitted to the applicable Disbursement Account on each Business Day.
    (b)    On or prior to the SixthEighth Amendment Effective Date, each Borrower shall causehas caused to be established and maintained, a deposit account at the applicable Disbursement Account Bank, in the name of such Borrower, designated as the Disbursement Account for such Borrower, as to which the Collateral Agent has control for the benefit of the Secured Parties within the meaning of Section 9-104(a)(2) of the UCC pursuant to the applicable Disbursement Account Control Agreement.
    (c)    All income from amounts on deposit in eachthe Collection Account shall be retained in suchthe Collection Account, until the date on which the funds in suchthe Collection Account are swept to the applicable Disbursement Account in accordance with the applicable Collection Account Control Agreement. All income from amounts on deposit in eachthe Disbursement Account shall be retained in suchthe Disbursement Account, until the next Settlement Date, at
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which time such income shall be applied, at the direction of the Collateral Agent in accordance with Section 2.10. Each Borrower shall treat all income from amounts on deposit in itsthe Disbursement Account as its income for federal, state and local income tax purposes.
    (d)    Notwithstanding anything to the foregoing, subject to the Facility Availability and to the conditions set forth in Section 2.10(c) and Section 3.3, each Borrower, in accordance with Section 5.13, may use amounts on deposit in such Borrower’sthe Disbursement Account to purchase additional Receivables.
    Section 2.10.    Application of Collections. (a) Prior to each Settlement Date, the Administrative Agent shall confirm the accuracy of the Monthly Servicing Report and, during the Revolving Commitment Period, so long as no Event of Default is continuing and no Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger has occurred, the Collateral Agent shall instruct the applicable Disbursement Account Bank, based on the Monthly Servicing Report as confirmed by the Administrative Agent, in writing, by 1:00 p.m. (Chicago, Illinois time) on each Settlement Date to apply all Collections in the applicable Disbursement Account with respect to the related Collection Period on each Settlement Date (after giving effect to any withdrawals in accordance with Section 2.10(c)) as follows:
    (i)    First, to the Servicer, any accrued and unpaid Servicing Fees or reimbursable expenses due under the Servicing Agreement;
    (ii)    Second, on a pari passu basis, (A) to the Collection Account Bank, the Collection Account Bank Fees, reimbursable expenses and indemnification amounts of the applicable Collection Account Bank accrued and unpaid as of the last day of the related Collection Period, (B) to the applicable Disbursement Account Bank, the Disbursement Account Bank Fees, reimbursable expenses and indemnification amounts of the applicable Disbursement Account Bank accrued and unpaid as of the last day of the related Collection Period, (C) to the Backup Servicer, the Backup Servicing Fees, reimbursable expenses (including, without limitation, any transition costs) and indemnification amounts of the Backup Servicer accrued and unpaid as of the last day of the related Collection Period and (D) to the Administrative Agent, to pay any other accrued but unpaid fees and expenses and indemnification amounts of the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent in connection with this Agreement and any other Credit Document (including without limitation any Administrative Agent Fees);
    (iii)    Third, to each Lender, to pay any accrued but unpaid interest, fees and expenses of such Lender in connection with this Agreement and any other Credit Document (including without limitation any Unused Line of Credit Fees);
    (iv)    Fourth, to the Lenders, pro rata, any amounts necessary to reduce the Borrowing Base Deficiency, if any, to zero; and
    (v)    Fifth, to the applicable Borrower, for its own account, any remaining amount.
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    (b)    Prior to each Settlement Date, the Administrative Agent shall confirm the accuracy of the Monthly Servicing Report and, on each Settlement Date during the Amortization Period or during the continuance of an Event of Default or after the occurrence of the Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger, the Collateral Agent shall instruct the applicable Disbursement Account Bank, based on the Monthly Servicing Report as confirmed by the Administrative Agent, in writing, by 1:00 p.m. (Chicago, Illinois time) on each Settlement Date to apply all Collections in the applicable Disbursement Account with respect to the related Collection Period on each Settlement Date as follows:
    (i)    First, to the Servicer, any accrued and unpaid Servicing Fees or reimbursable expenses due under the Servicing Agreement;
    (ii)    Second, on a pari passu basis, (A) to the applicable Collection Account Bank, the Collection Account Bank Fees, reimbursable expenses and indemnification amounts of the applicable Collection Account Bank accrued and unpaid as of the last day of the related Collection Period, (B) to the applicable Disbursement Account Bank, the Disbursement Account Bank Fees, reimbursable expenses and indemnification amounts of the applicable Disbursement Account Bank accrued and unpaid as of the last day of the related Collection Period, (C) to the Backup Servicer, the Backup Servicing Fees, reimbursable expenses (including, without limitation, any transition costs) and indemnification amounts of the Backup Servicer accrued and unpaid as of the last day of the related Collection Period and (D) to the Administrative Agent, to pay any other accrued but unpaid fees and expenses and indemnification amounts of the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent in connection with this Agreement and any other Credit Document (including without limitation any Administrative Agent Fees);
    (iii)    Third, to each Lender, to pay any accrued but unpaid interest, fees and expenses of such Lender in connection with this Agreement and any other Credit Document (including without limitation any Unused Line of Credit Fees);
    (iv)    Fourth, to the Lenders, pro rata, any amounts necessary to reduce the Borrowing Base Deficiency, if any, to zero;
    (v)    Fifth, to the Lenders, pro rata, all remaining amounts until the outstanding principal amount of the Loans and Obligations has been reduced to zero; and
    (vi)    Sixth, to the applicable Borrower, for its own account, any remaining amount.
    (c)    In addition, during the Revolving Commitment Period, so long as (x) the Facility Availability is greater than zero and (y) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and no Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger has occurred, the Collateral Agent may, at any time, instruct the applicable Disbursement Account Bank to release available funds to the applicable Borrower in an amount up to the Facility Availability to be used by such Borrower to purchase additional Eligible Receivables in accordance with Section 5.13 and subject to the conditions set forth in Section 3.3.
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    (d)    Not more frequently than once per week, the Collateral Agent shall direct the applicable Disbursement Account Bank to release from the applicable Disbursement Account any amounts owed to a Bank Partner Originator in respect of any Bank Partner Retained Percentages, if the Servicer has delivered to the Collateral Agent a certificate setting forth the calculation of such amounts owed to such Bank Partner Originator in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent, which certificate shall include reasonable detail regarding the calculation of the amounts owed to the Bank Partner Originator, including the applicable Bank Partner Retained Percentage, and designate a date for the payment of such reimbursement, which date shall not be earlier than two (2) Business Days following delivery of such certificate. Each of the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Lenders shall not enforce any security interest in or Lien on, and acknowledge the applicable Bank Partner Originator’s interest in, the portion of funds then on deposit in the applicable Disbursement Account or Collection Account that are identified as payments made with respect to Receivables originated by a Bank Partner Originator that are payable to such Bank Partner Originator in respect of its Bank Partner Retained Percentage thereof.
    (e)    The Collateral Agent shall have no liability for any delay by anythe Disbursement Account Bank in transferring funds as directed by the Collateral Agent in accordance with this Section 2.10.
    Section 2.11.    General Provisions Regarding Payments. All payments by the BorrowersBorrower of principal, interest, fees and other Obligations shall be made in Dollars in immediately available funds, without defense, recoupment, setoff or counterclaim, free of any restriction or condition, and delivered to the account of the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or a Lender, as applicable, not later than 3:00 p.m. (Chicago, Illinois time) on the date due via wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account designated by each Agent or each Lender, as applicable, in writing to the applicable Disbursement Account Bank. Funds received by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or a Lender after that time on such due date shall be deemed to have been paid by the BorrowersBorrower on the next Business Day (except to the extent such delay in payment results solely from the applicable Disbursement Account Bank’s failure to distribute funds on deposit in the applicable Disbursement Account and available for distribution as of 3:00 p.m. on such Business Day in accordance with Section 2.10).
    (a)    All payments in respect of the principal amount of any Loan shall be accompanied by payment of accrued interest on the principal amount being repaid or prepaid.
    (b)    All payments of principal shall be applied to the Loans pro rata in reduction of the outstanding principal amount thereof.
    (c)    Whenever any payment to be made hereunder shall be stated to be due on a day that is not a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day and such extension of time shall be included in the computation of the payment of interest hereunder.
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    (d)    Each Borrower hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to charge such Borrower’s accounts with the Administrative Agent or any of the Administrative Agent’s Affiliates in order to cause timely payment to be made to the Administrative Agent of all principal, interest, fees and expenses due hereunder (subject to sufficient funds being available in its accounts for that purpose).
    (e)    The Administrative Agent shall give prompt telephonic notice to the BorrowersBorrower and the Lenders (confirmed in writing) if any payment is not made in conformity with this Section 2.11. Interest shall continue to accrue on any principal as to which a non-conforming payment is made until such funds become available funds (but in no event less than the period from the date of such payment to the next succeeding applicable Business Day) at the Interest Rate or the Default Funding Rate, as applicable, from the date such amount was due and payable until the date such amount is paid in full.
    Section 2.12.    Effect of Benchmark Transition Event. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document:
    (a)    Benchmark Replacement. If a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred prior any setting of the then-current Benchmark, then (x) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (1) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement” for such Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in respect of such Benchmark setting and subsequent Benchmark settings without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document and (y) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (2) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement” for such Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in respect of any Benchmark setting at or after 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the fifth (5th) Business Day after the date notice of such Benchmark Replacement is provided to the Lenders without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document so long as the Administrative Agent has not received, by such time, written notice of objection to such Benchmark Replacement from Lenders comprising the Required Lenders.
    (b)    Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes. In connection with the use, administration, adoption or implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Administrative Agent will have the right to make Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, any amendments implementing such Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document.
    (c)    Notice; Standards for Decisions and Determinations. The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the BorrowersBorrower and the Lenders of (i) the implementation of any Benchmark Replacement and (ii) the effectiveness of any Conforming Changes in connection with the use, administration, adoption or implementation of a Benchmark Replacement. The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the BorrowersBorrower of the removal or
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reinstatement of any tenor of a Benchmark pursuant to Section 2.12. Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Administrative Agent or, if applicable, any Lender (or group of Lenders) pursuant to this Section 2.12, including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error and may be made in its or their sole discretion and without consent from any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, except, in each case, as expressly required pursuant to this Section 2.12.
    (d)    Unavailability of Tenor of Benchmark. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, at any time (including in connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement), (i) if the then-current Benchmark is a term rate (including the Term SOFR Reference Rate) and either (A) any tenor for such Benchmark is not displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion or (B) the administration of such Benchmark or the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark has provided a public statement or publication of information announcing that any tenor for such Benchmark is not or will not be representative or in compliance with or aligned with the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) Principles for Financial Benchmarks, then the Administrative Agent may modify the definition of “Interest Accrual Period” (or any similar or analogous definition) for any Benchmark settings at or after such time to remove such unavailable, non-representative, non-compliant or non-aligned tenor and (ii) if a tenor that was removed pursuant to clause (i) above either (A) is subsequently displayed on a screen or information service for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement) or (B) is not or will not be representative or in compliance with or aligned with the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) Principles for Financial Benchmarks for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement), then the Administrative Agent may modify the definition of “Interest Accrual Period” (or any similar or analogous definition) for all Benchmark settings at or after such time to reinstate such previously removed tenor.
    (e)    Benchmark Unavailability Period. Upon the BorrowersBorrower’s receipt of notice of the commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability Period, the BorrowersBorrower may revoke any pending request for a SOFR Borrowing and any Loans then outstanding or thereafter requested shall be deemed to bear interest at the greater of the Base Rate as from time to time in effect and the Floor. During a Benchmark Unavailability Period or at any time that a tenor for the then-current Benchmark is not an Available Tenor, the component of Base Rate based upon the then-current Benchmark or such tenor for such Benchmark, as applicable, will not be used in any determination of Base Rate.
    Section 2.13.    Increased Costs; Capital Adequacy.
    (a)    Compensation For Increased Costs. Subject to the provisions of Section 2.14 (which shall be controlling with respect to the matters covered thereby), in the event that any Lender shall have reasonably determined in good faith (which determination shall, absent manifest error, be final and conclusive and binding upon all parties hereto) that any law, treaty or governmental rule, regulation or order, or any change therein or in the interpretation,
-59-


administration or application thereof (including the introduction of any new law, treaty or governmental rule, regulation or order), or any determination of a court or governmental authority, in each case that becomes effective after the date hereof, or compliance by such Lender with any guideline, request or directive issued or made after the date hereof by any central bank or other governmental or quasi-governmental authority (whether or not having the force of law): (i) subjects such Lender (or its applicable lending office) to any additional Tax (other than any Indemnified Tax, Excluded Tax or Other Tax) with respect to this Agreement or any of the other Credit Documents or any of its obligations hereunder or thereunder or any payments to such Lender (or its applicable lending office) of principal, interest, fees or any other amount payable hereunder, (ii) imposes, modifies or holds applicable any reserve (including any marginal, emergency, supplemental, special or other reserve), special deposit, compulsory loan, FDIC insurance or similar requirement against assets held by, or deposits or other liabilities in or for the account of, or advances or loans by, or other credit extended by, or any other acquisition of funds by, any office of such Lender (other than any such reserve or other requirements set forth in the definition of Term SOFR), or (iii) imposes any other condition (other than with respect to a Tax matter) on or affecting such Lender (or its applicable lending office) or its obligations hereunder or the London interbank market; and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to such Lender of agreeing to make, making or maintaining the Loans hereunder or to reduce any amount received or receivable by such Lender (or its applicable lending office) with respect thereto; then, in any such case, the BorrowersBorrower shall pay to such Lender within ten (10) Business Days of receipt of the statement referred to in the next sentence, such additional amount or amounts (in the form of an increased rate of, or a different method of calculating, interest or otherwise as such Lender in its sole discretion shall determine) as may be necessary to compensate such Lender for any such increased cost or reduction in amounts received or receivable hereunder; provided that the BorrowersBorrower shall not be required to compensate a Lender pursuant to this Section for any increased costs or reductions incurred more than 180 days prior to the date that such Lender notifies the BorrowersBorrower of the change in law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of such Lender’s intention to claim compensation therefor; provided further that, if the change in law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the 180-day period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof. Such Lender shall deliver to the BorrowersBorrower (with a copy to the Administrative Agent) a written statement, setting forth in reasonable detail the basis for calculating the additional amounts owed to such Lender under this Section 2.13(a), which statement shall be conclusive and binding upon all parties hereto absent manifest error.
    (b)    Capital Adequacy Adjustment. In the event that any Lender shall have determined that the adoption, effectiveness, phase-in or applicability after the Closing Date of any law, rule or regulation (or any provision thereof) regarding capital adequacy or liquidity requirements, or any change therein or in the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by such Lender (or its applicable lending office) with any guideline, request or directive regarding capital adequacy or liquidity (whether or not having the force of law) of any such Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency, has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on the capital of such Lender or any corporation controlling such Lender as a consequence of, or with reference to, such Lender’s Loans or
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Revolving Commitments or participations therein or other obligations hereunder with respect to the Loans to a level below that which such Lender or such controlling corporation could have achieved but for such adoption, effectiveness, phase-in, applicability, change or compliance (taking into consideration the policies of such Lender or such controlling corporation with regard to capital adequacy), then from time to time, within ten (10) Business Days after receipt by the BorrowersBorrower from such Lender of the statement referred to in the next sentence, the BorrowersBorrower shall pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or such controlling corporation on an after-tax basis for such reduction; provided that the BorrowersBorrower shall not be required to compensate a Lender pursuant to this Section for any increased costs or reductions incurred more than 180 days prior to the date that such Lender notifies the BorrowersBorrower of the change in law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of such Lender’s intention to claim compensation therefor; provided further that, if the change in law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the 180-day period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof. Such Lender shall deliver to the BorrowersBorrower (with a copy to the Administrative Agent) a written statement, setting forth in reasonable detail the basis for calculating the additional amounts owed to such Lender under this Section 2.13(b), which statement shall be conclusive and binding upon all parties hereto absent manifest error.
    Section 2.14.    Taxes; Withholding; Payments Free of Taxes.
    (a)    Payments Without Deduction or Withholding. Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of a Credit Party under any Credit Document shall be made free and clear of and without deduction or withholding for any Taxes; provided that if any applicable law requires the deduction or withholding of any Tax from any such payment, then such Credit Party shall make such deduction or withholding and timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law and, if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax, then the sum payable by the applicable Credit Party shall be increased as necessary so that after making all such deductions (including such deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 2.14) the Administrative Agent or a Lender receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made.
    (b)    Payment of Other Taxes. Each applicable Credit Party shall timely pay to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law, or at the option of the Administrative Agent timely reimburse it for the payment of, any Other Taxes of such Credit Party.
    (c)    Indemnification. Each Credit Party shall indemnify the Administrative Agent and any Lender pursuant to this Section 2.14 within ten (10) days after demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes (including Indemnified Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Section 2.14) payable or paid by the Administrative Agent or such Lender and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to the BorrowersBorrower by a Lender (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), or by the Administrative Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.
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    (d)    Evidence of Payments. As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by any Credit Party to a Governmental Authority pursuant to this Section 2.14, such Credit Party shall deliver to the Administrative Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.
    (e)    Status of Lenders. (i) If a Lender is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding Tax with respect to payments made under any Credit Document, such Lender shall deliver to the BorrowersBorrower and the Administrative Agent, at the time or times reasonably requested by the BorrowersBorrower or the Administrative Agent, such properly completed and executed documentation reasonably requested by the BorrowersBorrower or the Administrative Agent as will permit such payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate of withholding. In addition, a Lender, if requested by the BorrowersBorrower or the Administrative Agent, shall deliver such other documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the BorrowersBorrower or the Administrative Agent as will enable the BorrowersBorrower or the Administrative Agent to determine whether or not such Lender is subject to backup withholding or information reporting requirements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the preceding two sentences, the completion, execution and submission of such documentation (other than such documentation set forth in Sections 2.14(e)(ii)(A), 2.14(e)(ii)(B)(I) through (V) and 2.14(e)(ii)(C) below) shall not be required if in the Lender’s judgment such completion, execution or submission would subject such Lender to any material unreimbursed cost or expense or would materially prejudice the legal or commercial position of such Lender.
    (ii)    Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
    (A)    any Lender that is a U.S. Person shall deliver to the BorrowersBorrower and the Administrative Agent on or prior to the date on which such Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the request of the BorrowersBorrower or the Administrative Agent), executed originals of IRS Form W-9 certifying that such Lender is not subject to U.S. federal backup withholding tax; and
    (B)    any Non-U.S. Lender shall deliver to the BorrowersBorrower and the Administrative Agent (in such number of copies as shall be requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Non-U.S. Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so, from time to time thereafter upon the request of the BorrowersBorrower or the Administrative Agent), whichever of the following is applicable:
    (I)    in the case of a Non-U.S. Lender claiming the benefits of an income tax treaty to which the United States is a party (x) with respect to payments of interest under any Credit Document, executed originals of IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E establishing an exemption from, or reduction of, U.S. federal withholding Tax pursuant to the “interest” article of such tax treaty and (y) with respect to any other applicable payments under any Credit Document, IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E establishing an
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exemption from, or reduction of, U.S. federal withholding Tax pursuant to the “business profits” or “other income” article of such tax treaty;
    (II)    executed originals of IRS Form W-8ECI;
    (III)    in the case of a Non-U.S. Lender claiming the benefits of the exemption for portfolio interest under Section 881(c) of the Internal Revenue Code, (x) a certificate to the effect that (A) such Non-U.S. Lender is not a “bank” within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code, a “10 percent shareholder” of the BorrowersBorrower within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(B) of the Internal Revenue Code, or a “controlled foreign corporation” described in Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Internal Revenue Code and (B) the interest payments in question are not effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business conducted by such Non-U.S. Lender (a “U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate”) and (y) executed originals of IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E;
    (IV)    to the extent a Non-U.S. Lender is not the beneficial owner, executed originals of IRS Form W-8IMY, accompanied by IRS Form W-8ECI, IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E, U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate, IRS Form W-9, and/or other certification documents from each beneficial owner, as applicable; provided that if the Non-U.S. Lender is a partnership (and not a participating Lender) and one or more beneficial owners of such Non-U.S. Lender are claiming the portfolio interest exemption, such Non-U.S. Lender may provide a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate on behalf of each such beneficial owner;
    (V)    executed originals of IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E; and
    (VI)    to the extent legally entitled to do so, executed originals of any other form prescribed by applicable law as a basis for claiming exemption from or a reduction in U.S. federal withholding Tax, duly completed, together with such supplementary documentation as may be prescribed by applicable law to permit the BorrowersBorrower or the Administrative Agent to determine the withholding or deduction required to be made.
    (C)    If a payment made to a Lender under any Credit Document would be subject to U.S. federal withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Internal Revenue Code, as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to the BorrowersBorrower and the Administrative Agent at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably requested by the BorrowersBorrower or the Administrative Agent such documentation prescribed by applicable law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Internal Revenue Code) and such additional documentation reasonably requested by the BorrowersBorrower or the Administrative Agent as may be necessary for the
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BorrowersBorrower and the Administrative Agent to comply with their obligations under FATCA and to determine that such Lender has complied with such Lender’s obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment. Solely for purposes of this clause (C), “FATCA” shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement.
Each Lender agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shall update such form or certification or promptly notify the BorrowersBorrower and the Administrative Agent in writing of its legal inability to do so.
    (f)    Treatment of Certain Refunds. If any party determines, in its sole discretion exercised in good faith, that it has received a refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified pursuant to this Section 2.14 (including additional amounts pursuant to this Section 2.14), it shall pay to the indemnifying party an amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made under this Section 2.14 with respect to the Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses (including Taxes) of such indemnified party and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund). Such indemnifying party, upon the request of such indemnified party, shall repay to such indemnified party the amount paid over pursuant to this Section 2.14(f) (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental Authority) in the event that such indemnified party is required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 2.14(f), in no event will the indemnified party be required to pay any amount to an indemnifying party pursuant to this Section 2.14(f) the payment of which would place the indemnified party in a less favorable net after-Tax position than the indemnified party would have been in if the indemnification payments or additional amounts giving rise to such refund had never been paid. This paragraph shall not be construed to require any indemnified party to make available its tax returns (or any other information relating to its Taxes that it deems confidential) to the indemnifying party or any other Person.
    (g)    Survival. Each party’s obligations under this Section 2.14 shall survive any assignment of rights by, or the replacement of, a Lender, the termination of the Facility and the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all obligations under any Credit Document.
    Section 2.15.    Obligation to Mitigate. (a) Each Lender agrees that, as promptly as practicable after an officer of such Lender responsible for administering its Loans becomes aware of the occurrence of an event or the existence of a condition that would entitle such Lender to receive payments under Sections 2.13 or 2.14, it will, to the extent not inconsistent with the internal policies of such Lender and any applicable legal or regulatory restrictions, use commercially reasonable efforts to (a) make, issue, fund or maintain its Credit Extensions through a Lender Affiliate, or (b) take such other measures as such Lender may, in its sole discretion, deem appropriate if, as a result thereof, the circumstances which would cause such Lender to be an Affected Lender would cease to exist or the additional amounts which would otherwise be required to be paid to such Lender pursuant to Sections 2.13 or 2.14 would be materially reduced and if, as determined by such Lender in its sole discretion, the making,
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issuing, funding or maintaining of its Revolving Commitments or Loans through such Lender Affiliate, or in accordance with such other measures, as the case may be, would not otherwise adversely affect its Revolving Commitments or Loans or the interests of the BorrowersBorrower or such Lender; provided, such Lender will not be obligated to utilize a Lender Affiliate, pursuant to this Section 2.15 unless the BorrowersBorrower agree to pay all reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket incremental expenses incurred by such Lender as a result of utilizing such Lender Affiliate as described above. A certificate as to the amount of any such expenses payable by the BorrowersBorrower pursuant to this Section 2.15 (setting forth in reasonable detail the basis for requesting such amount) submitted by such Lender to the BorrowersBorrower (with a copy to the Administrative Agent) shall be conclusive absent manifest error.
    (b)    If the Administrative Agent or any Lender determines, in its sole discretion, that it has received a refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified by the BorrowersBorrower or with respect to which the BorrowersBorrower have paid additional amounts pursuant to Section 2.14, it shall pay to the BorrowersBorrower an amount equal to such refund, as determined by the Administrative Agent or such Lender in its sole discretion exercised in good faith (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made, or additional amounts paid, by the BorrowersBorrower under Section 2.14 with respect to the Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund); provided that the BorrowersBorrower, upon the request of the Administrative Agent or a Lender, agree to repay the amount paid over to the BorrowersBorrower (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental Authority) to the Administrative Agent or such Lender in the event the Administrative Agent or such Lender is required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. This subsection shall not be construed to require the Administrative Agent or each Lender to make available its tax returns (or any other information relating to its taxes that it deems confidential) to the BorrowersBorrower or any other Person.
    Section 2.16.    Determination of Borrowing Base. EachThe Borrowing Base, at any time of determination, shall be determined by reference to the most recent applicable Borrowing Base Certificate and Monthly Servicing Report delivered to the Administrative Agent.
    Section 2.17.    Cure of Borrowing Base Deficiency. With respect to any Borrowing Base Deficiency resulting solely from a reduction of the applicable Advance Rate, the applicable Borrower shall, within thirty (30) days of the date on which such Advance Rate was reduced, pledge additional Eligible Receivables to the Collateral Agent and/or prepay the Loans in an aggregate amount up to the amount necessary to cure such Borrowing Base Deficiency. With respect to any Borrowing Base Deficiency not resulting solely from a reduction of the applicable Advance Rate, the applicable Borrower shall, within two (2) Business Days, pledge additional Eligible Receivables to the Collateral Agent and/or prepay the Loans in an aggregate amount up to the amount necessary to cure such Borrowing Base Deficiency. In connection with any prepayment of the Loans made in order to cure a Borrowing Base Deficiency, the Company may make a corresponding capital contribution to the applicable Borrower by depositing an amount equal to such Borrowing Base Deficiency into such Borrower’s Disbursement Account (or, if
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then required by the Collateral Agent, to such Borrower’s Collection Account) for distribution in accordance with Section 2.10 hereof.
    Section 2.18.    Increases. The BorrowersBorrower may, on any Business Day after the Availability Reinstatement Date that is not less than ninety (90) days or more prior to the Termination Date, with the written consent of the Administrative Agent, increase the aggregate amount of the Revolving Commitments by delivering an Increase Request substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit H (or in such other form acceptable to the Administrative Agent) to the Administrative Agent at least five (5) Business Days prior to the desired effective date of such increase (the “Revolver Increase”) identifying an additional Lender (or additional Revolving Commitment for an existing Lender) and the amount of its Revolving Commitment (or additional amount of its Revolving Commitment); provided, however, that:
    (a)    the aggregate amount of all such Revolver Increases shall not exceed $30,000,00020,000,000 and any such Revolver Increase shall be in an amount not less than $5,000,000 (or such lesser amount then agreed to by the Administrative Agent);
    (b)    no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing at the time of the request or the effective date of the Revolver Increase; and
    (c)    each of the representations and warranties set forth in Section 4 and in the other Credit Documents shall be and remain true and correct in all material respects on the effective date of such Revolver Increase (where not already qualified by materiality, otherwise in all respects), except to the extent the same expressly relate to an earlier date, in which case they shall be true and correct in all material respects (where not already qualified by materiality, otherwise in all respects) as of such earlier date.
The effective date of the Revolver Increase shall be agreed upon by the BorrowersBorrower and the Administrative Agent. Upon the effectiveness thereof, Appendix A shall be deemed amended to reflect the Revolver Increase and the new Lender (or, if applicable, existing Lender) shall advance Loans in an amount sufficient such that after giving effect to its Loans each Lender shall have outstanding its pro rata share of all Loans outstanding under the Revolving Commitments. It shall be a condition to such effectiveness that the BorrowersBorrower shall not have terminated any portion of the Revolving Commitments pursuant to Section 2.6. The BorrowersBorrower agree to pay the expenses of the Administrative Agent (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) relating to any Revolver Increase. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no Lender shall have any obligation to increase its Revolving Commitment and no Lender’s Revolving Commitment shall be increased without its consent thereto, and each Lender may at its option, unconditionally and without cause, decline to increase its Revolving Commitment. For the avoidance of doubt, no consent of any Lenders (other than the Lenders which agree to participate in the Revolver Increase and the Administrative Agent) shall be required in connection with a Revolver Increase in accordance with this Section.
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    Section 2.19.    Defaulting Lenders.
    (a)    Defaulting Lender Adjustments. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, if any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender, then, until such time as such Lender is no longer a Defaulting Lender, to the extent permitted by applicable law:
    (i)    Waivers and Amendments. Such Defaulting Lender’s right to approve or disapprove any amendment, waiver or consent with respect to this Agreement shall be restricted as set forth in the definition of Required Lenders.
    (ii)    Defaulting Lender Waterfall. Any payment of principal, interest, fees or other amounts received by the Administrative Agent for the account of such Defaulting Lender (whether voluntary or mandatory, at maturity, pursuant to Section 2.10 or otherwise) or received by the Administrative Agent from a Defaulting Lender pursuant to Section 9.4 hereto shall be applied at such time or times as may be determined by the Administrative Agent as follows: first, to the payment of any amounts owing by such Defaulting Lender to the Administrative Agent hereunder; second, as the BorrowersBorrower may request (so long as no Default or Event of Default exists), to the funding of any Loan in respect of which such Defaulting Lender has failed to fund its portion thereof as required by this Agreement, as determined by the Administrative Agent; third, if so determined by the Administrative Agent and the BorrowersBorrower, to be held in a deposit account and released pro rata in order to satisfy such Defaulting Lender’s potential future funding obligations with respect to Loans under this Agreement; fourth, to the payment of any amounts owing to the Lenders as a result of any judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by any Lender against such Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lender’s breach of its obligations under this Agreement; fifth, so long as no Default or Event of Default exists, to the payment of any amounts owing to the BorrowersBorrower as a result of any judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by the BorrowersBorrower against such Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lender’s breach of its obligations under this Agreement; and sixth, to such Defaulting Lender or as otherwise directed by a court of competent jurisdiction; provided that if (x) such payment is a payment of the principal amount of any Loans in respect of which such Defaulting Lender has not fully funded its appropriate share, and (y) such Loans were made at a time when the conditions set forth in Section 3.2 were satisfied or waived, such payment shall be applied solely to pay the Loans of all Non-Defaulting Lenders on a pro rata basis prior to being applied to the payment of any Loans of such Defaulting Lender until such time as all Loans are held by the Lenders pro rata in accordance with their percentages of the Revolving Commitments. Any payments, prepayments or other amounts paid or payable to a Defaulting Lender that are applied (or held) to pay amounts owed by a Defaulting Lender pursuant to this Section 2.182.19(a)(ii) shall be deemed paid to and redirected by such Defaulting Lender, and each Lender irrevocably consents hereto.
    (iii)    Certain Fees. No Defaulting Lender shall be entitled to receive any unused line of credit fee for any period during which that Lender is a Defaulting Lender
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(and the BorrowersBorrower shall not be required to pay any such fee that otherwise would have been required to have been paid to that Defaulting Lender).
    (b)    Defaulting Lender Cure. If the BorrowersBorrower and the Administrative Agent agree in writing that a Lender is no longer a Defaulting Lender, the Administrative Agent will so notify the parties hereto, whereupon as of the effective date specified in such notice and subject to any conditions set forth therein, that Lender will, to the extent applicable, purchase at par that portion of outstanding Loans of the other Lenders or take such other actions as the Administrative Agent may determine to be necessary to cause the Loans to be held pro rata by the Lenders in accordance with their respective percentages of the Revolving Commitments, whereupon such Lender will cease to be a Defaulting Lender; provided that no adjustments will be made retroactively with respect to fees accrued or payments made by or on behalf of the BorrowersBorrower while that Lender was a Defaulting Lender; and provided, further, that except to the extent otherwise expressly agreed by the affected parties, no change hereunder from Defaulting Lender to Lender will constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any party hereunder arising from that Lender’s having been a Defaulting Lender.
Section 3.    Conditions Precedent
    Section 3.1.    Closing Date. The obligation of the Lenders to make the initial Loans hereunder is subject to the satisfaction, or waiver in accordance with Section 9.5, of the following conditions on or before the Closing Date:
    (a)    Credit Documents. The Administrative Agent shall have received copies of each Credit Document originally executed and delivered by each applicable Credit Party, the Backup Servicer, the Disbursement Account Bank and the Collection Account Bank, as applicable.
    (b)    Organizational Documents; Incumbency. The Administrative Agent shall have received copies of (i) each Organizational Document executed and delivered by each Credit Party, and, to the extent applicable, certified as of a recent date by the appropriate governmental official, (ii) signature and incumbency certificates of the officers of each Credit Party, (iii) resolutions of the board of directors, board of managers, managing member or similar governing body of each Credit Party approving and authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other Credit Documents to which it is a party, as applicable, or by which it or its assets may be bound as of the Closing Date, certified as of the Closing Date by its secretary or an assistant secretary or its director of operations as being in full force and effect without modification or amendment, (iv) a good standing certificate from the applicable Governmental Authority of each Credit Party’s jurisdiction of incorporation, organization or formation, each dated a recent date prior to the Closing Date, and (v) such other security agreements, insurance certificates and endorsements, financing statements, opinions of counsel, documents and instruments as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request, each in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.
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    (c)    Due Organization and Good Standing. Each Credit Party shall be duly organized and in good standing in the jurisdiction of its organization and qualified to do business in any other jurisdiction where it conducts its business other than in jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified has not had, and could not be reasonably expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.
    (d)    Governmental Authorizations and Consents. Each Credit Party shall have obtained all Governmental Authorizations and all consents of other Persons, in each case that are necessary or advisable in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Credit Documents to which it is a party and each of the foregoing shall be in full force and effect and in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent. All applicable waiting periods shall have expired without any action being taken or threatened (in writing) by any Governmental Authority which would restrain, prevent or otherwise impose adverse conditions on the transactions contemplated by the Credit Documents or the financing thereof and no action, request for stay, petition for review or rehearing, reconsideration, or appeal with respect to any of the foregoing shall be pending, and the time for any applicable agency to take action to set aside its consent on its own motion shall have expired.
    (e)    Collateral. In order to create in favor of the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a valid, perfected first priority Lien in the Collateral, the Collateral Agent shall have received:
    (i)    evidence satisfactory to the Administrative Agent of the compliance by the Credit Parties with their obligations under the Collateral Documents and the Related Agreements (including, without limitation, their obligations to authorize or execute, as the case may be, and deliver UCC financing statements, originals of securities, instruments and chattel paper and any agreements governing deposit accounts as provided therein);
    (ii)    the results of a recent search of all effective UCC financing statements (or equivalent filings) made with respect to any personal property of the Borrower in Delaware and the Company in Delaware and OppWin in Delaware, together with copies of all such filings disclosed by such search, which shall be provided by the Credit Parties;
    (iii)    UCC termination statements (or similar documents) duly approved by all applicable Persons for filing in all applicable jurisdictions as may be necessary to terminate any effective UCC financing statements (or equivalent filings) disclosed in such searches with respect to the Collateral (other than any UCC financing statement filed in connection with the transactions contemplated under the Credit Documents);
    (iv)    evidence that each of the Borrower and the Company shall have taken or caused to be taken any other action, executed and delivered or caused to be executed and delivered any other agreement, document and instrument and
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made or caused to be made any other filing and recording (other than as set forth herein) reasonably required by the Collateral Agent or the Administrative Agent; and
    (v)    evidence that any Indebtedness (other than the Obligations) secured by the Collateral has been paid in full.
    (f)    A written subordination agreement from TCS Global Holdings LP as the holder of Qualifying Subordinated Debt outstanding on the Closing Date, and acknowledged and agreed to by the Company, which shall be in form and substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent.
    (g)    Each Credit Party shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent an originally executed Closing Date Certificate and, to the extent not otherwise included therein, each Lender shall have received (i) audited financial statements (including an income statement, a balance sheet, and a cash flow statement) of the Company for the periods ended December 31, 2017, and December 31, 2018, and unaudited monthly financial statements (including an income statement, a balance sheet, and a cash flow statement) and loan receivable contract quality report of the Company for the months ended January 31, 2019, through and including April 30, 2019, 2-year projected financial statements prepared on a monthly basis for such period (including an income statement and balance sheet for each such month together with monthly originations, collections and charge offs for such period), each in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and certified to by an Authorized Officer of the Company; (ii) a Borrowing Base Certificate prepared by the Borrower and certified to by an Authorized Officer of the Borrower evidencing Commitment Availability of at least the amount required by Section 5.11(b)(iii) as of the Closing Date after giving effect to the initial Credit Extension and the transactions contemplated hereby and payment of all costs and expenses in connection therewith; (iii) true, correct and complete copies of the Credit Policies and the Servicing Policy, each in form and substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent, and certified to by an Authorized Officer of the Company; (iv) a true, correct and complete copy of the September 18, 2018, field examination report of the Company performed by Duff & Phelps, certified to by an Authorized Officer of the Company; and (v) a certificate from an Authorized Officer of the Company certifying that no Closing Date Material Adverse Effect has occurred and no Regulatory Trigger Event has occurred.
    (h)    Solvency Certificates. On the Closing Date, the Administrative Agent shall have received Solvency Certificates from each Credit Party dated as of the Closing Date and addressed to the Administrative Agent, attesting that before and after giving effect to the consummation of the initial Credit Extension, such Credit Party is Solvent.
    (i)    No Litigation. There shall not exist any action, suit, investigation, litigation or proceeding or other legal or regulatory developments, pending or threatened (in writing) in any court or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority with respect to any of the Credit Parties, any of the Key Employees or the transactions contemplated
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by the Credit Documents, that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
    (j)    Opinions of Counsel to Credit Parties. The Administrative Agent shall have received originally executed copies of the favorable written opinions of DLA Piper LLP (US), counsel for the Credit Parties, as to (i) corporate and enforceability matters, (ii) the creation and perfection of the security interests (A) in favor of the Collateral Agent in the Collateral under the Collateral Documents and (B) in favor of the Borrower in the Receivables under the Purchase Agreement, and (iii) such other matters as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request, dated as of the Closing Date and otherwise in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and its counsel.
    (k)    Fees and Expenses. The Credit Parties shall have paid to the Administrative Agent the fees payable on the Closing Date referred to in the Fee Letter (including without limitation any Upfront Fees as defined therein) and all outstanding Permitted Expenses shall have been paid by the Credit Parties or reimbursed to the Agents and Lenders, as applicable.
    (l)    No New Information. The Administrative Agent shall not have become aware, since December 31, 2018, of any new information or other matters not previously disclosed to the Administrative Agent relating to any Credit Party or their respective Affiliates or the transactions contemplated herein that the Administrative Agent, in its reasonable judgment, deems inconsistent in a material and adverse manner with the information or other matters previously disclosed to the Administrative Agent relating to the Credit Parties or their respective Affiliates or the transactions contemplated herein.
    (m)    Service of Process. On the Closing Date, the Administrative Agent shall have received evidence that each of the Credit Parties has appointed Cogency Global Inc. as its agent for the purpose of service of process and such agent shall agree in writing to give the applicable Credit Party and the Administrative Agent notice of any resignation of such service agent or other termination of the agency relationship.
    (n)    Evidence of Insurance. The Collateral Agent shall have received certificates from the Servicer’s, the Company’s and the Borrower’s insurance broker, or other evidence satisfactory to it that all insurance required to be maintained hereunder is in full force and effect, and the Administrative Agent shall have completed its review of the insurance coverage for the Servicer, the Company and the Borrower and the results of such review shall be satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.
    (o)    Servicing Report. The Administrative Agent shall have received a form of Monthly Servicing Report, set forth as Exhibit B to the Servicing Agreement, acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.
    (p)    Backup Servicer Data Mapping. The Backup Servicer shall have completed all required data mapping and obtained any other information necessary to act
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in its capacity as Backup Servicer, in each case, as set forth in the Backup Servicing Agreement and in a manner acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.
    (q)    Access to Servicing Systems. The Servicer shall have provided the Administrative Agent and the Backup Servicer with remote, read-only on-line access to the Loan Database, acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.
    (r)    Know your Customer, Etc. Each of the Lenders shall have received, sufficiently in advance of the Closing Date, all documentation and other information requested by any such Lender required by bank regulatory authorities under applicable “know your customer” and anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including without limitation, the Patriot Act and the information described in Section 9.19; and the Administrative Agent shall have received a fully executed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (or its equivalent) for the Borrower and the Company.
    (s)    Beneficial Ownership Certification. At least five days prior to the Closing Date, if the Borrower qualifies as a “legal entity customer” under the Beneficial Ownership Regulation, the Borrower shall deliver a Beneficial Ownership Certification in relation to it.
    (t)    Designated Disbursement Account Certificate. The Borrower shall deliver a certificate identifying its Designated Disbursement Account, which shall be in form acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.
    (u)    Other Information. The Administrative Agent shall have received such other agreements, instruments, documents, certificates, and opinions as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request.
FortFor the avoidance of doubt, the parties hereto agreed that the conditions precedent in Section 3.1 are not amended by the SixthEighth Amendment (or any other amendment entered into prior to the Eighth Amendment Effective Date) and any defined terms used herein shall have the meanings assigned thereto before giving effect to the Sixth Amendmentas of the Closing Date.
    Section 3.2.    Conditions to Each Credit Extension.
    (a)    Conditions Precedent. The obligation of the Lenders to make any Loan, on any Credit Date on or after the SixthEighth Amendment Effective Date, is subject to the satisfaction, or waiver in accordance with Section 9.5, of the following conditions precedent:
    (i)    the Availability Reinstatement Date shall have occurred and each Credit Document shall be in full force and effect, shall include terms and provisions reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent (provided that the terms and provisions set forth in the Credit Documents as of the Sixth Amendment Effective Date shall be deemed satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) and no provision thereof shall have been amended, restated, supplemented, modified or waived in any respect determined by the
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Administrative Agent to be material, in each case, without the consent of the Administrative Agent.
    (ii)    the Administrative Agent shall have received a fully executed Funding Notice from the applicable Borrower together with a Borrowing Base Certificate prior to 11:00 a.m. (Chicago, Illinois time) on the requested Credit Date, evidencing sufficient Commitment Availability with respect to the requested Loan together with an updated schedule of Receivables including the Receivables to be pledged in connection with the Loan, such schedule to (A) be in an electronic file format reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and (B) set forth the information required to be provided under the Backup Servicing Agreement (including, without limitation, and with respect to each Contract, (1) the account number; (2) Obligor name, (3) the outstanding principal balance of the Receivable evidenced by such Contract), (4) the Remaining Funded Amount of such Receivable, and (5) any other information reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent with respect to such Credit Date;
    (iii)    as of such Credit Date, the representations and warranties made by the applicable Credit Parties contained herein and in the other Credit Documents to which it is a party shall be true and correct in all material respects (where not already qualified by materiality, otherwise in all respects) on and as of that Credit Date to the same extent as though made on and as of that date, except to the extent such representations and warranties specifically relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects (where not already qualified by materiality, otherwise in all respects) on and as of such earlier date;
    (iv)    as of such Credit Date, after giving effect to such Loan, no event shall have occurred and be continuing or would result from the consummation of the applicable Credit Extension that would constitute an Event of Default or a Default;
    (v)    as of such Credit Date, the Collateral Agent shall have received a fully executed Assignment;
    (vi)    the Administrative Agent shall have approved all material changes made to the Credit Policies and the Servicing Policy in accordance with the terms set forth herein;
    (vii)    in accordance with the terms of the Backup Servicing Agreement, the applicable Borrower shall have delivered, or caused to be delivered, to the Backup Servicer, imaged copies of the Verified Documents and the related Lender Report, and (to the extent required pursuant to the Backup Servicing Agreement) the Administrative Agent shall have received a Verified Receivables Report from the Backup Servicer, which Verified Receivables Report is acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion;
    (viii)    no Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred;
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    (ix)    no Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger shall have occurred;
    (x)    no Regulatory Trigger Event shall have occurred;
    (xi)    immediately prior to and after making the Credit Extensions requested on such Credit Date, no Borrowing Base Deficiency shall exist;
    (xii)    immediately after making the Credit Extensions requested on such Credit Date, Commitment Availability shall not be less than the amount required pursuant to Section 5.11(b)(iii) or Section 5.11(c)(iii), as applicable; and
    (xiii)    none of the Receivables to be sold to the applicable Borrower on such Credit Date and reflected on the Borrowing Base Certificate delivered pursuant to clause (ii) above were originated in any state or jurisdiction with respect to which any Governmental Authority has instituted any formal inquiry or investigation (which for the avoidance of doubt excludes any routine inquiry or investigation), legal action or proceeding against any Credit Party, any Originator, any Bank Partner Originator or any sub-servicer relating to such Person’s authority to originate, hold, own, service, pledge or enforce any Receivable with respect to the residents of such state, which formal inquiry, investigation, legal action or proceeding has not been resolved prior to such Credit Date.
Any Agent shall be entitled, but not obligated, to request and receive, prior to the making of any Credit Extension, additional information reasonably satisfactory to the requesting party confirming the satisfaction of any of the foregoing if, in the good faith judgment of such Agent, such request is warranted under the circumstances.
    (b)    Funding Notices. Any Funding Notice shall be executed by an Authorized Officer of the applicable Borrower and delivered to the Administrative Agent in accordance with Section 3.2(a)(ii). Each request for a Credit Extension pursuant to a Funding Notice shall be deemed to be a representation and warranty by such Borrower on the date of such Credit Extension as to the facts specified in Section 3.2(a).
(c)    Performance Triggers. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, following the occurrence and during the continuance of a Tier 1 Collateral Trigger, the Lenders shall not be required make any Loan hereunder until such time as the Administrative Agent has reviewed and discussed such Tier 1 Collateral Trigger with the BorrowersBorrower and determined in its sole and absolute discretion that it is comfortable with the Lenders continuing to make Loans hereunder notwithstanding the occurrence and continuance of such Tier 1 Collateral Trigger (a “Continued Lending Determination”). The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the BorrowersBorrower and the Lenders of any Continued Lending Determination made in accordance with the foregoing.
    Section 3.3.    Conditions to Each Release of Funds.
    (a)    Conditions Precedent. The obligation of the Collateral Agent to release funds in athe Disbursement Account to the applicable Borrower in accordance with Section 2.10(c) is
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subject to the satisfaction, or waiver in accordance with Section 9.5, of the following conditions precedent:
    (i)    the Availability Reinstatement Date shall have occurred and each Credit Document shall be in full force and effect, shall include terms and provisions reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent (provided that the terms and provisions set forth in the Credit Documents as of the Sixth Amendment Effective Date shall be deemed satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) and no provision thereof shall have been amended, restated, supplemented, modified or waived in any respect determined by the Administrative Agent to be material, in each case, without the consent of the Administrative Agent.
    (ii)    the Administrative Agent shall have received a fully executed Funds Release Request together with a Borrowing Base Certificate no later than 11:00 a.m. (Chicago, Illinois time) on the Business Day on which the applicable Borrower proposes to use the requested funds to purchase additional Eligible Receivables (the “Release Date”), evidencing sufficient Facility Availability with respect to the requested funds together with an updated schedule of Receivables including the Receivables to be purchased on the Release Date, such schedule to (A) be in an electronic file format reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and (B) set forth the information required to be provided under the Backup Servicing Agreement (including, without limitation, and with respect to each Contract, (1) the account number; (2) Obligor name, (3) the outstanding principal balance of the Receivable evidenced by such Contract), (4) the Remaining Funded Amount of such Receivable and (5) any other information reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent with respect to such Release Date;
    (iii)    as of such Release Date, the representations and warranties made by the applicable Credit Parties contained herein and in the other Credit Documents to which it is a party shall be true and correct in all material respects (where not already qualified by materiality, otherwise in all respects) on and as of that Release Date to the same extent as though made on and as of that date, except to the extent such representations and warranties specifically relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects (where not already qualified by materiality, otherwise in all respects) on and as of such earlier date;
    (iv)    as of such Release Date, after giving effect to the requested release of funds from the applicable Disbursement Account, no event shall have occurred and be continuing or would result from such release of funds from suchthe Disbursement Account to the applicable Borrower that would constitute an Event of Default or a Default;
    (v)    as of such Release Date, the Collateral Agent shall have received a fully executed Assignment;
    (vi)    in accordance with the terms of the Backup Servicing Agreement, the applicable Borrower shall have delivered, or caused to be delivered, to the Backup
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Servicer, imaged copies of the Verified Documents and the related Lender Report, and (to the extent required pursuant to the Backup Servicing Agreement) the Administrative Agent shall have received the Verified Receivables Report from the Backup Servicer, which Verified Receivables Report is acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion;
    (vii)    no Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred;
    (viii)    no Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger shall have occurred;
    (ix)    no Regulatory Trigger Event shall have occurred;
    (x)    immediately after the release of the requested funds to the applicable Borrower and the purchase by such Borrower of additional Eligible Receivables on such Release Date, no Borrowing Base Deficiency shall exist;
    (xi)    immediately after making the Credit Extensions requested on such Credit Date, Commitment Availability shall not be less than the amount required pursuant to Section 5.11(b)(iii) or Section 5.11(c)(iii), as applicable; and
    (xii)    none of the Receivables to be sold to the applicable Borrower on such Release Date and reflected on the applicable Borrowing Base Certificate delivered pursuant to clause (ii) above were originated in any state or jurisdiction with respect to which any Governmental Authority has instituted any formal inquiry or investigation (which for the avoidance of doubt excludes any routine inquiry or investigation), legal action or proceeding against any Credit Party, any Originator, any Bank Partner Originator or any sub-servicer relating to such Person’s authority to originate, hold, own, service, pledge or enforce any Receivable with respect to the residents of such state, which formal inquiry, investigation, legal action or proceeding has not been resolved prior to such Credit Date.
Any Agent shall be entitled, but not obligated, to request and receive, prior to the release of any funds from any Disbursement Account to the applicable Borrower, additional information reasonably satisfactory to the requesting party confirming the satisfaction of any of the foregoing if, in the good faith judgment of such Agent, such request is warranted under the circumstances.
    (b)    Funds Release Request. Any Funds Release Request shall be executed by an Authorized Officer of the applicable Borrower and delivered to the Administrative Agent in accordance with Section 3.3(a)(ii). Each request for a release of funds pursuant to a Funds Release Request shall be deemed to be a representation and warranty by the applicable Borrower on the date of such request as to the facts specified in Section 3.3(a).
Section 4.    Representations and Warranties
In order to induce the Agents and the Lenders to enter into this Agreement and to make each Credit Extension to be made hereunder, eachthe Borrower and each Guarantor represents
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and warrants, as to itself and on behalf of each Credit Party, to the Agents and the Lenders, on the Closing Date, on the SixthEighth Amendment Effective Date, on each Credit Date and on each Release Date, that the following statements are true and correct (it being understood and agreed that the representations and warranties made on the Closing Date are deemed to be made concurrently with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Credit Documents):
    Section 4.1.    Organization; Requisite Power and Authority; Qualification; Other Names. Each Credit Party and each Guarantor(a) is duly organized or formed, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of its organization, (b) has all requisite power and authority to own and operate its properties, to carry on its business as now conducted and as proposed to be conducted, to enter into the Credit Documents to which it is a party, and to carry out the transactions contemplated thereby and fulfill its Obligations thereunder, and (c) is qualified to do business and is in good standing in every jurisdiction where its assets are located and wherever necessary to carry out its business and operations, except in jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing has not had, and could not be reasonably expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect. Neither anythe Borrower nor any Guarantor operates or does business under any assumed, trade or fictitious name other than, in the case of the Company, opploans, OppFi, SalaryTap, OppFi Card, Opportunity Loans and Opp Loans. The Borrower has no Subsidiaries. The Company has no Subsidiaries except as set forth on Schedule 4.1 hereto (as the same may be amended from time to time pursuant to the terms of this Agreement).
    Section 4.2.    Due Authorization. The execution, delivery and performance of the Credit Documents to which each Credit Party or Guarantor is a party have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of such Credit Party or Guarantor, as applicable.
    Section 4.3.    No Conflict. The execution, delivery and performance by each Credit Party and each Guarantor of the Credit Documents to which it is a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Credit Documents do not and will not (a)(i) violate any provision of any law or any governmental rule or regulation applicable to such Credit Party or Guarantor, (ii) violate any of the Organizational Documents of such Credit Party or Guarantor, or (iii) violate any order, judgment or decree of any court or other agency of government binding on such Credit Party or Guarantor, (b) conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute (with due notice or lapse of time or both) a default under any Contractual Obligation of such Credit Party or Guarantor, except as could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, (c) result in or require the creation or imposition of any Lien upon any of the properties or assets of such Credit Party or Guarantor (other than any Permitted Liens), or (d) require any approval of stockholders, members or partners or any approval or consent of any Person under any Contractual Obligation of such Credit Party or Guarantor, except for such approvals or consents which will be obtained on or before the Closing Date (or, in the case of a Guarantor, the date such Person became a Guarantor) and delivered to the Administrative Agent.
    Section 4.4.    Governmental Consents. The execution, delivery and performance by each Credit Party and each Guarantor of the Credit Documents to which it is a party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Credit Documents do not and will not require any registration with; consent or approval of; permit, license, authorization, plan or directive from; notice to; or other action to, with or by, any Governmental Authority or any other
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Person, except for filings and recordings with respect to the Collateral to be made, or otherwise delivered to the Collateral Agent for filing and/or recordation, as of the Closing Date (or, (i) in the case of STF Borrower, as of the Sixth Amendment Effective Date and (ii) in the case of a Guarantor, the date such Person became a Guarantor).
    Section 4.5.    Binding Obligation. Each Credit Document to which each Credit Party and each Guarantor is a party has been duly executed and delivered by such Credit Party or Guarantor and is the legally valid and binding obligation of such Person, and is in full force and effect, enforceable against such Person in accordance with its respective terms, except as may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating to or limiting creditors’ rights generally or by equitable principles relating to enforceability.
    Section 4.6.    Receivables. Each Receivable that is identified by a Borrower as an Eligible Receivable on a Borrowing Base Certificate or Funding Notice, or by the Servicer on a Monthly Servicing Report, satisfies the applicable Eligibility Criteria. Except with respect to a Bank Partner Originated Receivable, unless otherwise approved by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, no Depository Institution participated in the origination of any Receivable and at no time has any Receivable been owned, purchased, or serviced by a Depository Institution.
    Section 4.7.    No Adverse Selection. As of the date of the transfer by the applicable Seller to any Borrower (a) the Receivables sold or transferred by such Seller to such Borrower on such date, when taken together with the Receivables previously sold by the Sellers to such Borrower and considered as a whole, are of no lesser quality than (i) the Company Receivables, considered as a whole, or (ii) the Company Receivables pledged under any other financing facility or sold pursuant to any sale agreement under which the Company or an Affiliate of the Company is a borrower or seller, either directly or indirectly (acting through a special purpose borrowing entity, or otherwise indirectly), in each case, as of the time of that transfer, and (b) no selection procedures adverse to such Borrower, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or any Lender have been used (i) in selecting any Receivable from all other similar Company Receivables, or (ii) in allocating Company Receivables among any financing facility or sale agreement under which the Company or an Affiliate of the Company is a borrower, either directly or indirectly (acting through a special purpose borrowing entity, or otherwise indirectly); provided, however, that, for the avoidance of doubt, (i) differences in Receivables resulting from differences between the applicable Eligibility Criteria and any eligibility criteria of another financing facility or sale agreement shall not alone result in the Receivables being considered “lesser quality” for purposes of this Section 4.7 and (ii) selections or allocations resulting from differences between the applicable Eligibility Criteria and any eligibility criteria of another financing facility or sale agreement shall not alone constitute selection procedures adverse to the BorrowersBorrower, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or any Lender.
    Section 4.8.    No Material Adverse Effect; No Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger. Since December 31, 2020, no event, circumstance or change has occurred that has caused or evidences, either individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. No Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger has occurred.
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    Section 4.9.    No Change of Control. No Change of Control has occurred other than with the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.
    Section 4.10.    Adverse Proceedings, etc. There are no Adverse Proceedings pending against the Credit Parties or Guarantors that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. None of the Guarantors or Credit Parties nor, to the knowledge of any Credit Party, any Bank Partner Originator is (a) in violation of any applicable laws that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, or (b) subject to or in default with respect to any final judgments, writs, injunctions, decrees, rules or regulations of any court or any federal, state, municipal or other governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality, domestic or foreign, that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
    Section 4.11.    Payment of Taxes. Except as otherwise permitted under Section 5.3, (i) all U.S. federal income tax returns and all other material tax returns and reports of the BorrowersBorrower and the Guarantors required to be filed have been timely filed, and (ii) all U.S. federal income Taxes and all other material Taxes due and payable, and all material assessments, fees and other governmental charges upon the BorrowersBorrower and the Guarantors and upon their properties, assets, income, businesses and franchises which are due and payable have been timely paid when due and payable. Neither any Borrower nor any Guarantor knows of any threatened (in writing) or proposed Tax assessment against it which is not being actively contested by such Borrower or such Guarantor, as applicable, in good faith and by appropriate proceedings; provided, that such reserves or other appropriate provisions, if any, as shall be required in conformity with GAAP shall have been made or provided therefor.
    Section 4.12.    Title to Assets. EachThe Borrower and each Guarantor has good and valid title to all of its assets reflected in the most recent financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 3.1 and Section 5.9. Except as permitted by this Agreement, all such properties and assets are free and clear of Liens, other than Permitted Liens.
    Section 4.13.    No Indebtedness. Neither any Borrower nor any Guarantor has any Indebtedness, other than Indebtedness incurred under (or contemplated by) the terms of this Agreement, the other Credit Documents or permitted pursuant to Section 6.1 or otherwise permitted hereunder.
    Section 4.14.    No Defaults. (i) No Credit Party or Guarantor is in default in the performance, observance or fulfillment of any of the obligations, covenants or conditions contained in any of its Contractual Obligations, and (ii) to each Guarantor’s and Credit Party’s knowledge, no condition exists which, with the giving of notice or the lapse of time or both, could constitute such a default, except where, in the case of each of clauses (i) and (ii), (a) such defaults have been waived, or (b) individually or in the aggregate, the consequences, direct or indirect, of such default or defaults, if any, could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
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    Section 4.15.    Governmental Regulation. None of the Guarantors or Credit Parties is an “investment company” or a company “controlled” by an “investment company”, as such terms are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
    Section 4.16.    Margin Stock. Neither any Borrower nor any Guarantor is engaged in the business of extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any Margin Stock. No part of the proceeds of the Loans made to any Borrower will be used directly or indirectly to purchase or carry any such Margin Stock, for the purpose of reducing or retiring any Indebtedness which was originally incurred to purchase or carry Margin Stock, to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any such Margin Stock or for any purpose that violates, or is inconsistent with, the provisions of Regulations T or U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or Regulations B, X or Z of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau.
    Section 4.17.    Certain Fees. No broker’s or finder’s fee or commission will be payable by any Borrower or any Guarantor with respect to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby.
    Section 4.18.    Solvency and Fraudulent Conveyance. Each Borrower and each Guarantor is and, upon the incurrence of any Credit Extension by any Borrower on any date on which this representation and warranty is made, will be, Solvent. No Credit Party is transferring any Collateral with any intent to hinder, delay or defraud any of its creditors. No Credit Party shall use the proceeds from the transactions contemplated by this Agreement to give preference to any class of creditors. Each Borrower has given fair consideration and reasonably equivalent value in exchange for the sale of the Receivables under the applicable Purchase Agreement and the relevant Bank Partner Sale Agreement, as applicable.
    Section 4.19.    Compliance with Statutes, etc. Each Credit Party and each Guarantor and, to the knowledge of the Credit Parties, each Bank Partner Originator, is in compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements of, and all applicable restrictions imposed by, all Governmental Authorities, in respect of the conduct of its business and the ownership of its property, except such non-compliance that, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
    Section 4.20.    Disclosure. No report, financial statement, certificate or other information furnished (whether in writing or orally) by or at the direction of any Credit Party or Guarantor to any Agent or any Lender in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and the negotiation of this Agreement or delivered hereunder or under any other Credit Document (in each case, as modified or supplemented by other information so furnished) contains any material misstatement of fact or omits to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided that, with respect to projected financial information, the Guarantors and Credit Parties represent only that such information was prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed by the preparer thereof to be reasonable at the time. There are no facts known to any Credit Party or Guarantor (other than matters of a general economic nature) that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect and that have not
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been disclosed herein or in such other documents, certificates and statements furnished to any Agent or any Lender for use in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby. The information included in the Beneficial Ownership Certification, as updated in accordance with Section 5.1(j), is true and correct in all respects.
    Section 4.21.    Sanctions; Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Anti-Corruption Laws. (a) None of the Guarantors or Credit Parties, any of their Subsidiaries, any director, officer or employee of any of the Guarantors or Credit Parties or any of their Subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of any Borrower, any agent or representative of any Credit Party or Guarantor or any of their Subsidiaries, is a Sanctioned Person or currently the subject or target of any Sanctions.
    (b)    The Guarantors and Credit Parties, each of their Subsidiaries, each of the Guarantors’, Credit Parties’ and their Subsidiaries’ respective directors, officers and employees, and, to the knowledge of the BorrowersBorrower, each of the Guarantors’, Credit Parties’ and their Subsidiaries’ respective agents and representatives, is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Sanctions.
    (c)    The Guarantors, the Credit Parties and their Subsidiaries have instituted and maintain in effect policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure compliance in all material respects by the Guarantors, the Credit Parties, their Subsidiaries, and the Guarantors’ and the Credit Parties’ and their Subsidiaries’ respective directors, officers, employees and agents with all applicable Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Sanctions.
    Section 4.22.    Security Interest. (a) Each Security Agreement creates a valid and continuing security interest (as defined in the UCC) in the Collateral (as defined thereunder) in favor of the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, which security interest is prior to all other liens (subject to Permitted Liens);
    (b)    Immediately upon the pledge by a Borrower of the Receivables and the other Collateral to the Collateral Agent under the applicable Security Agreement, the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, shall have a valid and enforceable security interest in the Collateral, free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, security interests and rights of others (subject to Permitted Liens);
    (c)    Immediately upon the pledge by any Guarantor of the Collateral to the Collateral Agent under the applicable Guarantor Security Agreement, the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, shall have a valid and enforceable security interest in the Collateral, free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, security interests and rights of others (subject to Permitted Liens); and
    (d)    All filings (including, without limitation, UCC filings or other actions) necessary in any jurisdiction to give the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a first priority (subject to Permitted Liens) perfected security interest in all assets of the BorrowersBorrower and the Guarantors have been (or, substantially concurrently with the date such Guarantor becomes a party to the applicable Guarantor Security Agreement, will be) made, given, taken or performed.
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    Section 4.23.    Payment Instructions; etc. The Servicer has instructed, or otherwise caused, all Obligors with respect to any Receivables to pay all Collections (A) to the extent paid by credit card, electronic check, ACH payment or wire transfer, directly into the applicable Collection Account, and (B) to the extent paid by cash, checks, notes, drafts, bills of exchange or money orders, directly to the applicable Collection Account (or, if required by Section 2.02(e) of the Servicing Agreement, directly to the Lockbox). Each Collection Account and Disbursement Account is maintained solely in the name of the applicable Borrower. No Borrower has granted any Person, other than the Collateral Agent as contemplated by this Agreement, dominion and control of its Collection Account, or the right to take dominion and control of its Collection Account or its Disbursement Account at a future time or upon the occurrence of a future event (other than any such right in favor of the depository institution granted in connection with the opening of such accounts or pursuant to the applicable Collection Account Control Agreement or the applicable Disbursement Account Control Agreement, as applicable). The applicable Collection Account Bank has been instructed to remit all available funds on deposit in the applicable Collection Account to the applicable Disbursement Account on each Business Day. The applicable Disbursement Account Bank has been instructed to distribute available funds on deposit in such Disbursement Account at the direction of the Collateral Agent. The Servicer has been instructed to remit any Collections received by it to the Collection Account within two (2) Business Days of receipt. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the requirements of this Section 4.23 shall be subject to the post-closing periods set forth in Section 5.B(ii) of the Sixth Amendment.
    Section 4.24.    FinWise Contracts. Neither the voluntary payment authorization for electronic funds transfers nor any other document or disclosure provided borrowers on FinWise Loans provides for delayed funding for borrowers who elect to repay their FinWise Loans by checks rather than by preauthorized electronic funds transfers or for any other disincentive unacceptable to the Administrative Agent for payments by checks rather that preauthorized electronic fund transfers. Since the Closing Date, neither the FinWise Originator nor any Credit Party has sent telemarketing texts without prior express written consent.
    Section 4.25.    ERISA. (a) No ERISA Event has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur that would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
    (b)    No Borrower maintains or contributes to any Plan;
    (c)    None of the Guarantors or the Credit Parties is an employee benefit plan subject to Title I of ERISA, a “plan” as defined in Section 4975(e)(1) of the Code and subject to 4975 of the Code, or a governmental plan, church plan, or Foreign Plan that is subject to federal, state, local or non-U.S. laws substantially similar in form or application to Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code (“Similar Laws”);
    (d)    None of the assets of any Credit Party or any Guarantor constitute or will constitute “plan assets” within the meaning of U.S. Department of Labor Section 2510.3-101, as amended by Section 3(42) of ERISA; and
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    (e)    The transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not cause a non-exempt prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA, Section 4975 of the Code or a violation of any Similar Laws.
    Section 4.26.    Capital Structure. The Company or another Guarantor is and at all times shall be the sole member of each Borrower, and owns (legally and beneficially) 100% of the Capital Stock of each Borrower, including all rights to the rights to participate in the management of the business and affairs of such Borrower, to share profits and losses and to receive distributions in respect of such Borrower, and exercise all rights and powers as a member of such Borrower.
Section 5.    Affirmative Covenants
Each Credit Party and each Guarantor covenants and agrees that so long as any Revolving Commitment is in effect and until payment in full of all of the Secured Obligations (other than contingent indemnification obligations for which no claim, demand or notice has been made), it shall perform, and ensure that each applicable Affiliate perform, all covenants applicable to it in this Section 5.
    Section 5.1.    Reports. The applicable Guarantors and Credit Parties specified below shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Administrative Agent:
    (a)    Collateral Reporting. On each Credit Date, each Release Date, each Reporting Date (other than a Reporting Date occurring during the Suspension Period) and, during the continuance of a Default or Event of Default or following a Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger, at such other times as the Administrative Agent shall request, each Borrower shall deliver a Borrowing Base Certificate to the Administrative Agent, in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent. Each Borrowing Base Certificate delivered to the Administrative Agent shall bear a signed statement by an Authorized Officer certifying the accuracy and completeness of all information included therein. The execution and delivery of a Borrowing Base Certificate shall in each instance constitute a representation and warranty by the applicable Borrower to the Agents and the Lenders that each Eligible Receivable included therein satisfies the applicable Eligibility Criteria. In the event any Funding Notice or Funds Release Request or Borrowing Base Certificate with respect to a Loan or other information required by this Section 5.1(a) is delivered to the Administrative Agent by any Borrower electronically or otherwise without signature, such Funding Notice, Funds Release Request, Borrowing Base Certificate or other information shall, upon such delivery, be deemed to be signed and certified on behalf of such Borrower by an Authorized Officer and constitute a representation to the Administrative Agent as to the authenticity thereof. The Administrative Agent shall have the right to review and adjust any such calculation of athe Borrowing Base to reflect exclusions from Eligible Receivables, Reserves or such other matters as are necessary to determine suchthe Borrowing Base, but in each case, only to the extent the Administrative Agent is expressly provided such discretion by this Agreement and provides written notice to the applicable Borrower of any such adjustment. The Administrative Agent shall have the continuing right in its commercially
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reasonable discretion to establish and adjust Reserves in determining anythe Borrowing Base in such amounts, and with respect to such matters, as the Administrative Agent shall deem appropriate in its commercially reasonable discretion, including without limitation Reserves with respect to collection performance, and amounts the applicable Borrower is required to pay and has failed to pay; provided, that the Administrative Agent shall notify the applicable Borrower in writing of any adjustment in the Reserves or the Borrowing Base.
    (b)    Notice of Default, Collateral Performance Trigger and Servicer Default. Promptly upon any Authorized Officer of any Credit Party or any Guarantor obtaining knowledge (i) of any condition or event that constitutes a Default, an Event of Default, a Tier 1 Collateral Performance Trigger, a Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger or a Servicer Default, (ii) that any Person has given any notice to any Credit Party or any Guarantor or taken any other action with respect to any event or condition set forth in Section 7.1, or (iii) of the occurrence of any event or change that has caused or evidences, either individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, a certificate of one of its Authorized Officers specifying the nature and period of existence of such condition, event or change, or specifying the notice given and action taken by any such Person and the nature of such claimed Event of Default, Default, a Tier 1 Collateral Performance Trigger, a Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger or Servicer Default, event or condition, and what action the applicable Credit Party or Guarantor has taken, is taking and proposes to take with respect thereto;
    (c)    Notice of Litigation. Promptly upon any Authorized Officer of any Credit Party or any Guarantor obtaining actual knowledge of (i) the institution of, or non-frivolous threat of, any Adverse Proceeding against a Guarantor or a Credit Party or a Bank Partner Originator (in the case of a Bank Partner Originator, solely with respect to the Receivables, the origination of the Receivables or the sale of the Receivables to the applicable Bank Partner Subsidiary) not previously disclosed in writing by the BorrowersBorrower to the Lenders, (ii) any development in any Adverse Proceeding against any Borrower, (iii) any material development in any Adverse Proceeding against any Credit Party or any Guarantor (other than any Borrower) that, if adversely determined, is reasonably likely to result in a judgment in an amount in excess of $[***], or seeks to enjoin or otherwise prevent the consummation of, or to recover any damages or obtain relief as a result of, the transactions contemplated hereby, written notice thereof together with such other information as may be reasonably available to the Guarantors or such Credit Parties to enable the Administrative Agent and its counsel to evaluate such matters, or (iv) any material development in any Adverse Proceeding against a Bank Partner Originator that, if adversely determined, is reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect, written notice thereof together with such other information as may be reasonably available to the Credit Parties to enable the Administrative Agent and its counsel to evaluate such matters;
    (d)    Breach of Representations and Warranties. Promptly upon any Credit Party or any Guarantor becoming aware of a material breach with respect to any representation or warranty made or deemed made by any Credit Party or any Guarantor in
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any Credit Document or in any certificate at any time given by any Credit Party or any Guarantor in writing pursuant hereto or thereto or in connection herewith or therewith, a certificate of an Authorized Officer specifying the nature and period of existence of such breach and what action such Credit Party or Guarantor has taken, is taking and proposes to take with respect thereto;
    (e)    Information Regarding Collateral. Each Credit Party and each Guarantor will furnish to the Collateral Agent prior written notice of any change to its (i) corporate name, (ii) identity, organizational structure or jurisdiction of organization, or (iii) Federal Taxpayer Identification Number. Each Guarantor and Credit Party agrees not to effect or permit any change referred to in the preceding sentence unless all filings have been made under the UCC or otherwise that are required in order for the Collateral Agent to continue at all times following such change to have a valid, legal and perfected security interest in all the Collateral. Each Credit Party and each Guarantor agrees to promptly notify the Collateral Agent if any material portion of the Collateral is damaged or destroyed;
    (f)    Tax Returns. As soon as practicable and in any event within fifteen (15) days following the filing thereof, each Borrower shall provide to the Administrative Agent copies of each U.S. federal income tax return or information return or report filed by the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries;
    (g)    Credit Policies and Servicing Policy. In accordance with Section 6.15, the Company shall provide at least ten (10) Business Days prior written notice to the Administrative Agent of any change to the Credit Policies or the Servicing Policy; and
    (h)    Termination of Agent for Service of Process. Each Credit Party shall provide the Administrative Agent with prompt notice of any resignation of the service agent referred to Section 3.1(n) with respect to such Credit Party, or any termination of the related agency relationship.
    (i)    Regulatory Audits. Promptly after receipt thereof, the BorrowersBorrower shall or shall cause the Company to provide the Administrative Agent a copy of each material audit made by any regulatory agency of the books and records of any Credit Party or any Guarantor or of notice of any material noncompliance with any applicable law, regulation or guideline relating to any Credit Party or any Guarantor or their respective business (except to the extent disclosure thereof is prohibited by such regulatory agency);
    (j)    Other Information. Each Credit Party and each Guarantor shall provide the Administrative Agent with prompt notice of (i) any Bank Partner Originator Regulatory Trigger Event or any Regulatory Trigger Event, (ii) any Change of Control, (iii) any change in the information provided in the Beneficial Ownership Certification that would result in a change to the list of beneficial owners identified in of such certification, (iv) such other information regarding the operations, business affairs and financial condition of any Credit Party or any Guarantor, or compliance with the terms of any Credit Document, as any Agent or any Lender may reasonably request, and (v)
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information and documentation reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent or any Lender for purposes of compliance with applicable “know your customer” requirements under the Patriot Act or other applicable Anti-Corruption Laws and the Beneficial Ownership Regulation.
    Section 5.2.    Existence. Each Credit Party and each Guarantor shall at all times preserve and keep in full force and effect its existence and all rights and franchises, licenses and permits material to its business.
    Section 5.3.    Payment of Taxes and Claims. The BorrowersBorrower and the Guarantors shall pay all Taxes imposed upon it or any of its properties or assets or in respect of any of its income, businesses or franchises before any penalty or fine accrues thereon, and all claims (including claims for labor, services, materials and supplies) for sums that have become due and payable and that by law have or may become a Lien upon any of its properties or assets, prior to the time when any penalty or fine shall be incurred with respect thereto; provided, that no such Tax or claim need be paid if it is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings promptly instituted and diligently conducted, so long as (a) adequate reserve or other appropriate provision, as shall be required in conformity with GAAP shall have been made therefor, and (b) in the case of a Tax or claim which has or may become a Lien against any of the Collateral, such contested proceedings conclusively operate to stay the sale of any portion of the Collateral to satisfy such Tax or claim. The BorrowersBorrower and the Guarantors shall not file or consent to the filing of any consolidated income tax return with any Person (other than the Company or any of its Subsidiaries).
    Section 5.4.    Compliance with Laws. (a) Each Credit Party and each Guarantor shall comply with the requirements of all applicable Legal Requirements, noncompliance with which could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.
    (b)    The BorrowersBorrower shall at all times comply in all material respects with the requirements of all Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Sanctions applicable to BorrowersBorrower and shall cause each other Credit Party and each Guarantor and each of its and their respective Subsidiaries to comply in all material respects with the requirements of all Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Sanctions applicable to such Persons.
    (c)    The BorrowersBorrower shall provide the Administrative Agent and the Lenders any information regarding the BorrowersBorrower, each other Credit Party, each Guarantor, and each of their respective owners, Affiliates, and Subsidiaries necessary for the Administrative Agent and each Lender to comply with all applicable Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws and Sanctions, subject however, in the case of Affiliates, to the BorrowersBorrower’s and Guarantors’ ability to provide information applicable to them.
    (d)    Each Borrower and each Guarantor will maintain in effect and enforce policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure compliance by the Credit Parties, the Guarantors, their Subsidiaries, and the Credit Parties’ and Guarantors’ and their Subsidiaries’ respective directors,
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officers, employees and agents with applicable Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti Money-Laundering Laws and Sanctions.
    Section 5.5.    Guaranties; Collateral; and Further Assurances.
    (a)     Guaranties. The payment and performance of the Secured Obligations shall at all times be guaranteed by the Company and, subject to the following sentence, each Subsidiary of the Company (other than Excluded Subsidiaries). In the event the Company or any other Guarantor forms or acquires any Subsidiary (other than an Excluded Subsidiary), the Company and the applicable Guarantor shall promptly (but in any event within 30 days, as may be extended by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion) upon such formation or acquisition (i) cause such Subsidiary to execute an Additional Guarantor Supplement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit I, together with a joinder to the Guarantor Security Agreement and such other Collateral Documents as the Administrative Agent may require and (ii) deliver to the Administrative Agent, at BorrowersBorrower’s cost and expense, such other instruments, documents, certificates and opinions reasonably required by the Administrative Agent in connection therewith.
    (b)    Collateral. The Secured Obligations shall be secured by valid, perfected, and enforceable Liens on all right, title, and interest of each Borrower and each Guarantor in all of its real property, personal property, and fixtures, whether now owned or hereafter acquired or arising, and all proceeds thereof; provided, however, that the Collateral shall not include Excluded Property. Each Borrower and each Guarantor agrees that it shall, from time to time at the request of any Agent, execute and deliver such documents and do such acts and things as such Agent may reasonably request in order to provide for or perfect or protect such Liens on the Collateral.
    (c)    Further Assurances. At any time or from time to time upon the request of the Administrative Agent, each Credit Party and each Guarantor will, at its expense, promptly execute, acknowledge and deliver such further documents and do such other acts and things as the Administrative Agent or the Collateral Agent may reasonably request of such Credit Party or Guarantor in order to effect fully the purposes of the Credit Documents, including providing any Lender with any information reasonably requested pursuant to Section 9.19.
    Section 5.6.    Separateness. Each Borrower acknowledges that the Lenders are entering into this Agreement in reliance upon such Borrower’s identity as a legal entity that is separate from any other Person. Therefore, from and after the date of this Agreement, each Borrower shall take all reasonable steps, including without limitation, all steps that the Administrative Agent may from time to time reasonably request, to maintain each Borrower’s identity as a separate legal entity and to make it manifest to third parties that each Borrower is a separate legal entity. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Borrower agrees that it has not and shall not (except as otherwise provided in the Credit Documents):
    (a)    fail to maintain its limited liability company existence and make independent decisions with respect to its daily operations and business affairs and, other than decisions of its member pursuant to the terms of the limited liability company
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agreement of such Borrower, fail to not to be controlled in making such decisions by any Affiliate thereof or any other Person;
    (b)    fail to file its own tax returns, if any, as may be required under applicable law, to the extent it is (i) not part of a consolidated group filing a consolidated return or returns, or (ii) not treated as a division for tax purposes of another taxpayer, and pay any taxes so required to be paid under applicable law;
    (c)    to the extent necessary for the operation of its business, (i) fail to maintain an email address not used by any Affiliate thereof, or (ii) share a telephone number or facsimile number with any such Affiliate;
    (d)    fail to pay its own liabilities only out of its own funds; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not require the member of such Borrower to make any additional capital contributions to such Borrower;
    (e)    fail to compensate (either directly or through reimbursement of its allocable share of any shared expenses) all employees, consultants and agents, and Affiliates of such Borrower, to the extent applicable, for services provided to such Borrower by such employees, consultants and agents or such Affiliates, in each case, from such Borrower’s own funds; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not require the member of such Borrower to make any additional capital contributions to such Borrower;
    (f)    either (i) make or declare any dividends or other distributions of cash or property to the holders of its equity securities or (ii) make redemptions or repurchases of its equity securities, in either case, on a periodic basis any more frequently than quarterly or otherwise, in certain other irregular cases, unless in each case made in accordance with appropriate limited liability company formalities and consistent with sound business judgment and Section 5.11;
    (g)    engage, either directly or indirectly, in any business or activity other than the acquisition, ownership, financing and disposition of the Receivables in accordance with the Credit Documents and activities incidental thereto;
    (h)    acquire or own any material asset other than the Collateral and proceeds thereof;
    (i)    merge into or consolidate with any Person or entity or be a party to any division or dissolve, terminate or liquidate in whole or in part, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets or change its legal structure, without in each case the Administrative Agent’s prior written consent;
    (j)    fail to preserve its existence as an entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing (if applicable) under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation, or without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, amend, modify, change,
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repeal, terminate or fail to comply with the provisions of such Borrower’s certificate of formation, or its limited liability company agreement, as the case may be;
    (k)    own any Subsidiary or make any investment in, any Person or entity without the consent of the Administrative Agent;
    (l)    commingle its assets with the assets of any of its general partners, members, Affiliates, principals or any other Person or entity;
    (m)    incur any Indebtedness except the Secured Obligations (including pursuant to Section 9.27);
    (n)    fail to remain Solvent; provided, that this provision shall not require the member of such Borrower to make additional capital contributions to such Borrower;
    (o)    fail to maintain its records, books of account and bank accounts, separate and apart from those of the general partners, members, principals and Affiliates of such Borrower or the Affiliates of a general partner or member of such Borrower or any other Person;
    (p)    except for the Credit Documents, and as otherwise expressly permitted by the Credit Documents, enter into any contract or agreement with any other Credit Party or Guarantor or any general partner, member, principal or Affiliate of any other Credit Party or Guarantor, except with the Administrative Agent’s consent and upon terms and conditions that are intrinsically fair and substantially similar to those that would be available on an arms-length basis with third parties other than any general partner, member, principal or Affiliate of the Company, any other Credit Party or Guarantor, or any general partner, member, principal or Affiliate thereof or fail to maintain separate financial statements from those of its general partners, members, principles and Affiliates; provided, however, that such Borrower’s financial position, assets, liabilities, net worth and operating results may be included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its Affiliates; provided, further, that such consolidated financial statements disclose that such Borrower is a separate legal entity and that its assets are not generally available to satisfy the claims of creditors of the Company and its Affiliates;
    (q)    seek the dissolution or winding up, in whole or in part, of such Borrower or take any action that would cause such Borrower to become insolvent;
    (r)    fail to take reasonable efforts to correct any misunderstanding known to such Borrower regarding the separate identity of such Borrower;
    (s)    maintain its assets in such a manner that it will be costly or difficult to segregate, ascertain or identify its individual assets from those of any other Person;
    (t)    except as provided in the Credit Documents, assume or guaranty the debts of any other Person, hold itself out to be responsible for the debts of any other Person, or
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otherwise pledge its assets for the benefit of any other Person or hold out its credit as being available to satisfy the obligations of any other Person;
    (u)    except as provided in the Credit Documents, make any loans or advances to any third party, including any general partner, member, principal or Affiliate of such Borrower, or any general partner, member, principal or Affiliate thereof;
    (v)    fail either to hold itself out to the public as a legal entity separate and distinct from any other entity or Person or to conduct its business solely in its own name in order not (i) to mislead others as to the identity with which such other party is transacting business, or (ii) to suggest that such Borrower is responsible for the debts of any third party (including any general partner, member, principal or Affiliate of such Borrower, or any general partner, member, principal or Affiliate thereof);
    (w)    fail to maintain adequate capital for the normal obligations reasonably foreseeable in a business of its size and character and in light of its contemplated business operations to the extent there exists sufficient cash flow from Collections to do so after payment of the Secured Obligations, and this provision shall not require the member of such Borrower to make additional capital contributions to such Borrower;
    (x)    file or consent to the filing of any petition, either voluntary or involuntary, to take advantage of any applicable insolvency, bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization statute, or make an assignment for the benefit of creditors;
    (y)    hold itself out as or be considered as a department or division (other than for tax purposes) of any general partner, principal, member or Affiliate of such Borrower or any other Person or entity;
    (z)    fail to allocate fairly and reasonably shared expenses (including, without limitation, shared office space and services performed by an employee of an Affiliate) among the Persons sharing such expenses and to use separate stationery, invoices and checks;
    (aa)    acquire obligations or securities of its partners, members, shareholders or other Affiliates, as applicable;
    (bb)    fail to have Organizational Documents that provide that, so long as the Obligations of such Borrower shall be outstanding, such Borrower shall not (i) seek the dissolution or winding up in whole, or in part, of such Borrower, or (ii) file or consent to the filing of any petition, either voluntary or involuntary, or commence a case under any applicable insolvency, bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization statute, or make an assignment for the benefit of creditors without the consent of the Independent Director;
    (cc)    fail to cause its members, managers, directors, officers, agents and other representatives to act at all times with respect to such Borrower consistently and in furtherance of the foregoing and in the best interests of such Borrower; and
-90-


    (dd)    fail to observe all requisite organizational formalities under Delaware law.
In the event of any inconsistency between the covenants set forth in this Section 5.6 or the other covenants set forth in this Agreement, or in the event that any covenant set forth in this Section 5.6 poses a greater restriction or obligation than is set forth elsewhere in this Agreement, the covenants set forth in this Section 5.6 shall control. The Company will not take any action inconsistent with the terms of this Section 5.6 and has taken such actions and implemented such procedures as are necessary on its part to ensure that the Company and each of its Affiliates will take all steps necessary to maintain each Borrower’s identity as a separate legal entity from the Company and its Affiliates and to make it manifest to third parties that each such Borrower is an entity with assets and liabilities distinct from those of the Company and its Affiliates.
    Section 5.7.    Cash Management Systems.     Each Borrower shall establish and maintain cash management systems as set forth below.
    (a)    Cash Management System. (i) Each Borrower shall have established, or have caused the Servicer to establish, pursuant to the applicable Collection Account Control Agreement for the benefit of the Collateral Agent, on behalf of the Secured Parties, athe Collection Account as described in Section 2.9 into which Collections in respect of the Receivables of such Borrower shall be deposited.
    (ii)    Each Borrower shall have established, or have caused the Servicer to establish, pursuant to the applicable Disbursement Account Control Agreement for the benefit of the Collateral Agent, on behalf of the Secured Parties, athe Disbursement Account as described in Section 2.9 into which certain Collections in respect of the Receivables of such Borrower and all amounts on deposit in the applicable Collection Account shall be deposited.
    (iii)    Each Borrower and the Company will instruct (or otherwise cause) (1) each Obligor to make all payments with respect to Receivables of such Borrower directly to the applicable Collection Account (or, if required by Section 2.02(e) of the Servicing Agreement, directly to the Lockbox) as set forth in Section 5.7(b) below, (2) the Lockbox Bank to deposit all amounts received in the Lockbox to the applicable Collection Account, (3) the applicable Collection Account Bank to deposit all amounts on deposit in the applicable Collection Account into the applicable Disbursement Account and (4) the Servicer to deposit all other amounts received by it with respect to the Receivables of such Borrower into the applicable Collection Account, in accordance with the instructions of the Collateral Agent (the “Cash Management System”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the requirements of this Section 5.7(a)(iii) shall be subject to the post-closing periods set forth in Section 5.B(ii) of the Sixth Amendment.
    (iv)    No Borrower shall establish any new Cash Management System without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, and prior to establishing any such new Cash Management System, the applicable Borrower shall cause each bank, financial institution or post office box, as applicable, with which it seeks to establish such a Cash Management System to enter into a control agreement similar to the applicable Collection Account Control Agreement. Each Borrower shall provide, cause to be provided or cause the
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Servicer to provide, to the Collateral Agent remote, view-only access to itsthe Collection Account and Disbursement Account.
    (v)    Without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, each Borrower shall not, in a manner adverse to the Collateral Agent, (a) change the general instructions given to the Servicer in respect of payments on account of Receivables to be deposited in the Cash Management System, or (b) change any instructions given to any bank or financial institution which in any manner redirects the proceeds of any collections in the Cash Management System to any account which is not subject to a control agreement in favor of the Collateral Agent.
    (vi)    Each Borrower acknowledges and agrees that the funds on deposit in itsthe Collection Account and Disbursement Account shall continue to be collateral security for the Secured Obligations secured thereby.
    (b)    Receivables Payment Collection. The BorrowersBorrower and the Company each agree to cause the Servicer (i) to instruct or otherwise cause each Obligor to make all payments with respect to Receivables (a) to the extent paid by credit card, electronic check, ACH payment or wire transfer, directly into the applicable Collection Account and (b) to the extent paid by cash, checks, notes, drafts, bills of exchange or money orders, directly to the applicable Collection Account (or, if required by Section 2.02(e) of the Servicing Agreement, directly to the Lockbox) and (ii) promptly (and, except as set forth in the proviso to this Section 5.7(b), in no event later than two (2)    Business Days following receipt) to deposit all Collections received directly by the applicable Borrower or the Servicer, whether in the form of cash, checks, notes, drafts, bills of exchange, money orders, credit card payments, electronic payments, ACH payments or otherwise, into the applicable Collection Account in precisely the form in which they are received (but with any endorsements of the applicable Borrower or the Servicer, as applicable, necessary for deposit or collection), and until they are so deposited to hold such payments in trust for and as the property of the Collateral Agent (provided, however, that with respect to any payment received that does not contain sufficient identification of the account number to which such payment relates or cannot be processed due to an act beyond the control of the applicable Borrower or the Servicer, such deposit shall be made no later than the second (2nd) Business Day following the date on which such account number is identified or such payment can be processed, as applicable).
    Section 5.8.    Insurance. The Company shall maintain in force (a) an “errors and omissions” insurance policy in an amount not less than $[***], (b) an employee fidelity insurance policy in an amount not less than $[***], and (c) property and casualty insurance in an amount acceptable to the Administrative Agent, in each case, (i) shall cover the BorrowersBorrower, the Guarantors and the Servicer, (ii) in a form reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent, (iii) with an insurance company reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent, and (iv) except with respect to its professional liability policy, naming the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, as additional insured or lender’s loss payee, as applicable. Unless otherwise directed by the Administrative Agent, the Company shall prepare and present, on behalf of itself, the BorrowersBorrower, the Guarantors, the Servicer, the Administrative Agent and the Secured Parties, claims under any such policy in a timely fashion in accordance with the terms of such policy, and upon the filing of any claim on any policy
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described in this Section 5.8, the BorrowersBorrower, the Company, the other Guarantors, or the Servicer, as the case may be, shall promptly notify the Administrative Agent of such claim and deposit, or cause to be deposited, the Net Insurance Proceeds of any such claim into the applicable Disbursement Account to the extent related to the Receivables or the Credit Documents. Prior to the Closing Date and annually thereafter, the Company shall deliver copies of such policies to the Administrative Agent together with a certification from the applicable insurance company that such policy is in force on such date. The Company shall deliver proof of maintenance of such policies and payment of premiums no less frequently than annually, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent.
    Section 5.9.    Financial Statements and other Information.
    (a)    Annual Financial Statements. (i) As soon as available and no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days after the end of each Fiscal Year, commencing with the Fiscal Year ending December 31, 2019, the Company shall deliver to the Administrative Agent one (1) copy of: (A)(x) the audited consolidated and consolidating balance sheets of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries (including the BorrowersBorrower), (y) the unaudited balance sheets of each Borrower, and (z) its unconsolidated audited balance sheets, in each case, as of the end of such Fiscal Year and (B)(x) the audited consolidated and consolidating statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries (including the BorrowersBorrower), (y) the unaudited statements of income and stockholders’ equity of each Borrower, and (z) its unconsolidated audited statements of income and stockholders’ equity each for such Fiscal Year, and in each case, setting forth in comparative form the figures for the previous Fiscal Year and accompanied by an opinion of the Independent Accountants stating that such balance sheet and financial statements present fairly the financial condition and results of operation of the companies being reported upon and have been prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied (except for changes in application in which such accountants concur).
    (b)    Monthly Financial Statements. As soon as available and no later than thirty-five (35) days after the end of each calendar month, the Company shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Administrative Agent one (1) copy of: (A)(x) the unaudited consolidated balance sheets of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries (including the BorrowersBorrower), (y) the unaudited balance sheets of each Borrower, and (z) its unconsolidated unaudited balance    sheets, in each case, as of the end of such calendar month, (B)(x) the unaudited consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries (including the BorrowersBorrower), (y) the unaudited statements of income and stockholders’ equity of each Borrower, and (z) its unconsolidated unaudited statements of income and stockholders’ equity each as of the end of such calendar month, and (C) a Borrower-prepared data tape of all Receivables of such Borrower and the Contracts related thereto, static loss, collections, and delinquency reports, new business originated, cash collections, loss reserve analysis and other reports used in the preparation of each Borrower’s business model heretofore delivered to the Agents and the Lenders, and in each case, which shall be prepared and presented in accordance with, and provide all necessary disclosure (other than footnote disclosure) required by, GAAP and shall be accompanied by a certificate signed by the president, financial vice president, treasurer, chief financial officer, chief
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investment officer or controller of the Company or another officer of the Company acceptable to the Administrative Agent stating that such balance sheet and financial statements presents fairly the financial condition and results of operation of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries and has been prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied. Any financial statements delivered pursuant to this Section 5.9(b) may be subject to adjustment in accordance with GAAP upon delivery of the financial statements required under Section 5.9(a).
    (c)    Compliance Certificates. With each of the financial statements delivered pursuant to subsections (a) and (b) above, a Compliance Certificate signed by an Authorized Officer of each Borrower and the Company to the effect that to the best of such officer’s knowledge and belief no Tier 2 Collateral Trigger has occurred and no Default or Event of Default or Servicer Default has occurred during the period covered by such statements or, if any such Default or Event of Default or Servicer Default has occurred during such period, setting forth a description of such Default, Event of Default or Servicer Default and specifying the action, if any, taken by the relevant Credit Party to remedy the same. Such certificate shall also set forth the calculations supporting such statements in respect of Section 5.11.
    (d)    Borrowing Base Certificates. No later than three (3) Business Days following each Reporting Date (other than a Reporting Date occurring during the Suspension Period), a Borrowing Base Certificate showing the computation of the Borrowing Base in reasonable detail as of such Reporting Date, prepared by eachthe Borrower and certified to by an Authorized Officer of such Borrower.
    (e)    [***]
    Section 5.10.    Due Diligence; Access to Certain Documentation. (a) The Administrative Agent (and its agents or professional advisors) shall have the right under this Agreement, from time to time, so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing upon two (2) Business Days’ prior notice to the relevant party (or, during the continuance of an Event of Default, at any time, in their sole discretion), to examine and audit, during business hours or at such other times as might be reasonable under applicable circumstances, any and all of the books, records, financial statements, credit and collection policies, legal and regulatory compliance, operating and reporting procedures and information systems (including without limitation customer service and/or whistleblower hotlines), directors, officers and key employees of the Guarantors and Credit Parties, or held by another Person for a Credit Party or Guarantor or on its behalf, concerning or otherwise affecting the Company Receivables or the Credit Documents. The Administrative Agent (and its agents and professional advisors) shall treat as confidential any information obtained during the aforementioned examinations which is not already publicly known or available; provided, however, that the Administrative Agent (and its agents or professional advisors) may disclose such information if required to do so by law or by any regulatory authority.
    (b)    So long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and no Tier 2 Collateral trigger has occurred upon two (2) Business Days’ prior notice to the relevant party (or, during the continuance of an Event of Default or upon the occurrence of any Tier 2 Collateral trigger, at any time, in their sole discretion) and during regular business hours, each Credit Party
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and each Guarantor agrees to promptly provide the Administrative Agent (and its agents or professional advisors) with access to, copies of and extracts from any and all documents, records, agreements, instruments or information (including, without limitation, any of the foregoing in computer data banks and computer software systems) which the Administrative Agent (and its agents or professional advisors) may reasonably require in order to conduct periodic due diligence relating to the Guarantors and the Credit Parties in connection with the Company Receivables and the Credit Documents.
    (c)    Each Credit Party and each Guarantor will make available to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders (and their respective agents or professional advisors) knowledgeable financial, accounting, legal and compliance officers for the purpose of answering questions with respect to the Guarantors and the Credit Parties and the Company Receivables and to assist in the Administrative Agent’s and/or the Lenders’ diligence. In addition, the BorrowersBorrower shall provide, or shall cause the Servicer to provide, the Administrative Agent with remote access to any electronic Receivable Files and any related documents. Each Credit Party agrees that the Administrative Agent will have the right to confirm any information relating to the Receivables directly with the applicable Obligors.
    (d)    All reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders (and their respective agents or professional advisors) in connection with the due diligence and other matters outlined in this Section 5.10 shall be Permitted Expenses (subject to the limitations set forth in the definition thereof), which the BorrowersBorrower shall reimburse to the Administrative Agent or the Lenders, as applicable, or shall pay or cause to be paid; provided, however, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, so long as no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the BorrowersBorrower shall not be obligated to reimburse the Administrative Agent and the Lenders for more than two (2) such visits per Fiscal Year and the aggregate costs and expenses of such examinations and audits shall not exceed $[***] per Fiscal Year.
    (e)    Prior to the occurrence of a Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger or an Event of Default, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, collectively, expect to conduct no more than two (2) examination or audit pursuant to this Section 5.10 per Fiscal Year; provided that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders hereby reserve the right to increase the frequency and scope of their examinations and audits conducted pursuant to this Section 5.10 in their sole discretion at any time and from time to time.
    Section 5.11.    Financial Covenants.
    (a)    Company Financial Covenants. As of the last day of each fiscal month ending on or after June 30, 2022, the Company shall report to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders:
    (i)    Total Adjusted Debt to EBITDA Ratio. As of the last day of each fiscal month ending on or after July 31, 2021, theThe ratio of (x) Total Adjusted Debt (Company) to (y) Adjusted EBITDA (Company) shall not be greater than [***].
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    (ii)    Interest Coverage Ratio. As of the last day of each fiscal month ending on or after July 31, 2021 (other than the fiscal months ending March 31, 2022 through and including July 31, 2022), the Interest Coverage Ratio shall not be less than (x) [***] or (y) [***]. For the fiscal months ending March 31, 2022 through and including July 31, 2022, (1) [***] and (2) the Interest Coverage Ratio as of the last day of each such fiscal month shall not be less than: (a) [***]; (b) [***]; (c) [***]; (d) [***]; and (e) [***]The Interest Coverage Ratio.
    (iii)    Cash Collection Ratio. As of the last day of each fiscal month ending on or after July 31, 2021, forFor the six (6) months then ended, the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of (x) the average Cash Collections during such six-month period to (y) the average total principal balance of consumer installment loans, consumer lines of credit and other finance receivables of the Company and its Subsidiaries over such six-month period shall be no less than [***]%.
    (iv)    Maximum Net Charge-Offs. As of the last day of each fiscal month ending on or after July 31, 2021, forFor the six (6) months then ended, the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of (A) charge-offs of consumer installment loans, consumer lines of credit and other finance receivables of the Company and its Subsidiaries (net of recoveries thereon) in accordance with the Credit Policies during the six (6) months then ended to (B) the average month-end balance of consumer installment loans, consumer lines of credit and other finance receivables of the Company and its Subsidiaries over the six (6) month period then ended (exclusive of interest and fees before any allowance and fair market value premium mark -up), shall not be greater than [***]%.
For the avoidance of doubt and notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the undersigned hereby acknowledge and agreed that, upon effectiveness of the Fifth Amendment, the only the financial covenants required to be tested pursuant toset forth in this Section 5.11(a) as of the measurement period ending July 31, 2021 are the foregoing financial covenants, as amended and restated by the Fifth Amendmentshall be tested and reported to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders as of the last date of each fiscal month on or after the Eighth Amendment Effective Date, during the Suspension Period without any minimum or maximum threshold requirements.
    (b)    OF IV Borrower Financial Covenants. As of the last day of each fiscal month ending on or after June 30, 2022, Borrower shall report to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders:
    (i)    Adjusted Tangible Net Worth (Borrower). As of the last day of each fiscal month ending on or after July 31, 2021, theThe Adjusted Tangible Net Worth (Borrower) of OF IV Borrower shall not be less than $[***].
    (ii)    Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (OF IV Borrower). As of the last day of each fiscal month ending on or after July 31, 2021, the. The Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (OF IV Borrower) shall be less than [***]%.
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    (iii)    Minimum Commitment Availability (OF IV Borrower). Commencing with the Fifth Amendment Effective Date and at all times thereafter, Commitment Availability (OF IV Borrower) shall be equal to or greater than $[***].
    (iv)    Restricted Payments. OV IF Borrower shall not (a) declare or pay any dividends on or make any other distributions in respect of any class or series of its Securities, or (b) directly or indirectly purchase, redeem, or otherwise acquire or retire any of its Securities or any warrants, options, or similar instruments to acquire the same, in each case without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, other than tax distributions up to the Permitted Tax Distribution Amount.
For the avoidance of doubt and notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the undersigned hereby acknowledge and agreed that, upon effectiveness of the Fifth Amendment, the only the financial covenants required to be tested pursuant toset forth in this Section 5.11(b) as of the measurement period ending July 31, 2021 are the foregoing financial covenants, as amendedshall be tested and reported to the Administrative Agent and restated by the Fifth AmendmentLenders as of the last date of each fiscal month on or after the Eighth Amendment Effective Date, during the Suspension Period without any minimum or maximum threshold requirements.

    (c)    STF Borrower Financial Covenants.
    (i)    Adjusted Tangible Net Worth (Borrower). As of the last day of each fiscal month ending on or after September 30, 2021, the Adjusted Tangible Net Worth (Borrower) of STF Borrower shall not be less than (x) for each measurement period ending on or prior to September 30, 2022, $[***]; and (y) for each measurement period ending on or after October 31, 2022, $[***].
    (ii)    Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (STF Borrower). As of the last day of each fiscal month ending on or after September 30, 2021, the Loan Receivable Quality Ratio (STF Borrower) shall be less than [***]%.
    (iii)    Minimum Commitment Availability (STF Borrower). Commencing with the Sixth Amendment Effective Date and at all times thereafter, Commitment Availability (STF Borrower) shall be equal to or greater than (x) to the extent the outstanding principal amount of the Loans as of the date of determination is less than or equal to $[***], $[***] and (y) to the extent the outstanding principal amount of the Loans as of the date of determination is greater than $[***], $[***].
    (iv)    Restricted Payments. STFNo Borrower shall not (a) declare or pay any dividends on or make any other distributions in respect of any class or series of its Securities, or (b) directly or indirectly purchase, redeem, or otherwise acquire or retire any of its Securities or any warrants, options, or similar instruments to acquire the same, in each case without the prior
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written consent of the Administrative Agent, other than tax distributions up to the Permitted Tax Distribution Amount.
    Section 5.12.    Most Favored Lender Status. In the event that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including Financing Subsidiaries) shall, directly or indirectly, be a party to or enter into or otherwise consent to any agreement or instrument (or any amendment, supplement or modification thereto) under which, directly or indirectly, any Person or Persons undertakes to make or provide credit or loans to, or agree to purchase working capital assets of, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including Financing Subsidiaries), including, without limitation, any instrument, document or indenture relating to any Indebtedness, which agreement (or amendment thereto) provides such Person with more restrictive borrowing base or related eligibility criteria against Contracts or senior leverage ratio covenant than are provided in this Agreement when calculated consistent with the definitions set forth in this Agreement, the Company shall provide the Agents and the Lenders with a copy of each such agreement (or amendment thereto) and such more restrictive borrowing base or eligibility criteria against Contracts or senior leverage ratio covenant shall automatically be deemed to be incorporated into this Agreement in a manner that is consistent with the definitions set forth in this Agreement, and the Agents and the Lenders shall have the benefits of such more restrictive borrowing base and eligibility criteria against Contracts and senior leverage ratio covenant as if specifically set forth herein and applied for the benefit of the holders of the Secured Obligations and the interest of the Agents and/or the Lenders in the Collateral (and no amendment, modification, or waiver of any such more restrictive borrowing base or eligibility criteria against Contracts or senior leverage ratio covenant incorporated herein by reference shall be effective against the Agents or the Lenders unless consented to by the Required Lenders). Upon the written request of the Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders, the BorrowersBorrower shall promptly enter into an amendment to this Agreement to so include such more restrictive borrowing base and/or eligibility criteria against Contracts and/or senior leverage ratio covenant, provided that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall maintain the benefit of such more restrictive borrowing base and eligibility criteria against Contracts and senior leverage ratio covenant even if the Administrative Agent or Required Lenders fail to make such request or the BorrowersBorrower fails to provide such amendment.
    Section 5.13.    Purchase of Additional Receivables. (a) The Collateral Agent shall, upon satisfaction of the conditions precedent specified in Section 3.3(a) and in accordance with Section 2.10(c) direct the applicable Disbursement Account Bank to release available funds in the applicable Disbursement Account in the amount specified in the related Funds Release Request (subject to the Facility Availability), to the applicable Borrower not later than 1:00 p.m. (Chicago, Illinois time) on the Release Date by wire transfer of same day funds in Dollars, to such account as may be designated in writing to the Collateral Agent by the applicable Borrower; provided, however, that the Collateral Agent shall have no liability for any delay by the Disbursement Account Bank in transferring such funds.
    (b)    Unless otherwise permitted by the Collateral Agent in its sole and absolute discretion (x) no more than three (3) such requests for funds shall be made per calendar week and (y) in no event will the BorrowersBorrower engage in Borrowing Base Actions on more than three (3) Business Days per calendar week.
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    Section 5.14.    Negative Pledge. The Guarantors hereby agree not to, directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Lien on the Capital Stock of any Borrower. The Guarantors hereby further agree not to transfer or otherwise convey all or any portion of the Capital Stock of any Borrower other than to another Guarantor subject to this Agreement.
    Section 5.15.    Account Notices. The Credit Parties shall forward to the Administrative Agent promptly, but in any event within two (2) Business Days of receipt, any notice of termination or of any default by any party thereto or of any adverse claims received pursuant to the Collection Account Control AgreementsAgreement. The Credit Parties shall forward to the Administrative Agent promptly, but in any event within two (2) Business Days of receipt, any notice of termination or of any default by any party thereto or of any adverse claims received pursuant to the Disbursement Account Control AgreementsAgreement.
    Section 5.16.    Business Activities. Each Borrower covenants and agrees that it shall not engage in any business other than acquiring, holding, administering and disposing of Receivables and entering into the transactions contemplated by the Credit Documents without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. Neither the Company nor any other Guarantor shall engage in any business or activity if as a result the general nature of the business of the Company or such Guarantor would be changed in any material respect from the general nature of the business engaged in by the Company as of the date of this Agreement (and reasonable extensions thereof and any business or businesses ancillary or complementary thereto, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the financing of consumer credit card receivables and salary deduction loans).
    Section 5.17.    Bank Partner Originated Receivables; Transfer of Title. The Company agrees and acknowledges that the Administrative Agent shall have the right to cause title to each loan related to a Bank Partner Originated Receivable to be transferred to the BorrowersBorrower in accordance with the applicable Bank Partner Sale Agreement at any time during the continuance of a Bank Partner Originator Regulatory Trigger Event, a Regulatory Trigger Event, a Default, an Event of Default or the occurrence of a material adverse change with respect to the business, operations, assets, financial condition or liabilities of the applicable Bank Partner Originator, which, in the determination of the Administrative Agent following consultation with the Company, is reasonably likely to adversely affect the Receivables or the rights of the Agents or Lenders under the Credit Documents, or at any other time that the Administrative Agent determines, in its reasonable discretion, that such transfer is necessary to protect the interests of the Collateral Agent in the Collateral. In connection with the foregoing, the Company shall promptly, but in any event within five (5) Business Days of actual knowledge or receipt of notice thereof, notify the Administrative Agent, in writing, of any material adverse change with respect to the business, operations, assets, financial condition or liabilities of any Bank Partner Originator. The Company shall, at its expense, promptly execute, acknowledge and deliver such further documents and take such other actions as the Bank Partner Originator, the Administrative Agent or the Collateral Agent may reasonably request in order to effect such transfer of title. Neither the Bank Partner Originator nor any Credit Party will send any texts without the Administrative Agent’s prior written consent or send any telemarketing texts without the recipient’s prior express written consent.
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    Section 5.18.    ERISA. Promptly upon any Authorized Officer of any Credit Party or any Guarantor becoming aware of the occurrence of or forthcoming occurrence of any ERISA Event, the applicable Credit Party or Guarantor shall deliver to each Agent and each Lender: (i) a written notice specifying the nature thereof, what actions the Guarantors or Credit Parties or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates has taken, is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto and, when known, any action taken or threatened by the Internal Revenue Service, the Department of Labor or the PBGC with respect thereto; and (ii) with reasonable promptness, copies of (1) the most recent Schedule SB (Actuarial Information) to the annual report (Form 5500 Series) filed by any Credit Party or any Guarantor or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates with the Internal Revenue Service with respect to each affected Plan; (2) all notices received by any Credit Party or any Guarantor or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates from a Multiemployer Plan sponsor concerning an ERISA Event; and (3) copies of such other documents or governmental reports or filings relating to any affected Plan of the Guarantors or the Credit Parties or their respective ERISA Affiliates (with respect to an affected Multiemployer Plan, to the extent that the Guarantors or the Credit Parties have rights to access such documents, reports or filings), as any Agent or Lender shall reasonably request.
Section 6.    Negative Covenants
Each Credit Party and each Guarantor covenants and agrees that so long as any Revolving Commitment is in effect and until payment in full of all of the Secured Obligations (other than contingent indemnification obligations for which no claim, demand or notice has been made), it shall perform, and ensure that each applicable Affiliate performs, all covenants applicable to it in this Section 6.
    Section 6.1.    Indebtedness. Neither any Borrower nor any Guarantor shall directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume or guaranty, or otherwise become or remain directly or indirectly liable with respect to any Indebtedness, except:
    (a)    the Secured Obligations;
    (b)    with respect to the Guarantors, the Indebtedness under the Atalaya Subordinated Loan Agreement, provided such Indebtedness is at all times subject to the Atalaya Subordination and Intercreditor Agreement;
    (c)    unsecured Qualifying Subordinated Debt;
    (d)    Indebtedness existing as of the Fourth Amendment Effective Date, including Indebtedness to be refinanced pursuant to the Fourth Amendment Effective Date Refinancing;
    (e)    Indebtedness of OppWin, OppWin ST and OppWin Card, LLC solely to the extent required to comply with its obligations under the Bank Partner Program Agreements;
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    (f)    Permitted Refinancing of any of the Indebtedness described in clauses (a) through (e) above;
    (g)    with respect to the Guarantors, purchase money Indebtedness and Capital Lease obligations in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $2,500,000 in the aggregate at any one time outstanding;
    (h)    obligations of the Guarantors arising out of interest rate, foreign currency, and commodity hedging agreements entered into with financial institutions in connection with bona fide hedging activities in the ordinary course of business and not for speculative purposes;
    (i)    Indebtedness constituting Standard Securitization Undertakings;
    (j)    guarantees of Indebtedness under Permitted Full Recourse SPV Facilities;
    (k)    endorsement of items for deposit or collection of commercial paper received in the ordinary course of business;
    (l)    Indebtedness in respect of (i) workers’ compensation claims, unemployment insurance and other types of social security and employee health and disability benefits, or casualty-liability insurance, payment obligations in connection with self-insurance or similar requirements, and (ii) tenders, completion guarantees, statutory obligations, surety, environmental or appeal bonds, bids, leases, government contracts, contracts (other than for borrowed money), performance bonds or other obligations of a like nature;
    (m)    Indebtedness arising from agreements of the Guarantors providing for the indemnification, adjustment of purchase price, earn-out, royalty, milestone or similar obligations, in each case assumed with the acquisition or disposition of any business or Person permitted hereunder;
    (n)    Indebtedness incurred by the Guarantors consisting of the financing of insurance premiums in the ordinary course of business in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $2,500,000 at any time;
    (o)    Indebtedness incurred in the ordinary course of business in respect of netting services, overdraft protections, employee credit card programs and other similar services in connection with cash management and deposit accounts, Indebtedness in connection with drafts payable for payroll and other ordinary course expense items, and Indebtedness owed to depository banks for returned items incurred in the ordinary course of business;
    (p)    to the extent constituting Indebtedness, Indebtedness representing any taxes, assessments or governmental charges to the extent such taxes are being contested
-101-


in good faith and adequate reserves have been provided therefor in conformity with GAAP; and
    (q)    other unsecured indebtedness of the Guarantors in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $2,500,000 at any one time outstanding.
    Section 6.2.    Liens. Neither anyThe Borrower nor any Guarantor shall, directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Lien on or with respect to any property or asset of any kind (including any document or instrument in respect of goods or accounts receivable) of the BorrowersBorrower or the Guarantors whether now owned or hereafter acquired, or any income or profits therefrom, or file or permit the filing of, or permit to remain in effect, any financing statement or other similar notice of any Lien with respect to any such property, asset, income or profits under the UCC of any State or under any similar recording or notice statute, except for Permitted Liens.
    Section 6.3.    Investments; Subsidiaries.
    (a)    BorrowersBorrower. The BorrowersBorrower shall not make or own any Investment, except Investments in Cash and Receivables. The BorrowersBorrower shall not form or acquire any Subsidiaries.
    (b)    Guarantors. The Guarantors shall not make or own any Investment, except Permitted Investments. The Guarantors shall not form or acquire any Subsidiaries, other than Excluded Subsidiaries and Subsidiaries that become Guarantors pursuant to (and subject to the time period provided in) Section 5.5.
    Section 6.4.    Fundamental Changes; Disposition of Assets; Acquisitions.
    (a)    BorrowersBorrower. The BorrowersBorrower shall not (i) enter into any transaction of merger or consolidation or division, or liquidate, wind-up or dissolve itself (or suffer any liquidation or dissolution), or (ii) convey, sell, lease or sub-lease (as lessor or sublessor), exchange, transfer or otherwise dispose of, in one transaction or a series of transactions, all or any part of its business, assets (including, but not limited to, the Receivables) or property of any kind whatsoever, whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, except as otherwise permitted in the Credit Documents, or (iii) acquire by purchase or otherwise the business, property or fixed assets of, or stock or other evidence of beneficial ownership of, any Person or any division or line of business or other business unit of any Person, except Investments made in compliance with Section 6.3.
    (b)    Guarantors and Credit Parties. No Credit Party or Guarantor (other than the BorrowersBorrower) shall (a) enter into any transaction of merger or consolidation in which a Credit Party or Guarantor is not the surviving entity, or enter into any division, or liquidate, wind-up or dissolve itself (or suffer any liquidation or dissolution) or (b) convey, sell, lease or sub-lease (as lessor or sublessor), exchange, transfer or otherwise dispose of, in one transaction or a series of transactions, all or substantially all of its business, assets (including, but not limited to, the Receivables) or property of any kind whatsoever, whether real, personal or mixed and
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whether tangible or intangible, whether now owned or hereafter acquired except as otherwise permitted in the Credit Documents (including, without limitation, Section 6.14 hereof), in each case, without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent; provided that, the Credit Parties and Guarantors may consummate the SPAC Transaction.
    Section 6.5.    Material Contracts and Organizational Documents.
    (a)    BorrowersBorrower. The BorrowersBorrower shall not (i) enter into any Material Contract with any Person (other than the Credit Documents being entered into on or about the date hereof), (ii) agree to any material amendment, restatement, supplement or other modification to, or waiver of, any of its material rights under any Related Agreement after the Closing Date, or (iii) materially amend or permit any material amendments to its Organizational Documents, without in each case obtaining the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent to such entry, amendment, restatement, supplement, modification or waiver, as the case may be.
    (b)    Guarantors. No Guarantor shall (i) agree to any material amendment, restatement, supplement or other modification to, or waiver of, any of its material rights under any Related Agreement after the Closing Date, or (ii) except in connection with the SPAC Transaction, materially amend or permit any material amendments to its Organizational Documents in a manner adverse to the interests of the Lenders, without in each case obtaining the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent to such entry, amendment, restatement, supplement, modification or waiver, as the case may be.
    Section 6.6.    Sales and Lease-Backs.
    (a)    BorrowersBorrower. The BorrowersBorrower shall not directly or indirectly become or remain liable as lessee or as a guarantor or other surety with respect to any lease of any property (whether real, personal or mixed), whether now owned or hereafter acquired, which each Borrower (a) has sold or transferred or is to sell or to transfer to any other Person, or (b) intends to use for substantially the same purpose as any other property which has been or is to be sold or transferred by such Borrower to any Person in connection with such lease.
    (b)    Guarantors. No Guarantor shall directly or indirectly become or remain liable as lessee or as a guarantor or other surety with respect to any lease of any property (whether real, personal or mixed), whether now owned or hereafter acquired, which any Guarantor (a) has sold or transferred or is to sell or to transfer to any other Person, or (b) intends to use for substantially the same purpose as any other property which has been or is to be sold or transferred by any Guarantor to any Person in connection with such lease.
    Section 6.7.    Transactions with Shareholders and Affiliates.
    (a)    BorrowersBorrower. The BorrowersBorrower shall not, directly or indirectly, enter into or permit to exist any transaction (including the purchase, sale, lease or exchange of any property or the rendering of any service) with any of its Affiliates other than the transactions contemplated by the Credit Documents.
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    (b)    Guarantors. No Guarantor shall, directly or indirectly, enter into or permit to exist any transaction (including the purchase, sale, lease or exchange of any property or the rendering of any service) with any of its Affiliates other than (i) the transactions contemplated by the Credit Documents and (ii) contracts, agreements and business arrangements with any of its Affiliates on terms and conditions which are no less favorable to such Guarantor than would be usual and customary in similar contracts, agreements or business arrangements between Persons not affiliated with each other.
    Section 6.8.    Conduct of Business.
    (a)    BorrowersBorrower. The BorrowersBorrower shall not engage in any business other than the businesses engaged in by the BorrowersBorrower on the SixthEighth Amendment Effective Date.
    (b)    Guarantors. No Guarantor shall, nor shall it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, engage in any business or activity if as a result the general nature of the business of such Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries would be changed in any material respect from the general nature of the business engaged in by it as of the Sixth Amendment Effective Date (and reasonable extensions thereof and any business or businesses ancillary or complementary thereto, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the financing of consumer credit card receivables and salary deduction loans).
    Section 6.9.    Fiscal Year. No Credit Party or Guarantor shall change its Fiscal Year.
    Section 6.10.    Accounts.
    (a)    BorrowersBorrower. No Borrower shall establish or maintain any deposit account or a securities account that is not subject to a “control agreement” in favor of the Collateral Agent. No Borrower shall, nor shall it direct any Person to, deposit Collections in a deposit account or a securities account that is not such Borrower’s Collection Account or Disbursement Account.
    (b)    Guarantors. No Guarantor shall establish or maintain any deposit account or a securities account that is not subject to a “control agreement” in favor of the Collateral Agent, except for Excluded Accounts (as defined in the Guarantor Security Agreement).
    Section 6.11.    Prepayments of Certain Indebtedness.
    (a)    BorrowersBorrower. The BorrowersBorrower shall not, directly or indirectly, voluntarily purchase, redeem, defease or prepay any principal of, premium, if any, interest or other amount payable in respect of any Indebtedness prior to its scheduled maturity, other than the Secured Obligations.
    (b)    Guarantors. No Guarantor shall, directly or indirectly, voluntarily purchase, redeem, defease or prepay any principal of, premium, if any, interest or other amount payable in respect of any Indebtedness prior to its scheduled maturity, other than (i) the Indebtedness under
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the Atalaya Subordinated Loan Agreement to the extent expressly permitted by the Atalaya Subordination and Intercreditor Agreement; and (ii) unsecured Qualifying Subordinated Debt in connection with the Fourth Amendment Effective Date Refinancing.
    Section 6.12.    Servicing Agreement and Backup Servicing Agreement. The BorrowersBorrower shall not (a)     terminate the Servicing Agreement or the Backup Servicing Agreement, or (b) designate a replacement servicer other than the Backup Servicer, in each case, without the consent of the Administrative Agent.
    Section 6.13.    Independent Director. The BorrowersBorrower shall not fail at any time to have at least one (1) Independent Director that is not and has not been for at least five (5) years, (a) an officer, director or manager of any Borrower or any of its Affiliates, (b) a shareholder (or other equity owner) of, or a partner, member (other than as a special member in the case of single member Delaware limited liability companies), employee, attorney or counsel of, any Borrower or any of its Affiliates, (c) a customer or creditor of, or supplier to, any Borrower or any of its Affiliates, who derives any of its purchases or revenue from its activities with any Borrower or any of its Affiliates (other than a de minimis amount), (d) a person who controls or is under common control with any such officer, director, partner, manager, member, employee, supplier, creditor or customer, or (e) a member of the immediate family of any such officer, director, partner, manager, member, employee, supplier, creditor or customer; provided that the foregoing subclause (a) shall not apply to any Person who serves, or has served, as an independent director or an independent manager for any Affiliate of any Borrower; provided, that upon the death or incapacity of such Independent Director, the applicable Borrower will have a period of ten (10) Business Days following such event to appoint a replacement Independent Director; provided, further, that such Borrower shall cause its Independent Director not to resign until a replacement independent director has been appointed; provided, further, that before any Independent Director is replaced, removed, resigns or otherwise ceases to serve (for any reason other than the death or incapacity of such Independent Director), such Borrower shall provide written notice to the Administrative Agent no later than two (2) Business Days prior to such replacement, removal or effective date of cessation of service and of the identity and affiliations of the proposed replacement Independent Director.
    Section 6.14.    Sales of Receivables. No Credit Party or Guarantor shall sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any Company Receivables without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent (which consent may be granted or withheld in its sole discretion), with the exception of the sale, transfer or disposition of any Company Receivable:
    (a)    to a Borrower in accordance with the terms of the applicable Purchase Agreement or the Bank Partner Sale Agreement(s), as applicable;
    (b)    in connection with a Receivable Repurchase Event; or
    (c)    by the Company or other Guarantor to any Financing Subsidiary (other than the BorrowersBorrower) or third party in connection with a credit facility, forward flow purchase facility or securitization, except for any sale, transfer or disposition prohibited by Section 3.02(i) of the Guarantor Security Agreement after the occurrence
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and during the continuation of an Event of Default; provided, that no selection procedures, the application of which are adverse to the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Lenders are used in allocating Company Receivables between the BorrowersBorrower, on the one hand, and any other Financing Subsidiary or third party, on the other (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Receivables that are subject to a refinancing), as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion; provided, further, however, that, for the avoidance of doubt, selection procedures or allocations resulting from differences between the applicable Eligibility Criteria and any eligibility criteria of any credit facility, forward flow purchase facility or securitization shall not alone constitute selection procedures adverse to the BorrowersBorrower, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or any Lender.
    Section 6.15.    Changes to the Credit Policies or the Servicing Policy. No Credit Party shall make or authorize any changes or modifications to the Credit Policies or the Servicing Policy in a manner adverse to the interests of the Agents or the Lenders under the Credit Documents, except as required by applicable law (with notice thereof to the Administrative Agent) or as shall otherwise be consented to in writing by the Administrative Agent. The Credit Parties shall provide the Administrative Agent with at least ten (10) Business Days’ prior written notice of any other changes or modifications to the Credit Policies or the Servicing Policy that do not require the consent of the Administrative Agent.
    Section 6.16.    Changes to Bank Partner Program Agreements. No Credit Party shall make or authorize any changes to any Bank Partner Program Agreements that are adverse to the interests of the Agents or the Lenders under the Credit Documents without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent. The Credit Parties shall provide the Administrative Agent with at least ten (10) Business Days prior written notice of any changes or modifications to any Bank Partner Program Agreements that do not require the consent of the Administrative Agent.
    Section 6.17.    Subordinated Debt. No Credit Party or Guarantor shall, nor shall it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, (a) amend or modify any of the terms or conditions relating to Subordinated Debt, (b) make any voluntary prepayment of Subordinated Debt or effect any voluntary redemption thereof, or (c) make any payment on account of Subordinated Debt which is prohibited under the terms of any instrument or agreement subordinating the same to the Secured Obligations, in each case except (x) as permitted by the Atalaya Subordination and Intercreditor Agreement with respect to the Indebtedness under the Atalaya Subordinated Loan Agreement and (y) unsecured Qualifying Subordinated Debt in connection with the Fourth Amendment Effective Date Refinancing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Credit Parties may agree to a decrease in the interest rate applicable thereto or to a deferral of repayment of any of the principal of or interest on the Subordinated Debt beyond the current due dates therefor.
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Section 7.    Events of Default
    Section 7.1.    Events of Default. Each of the following conditions or events shall constitute an “Event of Default” hereunder:
    (a)    Failure to Make Payments When Due. The failure by any Credit Party, as applicable, to make (i) payments of any principal on the date such payment is due, (ii) payments of interest or premiums or fees due to the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or a Lender within two (2) Business Days of the date such payment is due or (iii) any other payment or deposit required to be made under any Credit Documents within three (3) Business Days of the date such payment or deposit is due or, if any such payment is due on the Final Maturity Date, such failure to make such payment on the Final Maturity Date; or
    (b)    Borrowing Base Deficiency. Failure by a Borrower to cure (x) any Borrowing Base Deficiency resulting solely from the reduction of the applicable Advance Rate within thirty (30) days of the earlier of (i) an Authorized Officer of such Borrower becoming aware that a Borrowing Base Deficiency exists, and (ii) receipt by such Borrower of notice from the Administrative Agent that a Borrowing Base Deficiency exists or (y) any Borrowing Base Deficiency not resulting solely from the reduction of the applicable Advance Rate within two (2) Business Days of the earlier of (i) an Authorized Officer of such Borrower becoming aware that a Borrowing Base Deficiency exists, and (ii) receipt by such Borrower of notice from the Administrative Agent that a Borrowing Base Deficiency exists; or
    (c)    Cross Defaults. (i) Default shall occur under any Indebtedness aggregating $[***] or more issued, assumed or guaranteed by any Credit Party or any Guarantor or any of their Subsidiaries, or under any indenture, agreement or other instrument under which the same may be issued, and such default shall continue for a period of time sufficient to permit the acceleration of the maturity of any such Indebtedness (whether or not such maturity is in fact accelerated), or any such Indebtedness shall not be paid when due (whether by demand, lapse of time, acceleration or otherwise); or (ii) any “event of default” under, and as defined in, the Atalaya Subordinated Loan Agreement shall occur;
    (d)    Breach of Certain Affirmative Covenants. Except as otherwise addressed in any other provision of this Section 7.1, failure of any Credit Party or any Guarantor, as applicable, to perform or comply with any covenant or other agreement contained in (i) Sections 5.2, 5.3, 5.4, 5.6, 5.7, 5.11, 5.14 or 6, hereof unless otherwise previously consented to by the Administrative Agent in writing, (ii) Section 5.9(b) hereof for a period of five (5) Business Days unless otherwise previously consented to by the Administrative Agent or Section 5.9(a) hereof for a period of ten (10) Business Days unless otherwise previously consented to by the Administrative Agent; or
    (e)    Breach of Representations, etc. Any representation, warranty, certification or other statement made or deemed made by any Credit Party or any
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Guarantor in any Credit Document to which it is a party or in any statement or certificate at any time given by any Credit Party or any Guarantor or any of their Subsidiaries in writing pursuant hereto or thereto or in connection herewith or therewith (other than any representation, warranty, certification or other statements that gives rise to a Receivable Repurchase Event), shall be false in any material respect as of the date made or deemed made and, in the case of such representations, warranties, certifications and other statements that are capable of being cured, which shall not have been remedied or waived within ten (10) Business Days after the earlier of (i) an Authorized Officer of such Credit Party or Guarantor becoming aware of such falsity or (ii) receipt by any Credit Party or Guarantor of written notice from the Administrative Agent or any Lender of such falsity; provided, that no grace or curative period will apply if the representation, warranty, certification or other statement was actually known by an Authorized Officer of the applicable Credit Party or Guarantor to be false when made or deemed made; or
    (f)    Other Defaults Under Credit Documents. Any Credit Party or Guarantor shall default in the performance of or compliance with any covenant or other term contained herein or any of the other Credit Documents to which it is a party, other than any such term referred to in any other provision of this Section 7.1, and shall not have been remedied or waived within fifteen (15) Business Days after the earlier of (i) an Authorized Officer of such Credit Party or Guarantor becoming aware of such default, or (ii) receipt by such Credit Party or Guarantor of written notice from the Administrative Agent or any Lender of such default; or
    (g)    Involuntary Bankruptcy; Appointment of Receiver, etc. (i) A court of competent jurisdiction shall enter a decree or order for relief (other than a decree or order described in clause (ii)) in respect of any Credit Party or any Guarantor in an involuntary case under the Bankruptcy Code or under any other applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law now or hereafter in effect, which decree or order is not stayed; or any other similar relief shall be granted under any applicable federal or state law, or (ii) an involuntary case shall be commenced against any Credit Party or any Guarantor under the Bankruptcy Code or under any other applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law now or hereafter in effect; or a decree or order of a court having jurisdiction in the premises for the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, sequestrator, trustee, custodian or other officer having similar powers over such Credit Party or Guarantor shall have been entered; or there shall have occurred the involuntary appointment of an interim receiver, trustee or other custodian of such Credit Party or Guarantor, and any such event described in this clause (ii) shall continue for thirty (30) days without having been dismissed, bonded or discharged; or
    (h)    Voluntary Bankruptcy; Appointment of Receiver, etc. (i) Any Credit Party or any Guarantor shall commence a voluntary case under the Bankruptcy Code or under any other applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law now or hereafter in effect, or shall consent to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case, or to the conversion of an involuntary case to a voluntary case, under any such law, or shall consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, trustee or other custodian for all or a substantial part of its property; or any such Credit Party or Guarantor shall make any
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assignment for the benefit of creditors, or (ii) any Credit Party or any Guarantor shall be unable, or shall fail generally, or shall admit in writing its inability, to pay its debts as such debts become due; or the board of directors (or similar governing body) of such Credit Party or Guarantor (or any committee thereof) shall adopt any resolution or otherwise authorize any action to approve any of the actions referred to herein or in Section 7.1(g); or
    (i)    Judgments and Attachments. Any money judgment, writ or warrant of attachment or similar process (a) involving any Borrower, or (b) with respect to any other Credit Party or Guarantor, in the aggregate at any time an amount in excess of $2,500,000 with respect to all other Credit Parties and Guarantors, to the extent not adequately covered by insurance as to which a solvent and unaffiliated insurance company has not denied coverage, shall be entered or filed against such Credit Party or Guarantor or any of their respective assets and (a) shall remain, or any Lien in connection with any of the foregoing shall remain, undischarged, unvacated, unbonded or unstayed for a period of thirty (30) days (or in any event later than five (5) days prior to the date of any proposed sale thereunder in connection with any enforcement proceedings commenced by a creditor upon such judgment, writ, warrant of attachment or similar process), or (b) a decree or order is entered for the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, sequestrator, trustee, or custodian assignee for the benefit of creditors (or other officer having similar powers) over such assets; or
    (j)    Dissolution. Any order, judgment or decree shall be entered against any Credit Party or any Guarantor decreeing the dissolution or split up of such Credit Party or Guarantor and such order shall remain undischarged or unstayed for a period in excess of thirty (30) days; or
    (k)    Change of Control. A Change of Control shall occur or any Credit Party or Guarantor shall enter into any transaction of merger or consolidation in which a Credit Party or Guarantor is not the surviving entity, in each case, without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, the Credit Parties and Guarantors may consummate the SPAC Transaction; or
    (l)    Collateral Documents and other Credit Documents. At any time after the execution and delivery thereof, (i) this Agreement or any Collateral Document ceases to be in full force and effect (other than by reason of a release of Collateral in accordance with the terms hereof or thereof or the satisfaction in full of the Secured Obligations in accordance with the terms hereof) or shall be declared null and void or the enforceability thereof shall be impaired in any material respect, or the Collateral Agent shall not have or shall cease to have a valid and perfected Lien in any Collateral purported to be covered by the Collateral Documents with the priority required by the relevant Collateral Document, in each case for any reason other than the failure of the Collateral Agent or any Secured Party to take any action within its control, or (ii) any of the Credit Documents identified in clause (a) of the definition thereof for any reason, other than the satisfaction in full of all Secured Obligations (other than contingent indemnification obligations for which no claim, demand or notice has been made), shall cease to be in full
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force and effect (other than in accordance with its terms) or shall be declared to be null and void or a party thereto, as the case may be, shall repudiate its obligations thereunder or shall contest the validity or enforceability of any Credit Document in writing; or
    (m)    Servicing Agreement. A Servicer Default shall have occurred and has not been cured as permitted under the Servicing Agreement; or
    (n)    Financial Statements. The auditor’s opinion accompanying the audited financial statements of any Credit Party or any Guarantor delivered hereunder is qualified in any manner and the Administrative Agent has notified the Credit Parties in writing that such qualification constitutes an Event of Default; or
    (o)    Material Exceptions. A material exception in any audit conducted pursuant to Section 5.9 which is not cured within ten (10) Business Days of the earlier to occur of an Authorized Officer of the applicable Credit Party or Guarantor having knowledge thereof or an Authorized Officer of the applicable Credit Party or Guarantor receiving written notice thereof from the Administrative Agent; or
    (p)    ERISA. (i) There shall occur one or more ERISA Events which individually or in the aggregate results in or might reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; or (ii) any Borrower shall establish, contribute to or become obligated to contribute to any Plan; or
    (q)    Material Adverse Effect. The occurrence of any event which is reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent, acting in good faith, to have a Material Adverse Effect; or
    (r)    Specified Legal/Regulatory Change. The occurrence of a Specified Legal/Regulatory Change; or
    (s)    Regulatory Trigger Event. The occurrence of a Regulatory Trigger Event; or
    (t)    Action by Administrative Body. A final, decree or order is entered by an administrative body (including, without limitation, an administrative order of the CFPB) or by a court of competent jurisdiction, whether or not such decree or order is appealable or is being appealed, in connection with a CFPB proceeding brought against any Credit Party or any Guarantor or one or more of their Subsidiaries (i) for the payment of “restitution,” “disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment,” “refund of moneys or return of real property” and/or “payment of damages or other monetary relief,” or any similar characterization (other than for civil monetary penalties), (ii) for the payment of civil monetary penalties, or (iii) pursuant to which a Credit Party or a Guarantor or one or more of their Subsidiaries consent or agree to remedies, whether conduct- based or monetary-based, in connection with allegations by such administrative body, in such decree or order, resulting from (or relate to remediation of) unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices by such Credit Party or such Guarantor or any such Subsidiary, whether
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or not such Credit Party or such Guarantor or such Subsidiary admits that such acts or practices were, in fact, unfair, deceptive or abusive; which, in the case of either (i), (ii), or (iii) above, results in a Material Adverse Effect on such Credit Party or such Guarantor or one or more of their Subsidiaries; or
    (u)    Collateral Performance Trigger. The occurrence of any Tier 2 Collateral Performance Trigger; or
    (v)    Key Employee Event. The occurrence of any event or transaction as a result of which Todd Schwartz and any one (1) other Key Employee shall for any reason to cease to either be actively engaged in the day-to-day management of the Company or hold the title of “director” of the Company and are not replaced within one hundred twenty (120) days of such occurrence with replacements suitable to the Administrative Agent in its commercially reasonable judgment; provided, that for the avoidance of doubt, for the purposes of Sections 3.2 and 3.3 only, no “Default” shall be deemed to have occurred during the foregoing one hundred twenty (120) day period during which the Company has the ability to replace a Key Employee; provided, further that upon the approval of a replacement for any Key Employee suitable to the Administrative Agent in its commercially reasonable judgment, such replacement shall be considered a “Key Employee” and the departing Key Employee shall no longer be considered a “Key Employee” for purposes of this Section 7.1(v);
Then, (a) upon the occurrence of any Event of Default described in Sections 7.1(g), 7.1(h) or 7.1(j), automatically, and (b) upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any other Event of Default, at the request of (or with the consent of) the Required Lenders, upon written notice to the BorrowersBorrower, the Servicer and the Backup Servicer by the Administrative Agent, (x) the Revolving Commitments, if any, shall immediately terminate; (y) each of the following shall immediately become due and payable, in each case without presentment, demand, protest or other requirements of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by each Credit Party and Guarantor: (1) the unpaid principal amount of and accrued interest on the Loans and (2) all other Obligations (other than contingent indemnification obligations for which no claim, demand or notice has been made), including without limitation any accrued Unused Line of Credit Fees; and (z) the Administrative Agent shall cause the Collateral Agent to enforce any and all Liens and security interests created pursuant to the Collateral Documents. In addition, the Administrative Agent may exercise on behalf of itself and the other Secured Parties all rights and remedies available to it and the other Secured Parties under the Credit Documents or applicable law or equity when any such Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement or any other Credit Documents to the contrary, no Credit Party (other than a Borrower) shall be liable for the payment of any principal or accrued and unpaid interest on the Loans or any losses incurred by Administrative Agent or any Lender incurred in connection with any failure by the BorrowersBorrower to pay such amounts, except for Credit Parties that are also Guarantors.
Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the principal amount of all Loans outstanding and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, any interest
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payments on the Loans or any fees or other amounts owed hereunder, shall thereafter bear interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code or other applicable Debtor Relief Laws) payable in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.10 at the Default Funding Rate until no Event of Default is then continuing.
Section 8.    Agents
    Section 8.1.    Appointment of Agents. BMO Harris is hereby appointed Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent hereunder and under the other Credit Documents and each Lender hereby authorizes BMO Harris, in such capacity, to act as its agent in accordance with the terms hereof and the other Credit Documents. Each Agent hereby agrees to act upon the express conditions contained herein and the other Credit Documents, as applicable. The provisions of this Section 8 are solely for the benefit of Agents and the Lender and neither any Borrower nor any other Credit Party or Guarantor shall have any rights as a beneficiary of any of the provisions thereof. In performing its functions and duties hereunder, each Agent shall act solely as an agent of the Lender and does not assume and shall not be deemed to have assumed any obligation towards or relationship of agency or trust with or for any Borrower.
    Section 8.2.    Agents Entitled to Act as Lender. The agency hereby created shall in no way impair or affect any of the rights and powers of, or impose any duties or obligations upon, any Agent in its individual capacity as a Lender hereunder. With respect to its participation in the Loans, each Agent shall have the same rights and powers hereunder as any other Lender and may exercise the same as if it were not performing the duties and functions delegated to it hereunder, and the term “Lender” shall, unless the context clearly otherwise indicates, include each Agent in its individual capacity.
    Section 8.3.    Powers and Duties. (a) Each Lender irrevocably authorizes each Agent to take such action on such Lender’s behalf and to exercise such powers, rights and remedies hereunder and under the other Credit Documents as are specifically delegated or granted to such Agent by the terms hereof and thereof, together with such powers, rights and remedies as are reasonably incidental thereto. Each Agent shall have only those duties and responsibilities that are expressly specified herein and in the other Credit Documents. Each Agent may exercise such powers, rights and remedies and perform such duties by or through its agents or employees. No Agent shall have, by reason hereof or in any of the other Credit Documents, a fiduciary relationship in respect of any Lender; and nothing herein or any of the other Credit Documents, expressed or implied, is intended to or shall be so construed as to impose upon any Agent any obligations in respect hereof or any of the other Credit Documents except as expressly set forth herein or therein.
    (b)    The Administrative Agent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide to each Lender, (i) within a commercially reasonable time period after receipt thereof, all reports, notices and other information provided to the Administrative Agent by any Credit Party pursuant to Section 5.1 or Section 5.9 and (ii) within one (1) Business Day of its receipt thereof from the Servicer pursuant to the Servicing Agreement, the Monthly Servicing Report.
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    Section 8.4.    No Responsibility for Certain Matters. No Agent shall be responsible to any Lender for the execution, effectiveness, genuineness, validity, enforceability, collectability or sufficiency hereof or any other Credit Document or the creation, perfection or priority of any Lien purported to be created by the Credit Documents or the value or sufficiency of any Collateral or for any representations, warranties, recitals or statements made herein or therein or made in any written or oral statements or in any financial or other statements, instruments, reports or certificates or any other documents furnished or made by any Agent to any Lender or by or on behalf of any Borrower or any Credit Party or any Guarantor to any Agent or any Lender in connection with the Credit Documents and the transactions contemplated thereby or for the financial condition or business affairs of any Borrower or any other Person liable for the payment of any Secured Obligations, nor shall any Agent be required to ascertain or inquire as to the performance or observance of any of the terms, conditions, provisions, covenants or agreements contained in any of the Credit Documents or as to the use of the proceeds of the Loans or as to the existence or possible existence of any Event of Default or Default or to make any disclosures with respect to the foregoing. Anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, Administrative Agent shall not have any liability arising from confirmations of the amount of outstanding Loans or the component amounts thereof.
    Section 8.5.    Exculpatory Provisions. No Agent nor any of its officers, partners, directors, employees or agents shall be liable to any Lender for any action taken or omitted by any Agent under or in connection with any of the Credit Documents except to the extent caused by such Agent’s gross negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a final, non-appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction. Each Agent shall be entitled to refrain from any act or the taking of any action (including the failure to take an action) in connection herewith or any of the other Credit Documents or from the exercise of any power, discretion or authority vested in it hereunder or thereunder unless and until such Agent shall have received instructions in respect thereof from the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary) and, upon receipt of such instructions from such Lenders, such Agent shall be entitled to act or (where so instructed) refrain from acting, or to exercise such power, discretion or authority, in accordance with such instructions; provided that no Agent shall be required to take any action that, in its opinion or the opinion of its counsel, may expose such Agent to liability or that is contrary to any Credit Document or applicable law, including for the avoidance of doubt any action that may be in violation of the automatic stay under any Debtor Relief Law or that may effect a forfeiture, modification or termination of property of a Defaulting Lender in violation of any Debtor Relief Law. Each Agent shall in all cases be fully justified in failing or refusing to act hereunder or under any other Credit Document unless it first receives any further assurances of its indemnification from the Lenders that it may require, including prepayment of any related expenses and any other protection it requires against any and all costs, expense, and liability which may be incurred by it by reason of taking or continuing to take any such action. Any such action taken or failure to act pursuant to the foregoing shall be binding on all Lenders. No Agent shall be deemed to have knowledge of any Default or Event of Default unless and until notice describing such Default or Event of Default is given to such Agent in writing by the BorrowersBorrower or the other Agent or a Lender. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, (i) each Agent shall be entitled to rely, and shall be fully protected in relying, upon any communication, instrument or document believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed or sent by the proper Person or Persons, and shall be
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entitled to rely and shall be protected in relying on opinions and judgments of counsel (who may be counsel for the BorrowersBorrower), accountants, experts and other professional advisors selected by it; and (ii) no Lender shall have any right of action whatsoever against any Agent as a result of such Agent acting or (where so instructed) refraining from acting hereunder or any of the other Credit Documents in accordance with the instructions of a Lender.
    Section 8.6.    Collateral Documents and Intercreditor Agreements. Each of the Agents is hereby irrevocably authorized by each of the Lenders to execute and deliver the Collateral Documents and any subordination and/or intercreditor agreement with respect to any Subordinated Debt on behalf of each of the Lenders and their Affiliates and to take such action and exercise such powers under the Collateral Documents and such subordination and/or intercreditor agreements with respect to any Subordinated Debt on behalf of each of the Lenders and their Affiliates as the relevant Agent considers appropriate; provided neither Agent shall amend the Collateral Documents or the subordination and/or intercreditor agreements with respect to any Subordinated Debt unless such amendment is not materially adverse to the Lenders or is agreed to in writing by the Required Lenders. Each Lender hereby further authorizes the Collateral Agent, on behalf of and for the benefit of such Lender, to be the agent for and representative of such Lender with respect to the Collateral and the Collateral Documents. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Collateral Agent shall take such action to enforce its Lien on the Collateral and to preserve and protect the Collateral as may be directed by the Required Lenders. Unless and until the Required Lenders give such direction, the Collateral Agent may (but shall not be obligated to) take or refrain from taking such actions as it deems appropriate and in the best interest of all the Lenders. Each Lender acknowledges and agrees that it will be bound by the terms and conditions of the Collateral Documents upon the execution and delivery thereof by the Collateral Agent. The Collateral Agent shall not be responsible for or have a duty to ascertain or inquire into any representation or warranty regarding the existence, value or collectability of the Collateral, the existence, priority or perfection of the Collateral Agent’s Lien thereon, or any certificate prepared by any Credit Party or any Guarantor in connection therewith, nor shall the Collateral Agent be responsible or liable to the Lenders or their Affiliates for any failure to monitor or maintain any portion of the Collateral. The Lenders hereby irrevocably authorize (and each of their Affiliates holding any Bank Product Obligations entitled to the benefits of the Collateral shall be deemed to authorize) the Collateral Agent, based upon the instruction of the Required Lenders, to credit bid and purchase (either directly or through one or more acquisition vehicles) all or any portion of the Collateral at any sale thereof conducted by the Collateral Agent (or any security trustee therefore) under the provisions of the UCC, including pursuant to Sections 9-610 or 9-620 of the UCC, at any sale thereof conducted under the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, including Section 363 of the Bankruptcy Code, or at any sale or foreclosure conducted by the Collateral Agent or any security trustee therefore (whether by judicial action or otherwise) in accordance with applicable law. Except as otherwise specifically provided for herein, no Lender or their Affiliates, other than the Collateral Agent, shall have the right to institute any suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law for the foreclosure or other realization upon any Collateral or for the execution of any trust or power in respect of the Collateral or for the appointment of a receiver or for the enforcement of any other remedy under the Collateral Documents; it being understood and intended that no one or more of the Lenders or their Affiliates shall have any right in any manner whatsoever to affect, disturb or prejudice the Lien of the Collateral Agent (or
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any security trustee therefor) under the Collateral Documents by its or their action or to enforce any right thereunder, and that all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had, and maintained by the Collateral Agent (or its security trustee) in the manner provided for in the relevant Collateral Documents for the benefit of the Secured Parties. Each Lender is hereby appointed agent for the purpose of perfecting the Collateral Agent’s security interest in assets which, in accordance with Article 9 of the UCC or other applicable law can be perfected only by possession. Should any Lender (other than the Collateral Agent) obtain possession of any Collateral, such Lender shall notify the Collateral Agent thereof, and, promptly upon the Collateral Agent’s request therefor shall deliver such Collateral to the Collateral Agent or in accordance with the Collateral Agent’s instructions.
    Section 8.7.    Lenders’ Representations, Warranties and Acknowledgments. (a) Each Lender represents and warrants that it has made its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs of the BorrowersBorrower in connection with Loans hereunder and that it has made and shall continue to make its own appraisal of the creditworthiness of any Borrower or any other Person liable for the payment of any Secured Obligations. No Agent shall have any duty or responsibility, either initially or on a continuing basis, to make any such investigation or any such appraisal on behalf of Lender or to provide such Lender with any credit or other information with respect thereto, whether coming into its possession before the making of the Loans or at any time or times thereafter, and no Agent shall have any responsibility with respect to the accuracy of or the completeness of any information provided to a Lender.
    (b)    Each Lender, by funding a Loan, shall be deemed to have acknowledged receipt of, and consented to and approved, each Credit Document and each other document required to be approved by any Agent any Lender, as applicable on the Closing Date or any Credit Date.
    Section 8.8.    Authorization to Release, Limit or Subordinate Liens or to Release Guaranties. Subject to Section 9.5, the Agents are hereby irrevocably authorized by each of the Lenders and their Affiliates to (a) execute any documents or instruments necessary to release any Lien encumbering any item of Collateral that is the subject of a sale or other disposition of assets permitted hereby or to which the Lenders or the Administrative Agent has otherwise consented, (b) release or subordinate any Lien on Collateral consisting of goods financed with purchase money Indebtedness or under a Capital Lease to the extent such purchase money Indebtedness or Capitalized Lease obligation, and the Lien securing the same, are permitted by this agreement, (c) reduce or limit the amount of the indebtedness secured by any particular item of Collateral to an amount not less than the estimated value thereof to the extent necessary to reduce mortgage registry, filing and similar tax, (d) release Liens on the Collateral following termination or expiration of the Revolving Commitments and payment in full in cash of the Obligations (other than contingent indemnification obligations for which no claim, demand or notice has been made) and, if then due, Bank Product Obligations, and (e) release any Subsidiary of the Company from its obligations as a Guarantor if such Person ceases to be a Subsidiary of the Company as a result of a transaction permitted under the Credit Documents. Upon the relevant Agent’s request, the Required Lenders will confirm in writing such Agent’s authority to release or subordinate its interest in particular types or items of Collateral or to release any Person form its obligations as a Guarantor under the Credit Documents.
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    Section 8.9.    Right to Indemnity. Each Lender, in proportion to its pro rata share of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Loans of all Lenders, severally agrees to indemnify each Agent, their Affiliates and their respective officers, partners, directors, trustees, employees and agents of each Agent (each, an “Indemnitee Agent Party”), to the extent that such Indemnitee Agent Party shall not have been reimbursed by the BorrowersBorrower, for and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses (including counsel fees and disbursements) or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against such Indemnitee Agent Party in exercising its powers, rights and remedies or performing its duties hereunder or under the other Credit Documents or otherwise in its capacity as such Indemnitee Agent Party in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the other Credit Documents, in all cases, whether or not caused by or arising, in whole or in part, out of the comparative, contributory, or sole negligence of such Indemnitee Agent Party; provided, no Lender shall be liable for any portion of such liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements resulting from such Indemnitee Agent Party’s gross negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a final, non-appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction. If any indemnity furnished to any Indemnitee Agent Party for any purpose shall, in the opinion of such Indemnitee Agent Party, be insufficient or become impaired, such Indemnitee Agent Party may call for additional indemnity and cease, or not commence, to do the acts indemnified against until such additional indemnity is furnished; provided, in no event shall this sentence require any Lender to indemnify any Indemnitee Agent Party against any liability, obligation, loss, damage, penalty, action, judgment, suit, cost, expense or disbursement in excess of such Lender’s pro rata share of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Loans of all Lenders; and provided further, this sentence shall not be deemed to require any Lender to indemnify any Indemnitee Agent Party against any liability, obligation, loss, damage, penalty, action, judgment, suit, cost, expense or disbursement described in the proviso in the immediately preceding sentence.
    Section 8.10.    Resignation of Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent. Each of the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent may resign at any time by giving thirty (30) days’ prior written notice thereof to Lenders and the BorrowersBorrower. Upon any such notice of resignation, the Lenders shall have the right, with the consent of the BorrowersBorrower (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), to appoint a successor Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent, as the case may be; provided, that the BorrowersBorrower’s consent shall not be required at any time an Event of Default is continuing. Upon the acceptance of any appointment as Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent hereunder by such successor Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent, such successor Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent, and the retiring Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent shall promptly (i) transfer to such successor Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent all sums, Securities and other items of Collateral held under the Collateral Documents, together with all records and other documents necessary or appropriate in connection with the performance of the duties of the successor Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent under the Credit Documents, and (ii) execute and deliver to such successor Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent such amendments to financing statements, and take such other actions, as may be necessary or appropriate in connection with the assignment to such successor Administrative
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Agent or Collateral Agent of the Liens created under the Collateral Documents, whereupon such retiring Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder. After any retiring Administrative Agent’s or Collateral Agent’s resignation hereunder, the provisions of this Section 8.10 shall inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent hereunder.
    Section 8.11.    Bank Product Obligations. By virtue of a Lender’s execution of this Agreement or an assignment agreement pursuant to Section 9.6, as the case may be, any Affiliate of such Lender with whom any Borrower or any Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries has entered into an agreement creating Bank Product Obligations shall be deemed a Lender party hereto for purposes of any reference in a Credit Document to the parties for whom the Agents are acting, it being understood and agreed that the rights and benefits of such Affiliate under the Credit Documents consist exclusively of such Affiliate’s right to share in payments and collections out of the Collateral and the guaranties as more fully set forth in Section 2.10. In connection with any such distribution of payments and collections, or any request for the release of any guaranty and the Collateral Agent’s Liens in connection with the termination of the Revolving Commitments and the payment in full of the Secured Obligations, the Administrative Agent shall be entitled to assume no amounts are due to any Lender or its Affiliate with respect to Bank Product Obligations unless such Lender has notified the Administrative Agent in writing of the amount of any such liability owed to it or its Affiliate prior to such distribution or payment or release of such guaranty and Liens.
    Section 8.12.    Designation of Additional Agents. The Administrative Agent shall have the continuing right, for purposes hereof, at any time and from time to time to designate one or more of the Lenders (and/or its or their Affiliates) as “syndication agents,” “documentation agents,” “book runners,” “lead arrangers,” “arrangers,” or other designations for purposes hereto, but such designation shall have no substantive effect, and such Lenders and their Affiliates shall have no additional powers, duties or responsibilities as a result thereof.
    Section 8.13.    Authorization of Administrative Agent to File Proofs of Claim. In case of the pendency of any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law or any other judicial proceeding relative to any Credit Party or Guarantor, the Administrative Agent (irrespective of whether the principal of any Loan shall then be due and payable as herein expressed or by declaration or otherwise and irrespective of whether the Administrative Agent shall have made any demand on the BorrowersBorrower) shall be entitled and empowered, by intervention in such proceeding or otherwise:
    (a)    to file and prove a claim for the whole amount of the principal and interest owing and unpaid in respect of the Loans and all other Obligations that are owing and unpaid and to file such other documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of Secured Parties (including any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Lenders and the Agents and their respective agents and counsel and all other amounts due the Lenders and the Agents under the Credit Documents including, but not limited to, Section 9.2) allowed in such judicial proceeding; and
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    (b)    to collect and receive any monies or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims and to distribute the same;
and any custodian, receiver, assignee, trustee, liquidator, sequestrator or other similar official in any such judicial proceeding is hereby authorized by each Lender to make such payments to the Administrative Agent and, in the event that the Administrative Agent shall consent to the making of such payments directly to the Lenders, to pay to the Administrative Agent any amount due for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Agents and their agents and counsel, and any other amounts due the Agents. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to authorize the Administrative Agent to authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on behalf of any Lender any plan of reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition affecting the Obligations or the rights of any Lender or to authorize the Administrative Agent to vote in respect of the claim of any Lender in any such proceeding.
    Section 8.14.    Recovery of Erroneous Payments. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if at any time Administrative Agent determines (in its sole and absolute discretion) that it has made a payment hereunder in error to any Lender, whether or not in respect of any portion of the Obligations due and owing by BorrowersBorrower at such time, where such payment is a Rescindable Amount, then in any such event, each such Person receiving a Rescindable Amount severally agrees to repay to Administrative Agent forthwith on demand the Rescindable Amount received by such Person in immediately available funds in the currency so received, with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such Rescindable Amount is received by it to but excluding the date of payment to Administrative Agent, at the greater of the Federal Funds Rate and a rate determined by Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation. Each Lender receiving the benefits of any Credit Document irrevocably waives any and all defenses, including any “discharge for value” (under which a creditor might otherwise claim a right to retain funds mistakenly paid by a third party in respect of a debt owed by another), “good consideration”, “change of position” or similar defenses (whether at law or in equity) to its obligation to return any Rescindable Amount. Administrative Agent shall inform each Lender that received a Rescindable Amount promptly upon determining that any payment made to such Person comprised, in whole or in part, a Rescindable Amount. Each Person’s obligations, agreements and waivers under this Section 8.14 shall survive the resignation or replacement of the Administrative Agent, any transfer of rights or obligations by, or the replacement of, a Lender, the termination of the Commitments, the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of the Obligations (or any portion thereof) under any Credit Document. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Credit Document, none of the Credit Parties, the Guarantors, or any of their respective Affiliates shall have any obligations or liabilities directly or indirectly arising solely out of this Section 8.14.
Section 9.    Miscellaneous
    Section 9.1.    Notices. Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, any notice or other communication herein required or permitted to be given to any Credit Party, any Guarantor, the Collateral Agent or the Administrative Agent shall be sent to such Person’s address as set forth on Appendix B or in the other relevant Credit Document, and in the case of any Lender, the address as indicated on Appendix B or otherwise indicated to the Administrative Agent in
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writing. Each notice hereunder shall be in writing and may be personally served, sent by telefacsimile or e-mail (with telephonic confirmation of receipt), courier service or email (to the extent that an email address shall have been provided for the recipient) and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered in person or by courier service and signed for against receipt thereof, upon receipt of telefacsimile or e-mail.
    Section 9.2.    Expenses. Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby shall be consummated, each Borrower agrees to pay promptly (a) all of the Agents’ actual and reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket costs and expenses of preparation of the Credit Documents and any consents, amendments, waivers or other modifications thereto, (b) all of the reasonable, documented fees, expenses and disbursements of counsel to the Agents in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution, administration and enforcement of the Credit Documents and any consents, amendments, waivers or other modifications thereto and any other documents or matters requested by the BorrowersBorrower, (c) all the actual costs and reasonable, documented, out-of- pocket expenses of creating and perfecting Liens in favor of the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, including filing and recording fees, expenses and Taxes, stamp or documentary Taxes, search fees, title insurance premiums and reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of counsel to each Agent, (d) each of the Agent’s actual costs and reasonable documented, out-of-pocket fees, expenses for, and disbursements of any of such Agent’s, auditors, accountants, consultants or appraisers whether internal or external, and all reasonable, documented attorneys’ fees (including expenses and disbursements of outside counsel) incurred by such Agent subject to the limitations set forth in Section 5.10(d), (e) all the actual costs and reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket expenses (including the reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of any appraisers, consultants, advisors and agents employed or retained by the Collateral Agent and its counsel) in connection with the custody or preservation of any of the Collateral, (f) all other actual and reasonable, documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by each Agent in connection with the syndication of the Loans and the Revolving Commitments and the negotiation, preparation and execution of the Credit Documents and any consents, amendments, waivers or other modifications thereto and the transactions contemplated thereby, (g) after the occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default, all documented costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of settlement, incurred by any Agent or any Lender in enforcing any Obligations of or in collecting any payments due from any Credit Party hereunder or under the other Credit Documents by reason of such Default or Event of Default (including in connection with the sale of, collection from, or other realization upon any of the Collateral) or in connection with any refinancing or restructuring of the credit arrangements provided hereunder in the nature of a “work-out” or pursuant to any insolvency or bankruptcy cases or proceedings and (h) all other Permitted Expenses (subject to the limitation set forth in the definition thereof).
    Section 9.3.    Indemnity. (a) In addition to the payment of expenses pursuant to Section 9.2, each Borrower agrees to defend (subject to Indemnitees’ approval of counsel), indemnify, pay and hold harmless, each Agent and each Lender, and their respective affiliates, officers, partners, directors, trustees, employees and agents (each, an “Indemnitee”), from and against any and all of its indemnified liabilities, in all cases, whether or not caused by or arising, in whole or in part, out of the comparative, contributory, or sole negligence of such Indemnitee; provided, that the BorrowersBorrower shall not have any obligation to any Indemnitee hereunder with
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respect to any indemnified liabilities to the extent such indemnified liabilities arise from the gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee, as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final non-appealable order or judgment. to the extent that the undertakings to defend, indemnify, pay and hold harmless set forth in this Section 9.3 may be unenforceable in whole or in part because they are violative of any law or public policy, the BorrowersBorrower shall contribute the maximum portion that it is permitted to pay and satisfy under applicable law to the payment and satisfaction of all of its indemnified liabilities incurred by all Indemnitees or any Indemnitee. Each Borrower further agrees that no Indemnitee shall have any liability based on its comparative, contributory, or sole negligence or otherwise to such Borrower except to the extent such indemnified liabilities arise from the gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee, as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction; provided, however, that in no event shall such Indemnitee have any liability for any indirect, consequential or punitive damages.
    (b)    The Company agrees to indemnify each Indemnitee for Indemnified Liabilities to the extent arising out of or resulting from any of the following:
    (i)    the failure of any Receivable represented by the Company to be an Eligible Receivable hereunder to be an “Eligible Receivable” at the time of such representation; provided, however, that no such failure shall be deemed to have occurred under this clause (i) if the Originator has repurchased such Receivable in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable Purchase Agreement;
    (ii)    reliance on any representation or warranty made or deemed made by the Company under this Agreement or any other Credit Document to which it is a party, which shall have been false or incorrect when made or deemed made; provided, however, that no Indemnified Liabilities shall be due under this clause (ii) with respect to a breach of a representation or warranty made or deemed made in this Agreement or any other Credit Document that a Receivable is an Eligible Receivable if the Originator has repurchased such Receivable in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable Purchase Agreement;
    (iii)    the failure by the Company to comply with any term, provision or covenant applicable to it contained in this Agreement or any Credit Document to which it is party or with any applicable law, rule or regulation with respect to any Receivable or other Collateral;
    (iv)    any action or omission by the Company which reduces or impairs the rights or interests of any Agent or any other Secured Party with respect to any Collateral or the value of any Collateral;
    (v)    any claim brought by any Person arising from any activity by the Company in servicing, administering or collecting any Receivable;
    (vi)    the failure to pay when due any taxes, including sales, excise or personal property taxes payable by the Company in connection with the Collateral;
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    (vii)    the payment by such Indemnitee of taxes (other than Excluded Taxes) that represent losses, claims, damages, etc. arising from any non-Tax claim, including any taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable and any liability (including penalties, interest and expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto, to the extent caused by the Company’s actions or failure to act in breach of this Agreement;
    (viii)    the failure to vest and maintain vested in the Collateral Agent, on behalf of the Secured Parties, a first priority perfected security interest in the Collateral, free and clear of any Lien, whether existing at the time such Collateral arose or at any time thereafter;
    (ix)    any dispute, claim, offset or defense (other than as a result of the bankruptcy or insolvency of the related Obligor) of an Obligor to the payment of any Receivable (including a defense based on such Receivable not being a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Obligor enforceable against it in accordance with its terms) to the extent caused by the Company’s actions or failure to act in breach of this Agreement or any Credit Document;
    (x)    the failure of the Company to furnish accurate and complete documentation (including a Receivable or invoice) to any Obligor;
    (xi)    the failure to file, or any delay in filing, financing statements or other similar instruments or documents under the applicable UCC or other applicable laws naming the Originator or the applicable Borrower as “Debtor” with respect to any Collateral;
    (xii)    the failure of any Disbursement Account Bank, Collection Account Bank or Lockbox Bank (if applicable) to remit any amounts or items of payment held in a Collection Account, Disbursement Account or in a Lockbox pursuant to the instructions of the Collateral Agent given in accordance with this Agreement or the other Credit Documents, whether by reason of the exercise of setoff rights against the Company or otherwise;
    (xiii)    the grant by a Borrower of a security interest in any Receivable in violation of any applicable law, rule or regulation;
    (xiv)    the commingling by the Company of Collections with other funds;
    (xv)    any Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Company which causes any Receivable to cease to be an Eligible Receivable, other than a Material Adverse Effect which results solely in a reduction of the applicable Advance Rate if, after giving effect thereto, no Borrowing Base Deficiency exists; or
    (xvi)    any Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Company which hinders the BorrowersBorrower’s ability to carry out their obligations under this Agreement;
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    provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to indemnify any Indemnitee under this Section 9.3 to the extent of any amounts (x) resulting from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee or (y) constituting credit recourse for the failure of an Obligor to pay a Receivable, or (z) constituting an Excluded Tax. Nothing herein shall affect the obligations of the Company or any other Person as a Guarantor under its Guaranty, and the rights and remedies set forth herein are cumulative to those set forth in the relevant Guaranty and any other Credit Document to which the Company or such other Guarantor is a party.
    (c)    If any claim or action for Indemnified Liabilities shall be brought against an Indemnitee, it shall notify the BorrowersBorrower or the Company, as applicable, (each, an “Indemnitor”) thereof, and each Indemnitor shall be entitled to participate therein and, to the extent that it wishes, jointly with any other similarly notified Indemnitor, to assume the defense thereof with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnitee, unless such Indemnitee reasonably objects to such assumption on the ground that there may be legal defenses available to it which are different from or in addition to those available to such Indemnitor. After notice from an Indemnitor to the Indemnitee of its election to assume the defense of such claim or action, except to the extent provided in the following paragraph, such Indemnitor shall not be liable to the Indemnitee under this Section 9.3 for any fees and expenses of counsel subsequently incurred by the Indemnitee in connection with the defense thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation.
    (d)    Any Indemnitee shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any such action and to participate in the defense thereof, but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of such Indemnitee unless: (i) the employment thereof has been specifically authorized by each Indemnitor in writing, (ii) such Indemnitee shall have been advised by such counsel that there may be one or more legal defenses available to it which are different from or additional to those available to each Indemnitor and in the reasonable judgment of such counsel it is advisable for such Indemnitee to employ separate counsel, or (iii) the Indemnitor has failed to assume the defense of such action and employ counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnitee, in which case, if such Indemnitee notifies the Indemnitor in writing that it elects to employ separate counsel at the expense of the Indemnitor, the Indemnitor shall not have the right to assume the defense of such action on behalf of such Indemnitee, it being understood, however, the Indemnitor shall not, in connection with any one such action or separate but substantially similar or related actions in the same jurisdiction arising out of the same general allegations or circumstances, be liable for the reasonable fees and expenses of more than one separate firm of attorneys (in addition to local counsel) at any time for all such Indemnitees, which firm shall be designated in writing by the Administrative Agent, but in either case reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnitee.
    (e)    Each Indemnitee, as a condition of the indemnity agreement contained in the foregoing subparagraph (a), shall use its reasonable efforts to cooperate with the Indemnitor in the defense of any such action or claim. No Indemnitor shall be liable for any settlement of any such action effected without its written consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), but if settled with its written consent or if there be a final judgment for the plaintiff in any such action, the Indemnitor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless any Indemnitee from and against any Indemnified Liabilities by reason of such
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settlement or judgment. No Indemnitor shall, without the prior written consent of the Indemnitee, effect any settlement of any pending or threatened (in writing) action in respect of     which such Indemnitee is or could have been a party and indemnity could have been sought hereunder by such Indemnitee unless such settlement (i) includes an unconditional release of such Indemnitee from all liability on any claims that are the subject matter of such action, and (ii) does not include a statement as to or an admission of fault, culpability or a failure to act by or on behalf of such Indemnitee.
    (f)    To the extent permitted by applicable law, neither the BorrowersBorrower nor the Company shall assert, and each of the BorrowersBorrower and the Company hereby waives, any claim against the Lenders, the Agents and their respective Affiliates, directors, employees, attorneys or agents, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual damages) (whether or not the claim therefor is based on contract, tort or duty imposed by any applicable Legal Requirement) arising out of, in connection with, as a result of, or in any way related to, this Agreement or any Credit Document or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby or thereby or referred to herein or therein, the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, any Loan or the use of the proceeds thereof or any act or omission or event occurring in connection therewith, and each of the BorrowersBorrower and the Company hereby waives, releases and agrees not to sue upon any such claim or any such damages, whether or not accrued and whether or not known or suspected to exist in its favor.
    Section 9.4.    Set-Off. In addition to any rights now or hereafter granted under applicable law and not by way of limitation of any such rights, upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, each Lender and its Affiliates each is hereby authorized by each Borrower and each Guarantor at any time or from time to time subject to the consent of the Administrative Agent, without notice to such Borrower or such Guarantor or to any other Person (other than the Administrative Agent) except to the extent required by applicable law, any such notice being hereby expressly waived to the maximum extent under applicable law, and subject to any requirements or limitations imposed by applicable law, to set off and to appropriate and to apply any and all deposits (general or special, including Indebtedness evidenced by certificates of deposit, whether matured or unmatured, but not including trust accounts (in whatever currency)) and any other Indebtedness at any time held or owing by such Lender to or for the credit or the account of such Borrower or such Guarantor (in whatever currency) against and on account of the obligations and liabilities of such Borrower or such Guarantor to such Lender arising hereunder or under the other Credit Documents, including all claims of any nature or description arising out of or connected hereto or with any other Credit Document, irrespective of whether or not (a) such Lender shall have made any demand hereunder, (b) the principal of or the interest on the Loans or any other amounts due hereunder shall have become due and payable pursuant to Section 2 and although such obligations and liabilities, or any of them, may be contingent or unmatured or (c) such obligation or liability is owed to a branch or office of such Lender different from the branch or office holding such deposit or obligation or such Indebtedness; provided that in the event that any Defaulting Lender shall exercise any such right of setoff, (x) all amounts so set off shall be paid over immediately to the Administrative Agent for further application in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.10 and, pending such payment, shall be segregated by such Defaulting Lender from its other funds and deemed held in trust for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the other Secured Parties, and (y) the Defaulting Lender shall provide
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promptly to the Administrative Agent a statement describing in reasonable detail the obligations owing to such Defaulting Lender as to which it exercised such right of setoff.
If any Lender shall, by exercising any right of setoff or counterclaim or otherwise, obtain payment in respect of any principal of or interest on any of its Loans or other obligations hereunder resulting in such Lender receiving payment of a proportion of the aggregate amount of its Loans and accrued interest thereon or other such obligations greater than its pro rata share thereof as provided herein, then the Lender receiving such greater proportion shall (a) notify the Administrative Agent of such fact, and (b) purchase (for cash at face value) participations in the Loans and such other obligations of the other Lenders, or make such other adjustments as shall be equitable, so that the benefit of all such payments shall be shared by the Lenders ratably in accordance with the aggregate amount of principal of and accrued interest on their respective Loans and other amounts owing them; provided that:
    (a)    if any such participations are purchased and all or any portion of the payment giving rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of such recovery, without interest; and
    (b)    the provisions of this Section shall not be construed to apply to (x) any payment made by the BorrowersBorrower pursuant to and in accordance with the express terms of this Agreement (including the application of funds arising from the existence of a Defaulting Lender), or (y) any payment obtained by a Lender as consideration for the assignment of or sale of a participation in any of its Loans to any assignee or participant, other than to any Credit Party or any Subsidiary thereof (as to which the provisions of this Section shall apply).
Each Credit Party consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it may effectively do so under applicable law, that any Lender acquiring a participation pursuant to the foregoing arrangements may exercise against each Credit Party rights of setoff and counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor of each Credit Party in the amount of such participation.
    Section 9.5.    Amendments and Waivers.
    (a)    Amendments and Waivers. Any provision of this Agreement or the other Credit Documents may be amended or waived if, but only if, such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed by (a) the relevant Credit Party or Guarantor that is a party thereto, (b) the Required Lenders (or the Administrative Agent acting at the direction of the Required Lenders) (except as otherwise stated below to require only the consent of the Lenders affected thereby), (c) if the rights or duties of the Administrative Agent are affected thereby, the Administrative Agent, and (d) if the rights or duties of the Collateral Agent are affected thereby, the Collateral Agent; provided that:
    (i)    no amendment or waiver pursuant to this Section 9.5 shall (A) increase any Revolving Commitment of any Lender without the consent of such Lender or (B) reduce the amount of or postpone the date for any scheduled payment of any principal of
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or interest on any Loan or of any fee payable hereunder without the consent of the Lender to which such payment is owing or which has committed to make such Loan hereunder; provided, however, that only the consent of the Required Lenders shall be necessary (i) to amend the default rate provided in Section 2.5 or to waive any obligation of the BorrowersBorrower to pay interest or fees at the default rate as set forth therein or (ii) to amend any financial covenant hereunder (or any defined term used therein) even if the effect of such amendment would be to reduce the rate of interest or any fee payable hereunder;
    (ii)    no amendment or waiver pursuant to this Section 9.5 shall, unless signed by each Lender, change the definition of Required Lenders, change the provisions of this Section 9.5, change Section 9.4 in a manner that would affect the ratable sharing of setoffs required thereby, change the application of payments contained in Section 2.10, release any Guarantor or all or substantially all of the Collateral (except as otherwise provided for in the Credit Documents), or affect the number of Lenders required to take any action hereunder or under any other Credit Document;
    (iii)    no amendment or waiver pursuant to this Section 9.5 shall, unless signed by each Lender affected thereby, extend the Final Maturity Date or the Scheduled Termination Date or change the definition of Termination Date;
    (iv)    No amendment, modification, termination or waiver of any provision of the Credit Documents, or consent to any departure by any Credit Party therefrom, shall adversely affect any Collection Account Bank, any Disbursement Account Bank or the Backup Servicer (including, for the avoidance of doubt, if it is then acting as Successor Servicer) without the consent of such affected party; and
    (v)    no amendment to Section 10 shall be made without the consent of the Guarantor(s) affected thereby.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, (1) no Defaulting Lender shall have any right to approve or disapprove any amendment, waiver or consent hereunder (and any amendment, waiver or consent which by its terms requires the consent of all Lenders or each affected Lender may be effected with the consent of the applicable Lenders other than Defaulting Lenders), except that (x) the Revolving Commitment of any Defaulting Lender may not be increased or extended without the consent of such Lender and (y) any waiver, amendment or modification requiring the consent of all Lenders or each affected Lender that by its terms affects any Defaulting Lender more adversely than other affected Lenders shall require the consent of such Defaulting Lender, (2) if the Administrative Agent and the BorrowersBorrower have jointly identified an obvious error or any error or omission of a technical nature, in each case, in any provision of the Credit Documents, then the Administrative Agent and the BorrowersBorrower shall be permitted to amend such provision, (3) guarantees, collateral security documents and related documents executed by any Borrower or any other Credit Party or Guarantor in connection with this Agreement may be in a form reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent (and the Collateral Agent in the case of any Collateral Document) and may be amended, supplemented or waived without the consent of any Lender if such amendment, supplement or
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waiver is delivered in order to (x) comply with local law or advice of local counsel, (y) cure ambiguities, omissions, mistakes or defects or (z) cause such guarantee, collateral security document or other document to be consistent with this Agreement and the other Credit Documents, (4) the Fee Letter may be amended, or rights or privileges thereunder waived, in a writing executed only by the parties thereto and (5) the BorrowersBorrower and the Administrative Agent may, without the input or consent of any other Lender, effect amendments to this Agreement and the other Credit Documents as may be necessary in the reasonable opinion of the BorrowersBorrower and the Administrative Agent to effect the provisions of Sections 2.12 or 2.19.
    (b)    Execution of Amendments, etc. The Administrative Agent may, but shall have no obligation to, with the concurrence of the Lenders, execute amendments, modifications, waivers or consents on behalf of the Lenders. Any waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it was given. No notice to or demand on a Credit Party or Guarantor in any case shall entitle such Credit Party or Guarantor to any other or further notice or demand in similar or other circumstances. Any amendment, modification, termination, waiver or consent effected in accordance with this Section 9.5 shall be binding upon the Lenders at the time outstanding, each future Lender and, if signed by a Credit Party or Guarantor, upon such Credit Party or Guarantor.
    Section 9.6.    Successors and Assigns.
    (a)    Successors and Assigns Generally. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, except that neither any Borrower nor any other Credit Party or Guarantor may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Agents and each Lender, and no Lender may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder except (i) to an assignee in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (b) of this Section, (ii) by way of participation in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (d) of this Section, or (iii) by way of pledge or assignment of a security interest subject to the restrictions of paragraph (e) of this Section (and any other attempted assignment or transfer by any party hereto shall be null and void). Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, Participants to the extent provided in paragraph (d) of this Section and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the Related Parties of each of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.
    (b)    Assignments by Lenders. Any Lender may at any time assign to one or more assignees all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Revolving Commitments and the Loans at the time owing to it); provided that any such assignment shall be subject to the following conditions:
    (i)    Minimum Amounts. (A) in the case of an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender’s Revolving Commitments and the Loans at the time owing to it or contemporaneous assignments to related Approved Funds that
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equal at least the amount specified in paragraph (b)(i)(B) of this Section in the aggregate or in the case of an assignment to a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund, no minimum amount need be assigned; and
    (B)    in any case not described in paragraph (b)(i)(A) of this Section, the aggregate amount of the relevant Revolving Commitment (which for this purpose includes Loans outstanding thereunder) or, if the applicable Revolving Commitment is not then in effect, the principal outstanding balance of the Loans of the assigning Lender subject to each such assignment (determined as of the date the Assignment and Assumption with respect to such assignment is delivered to the Administrative Agent or, if “Trade Date” is specified in the Assignment Agreement, as of the Trade Date) shall not be less than $5,000,000, unless each of the Administrative Agent and, so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, each Borrower otherwise consents (each such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed).
    (ii)    Proportionate Amounts. Each partial assignment shall be made as an assignment of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement with respect to the Loan or the Revolving Commitment assigned.
    (iii)    Required Consents. No consent shall be required for any assignment except to the extent required by paragraph (b)(i)(B) of this Section and, in addition:
    (A)    the consent of the BorrowersBorrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed (it being acknowledged and agreed that BorrowersBorrower’s withholding of consent to an assignment to a direct competitor of the Company shall be deemed to be reasonable for purposes hereof)) shall be required unless (x) an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing at the time of such assignment, or (y) such assignment is to a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund; and
    (B)    the consent of the Administrative Agent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) shall be required for assignments if such assignment is to a Person that is not a Lender with a Revolving Commitment in respect of the Facility, an Affiliate of such Lender or an Approved Fund with respect to such Lender.
    (iv)    Assignment Agreement. The parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent an Assignment Agreement, together with a processing and recordation fee of $3,500; provided that the Administrative Agent may, in its sole discretion, elect to waive such processing and recordation fee in the case of any assignment. The assignee, if it is not a Lender, shall deliver to the Administrative Agent an Administrative Questionnaire.
    (v)    No Assignment to Certain Persons. No such assignment shall be made to (A) any Borrower or any other Credit Party or Guarantor or any Credit Party’s or Guarantor’s Affiliates or Subsidiaries or (B) to any Defaulting Lender or any of its
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Subsidiaries, or any Person who, upon becoming a Lender hereunder, would constitute any of the foregoing Persons described in this clause (B).
    (vi)    No Assignment to Natural Persons. No such assignment shall be made to a natural Person.
    (vii)    Certain Additional Payments. In connection with any assignment of rights and obligations of any Defaulting Lender hereunder, no such assignment shall be effective unless and until, in addition to the other conditions thereto set forth herein, the parties to the assignment shall make such additional payments to the Administrative Agent in an aggregate amount sufficient, upon distribution thereof as appropriate (which may be outright payment, purchases by the assignee of participations or subparticipations, or other compensating actions, including funding, with the consent of the BorrowersBorrower and the Administrative Agent, the applicable pro rata share of Loans previously requested but not funded by the Defaulting Lender, to each of which the applicable assignee and assignor hereby irrevocably consent), to (x) pay and satisfy in full all payment liabilities then owed by such Defaulting Lender to the Agents and each other Lender hereunder (and interest accrued thereon), and (y) acquire (and fund as appropriate) its full pro rata share of all Loans in accordance with its percentage of the Revolving Commitments. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that any assignment of rights and obligations of any Defaulting Lender hereunder shall become effective under applicable law without compliance with the provisions of this paragraph, then the assignee of such interest shall be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender for all purposes of this Agreement until such compliance occurs.
Subject to acceptance and recording thereof by the Administrative Agent pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Section, from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment Agreement, the assignee thereunder shall be a party to this Agreement and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment Agreement, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment Agreement, be released from its obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment Agreement covering all of the assigning Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease to be a party hereto) but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Sections 9.2 and 9.3 with respect to facts and circumstances occurring prior to the effective date of such assignment; provided that except to the extent otherwise expressly agreed by the affected parties, no assignment by a Defaulting Lender will constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any party hereunder arising from that Lender’s having been a Defaulting Lender. Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of rights or obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with this paragraph shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in accordance with paragraph (d) of this Section.
    (c)    Register. The Administrative Agent, acting solely for this purpose as an agent of the BorrowersBorrower, shall maintain at one of its offices in Chicago, Illinois a copy of each Assignment Agreement delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the Revolving Commitments of, and principal amounts (and stated
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interest) of the Loans owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the “Register”). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and the BorrowersBorrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement. The Register shall be available for inspection by the BorrowersBorrower and any Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.
    (d)    Participations. Any Lender may at any time, without the consent of, or notice to, the BorrowersBorrower or the Administrative Agent, sell participations to any Person (other than a natural Person or any Borrower or any other Credit Party or Guarantor or any Credit Party’s or Guarantor’s Affiliates or Subsidiaries) (each, a “Participant”) in all or a portion of such Lender’s rights and/or obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Revolving Commitments and/or the Loans owing to it); provided that (i) such Lender’s obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations, and (iii) the BorrowersBorrower, the Agents, and Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, each Lender shall be responsible for the indemnity under Section 9.3 with respect to any payments made by such Lender to its Participant(s).
Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement; provided that such agreement or instrument may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment, modification or waiver that would reduce the amount of or postpone any fixed date for payment of any Obligation in which such participant has an interest or that expressly relate to amendments requiring the unanimous consent of the Lenders. EachThe Borrower agrees that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Sections 2.13 and 2.14 (subject to the requirements and limitations therein, including the requirements under Section 2.14(e) (it being understood that the documentation required under Section 2.14(e) shall be delivered to the participating Lender)) to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section; provided that such Participant (A) agrees to be subject to the provisions of Sections 2.17 and 3.7 as if it were an assignee under paragraph (b) of this Section; and (B) shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Sections 2.13 or 2.14, with respect to any participation, than its participating Lender would have been entitled to receive, except to the extent such entitlement to receive a greater payment results from a change in law that occurs after the Participant acquired the applicable participation. To the extent permitted by law, each Participant also shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 9.4 (Right of Setoff) as though it were a Lender; provided that such Participant agrees to be subject to the sharing of setoff pursuant to such Section as though it were a Lender. Each Lender that sells a participation shall, acting solely for this purpose as an agent of the BorrowersBorrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each Participant and the principal amounts (and stated interest) of each Participant’s interest in the Loans or other obligations under the Credit Documents (the “Participant Register”); provided
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that no Lender shall have any obligation to disclose all or any portion of the Participant Register (including the identity of any Participant or any information relating to a Participant’s interest in any commitments, loans, or its other obligations under any Credit Document) to any Person except to the extent that such disclosure is necessary to establish that such commitment, loan, or other obligation is in registered form under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations. The entries in the Participant Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such participation for all purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary. For the avoidance of doubt, the Administrative Agent (in its capacity as Administrative Agent) shall have no responsibility for maintaining a Participant Register.
    (e)    Certain Pledges. Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement to secure obligations of such Lender, including any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank; provided that no such pledge or assignment shall release such Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.
    (f)    Costs and Expenses. Neither the BorrowersBorrower nor the Company shall be responsible to pay or bear any costs or expenses in connection with any assignment, participation, pledge or grant of security interest by a Lender contemplated by this Section 9.6, except for any assignment or participation made at the request of the BorrowersBorrower or the Company.
    Section 9.7.    Independence of Covenants. All covenants hereunder shall be given independent effect so that if a particular action or condition is not permitted by any of such covenants, the fact that it would be permitted by an exception to, or would otherwise be within the limitations of, another covenant shall not avoid the occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default if such action is taken or condition exists.
    Section 9.8.    Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements. All representations, warranties and agreements made herein shall survive the execution and delivery hereof and the making of any Credit Extension. Notwithstanding anything herein or implied by law to the contrary, the agreements of the BorrowersBorrower set forth in Sections 2.6, 2.11, 2.13, 2.14, 9.2, 9.3, 9.4 and 9.10 shall survive the payment of the Loans and the termination hereof.
    Section 9.9.    No Waiver; Remedies Cumulative. No failure or delay on the part of any Agent or any Lender in the exercise of any power, right or privilege hereunder or under any other Credit Document shall impair such power, right or privilege or be construed to be a waiver of any default or acquiescence therein, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such power, right or privilege preclude other or further exercise thereof or of any other power, right or privilege. The rights, powers and remedies given to each Agent and each Lender hereby are cumulative and shall be in addition to and independent of all rights, powers and remedies existing by virtue of any statute or rule of law or in any of the other Credit Documents. Any forbearance or failure to exercise, and any delay in exercising, any right, power or remedy
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hereunder shall not impair any such right, power or remedy or be construed to be a waiver thereof, nor shall it preclude the further exercise of any such right, power or remedy.
    Section 9.10.    Marshalling; Payments Set Aside. Neither any Agent nor any Lender shall be under any obligation to marshal any assets in favor of the BorrowersBorrower or any other Person or against or in payment of any or all of the Obligations. To the extent that any Credit Party or Guarantor makes a payment or payments to the Administrative Agent or any Lender (or to the Administrative Agent, on behalf of a Lender), or the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or any Lender enforce any security interests or exercise their rights of setoff, and such payment or payments or the proceeds of such enforcement or setoff or any part thereof are subsequently invalidated, declared to be fraudulent or preferential, set aside and/or required to be repaid to a trustee, receiver or any other party under any bankruptcy law, any other state or federal law, common law or any equitable cause, then, to the extent of such recovery, the obligation or part thereof originally intended to be satisfied, and all Liens, rights and remedies therefor or related thereto, shall be revived and continued in full force and effect as if such payment or payments had not been made or such enforcement or setoff had not occurred.
    Section 9.11.    Severability. In case any provision or obligation hereunder or any Note or other Credit Document shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions or obligations, or of such provision or obligation in any other jurisdiction, shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
    Section 9.12.    Headings. Section headings herein are included herein for convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a part hereof for any other purpose or be given any substantive effect.
    Section 9.13.    No Advisory or Fiduciary Responsibility. In connection with all aspects of each transaction contemplated hereby (including in connection with any amendment, waiver or other modification hereof or of any other Credit Document), each Credit Party and Guarantor acknowledges and agrees, and acknowledges its Affiliates’ understanding, that: (a) (i) no fiduciary, advisory or agency relationship between any Credit Party or any Guarantor and their Subsidiaries and any Agent or any Lender is intended to be or has been created in respect of the transactions contemplated hereby or by the other Credit Documents, irrespective of whether any Agent or any Lender has advised or is advising any Credit Party or any Guarantor or any of their Subsidiaries on other matters, (ii) the arranging and other services regarding this Agreement provided by the Agents and the Lenders are arm’s-length commercial transactions between such Credit Parties or Guarantors and their Affiliates, on the one hand, and the Agents and the Lenders, on the other hand, (iii) each Credit Party and Guarantor has consulted its own legal, accounting, regulatory and tax advisors to the extent that it has deemed appropriate and (iv) each Credit Party and Guarantor is capable of evaluating, and understands and accepts, the terms, risks and conditions of the transactions contemplated hereby and by the other Credit Documents; and (b) (i) the Agents and the Lenders each is and has been acting solely as a principal and, except as expressly agreed in writing by the relevant parties, has not been, is not, and will not be acting as an advisor, agent or fiduciary for any Credit Party or any Guarantor or any of their Affiliates, or any other Person; (ii) none of the Agents and the Lenders has any obligation to any Credit Party or any Guarantor or any of their Affiliates with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby
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except those obligations expressly set forth herein and in the other Credit Documents; and (iii) the Agents and the Lenders and their respective Affiliates may be engaged, for their own accounts or the accounts of customers, in a broad range of transactions that involve interests that differ from those of any Credit Party and any Guarantors and their Affiliates, and none of the Agents and the Lenders has any obligation to disclose any of such interests to any Credit Party or any Guarantor or their Affiliates. To the fullest extent permitted by law, each Credit Party and each Guarantor hereby waives and releases any claims that it may have against the Agents and the Lenders with respect to any breach or alleged breach of agency or fiduciary duty in connection with any aspect of any transaction contemplated hereby.
    Section 9.14.    Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process. (a) This Agreement and the other Credit Documents (except as otherwise specified therein), and the rights and duties of the parties hereto, shall be construed and determined in accordance with the laws of the State of Illinois without regard to conflicts of law principles that would require application of the laws of another jurisdiction.
    (b)    Each party hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois and of any Illinois State court sitting in the City of Chicago, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to any Credit Document, or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment, and each party hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such Illinois State court or, to the extent permitted by applicable Legal Requirement, in such federal court. Each party hereto hereby agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by applicable Legal Requirement. Nothing in this Agreement or any other Credit Document or otherwise shall affect any right that any Agent or any Lender may otherwise have to bring any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Credit Document against any Borrower or any other Credit Party or Guarantor or its respective properties in the courts of any jurisdiction.
    (c)    Each Credit Party and Guarantor hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Legal Requirement, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Credit Document in any court referred to in Section 9.14(b). Each party hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Legal Requirements, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court.
    (d)    Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to any Credit Document, in the manner provided for notices (other than telecopy or e-mail) in Section 9.1. Nothing in this Agreement or any other Credit Document will affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by applicable Legal Requirements.
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    Section 9.15.    Waiver of Jury Trial. Each party hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Legal Requirements, any right it may have to a trial by jury in any legal proceeding directly or indirectly arising out of or relating to any Credit Document or the transactions contemplated thereby (whether based on contract, tort or any other theory). Each party hereto (a) certifies that no representative, agent or attorney of any other party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such other party would not, in the event of litigation, seek to enforce the foregoing waiver and (b) acknowledges that it and the other parties hereto have been induced to enter into this Agreement by, among other things, the mutual waivers and certifications in this Section.
    Section 9.16.    Usury Savings Clause. Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the aggregate interest rate charged or agreed to be paid with respect to any of the Obligations, including all charges or fees in connection therewith deemed in the nature of interest under applicable law shall not exceed the Highest Lawful Rate. If the rate of interest (determined without regard to the preceding sentence) under this Agreement at any time exceeds the Highest Lawful Rate, the outstanding amount of the Loans made hereunder shall bear interest at the Highest Lawful Rate until the total amount of interest due hereunder equals the amount of interest which would have been due hereunder if the stated rates of interest set forth in this Agreement had at all times been in effect. In addition, if when the Loans made hereunder are repaid in full the total interest due hereunder (taking into account the increase provided for above) is less than the total amount of interest which would have been due hereunder if the stated rates of interest set forth in this Agreement had at all times been in effect, then to the extent permitted by law, the BorrowersBorrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent an amount equal to the difference between the amount of interest paid and the lesser of (a) the amount of interest which would have been paid if the stated rates of interest set forth in this Agreement had at all times been in effect and (b) the amount of interest which would have been paid if the Highest Lawful Rate had at all times been in effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is the intention of the Lenders and the BorrowersBorrower to conform strictly to any applicable usury laws. Accordingly, if any Lender contracts for, charges, or receives any consideration which constitutes interest in excess of the Highest Lawful Rate, then any such excess shall be cancelled automatically and, if previously paid, shall at such Lender’s option be applied to the outstanding amount of the Loans made hereunder or be refunded to the BorrowersBorrower. In determining whether the interest contracted for, charged, or received by the Administrative Agent or a Lender exceeds the Highest Lawful Rate, such Person may, to the extent permitted by applicable law, (a) characterize any payment that is not principal as an expense, fee, or premium rather than interest, (b) exclude voluntary prepayments and the effects thereof, and (c) amortize, prorate, allocate, and spread in equal or unequal parts the total amount of interest, throughout the contemplated term of the Obligations hereunder.
    Section 9.17.    Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed an original, but all such counterparts together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed signature page to this Agreement by facsimile transmission or other electronic image scan transmission (e.g., “PDF” or “tif” via email) shall be as effective as delivery of a manually signed counterpart of this Agreement.
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    Section 9.18.    Effectiveness. This Agreement shall become effective upon the execution and delivery of a counterpart hereof by each of the parties hereto. For purposes of determining compliance with the conditions specified in Section 3.1, each Lender that has signed this Agreement shall be deemed to have consented to, approved or accepted or to be satisfied with, each document or other matter required thereunder to be consented to or approved by or acceptable or satisfactory to a Lender unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from such Lender prior to the Closing Date specifying its objection thereto.
    Section 9.19.    Patriot Act. The Lenders and the Administrative Agent (for itself and not on behalf of the Lenders) hereby notifies each Credit Party and Guarantor that pursuant to the requirements of the Patriot Act, it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies a Credit Party or Guarantor, which information includes the name and address of such Credit Party or such Guarantor and other information that will allow the Lenders or the Administrative Agent, as applicable, to identify such Credit Party or Guarantor, as applicable, in accordance with the Patriot Act.
    Section 9.20.    Prior Agreements. This Agreement and the other Credit Documents contain the entire agreement of the parties hereto and thereto in respect of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and all prior agreements among or between such parties, whether oral or written, are superseded by the terms of this Agreement and the other Credit Documents and unless specifically set forth in a writing contemporaneous herewith the terms, conditions and provisions of any and all such prior agreements do not survive execution of this Agreement.
    Section 9.21.    Third Party Beneficiaries. The Backup Servicer (including, for the avoidance of doubt, if it is then acting as Successor Servicer), each Collection Account Bank and each Disbursement Account Bank shall be express third party beneficiaries of the provisions of Section 2.10.
    Section 9.22.    Confidentiality. (a) Unless required by law or regulation to do so or otherwise expressly permitted by the Credit Documents, none of the Lenders, the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent, on the one hand, nor any Credit Party or Guarantor, on the other hand, shall publish or otherwise disclose any information relating to the material terms of the Facility, any of the Credit Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (collectively, “Confidential Information”) to any Person. No party shall publish any press release naming the other party without the prior written consent of the other. Notwithstanding the foregoing, but subject to the requirements of any applicable privacy laws, each party may disclose the Confidential Information (a) to its Affiliates and to its Related Parties (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such information and instructed to keep such information confidential), (b) to the extent required by applicable law, regulation, subpoena or other legal process, (c) to the extent requested by any governmental or regulatory authority purporting to have jurisdiction over such party (including any self-regulatory authority), (d) to any other party involved in the Facility, (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or under any of the other Credit Documents or any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Credit Document or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder, (f) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section, to (i) any assignee of or Participant in,
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or any prospective assignee of or Participant in, any of its rights and obligations under this Agreement, or (ii) any actual or prospective party (or its Related Parties) to any swap, derivative or other transaction under which payments are to be made by reference to any Borrower and its obligations, this Agreement or payments hereunder; (g) on a confidential basis to (i) any rating agency in connection with rating any Credit Party or its Subsidiaries or the Facility or (ii) the CUSIP Service Bureau or any similar agency in connection with the issuance and monitoring of CUSIP numbers with respect to the Facility; (h) pursuant to Section 5.10, (i) with the consent of the other parties, (j) to any equity investors or institutional creditors or potential equity investors or institutional creditors of such party and/or its Affiliates, or (k) to the extent that such information (i) was or becomes available to such party from a source other than a party hereto other than as a result of a breach under Section 9.22, (ii) has been independently acquired or developed by any such party without violating any of their respective obligations under this Agreement, or (iii) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section 9.22; provided, however, that in the case of any disclosure of information which includes, directly or indirectly, the identity of any Obligor, the Person disclosing such information shall provide to the Servicer and the BorrowersBorrower not less than ten (10) Business Days’ prior notice of such disclosure. This confidentiality agreement shall apply to any and all information relating to the Facility, any of the Credit Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby at any time on or after the date hereof.
    (b)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the parties hereto (and each of their employees, representatives and other agents) may disclose to any Persons, without limitation of any kind, the tax treatment and tax structure of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that are provided to either party relating to such tax treatment and tax structure; provided that this Section 9.22(b) does not authorize any party hereto (or any of its employees, representatives or other agents) to disclose any information that is not necessary to understanding the tax treatment and tax structure of the transaction contemplated by the this Agreement or that does not relate directly to the tax treatment and tax structure of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement (including, if applicable, the identity of the parties hereto and any information that could reasonably lead another to determine the identity of the parties hereto), or to the extent it is reasonably necessary to keep any such information confidential in order to comply with any federal or state securities law. This Section 9.22(b) is intended to make certain that this Agreement does not cause any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement to constitute “confidential transactions” within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b)(3), 301.6111-2(c), 301.6111-3(b)(2)(ii)(B) and any similar applicable state or local law in effect as of the date hereof, and it shall be construed accordingly.
    (c)    Receivables Files may include Confidential Information that also meets the definition of non‑public personally identifiable information (“NPI”) regarding an Obligor as defined by Title V of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 and implementing regulations including the Federal Trade Commission’s Rule Regarding Privacy of Consumer Financial Information (16 C.F.R. Part 313) (collectively, the “GLB Act”). To the extent that the Agents or the Lenders have access to NPI through Receivables Files or from any other source, the Agents and the Lenders agree that such information will not be disclosed or made available to any third party, agent or employee for any reason whatsoever, other than with respect to: (1) such Person’s
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authorized employees or agents on a “need to know” basis in order for such Person to perform its obligations or enforce its rights under the Credit Documents, provided that such representatives are subject to a confidentiality agreement which shall be consistent with and no less restrictive than the provisions of this Section 9.22; and (2) as required by applicable Legal Requirements or as otherwise permitted by this Agreement or the GLB Act regarding ‘Privacy’ of NPI, either during the term of this Agreement or after the termination of this Agreement, provided that, prior to any disclosure of NPI as required by applicable Legal Requirements, the applicable Agent or Lender shall (i) not disclose any such information until it has notified the Company in writing of all actual or threatened legal compulsion of disclosure, and any actual legal obligation of disclosure promptly upon becoming so obligated, and (ii) cooperate to the fullest extent possible with all lawful efforts by the Company to resist or limit disclosure. The Agents and the Lenders will not utilize Confidential Information or NPI, whether obtained through Receivable Files or in any other manner, in any manner that violates any applicable Legal Requirements.
    Section 9.23.    No Consolidation. Each Lender hereby covenants and agrees that, to the extent that any bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or liquidation proceedings, or other proceedings under the Bankruptcy Code or any other Debtor Relief Laws (a “Bankruptcy Action”) is instituted or commenced against any Credit Party (other than the BorrowersBorrower) or Guarantor as debtor (the “Debtor”), if such Lender is a creditor of the Debtor, such Lender shall not seek or consent to the consolidation of any Borrower with the Debtor with respect to such Bankruptcy Action.
    Section 9.24.    Certain ERISA Matters. (a) Each Lender (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and its Affiliates, and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of any Borrower or any other Credit Party or Guarantor, that at least one of the following is and will be true:
    (i)    such Lender is not using “plan assets” (within the meaning of Section 3(42) of ERISA or otherwise) of one or more Benefit Plans with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments or this Agreement,
    (ii)    the transaction exemption set forth in one or more PTEs, such as PTE 84-14 (a class exemption for certain transactions determined by independent qualified professional asset managers), PTE 95-60 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving insurance company general accounts), PTE 90-1 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving insurance company pooled separate accounts), PTE 91-38 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving bank collective investment funds) or PTE 96-23 (a class exemption for certain transactions determined by in-house asset managers), is applicable with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement,
    (iii)    (A) such Lender is an investment fund managed by a “Qualified Professional Asset Manager” (within the meaning of Part VI of PTE 84-14), (B) such Qualified Professional Asset Manager made the investment decision on behalf of such
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Lender to enter into, participate in, administer and perform the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement, (C) the entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement satisfies the requirements of sub-sections (b) through (g) of Part I of PTE 84-14 and (D) to the best knowledge of such Lender, the requirements of subsection (a) of Part I of PTE 84-14 are satisfied with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement, or
    (iv)    such other representation, warranty and covenant as may be agreed in writing between the Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion, and such Lender.
    (b)    In addition, unless either (1) sub-clause (i) in the immediately preceding clause (a) is true with respect to a Lender or (2) a Lender has provided another representation, warranty and covenant in accordance with sub-clause (iv) in the immediately preceding clause (a), such Lender further (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of, the Administrative Agent, and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of, any Borrower or any other Credit Party or Guarantor, that the Administrative Agent is not a fiduciary with respect to the assets of such Lender involved in such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement (including in connection with the reservation or exercise of any rights by the Administrative Agent under this Agreement, any Credit Document or any documents related hereto or thereto).
    Section 9.25.    Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of EEA Financial Institutions.     Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any Credit Document or in any other agreement, arrangement or understanding among any such parties, each party hereto (including any party becoming a party hereto by virtue of an Assignment Agreement) acknowledges that any liability of any EEA Financial Institution arising under any Credit Document, to the extent such liability is unsecured, may be subject to the write-down and conversion powers of an EEA Resolution Authority and agrees and consents to, and acknowledges and agrees to be bound by:
    (a)    the application of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by an EEA Resolution Authority to any such liabilities arising hereunder which may be payable to it by any party hereto that is an EEA Financial Institution; and
    (b)    the effects of any Bail-in Action on any such liability, including, if applicable:
    (i)    a reduction in full or in part or cancellation of any such liability;
    (ii)    a conversion of all, or a portion of, such liability into shares or other instruments of ownership in such EEA Financial Institution, its parent undertaking, or a bridge institution that may be issued to it or otherwise conferred on it, and that such shares or other instruments of ownership will be accepted by it
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in lieu of any rights with respect to any such liability under this Agreement or any other Credit Document; or
    (iii)    the variation of the terms of such liability in connection with the exercise of the write-down and conversion powers of any EEA Resolution Authority.
    Section 9.26.    Time is of the Essence. Time is of the essence of this Agreement and each of the other Credit Documents.
    Section 9.27.    Joint and SeveralBorrower Liability . EachThe Borrower hereby unconditionally and irrevocably agrees it is jointly and severally liable to Administrative Agent and the Lenders for all Secured Obligations of the Borrower. In furtherance thereof, eachthe Borrower agrees that wherever in this Agreement it is provided that a Borrower is liable for a payment, such obligation is the joint and several obligation of eachthe Borrower. EachThe Borrower acknowledges and agrees that its joint and several liability under this Agreement and the Credit Documents is absolute and unconditional and shall not in any manner be affected or impaired by any acts or omissions whatsoever by Administrative Agent, any Lender or any other Person. EachThe Borrower’s liability for the Secured Obligations shall not in any manner be impaired or affected by who receives or uses the proceeds thereof or for what purposes such proceeds are used, and eachthe Borrower waives notice of borrowing requests issued by, and loans or other extensions of credit made to, other BorrowersBorrower. EachThe Borrower hereby agrees not to exercise or enforce any right of exoneration, contribution, reimbursement, recourse or subrogation available to suchthe Borrower against any party liable for payment under this Agreement and the Credit Documents unless and until Administrative Agent and the Lenders have been paid in full and all obligations under this Agreement and the Credit Documents are satisfied and discharged following termination or expiration of all commitments of Lenders to extend credit to the BorrowersBorrower under the Credit Documents. EachThe Borrower’s joint and several liability hereunder with respect to all obligations under the Credit Documents shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, be the unconditional liability of suchthe Borrower irrespective of (i) the validity, enforceability, avoidance or subordination of any of the Credit Documents or of any other document evidencing all or any part of the Secured Obligations, (ii) the absence of any attempt to collect any of Secured Obligations from any other Borrower or Guarantor or any Collateral or other security therefor, or the absence of any other action to enforce the same, (iii) the amendment, modification, waiver, consent, extension, forbearance or granting of any indulgence by the Administrative Agent or the Lenders with respect to any provision of any instrument executed by any other Borrower or Guarantor evidencing or securing the payment of any of the Secured Obligations, or any other agreement now or hereafter executed by any other Borrower or Guarantor and delivered to Administrative Agent and/or the Lenders, (iv) the failure by Administrative Agent or the Lenders to take any steps to perfect or maintain the perfected status of its Lien upon, or to preserve its rights to, any of the Collateral or other security for the payment or performance of any of the Secured Obligations or release of any Collateral or of its Liens upon any Collateral, (v) the release or compromise, in whole or in part, of the liability of any other Borrower or Guarantor for the payment of any of the Secured Obligations, (vi) any increase in the amount of the Secured Obligations beyond any limits imposed herein or in the amount of any interest, fees or other
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charges payable in connection therewith, in each case, if consented to by any other Borrower, or any decrease in the same, or (vii) any other circumstance that might constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of any Borrower or Guarantor. After the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, Administrative Agent and Lenders may proceed directly and at once, without notice to any Borrower, against any or all of the BorrowersBorrower and Guarantors to collect and recover all or any part of the Secured Obligations, without first proceeding against any other Borrower or Guarantor or against any Collateral or other security for the payment or performance of any of the Secured Obligations, and eachthe Borrower waives any provision that might otherwise require Administrative Agent or any Lender under applicable law to pursue or exhaust its remedies against any Collateral or other Borrower or Guarantor before pursuing suchthe Borrower or its property. EachThe Borrower consents and agrees that Administrative Agent and Lenders shall be under no obligation to marshal any assets in favor of any Borrower or Guarantor or against or in payment of any or all of the Secured Obligations.
Section 10.    The Guarantee.
    Section 10.1.    The Guarantee. To induce the Lenders to provide the credits described herein and in consideration of benefits expected to accrue to the BorrowersBorrower by reason of the Revolving Commitment and for other good and valuable consideration, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, each Guarantor party hereto (including any Person executing an Additional Guarantor Supplement substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit I or such other form reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent) hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees jointly and severally to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, and their Affiliates, the due and punctual payment of all present and future Secured Obligations, including, but not limited to, the due and punctual payment of principal of and interest on the Loans and the due and punctual payment of all other Obligations now or hereafter owed by the BorrowersBorrower under the Credit Documents and the due and punctual payment of all Bank Product Obligations, in each case as and when the same shall become due and payable, whether at stated maturity, by acceleration, or otherwise, according to the terms hereof and thereof (including all interest, costs, fees, and charges after the entry of an order for relief against any Borrower or such other obligor in a case under the United States Bankruptcy Code or any similar proceeding, whether or not such interest, costs, fees and charges would be an allowed claim against any Borrower or any such obligor in any such proceeding). In case of failure by any Borrower or other obligor punctually to pay any Secured Obligations guaranteed hereby, each Guarantor hereby unconditionally agrees to make such payment or to cause such payment to be made punctually as and when the same shall become due and payable, whether at stated maturity, by acceleration, or otherwise, and as if such payment were made by such Borrower or such obligor.
    Section 10.2.    Guarantee Unconditional. The obligations of each Guarantor under this Section 10 shall be unconditional and absolute and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, shall not be released, discharged, or otherwise affected by:
    (a)    any extension, renewal, settlement, compromise, waiver, or release in respect of any obligation of any Credit Party or Guarantor or other obligor or of any other
-139-


guarantor under this Agreement or any other Credit Document or by operation of law or otherwise;
    (b)    any modification or amendment of or supplement to this Agreement or any other Credit Document or any agreement relating to Bank Product Obligations;
    (c)    any change in the corporate existence, structure, or ownership of, or any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization, or other similar proceeding affecting, any Credit Party or Guarantor or other obligor, any other guarantor, or any of their respective assets, or any resulting release or discharge of any obligation of any Credit Party or Guarantor or other obligor or of any other guarantor contained in any Credit Document;
    (d)    the existence of any claim, set-off, or other rights which any Credit Party or Guarantor or other obligor or any other guarantor may have at any time against the Administrative Agent, any Lender, or any other Person, whether or not arising in connection herewith;
    (e)    any failure to assert, or any assertion of, any claim or demand or any exercise of, or failure to exercise, any rights or remedies against any Credit Party or Guarantor or other obligor, any other guarantor, or any other Person or property;
    (f)    any application of any sums by whomsoever paid or howsoever realized to any obligation of any Credit Party or Guarantor or other obligor, regardless of what obligations of any Credit Party or Guarantor or other obligor remain unpaid;
    (g)    any invalidity or unenforceability relating to or against any Credit Party or Guarantor or other obligor or any other guarantor for any reason of this Agreement or of any other Credit Document or any agreement relating to Bank Product Obligations or any provision of applicable law or regulation purporting to prohibit the payment by any Credit Party or Guarantor or other obligor or any other guarantor of the principal of or interest on any Loan or any other amount payable under the Credit Documents or any agreement relating to Bank Product Obligations; or
    (h)    any other act or omission to act or delay of any kind by the Administrative Agent, any Lender, or any other Person or any other circumstance whatsoever that might, but for the provisions of this subsection, constitute a legal or equitable discharge of the obligations of any Guarantor under this Section 10.
    Section 10.3.    Discharge Only upon Payment in Full; Reinstatement in Certain Circumstances. Each Guarantor’s obligations under this Section 10 shall remain in full force and effect until the Revolving Commitments are terminated and the principal of and interest on the Loans and all other amounts payable by the BorrowersBorrower and the other Credit Parties under this Agreement and all other Credit Documents and, if then outstanding and unpaid, all Bank Product Obligations shall have been paid in full. If at any time any payment of the principal of or interest on any Loan or any other amount payable by any Credit Party or Guarantor or other obligor or any guarantor under the Credit Documents or any agreement
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relating to Bank Product Obligations is rescinded or must be otherwise restored or returned upon the insolvency, bankruptcy, or reorganization of such Credit Party or Guarantor or other obligor or of any guarantor, or otherwise, each Guarantor’s obligations under this Section 10 with respect to such payment shall be reinstated at such time as though such payment had become due but had not been made at such time.
    Section 10.4.    Subrogation. Each Guarantor agrees it will not exercise any rights which it may acquire by way of subrogation by any payment made hereunder, or otherwise, until all the Secured Obligations shall have been paid in full subsequent to the termination of all the Revolving Commitments. If any amount shall be paid to a Guarantor on account of such subrogation rights at any time prior to the later of (x) the payment in full of the Secured Obligations and all other amounts payable by the Credit Parties and Guarantors hereunder and the other Credit Documents and (y) the termination of the Revolving Commitments, such amount shall be held in trust for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the other Secured Parties and shall forthwith be paid to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties or be credited and applied upon the Secured Obligations, whether matured or unmatured, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
    Section 10.5.    Subordination. Each Guarantor (each referred to herein as a “Subordinated Creditor”) hereby subordinates the payment of all indebtedness, obligations, and liabilities of the BorrowersBorrower owing to such Subordinated Creditor, whether now existing or hereafter arising, to the indefeasible payment in full in cash of all Secured Obligations. During the existence of any Event of Default, subject to Section 10.4, any such indebtedness, obligation, or liability of the BorrowersBorrower owing to such Subordinated Creditor shall be enforced and performance received by such Subordinated Creditor as trustee for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the other Secured Parties and the proceeds thereof shall be paid over to the Administrative Agent for application to the Secured Obligations (whether or not then due), but without reducing or affecting in any manner the liability of such Guarantor under this Section 10.
    Section 10.6.    Waivers. Each Guarantor irrevocably waives acceptance hereof, presentment, demand, protest, and any notice not provided for herein, as well as any requirement that at any time any action be taken by the Administrative Agent, any Lender, or any other Person against any Borrower or any other Credit Party or Guarantor or other obligor, another guarantor, or any other Person.
    Section 10.7.    Limit on Recovery. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, the right of recovery against a Guarantor under this Section 10 shall not exceed $1.00 less than the lowest amount which would render such Guarantor’s obligations under this Section 10 void or voidable under applicable law, including, without limitation, fraudulent conveyance law.
    Section 10.8.    Stay of Acceleration. If acceleration of the time for payment of any amount payable by any Borrower or other Credit Party or Guarantor or other obligor under this Agreement or any other Credit Document, or under any agreement relating to Bank Product Obligations, is stayed upon the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of suchthe Borrower or such other Credit Party or Guarantor or obligor, all such amounts otherwise subject to
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acceleration under the terms of this Agreement or the other Credit Documents, or under any agreement relating to Bank Product Obligations, shall nonetheless be payable by the Guarantors (or remaining Guarantors, as applicable) hereunder forthwith on demand by the Administrative Agent made at the request or otherwise with the consent of the Required Lenders.
    Section 10.9.    Benefit to Guarantors. The Credit Parties and Guarantors are engaged in related businesses and integrated to such an extent that the financial strength and flexibility of the BorrowersBorrower and the other Credit Parties and Guarantors has a direct impact on the success of each other party. Each Guarantor will derive substantial direct and indirect benefit from the extensions of credit hereunder, and each Guarantor acknowledges that this guarantee is necessary or convenient to the conduct, promotion and attainment of its business.
Section 11.    SBA PPP Loan Provisions .
    Section 11.1.    Defined Terms. The following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:
“CARES Act” means the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or the CARES Act and applicable rules and regulations, as amended from time to time.
“CARES Payroll Costs” means “payroll costs” as defined in 15 U.S.C. 636(a)(36)(A)(viii) (as added to the Small Business Act by Section 1102 of the CARES Act).
“CARES Forgivable Uses” means uses of proceeds of an SBA PPP Loan that are eligible for forgiveness under Section 1106 of the CARES Act.
“SBA” means the U.S. Small Business Administration.
“SBA PPP Loan” means a loan incurred by the Company under 15 U.S.C. 636(a)(36) (as added to the Small Business Act by Section 1102 of the CARES Act).
“SBA PPP Loan Date” means the date on which the Company receives the proceeds of the SBA PPP Loan.
“Small Business Act” means the Small Business Act (15 U.S. Code Chapter 14A – Aid to Small Business).
    Section 11.2.    SBA PPP Loan. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement or the other Credit Documents, including any restrictions on the ability of the Company to incur Indebtedness, the Company may incur Indebtedness in the form of the SBA PPP Loan.
    Section 11.3.    Affirmative Covenants .
    (a)    The Company shall (i) use all of the proceeds of the SBA PPP Loan exclusively for CARES Forgivable Uses in the manner required under the CARES Act to
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obtain forgiveness of the largest possible amount of the SBA PPP Loan, which as of the date hereof requires that the Company use not less than 75% of the SBA PPP Loan proceeds for CARES Payroll Costs and (ii) use commercially reasonable efforts to conduct its business in a manner that maximizes the amount of the SBA PPP Loan that is forgiven.
    (b)    The Company shall (A) maintain all records required to be submitted in connection with the forgiveness of the SBA PPP Loan, (B) apply for forgiveness of the SBA PPP Loan in accordance with regulations implementing Section 1106 of the CARES Act within 30 days after the last day of the eight week period immediately following the SBA PPP Loan Date and (C) provide the Administrative Agent with a copy of its application for forgiveness and all supporting documentation required by the SBA or the SBA PPP Loan lender in connection with the forgiveness of the SBA PPP Loan.
    (c)    Failure to comply with this Section 11.3 shall constitute an Event of Default under the Credit Agreement.
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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In Witness Whereof, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first written above.
Opportunity Funding SPE IV, LLC, as Borrower
By:    
    Name:    
    Title:    
Opportunity Financial, LLC, in its individual capacity, as a Guarantor, Originator, Servicer and a Seller
By:    
    Name:    Shiven Shah
    Title:    Chief Financial Officer
OppWin, LLC, as a Guarantor and a Seller
By:    
    Name:    Shiven Shah
    Title:    Chief Financial Officer
Opportunity Manager, LLC
OppFi Management Holdings, LLC
Opportunity Financial Card Company, LLC
OppWin Card, LLC, each as a Guarantor
By:    
    Name:    Shiven Shah
    Title:    Chief Financial Officer
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BMO Harris Bank N.A., as Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent, and Lender
By:    
    Name:    
    Title:    

[Signature Page to Revolving Credit Agreement]



Joining Credit Parties as of Sixth Amendment Effective Date:
SalaryTap Funding SPE, LLC, as a Borrower
By:    
    Name:    
    Title:    
SalaryTap, LLC, as a Guarantor and a Seller
By:    
    Name:    
    Title:    
OppWin SalaryTap, LLC, as a Guarantor and a Seller
By:    
    Name:    
    Title:    




EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Todd G. Schwartz, certify that:
1.I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of OppFi Inc.;
2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: November 9, 2022







  /s/ Todd G. Schwartz

  Todd G. Schwartz

  Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Pamela D. Johnson, certify that:
1.I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of OppFi Inc.;
2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: November 9, 2022







  /s/ Pamela D. Johnson

   Pamela D. Johnson

   Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)    




EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of OppFi Inc. (“Company”) for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2022, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (“Report”), I, Todd G. Schwartz, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
1.The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2.The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to OppFi Inc. and will be retained by OppFi Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
The undersigned expressly disclaims any obligation to update the foregoing certification except as required by law.







  /s/ Todd G. Schwartz

  Todd G. Schwartz

  Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
Date: November 9, 2022
The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to the requirements of 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as a part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.




EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of OppFi Inc. (“Company”) for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2022, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (“Report”), I, Pamela D. Johnson, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
1.The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2.The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to OppFi Inc. and will be retained by OppFi Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
The undersigned expressly disclaims any obligation to update the foregoing certification except as required by law.







  /s/ Pamela D. Johnson

  Pamela D. Johnson

  Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)    
Date: November 9, 2022
The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to the requirements of 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as a part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.


